

# **Traumatic Brain Injury**

#### Effective Date: November 15, 2017

Available online at: <u>https://new.mdguidelines.com/Resources/ACOEM-Practice-Guidelines/Disorders/Traumatic-</u> Brain-Injury

## Contributors

Editor-in-Chief: Kurt T. Hegmann, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FACP

**Evidence-based Practice Traumatic Brain Injury Panel Chair:** Philip Parks, MD, MPH, FACOEM

#### **Evidence-based Practice Traumatic Brain Injury Panel Members:**

Frank X. Conidi, DO, MS James M. Daniels, MD, MPH Steven Flanagan, MD Stuart J. Glassman, MD Natalie P. Hartenbaum, MD, MPH, FACOEM Roger Härtl, MD Edward A. Maitz. PhD Steven Mandel, MD (Representative for American Academy of Neurology) Jerry J. Sweet, PhD Steven Wheeler, PhD, OTR/L, CBIS These panel members represent expertise in occupational medicine, internal medicine, neurology, neuropsychology, occupational therapy, physical medicine and rehabilitation, family medicine, electrodiagnostic medicine, sports medicine, and neurosurgery. As required for quality guidelines (Institute of Medicine's (IOM) Standards for Developing Trustworthy Clinical Practice Guidelines and Appraisal of Guidelines for Research and Evaluation (AGREE)), a detailed application process captured conflicts of interest. The above panel has none to declare relevant to this guideline.

#### Methodology Committee Consultant:

Michael S. Weiss, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FAAPMR, FAANEM

#### **Research Conducted By:**

Kurt T. Hegmann, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FACP Kristine Hegmann, MSPH, CIC Matthew S. Thiese, PhD, MSPH Ulrike Ott, PhD, MSPH Emilee Eden, MPH Jenna K. Lindsey, BS Atim C. Effiong, MPH Alzina Koric, MPP Brenden Ronna, BS Austen J. Knudsen, BS Pranjal A. Muthe, BS Leslie MC Echeverria, BS Jeremiah L. Dortch, BS Ninoska De Jesus, BS Zackary C. Arnold, BS Katherine A. Schwei, MPH Holly Uphold, PhD Natalie Pratt, BS Harkomal Kaur Matthew Houston Skyler Walker Anh Tran Louise Juliet Jesse Reifsnyder **Dillon Fix** Lisa Soffe

#### Specialty Society and Society Representative Listing:

ACOEM acknowledges the following organizations and their representatives who served as reviewers of the Traumatic Brain Injury Guideline. Their contributions are greatly appreciated. By listing the following individuals or organizations, it does not infer that these individuals or organizations support or endorse the Traumatic Brain Injury Guideline developed by ACOEM. Three reviewers wished to remain anonymous.

#### American Association of Neurological Surgeons/Congress of Neurological Surgeons Joint Section on Neurotrauma and Critical Care Gregory W. Hawryluk, MD, PhD

#### American Academy of Clinical Neuropsychology

William B. Barr, PhD, ABPP Michelle Braun, PhD, ABPP-CN Jacobus Donders, PhD, ABPP Anita Sim, PhD, ABPP

American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinical Practice Guidelines Committee

American Board of Independent Medical Examiners Mohammed I. Ranavaya, MD, JD, MS, FRCPI, CIME

#### California Society for Industrial Medicine and Surgery

Maureen D. Miner, MD Claude S. Munday, PhD

**Society for Clinical Neuropsychology** Doug Johnson-Greene, PhD, MPH, ABPP

**The American Occupational Therapy Association, Inc.** Amanda Acord-Vira, MOT, OTR/L, CBIS

#### **Other Reviewers:**

Christine M. Cisneros, MD, PhD, MPH, FACOEM Rajiv Das, MD Carmine J. Pellosie, DO, MPH, MBA, FACOEM Tanisha Taylor, MD, MPH, CPE Christian Tomaszewski, MD, MS, MBA Jonathan H. Valente, MD, FACEP

# **Table of Contents**

Summary of Recommendations	7
Overview	13
Impact	14
Definitions and Related Terms	16
Table 1. Glasgow Coma Scale	
Risk and Causation	21
Psychosocial and work Organizational Factors	
Job Physical Factors	
Red Flags	23
Absonso of Pod Elags	
Initial Assessment	25
Medical History	
Physical Exam	28
	30
Basic Imaging	
Advanced Imaging	
Dvnamic Imaging	
Vascular Imaging	
Electroencephalography	
Flectroencenhalography	43
Dest Consumer and Cideline Testing	
Neuropsychological Assessment	
Personality/Psychological Assessment	
Intelligence Testing	55
Memory, Malingering, Exaggeration & Poor Effort Testing	57
Attention Testing	63
Executive Function	
Vision Testing	65
Visual Field Testing	
Visual Perceptual Testing	67
Other Tests	
Audiometry/Otology	70
Vestibular Function Testing	73

Balance Testing	74
Laboratory Testing	77
Biomarkers	77
Lumbar Puncture	77
Surgical Recommendations	77
Operative and Surgical Procedures	77
Burr Holes, External Ventricular Drains, and Ventriculostomy	
Orthopedic Surgery for Fractures	
Soft Tissue Repairs	
Ventricular Shunting	81
Debridement	
Decompression and Facial Nerve Decompression	
Nonoperative Treatment Recommendations	84
Intracranial Pressure Monitoring and Thresholds	
Osmotherapy, including: Mannitol, Hypertonic Saline, Lactate, Albumin	
Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy (HBO or HBOT)	
Nutritional Support	
Acute Therapeutic Procedures	
Swallow Studies	93
Family Visits	93
Multimodal and Unimodal Coma Stimulation	93
Occupational Therapy	95
Physical Therapy	
Exercise	97
Activity Modification	
Medication Recommendations	
Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Medications	
Dextromethorphan (Nuedexta®) for TBI Patients	
Cytoprotective Drugs for TBI Patients	
Other Medications	
Complementary and Alternative Medicine	
Infusion Therapy	
Injection Therapy	
Occipital Nerve Stimulation (ONS) Non-Invasive Occipital and Supraorbital Nerve Stimulation (ONS)	
Implantable Occipital Nerve Stimulation (ONS) Devices	
Allied Health	
Meniett Device	
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)	
Manipulation and Mobilization	
Acupuncture	
Biofeedback for TBI Patients	

Functional Electrical Stimulation       205         Non-Operative Therapeutic Procedures       207         Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation Programs       208         Outpatient: Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation       208         Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation       208         Inpatient: Rehabilitation       210         Residential Rehabilitation       211         Residential Rehabilitation       211         Supported Uving Programs       212         Skilled Nursing Facilities       213         Occupational Rehabilitation       214         Opiold/Chemical Treatment Programs       215         Outpatient Rehabilitation Services       216         Adaptive Devices       217         Anke-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop       217         Anke-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop       219         Neuromuscular Re-Education       219         Nueromuscular Re-Education       219         Nusce Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Anger Management Therapy       221         Anger Management Therapy       221         Anger Management Therapy       222         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Substance Abuse Counseling       2	Laser Therapy/Low-Level Laser Therapy (LLLT)	
Non-Operative Therapeutic Procedures207Behavioral Programs207Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation Programs208Outpatient: Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation208Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation210Residential Rehabilitation211Supported Living Programs212Skilled Nursing Facilities213Ocupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Nuscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management222Subtance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community-Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Programs225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments226Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendix 2: PICO Questi	Functional Electrical Stimulation	
Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation Programs208Outpatient: Home and Community Based Rehabilitation200Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation210Residential Rehabilitation211Residential Rehabilitation211Residential Rehabilitation211Syported Living Programs212Skilled Nursing Facilities213Occupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work236Follow-up Visits236Apperdiation Programs236Follow-up Visits236Apperdiation Programs236Apperdiation Programs236Anger Management Services236Anger Manage	Non-Operative Therapeutic Procedures Behavioral Programs	
Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation       210         Residential Rehabilitation       211         Residential Rehabilitation       211         Supported Living Programs       212         Skilled Nursing Facilities       213         Occupational Rehabilitation       214         Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs       215         Outpatient Rehabilitation Services       216         Music Therapy       216         Adaptive Devices       217         Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop       217         Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics       219         Neuromuscular Re-Education       219         Neuromuscular Re-Education       219         Nuscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Substance Abuse Counseling       224         Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)       225         Home Healthcare       225         Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)       225         Noer And Assessments       225         Return to Work	Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation Programs Outpatient: Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation	
Residential Rehabilitation211Residential Rehabilitation211Supported Living Programs212Skilled Nursing Facilities213Occupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Nuccle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work225Return to Work225Return to Work225Return to Work225Return to Work226Job Site Evaluations226Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Algorithms236Algorithms236Apperdix 2: PICO Questions236Apperdix 2: PICO Questions236 <td< td=""><td>Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation</td><td></td></td<>	Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation	
Supported Living Programs212Skilled Nursing Facilities213Occupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Substance Abuse Counseling224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Rehabilitation Reservers226Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendi	Residential Rehabilitation Residential Rehabilitation	211 
Skilled Nursing Facilities213Occupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Counseling222Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Return to Work225Vocational Realtification Programs225Vocational Realtification Programs225Vocational Realtification Programs226Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Prognosis236Followup Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References264<	Supported Living Programs	
Occupational Rehabilitation214Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Substance Abuse Counseling221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Neturn to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236References236References236References246	Skilled Nursing Facilities	
Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs215Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Suicide Prevention221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Neutrinon Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References264	Occupational Rehabilitation	
Outpatient Rehabilitation Services216Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Nuscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Courseling223Substance Abuse Courseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments226Yocational Rebalitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236References266References266	Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs	
Music Therapy216Adaptive Devices217Andle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop211Andle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop211Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics211Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Substance Abuse Counseling222Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs226Job Site Evaluations236Forgnosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms238Algorithms238Algorithms236References264	Outpatient Rehabilitation Services	
Adaptive Devices217Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop217Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics217Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling224Community-Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations228Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References266	Music Therapy	
Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop       217         Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics       217         Neuromuscular Re-Education       219         Neuromuscular Re-Education       219         Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Anger Management Therapy       221         Anger Management Therapy       221         Suicide Prevention       222         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Community Based Life Goals       224         Community Based Life Goals       224         Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)       225         Home Healthcare       225         Vocational Rehabilitation Programs       225         Vocational Rehabilitation Programs       226         Prognosis       226         Follow-up Visits       226         Appendix 2: PICO Questions       238         Algorithms       261         References       264	Adaptive Devices	217
Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics.       217         Neuromuscular Re-Education.       219         Neuromuscular Re-Education.       219         Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management       220         Anger Management Therapy       221         Anger Management Therapy       221         Suicide Prevention       222         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Substance Abuse Counseling       223         Community Based Life Goals       224         Community Based Life Goals       224         Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)       225         Home Healthcare       225         Return to Work and Assessments       225         Vocational Rehabilitation Programs       226         Job Site Evaluations       226         Prognosis       236         Follow-up Visits       236         Appendix 2: PICO Questions       238         Algorithms       261         References       264	Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop	
Neuromuscular Re-Education219Neuromuscular Re-Education219Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work and Assessments225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics	
Neuromuscular Re-Education119Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References264	Neuromuscular Re-Education	
Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management220Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Neuromuscular Re-Education	
Anger Management Therapy221Anger Management Therapy221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations226Prognosis236Prognosis236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References264	Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management	
Anger Management Therapy.221Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms226References264	Anger Management Therapy	
Suicide Prevention222Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations226Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Anger Management Therapy	
Substance Abuse Counseling223Substance Abuse Counseling223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Suicide Prevention	
Substance Abuse Counseiing223Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Substance Abuse Counseling	
Community Based Life Goals224Community-Based Life Goals224Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations226Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Substance Abuse Counseling	
Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)225Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms236References264	Community Based Life Goals	
Home Healthcare225Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work.225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms238261261	Periotance-based Healthcare (Telebealth: Telemedicine)	224
Return to Work and Assessments225Return to Work.225Vocational Rehabilitation Programs227Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions236Algorithms238Algorithms236	Home Healthcare	
Return to Work und Addecimination Programs       225         Vocational Rehabilitation Programs       227         Functional Capacity Evaluations       228         Job Site Evaluations       236         Prognosis       236         Follow-up Visits       236         Appendix 2: PICO Questions       238         Algorithms       261         References       264	Return to Work and Assessments	225
Vocational Rehabilitation Programs	Return to Work	
Functional Capacity Evaluations228Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Vocational Rehabilitation Programs	
Job Site Evaluations236Prognosis236Follow-up Visits236Appendix 2: PICO Questions238Algorithms261References264	Functional Capacity Evaluations	
Prognosis	Job Site Evaluations	
Follow-up Visits	Prognosis	236
Appendix 2: PICO Questions	Follow-up Visits	236
Algorithms	Appendix 2: PICO Questions	238
References	Algorithms	
	References	264

## **Summary of Recommendations**

The Evidence-based Practice Panel's recommendations are based on critically appraised higher quality research evidence and on expert consensus observing First Principles when higher quality evidence was unavailable or inconsistent (see Methodology). The reader is cautioned to utilize the more detailed indications, specific appropriate diagnoses, temporal sequencing, preceding testing or conservative treatment, and contraindications that are elaborated in more detail for each test or treatment in the body of this Guideline in using these recommendations in clinical practice or medical management. These recommendations are not simple "yes/no" criteria.

All ACOEM guidelines include analyses of numerous interventions, whether or not FDA-approved. For non-FDA-approved interventions, recommendations are based on the available evidence; however, this is not an endorsement of their use.

Recommendations are made under the following categories:

- Strongly Recommended, "A" Level
- Moderately Recommended, "B" Level
- Recommended, "C" Level
- Insufficient-Recommended (Consensus-based), "I" Level
- Insufficient-No Recommendation (Consensus-based), "I" Level
- Insufficient-Not Recommended (Consensus-based), "I" Level
- Not Recommended, "C" Level
- Moderately Not Recommended, "B" Level
- Strongly Not Recommended, "A" Level

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
Acupuncture	Acupuncture for Acute or Subacute Cervicothoracic Pain	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Acupuncture for Chronic Cervicothoracic Pain	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Allied Health	Meniett Device	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Attention Tests / Training	"Captain's Log"- Computer Training Program for Attention Skills with Tasks for Vigilance, Inattention, Prudence, Impulsivity, Focus, Variability, and Speed	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Attention Process Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Attention Regulation Training	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Attention Tests	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Computerized Attention Training with Visual, Auditory, and Divided Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Reaction Time Training	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Recreational Computing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Restorative Computer and Non-Computer Attention Remediation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Audiological Tests	Audiometry	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Brainstem Auditory Evoked Response	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Tympanometry	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Balance Tests / Training	Computerized Dynamic Platform Posturography	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Computer & Video Games for Balance	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	Electro- or Video Nystagmography	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Electronystagmogram Studies	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Rotary Chair Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Vestibular Rehabilitation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Virtual Reality for Balance	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Behavioral / Psych	Anger Management Therapy	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Behavioral Programs	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cognitive Behavioral Therapies	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Community-Based Life Goals	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Emotional Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Goal Setting	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Motivational Interviewing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Peer-Mentoring Program	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Psychosocial Functioning and ADLs	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Substance Abuse Counseling	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Suicide Prevention	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Video Feedback on Task Performance	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Biofeedback	Biofeedback for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Biomarkers	Biomarkers	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Botox	Botulinum Toxin	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Debridement	Debridement	See Guideline
Decompression	Decompression and Facial Nerve Decompression	See Guideline
Education	Education Program	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
EEG	Electroencephalography	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Quantitative Electroencephalograph	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Electrical Stimulation	Functional Electrical Stimulation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Electrodiagnostics	Electromyelography and Nerve Conduction Studies	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Electroneuronography	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Evoked Potentials	Somatosensory Evoked Potentials	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Executive Function	Executive Function Tests	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Exercise	Aerobic Exercise	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Aquatic Therapy	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Strengthening Exercises	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Stretching and Flexibility Exercises	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Family Visits	Family Visits	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Functional Capacity Evaluations	FCEs for Acute Cervicothoracic Pain, Acute or Subacute Radicular Syndromes, or Post-Surgical Cervical or Thoracic Pain	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	FCEs for Chronic Disabling Cervical or Thoracic Pain	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	FCEs for Chronic Stable Cervicothoracic Pain or Post-operative Recovery	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	FCEs for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Group Discussions	Group Discussions	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Hyperbaric Oxygen	Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy	Mild: Moderately Not Recommended; Moderate: No Recommendation; Severe: Moderately Recommended
Hyperventilation	Hyperventilation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Hypothermia	Induced Hypothermia	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)
Imaging	Brain Acoustic Monitor	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Computed Tomography	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Diffusion Tensor Imaging	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Magnetic Resonance Imaging	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Positron Emission Test	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Single-Photon Emission Computerized Tomography	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Skull X-Rays	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Ultrasonography	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Vascular Imaging Tests	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Intelligence Tests	Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics [1]	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS, WAIS-III))	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
Intracranial Pressure	Intracranial Pressure Monitoring and Thresholds	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Lab Tests	Laboratory Testing	See Guideline
Laser Therapy	Laser Therapy/Low-Level Laser Therapy	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Lumbar Puncture	Lumbar Puncture	See Guideline
Manipulation / Mobilization	Cervical Manipulation for Tension Headaches	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Deep Thalamic Stimulation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Manipulation for Cervical Spine Conditions	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Manipulation for Chronic Cervicogenic Headache Pain	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Manipulation for Radicular Pain Syndromes with Acute Neurological Deficits	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Manipulation for Radicular Pain Syndromes without Neurologic Deficits	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Manipulation/Mobilization for Acute, Subacute, or Chronic Cervicothoracic Pain	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Regular or Routine Manipulation or Mobilization	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
Medications	Amantadine for Mild TBI Patients,	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Amantadine for Subacute, Moderate TBI	Recommended. Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Patients	
	Amantadine for Subacute, Severe TBI Patients	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Aminosteroids for TBI Patients	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Antidepressants for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Antiseizure Prophylaxis (Anticonvulsants) for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Anti-spasticity Medications for TBI Patients	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Atypical Antipsychotics for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Barbiturates for TBI Patients	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Benzodiazepines for TBI, Most Patients	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Benzodiazepines for TBI, Select Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Beta Blockers for TBI Patients	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Boswellia Serrata for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Bromocriptine for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cabergoline for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cannabinoids for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cerebrolysin for TBI Patients (not currently approved for use in U.S.)	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Citicoline for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Corticosteroids for TBI Patients	Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Cyclosporine for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Deamino Arginine Vasopressin (DDAVP) for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Dextromethorphan for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Donepezil for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Excitatory Amino Acid Inhibitors for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	H2 Blockers	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Magnesium for TBI Patients	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Memantine for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Methylphenidate for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Modafinil for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Mood Stabilizers for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	NSAIDs for Febrile Control	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	NSAIDs for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Other Alternative, Complementary, Homeopathic Treatments for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Physostigmine (Eserine) for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Piracetam for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Progesterone for TBI Patients	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPIs)	Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A)
	Rivastigmine for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Sedatives, Sedative Hypnotics, and Opioids for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Substance P Antagonists for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Sucralfate	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Tranexamic Acid for TBI Patients	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Triptans and Ergot Alkaloids for Post-TBI Migraine Headaches	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Memory / Malingering Tests	California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT-I and CVLT-II)	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cognitive Event Related Potential	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Memory and Malingering Tests	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Repeatable Battery of the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Test of Memory Malingering	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Wechsler Memory Scale III (WMS-III)	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
Memory / Motor Imagery	Computer Memory Retraining Group	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Handheld Computers as Memory Aids	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Memory Rehabilitation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Memory/Reasoning Tasks, Games, Computer Games	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Restorative Functional Skills Training	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Restorative Imagery Training	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)
Nerve Blocks	Occipital Nerve Blocks for Cervicogenic Headache	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Occipital Nerve Blocks for Migraine Headache	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Radiofrequency Neurotomy for Cervicogenic Headache	Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)
	Radiofrequency Neurotomy, Neurotomy, or Facet Rhizotomy for Chronic Cervicothoracic Pain	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Nerve Stimulation	Implantable Occipital Nerve Stimulation Devices	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Non-Invasive Occipital and Supraorbital Nerve Stimulation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Neuropsych Tests	Neurocognitive Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Neuropsychological Assessment	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Nutritional Support	Nutritional Support in TBI Patients	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Orthotics	Adaptive Devices, Casting and Orthotics	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Osmotherapy	Hypertonic Saline for Intracranial Pressure	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Mannitol for Intracranial Pressure	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Ringers Lactate for Intracranial Pressure	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
ОТ / РТ	Action Sequences	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	Body Weight Support Treadmill Training for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Cognitive-Motor Dual-Tasking	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy (CI) for TBI Patients	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Neuroplasticity	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Occupational Rehabilitation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Occupational Therapy	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Physical Therapy	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Specific Motor Stimulation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Systematic Instruction	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Television Assisted Rehabilitation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Whole Body Vibration (WBV) for TBI Patients	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Oxygen Monitoring	Oxygen Monitoring and Thresholds	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Pain Pumps	Inthrathecal Baclofen (ITB) Pump for TBI Patients	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Perception	Perceptual Skills Training	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Verbal Labeling Training and Compensatory Interpersonal Process Recall	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Personality Tests	Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI)	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Post-concussion	Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	King-Devick	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Military Acute Concussion Evaluation	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT)	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Problem-Solving	Compensatory Skills Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Group Sessions for Problem Solving, Discussion of Social Isolations and Frustrations	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Restorative and Compensatory Computer Assisted Cognitive Remediation (CACR) and External Aids	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Rehab, General	Distance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)	See Initial Approaches to Treatment Guideline
	Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Outpatient: Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Residential Rehabilitation	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Skilled Nursing Facilities	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Supported Living Programs	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Rehab, Other	Computer-Assisted Cognitive Rehabilitation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Games, Art, and Self-Expression	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	High-Order Reasoning Training	Recommended, Evidence (C)

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Music Therapy	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Neuromuscular Re-Education	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Reading Comprehension Exercises	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Relaxation	Relaxation Exercises	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Rest	Rest	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)
Return to Work	Job Site Evaluations	See Guideline
	Return to Work	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Vocational Rehabilitation Programs	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Robotics	Robotics	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Stimulation	Multimodal and Unimodal Coma Stimulation	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Surgery	Surgical Recommendations	See Guideline
Swallow Tests	Swallow Studies	See Guideline
Vestibular Function Tests	Vestibular Function Test	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Vision Tests / Training	Electroretinogram (ERG)	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Fluorescein Angiography	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Oculomotor Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Optical Coherence Tomography	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Vision Training	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Visual Acuity Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Visual Evoked Potentials (VEP)	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Visual Field Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
	Visual Perceptual Testing	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

## **Overview**

This clinical practice guideline presents recommendations for assessing and treating adults with traumatic brain injury (TBI). Topics include the initial assessment and diagnosis of patients with TBI, identification of red flags that may suggest the presence of a serious underlying medical condition, initial clinical evaluation, management, diagnostic considerations and special studies to identify clinical pathology, work-relatedness, modified duty and activity, rehabilitative strategies, and return to work, as well as further management considerations including delayed recovery.

This TBI treatment guideline provides evidence-based guidance on the treatment of working-age adults who have sustained TBI, as well as the evaluation and management of symptoms ranging from acute/subacute to chronic. The primary target users of this guideline are health care providers. Although the primary patient population is working adults, the principles may apply more comprehensively. This guideline does not address several broad categories, including the impact of cerebrovascular accidents, concomitant congenital disorders, or malignancies. It also does not address specific intraoperative procedures.

The objectives of this TBI guideline include baseline evaluations, diagnostic tests and imaging, physical activity, return to work, medications, physical and occupational therapy, injections, and rehabilitation. Comparative effectiveness is addressed where available. This guideline does not address comprehensive psychological and behavioral aspects of pain management; these are addressed separately in the ACOEM Chronic Pain guideline.

The literature is routinely monitored and searched at least annually for evidence that would overturn the guidance. The guideline is planned to be comprehensively updated at least every five years, or more frequently should evidence require it. The health questions for acute, subacute, chronic, and post-operative TBI disorders addressed by this guideline include the following:

- What evidence supports the initial assessment and diagnostic approach?
- What red flags signify serious underlying condition(s)?
- What diagnostic approaches and special studies identify clinical pathology?
- What initial treatment approaches have evidence of efficacy?
- What is the evidence of work-relatedness for various diagnoses?
- What modified duty and activity prescriptions and limitations are effective and recommended?
- When is return to work status recommended?
- When initial treatment options fail, what evidence supports other interventions?
- When and for what conditions are injections and other invasive procedures recommended?
- When and for what conditions is surgery recommended?
- What management options are recommended for delayed recovery?

A detailed list of search questions in a PICO-type format (Patient/Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcome) is in Appendix 2. A detailed methodology document used for guideline development is available online as a full-length document [2] and has also been summarized elsewhere [3, 4]; the methodology document includes evidence selection, scoring, incorporation of cost considerations, [5, 6] and formulation of recommendations. All evidence garnered from 7 databases (Medline, EBM Online, Cochrane, TRIP, CINAHL, EMBASE, PEDro) was included in this guideline. Comprehensive searches for evidence were performed with both PubMed and Google Scholar up through 2016 to help assure complete capture. There was no limit on year of publication. Search terms are listed with each table of evidence. Guidance was developed with sufficient detail to facilitate the assessment of compliance[5] and auditing/monitoring.[6] Alternative options to manage conditions are provided. It is recognized that there are differences in workers' compensation systems.[7] There also are regional differences in treatment approaches.[8-10]

This guideline has undergone extensive external peer review. All AGREE II [6, 11], IOM [5] [12], AMSTAR, and GRADE criteria are adhered to. In accordance with the IOM's Trustworthy Guidelines, detailed records are kept, including responses to external peer reviewers.[5]

The Evidence-based Practice Traumatic Brain Injury Panel and the Research Team have complete editorial independence from the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine and Reed Group, which have not influenced the guidelines.

## Impact

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) has been estimated to affect 1.7 to 10 million people annually in the general United States population [13-16]. The incidence of TBI has steadily risen from 2001 to 2010, as measured by combined emergency department (ED) visits, hospitalizations, and deaths. However, the rates of death from TBI have trended down modestly (see Figure 1, below). From 2001 to 2005, the TBI rate increased from 521 to 616 per 100,000; in 2010, it increased to 824 per 100,000 population [17]. TBI-related ED visits increased by 70% from 2001 to 2010, while hospitalization rates increased by only 11%. Additionally, deaths related to TBI decreased by 7% over the same 10-year span [17]. It is believed that factors such as automobile safety, seat belt use, helmet use, and better overall treatment for severe TBI in prehospital and hospital settings, while unable to prevent TBIs entirely, have somewhat mitigated the severity of TBI and thus mortality. Jager et al. reported a rate of 18/100,000

TBIs occurring in the workplace from 1992-1994 [18]. TBI may occur less frequently in the workplace compared to other injuries, but it carries enormous per capita costs, in large part due to vocational issues of impairments, employability, and productivity. It is estimated that the average lifetime cost of a TBI patient ranges from \$600,000 to \$1,875,000. [19]. Between 3.2 and 5.3 million persons (1.1%-1.7% of the U.S. population) live with long-term disabilities that result from TBI [20], with another estimate of more than 10 million affected individuals and approximately 50% on long-term disability [21]. These are likely underestimates of the prevalence of TBI because they do not include persons with TBI sequelae who were treated and released from EDs, those who sought care in other health-care settings, and those who did not seek treatment [22-24].

**Figure 1.** Rates of TBI-related Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths in the United States, 2001–2010



Adapted from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Rates of TBI-related Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths — United States, 2001–2010* (https://www.cdc.gov/traumaticbraininjury/data/rates.html).



**Figure 2.** Percent Distributions of TBI-related Deaths by Age Group and Injury Mechanism — United States, 2006–2010

Adapted from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Percent Distributions of TBI-related Deaths by Age Group and Injury Mechanism — United States, 2006–2010* (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/traumaticbraininjury/data/dist\_death.html</u>).

## **Definitions and Related Terms**

Active Therapy: The term "active therapy" is generally thought of as the patient taking an active role in the treatment of their disorder via various modalities. Although there is not one specific treatment defined by this term, it may include psychological, social, and educational components in conjunction with therapeutic exercises.[25] Therapeutic exercises could include light aerobic activity, directional exercises, muscle reconditioning (light-weight lifting or resistance training), physiotherapy, and active physical or occupational therapy.[26]

Acute, Subacute and Chronic: Acute, subacute and chronic pain are categorized as less than 1 month, 1 to 3 months, and greater than 3 months duration respectively. Acute, subacute and chronic TBI are categorized as less than 1 month, 1 to 3 months, and greater than 3 months duration respectively.

**Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy:** Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy (CTE) is hypothesized to be a neurodegenerative disorder with deposition of hyperphosphorylated tau (p-tau) as neurofibrillary tangles. [27]. This disease is hypothesized to result from exposure to multiple TBI injuries over time and has been diagnosed in many different populations, particularly including elite athletes and military personnel [28, 29]. CTE is thought to develop years after being exposed to repeated head trauma with symptoms of irritability, impulsivity, aggression, depression, short-term memory loss and purportedly heightened suicidality [30]. With a more advancing disease, more severe neurological changes purportedly develop to include dementia, gait and speech abnormality, and Parkinsonism. The late stages of the disease may be similar to Alzheimer's regarding frontotemporal dementia [31]. Some reports suggest CTE may be distinguished by generalized atrophy of the cerebral cortex, medial temporal lobe, diencephalon and mammillary bodies with enlarged ventricles; cavum septum pellucideum, often with fenestrations and extensive p-tau immunoreactive neurofibrillary tangles and astrocytic tangles in frontal and temporal cortices [32]. The overall quality of epidemiological studies support CTE as something beyond a pathological diagnosis.

**Concussion:** Concussion has been variously defined [33, 34]; in general medicine mTBI (mild traumatic brain injury) may be used as equivalent terms [35, 36]. For purposes of this guideline, concussion is defined as a prolonged transient alteration in neuronal function and in cerebral blood flow caused by a blow to the head, neck and/or body with transmission of force to the head, brain, and brainstem resulting in rotational and/or translational (i.e. angular and lateral) movement of the head resulting in immediate or delayed neurological symptoms that resolve sequentially over time. The implications of the biomechanical mechanisms, complex pathophysiology, and clinical phenotype have important implications on occupational medicine questions of fitness for duty, return to work, and pre-placement.

**Delayed Recovery:** Delayed recovery is an increase in the period of time prior to returning to work or usual activities compared with the length of time expected based on average expectations, severity of the disorder, and treatments provided.

**Dementia:** Dementia has been theorized to occur as a more severe outcome of chronic traumatic encephalopathy (see above). Regardless of the mechanism, many studies have reported incrased risk of dementia in those sustaining TBI [37-42]. Often the diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a predecessor of dementia [43, 44]. The risk of dementia after moderate brain injury has been estimated at 2.3-fold increased risk, and 4.5-fold after a severe head injury [38]. TBI in older veterans has been associated with a 60% increased risk [39]. Evidence after mild TBI is less strong [45, 46].

**Functional Capacity Evaluation:** A functional capacity evaluation (FCE) is a comprehensive battery of performancebased tests to determine an individual's ability to do work-like tasks and conduct activities of daily living.[47] An FCE may be done to identify an individual's willingness/ability to perform specific tasks associated with a job (jobspecific FCE), or his or her willingness/ability to perform physical activities associated with any job (general FCE). The term "capacity" used in FCE may be misleading, as an FCE generally measures performance tolerance (current demonstrated ability) and effort, rather than capacity. FCEs may be utilized for "Medical-Legal" purposes to attempt to address residual physical tolerances and potential for rehabilitation in preparation for judicial determination of loss of earning capacity.

**Functional Improvement** *(especially Objective Evidence):* Evaluation of the patient prior to the initiation of treatment should include documentation regarding objective physical findings (e.g., range of motion, reflexes, strength), pain level (if any), and current functional abilities both at home and at work. This should include a clear statement regarding what objective or functional goals are to be achieved through use of the treatment. These measures should be tracked during treatment and evidence of progress towards meeting these functional goals should be sought. Examples of documentation supporting improved function would be increased physical capabilities (with focus on job specific activities), reduction in workplace or avocational limitations, and through tools such as ANAM, SCAT [48] [49], and MACE [50] [51]. If there are spine pain issues, usable tool(s) may include the Neck Disability Index,[52-59] Bournemouth Neck Disability Questionnaire,[60] Modified Oswestry Questionnaire,[61, 62] Patient Specific Functional Scale, and Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire.[63, 64]

Resolution of physical findings (such as cognitive function, increased muscle tone, radicular symptoms, or weakness), increased range of motion, strength, or aerobic capacity may be physical examination correlates of improved function.

**Functional Restoration:** Functional restoration, like active therapy, is not one specific set of exercises, processes or therapies, but a blend of various techniques and programs (both physical and psychosocial). The basic principle for all of these individually tailored programs is to help patients cope with pain and return to the functioning level required for their daily needs and work activities.[65] Functional restoration refers to a full-day multidisciplinary program lasting from 3 to 6 weeks.[66] There also are work conditioning and work hardening programs that are utilized[67, 68] (see Chronic Pain guideline for further discussion).

**Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS):** The Glasgow Coma Scale is a neurological scale that provides an objective measure of the conscious state of a person for initial as well as subsequent assessment ([69]). Since 1974, the Glasgow Coma Scale has provided a practical method for bedside assessment of impairment of conscious level, the clinical hallmark of acute brain injury. The scale was designed to be easy to use in clinical practice in general and specialist units and to replace previous ill-defined and inconsistent methods. Forty years later, the Glasgow Coma Scale has become an integral part of clinical practice and research worldwide. Findings using the scale have shown strong associations with those obtained by use of other early indices of severity and outcome. However, predictive statements should only be made in combination with other variables in a multivariate model. Individual patients are best described by the three components of the coma scale; whereas the derived total coma score should be used to characterize groups. Adherence to this principle and enhancement of the reliable practical use of the scale through continuing education of health professionals, standardization across different settings, and consensus on methods to address confounders will maintain its role in clinical practice and research in the future. [69]

The GCS is scored between 3 and 15, 3 being the worst, and 15 the best. It is composed of three parameters: Best Eye Response, Best Verbal Response and Best Motor Response.

Response	Scale	Score
Eye Opening Response	Eyes open spontaneously	4 Points
	Eyes open to verbal command, speech or shout	3 Points
	Eyes open to pain (not applied to face)	2 Points
	No eye opening	1 Point
Verbal Response	Oriented	5 Points
	Confused conversation but able to answer questions	4 Points
	Inappropriate responses but words discernable	3 Points
	Incomprehensible sounds or speech	2 Points
	No verbal response	1 Point
Motor Response	Obeys commands for movement	6 Points
	Purposeful movement to painful stimulus	5 Points
	Withdraws from pain	4 Points
	Abnormal (spastic) flexion, decorticate posture	3 Points
	Extensor (rigid) response, decerebrate posture	2 Points
	No motor responses	1 Points

## Table 1. Glasgow Coma Scale

\*Adapted from Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. Lancet 1974; 81-84.

**Myofascial Pain**: Proponents believe that pain arising from muscles and fascia can be recognized as distinct from pain arising from ligaments, joints, and discs. However, there is no valid way to determine whether the source of neck or thoracic pain is or is not from muscles or fascial structures. Even though some authors have published on "myofascial neck pain", in this review myofascial pain is considered as non-specific cervical or thoracic pain (see Shoulder Disorders guideline for myofascial pain and trigger points).

**Neck Disability Index**: The Neck Disability Index is a revised form of the Oswestry Low Back Pain Index for the assessment of activities of daily living of cervical pain patients, particularly from whiplash type injuries.[52-57, 59] It contains 10 sections addressing the impact of the cervical pain including – pain intensity, personal care, lifting, reading, headaches, concentration, work, driving, sleeping, and recreation.[52] However, the tool is not standardized and is frequently modified, making interpretations difficult.[70]

**Neck Pathology and Occipital Neuralgia:** Occipital Neuralgia, also known as C2 neuralgia (or neuralgia of the second cervical nerve), is pain in the greater, and/or lesser occipital nerves. Posterior head and neck pain may also occur with involvement of other nerve roots, e.g., C3 and C4. There are many potential causes of the condition which is due to mechanisms including nerve entrapment, irritation, and/or nerve trauma [71]. Compression or irritation of the nerve structures may cause pain in the posterior head and neck. Traumatic mechanisms often involve pain thought to originate in the atlantoaxial or upper zygapophyseal joints or in the muscles and insertion areas [72]. TBIs frequently involve injuries to these structures. [73].

**Occupational Therapy:** Occupational therapy typically invovles a collaborative, client-centered approach that emphasizes engaging an individual in "occupations" and/or everyday activities to maximize functional independence. Contexts and environments may include activities of daily living (ADL's), work, play, education, social participation, rest/sleep, and leisure.

**Outcome Predictors (Cognitive OP, Psychological OP, Vocational OP):** Outcome predictors are measured variables used to estimate the impacts of a specific injury. They usually include tests and batteries of tests. They may include clinical signs, although for TBIs, various cognitive function tests are prominent examples of outcomes predictors used. They may be used both for baseline assessments, prognostic assessments, as well as to track clinical progress. TBIs are a heterogeneous group of injuries that have a wide range of possible effects from learning handicaps, speech and communication problems to walking and balance impairments, all of which may have acute, subacute and/or chronic effects [14]. Therefore, there is a similarly wide array of potentially useful outcome predictors for these types of TBIs. Current predictors for TBI include the Glasgow Outcome Scale, imaging tests (e.g., CT scans), gender and cognitive tests [74] [75].

Among the higher cortical function prognostic tests, these predictors may be broken down further into three separate groups: *cognitive, psychological, and vocational*. Cognitive outcome predictors are used to estimate abilities to learn about information and understand it. Examples that may be used include measuring S100B, a biomarker of TBI, 12-36 hours post-injury, length of coma (LOC), and posttraumatic amnesia (PTA) and headache [76] [77] [78]. Psychological outcome predictors are used to foresee possible behavioral changes and mental and emotional instability within a patient post-injury. Examples of these predictors are injury severity and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) [79], [80]. Many psychological predictor outcomes have less supportive evidence of their utility. Regardless, these include emotional expression recognition, understanding of others' mental state, and cognitive fluency or flexibility [81] [82]. Vocational outcome predictors are used to estimate a patient's ability to return to work and working performance. A few of these predictors include age, pre-morbid educational status, motivation, accurate self-awareness, and full acceptance of returning to work [79, 83, 84]. **Passive Modality:** Passive modalities refer to various types of treatment given by a provider that usually involve administration of some form of stimulus being applied to the body as opposed to the individual actively doing some sort of therapy (see Active Therapy, above). Forms of passive modality include massage, hydrotherapy (whirlpools, hot tubs, spas, etc.), ultrasound, and hot/cold compresses.

**Parkinson, and Parkinson Pugilistica:** Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurogenerative disorder next to Alzheimer's disease that has an incidence rate of approximately 13.4 per 100,000 per year. The cause is most commonly idiopathic, but may include genetic and environmental factors. Parkinson's disease is theorized to occur with increased incidence in cases of chronic traumatic encephalopathy, sometimes termed Parkinson Pugilistica (see above). [85-88]

**Physical Therapy:** The term "physical therapy" is used in ACOEM's *Guidelines* generically to mean physical medicine, therapeutic and rehabilitative evaluations and procedures (e.g., massage). Much of the available research uses this term generically. This rehabilitative therapy may be performed by or under the direction of trained and licensed individuals such as physical therapists, occupational therapists, exercise physiologists, chiropractors, athletic trainers,

and physicians. Jurisdictions may differ on the qualifications for licensure to perform these interventions. The *Guidelines* are not meant to restrict physical therapy to being performed only by physical therapists.

**TBI** –Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a nondegenerative, noncongenital insult to the brain from an external mechanical force, possibly leading to temporary or permanent impairment of cognitive, physical, and psychosocial functions, with an associated diminished or altered state of consciousness [89-91]. Menon [90] reported a consensus definition that, "TBI is an alteration in brain function, or other evidence of brain pathology, caused by an external force."

The most common, historic classification of TBI severity is based on length of loss of concussion and the Glasgow Coma Score. However, this has a tenuous relationship with duration of symptoms and need of treatment (e.g., some individuals with mild impairment have ongoing symptoms while some sustaining moderate have rapid, full recovery). As this guideline is based on quality evidence and most studies have used the traditional severity classification system, it is advised that caution be used to emphasize treatment of the patient's symptoms and not rigidly apply the traditional severity system.

Mild/moderate may thus be clinically defined as: persistent symptoms i.e. headache, dizziness, neurocognitive, sleep, behavioral for more than six months without evidence on standard or advanced neuroimaging studies e.g., CT, MRI, DTI MRI of structural or micro structural damage (i.e., SAH, ICH, DAI, SDH, EDH), however with evidence on neuropsychological testing of abnormalities (e.g., decreased processing speed, executive function, attention and concentration, learning and memory) and may include a significant drop in premorbid intelligence. There should be no evidence of malingering and other possible causes of the patients symptoms, e.g., medications, metabolic, substance abuse. Symptoms may worsen with cognitive and at times physical exertion. Severe TBI may then be clinically defined as having the same attributes as mild/moderate with additional evidence of neuroimaging damage.

**Categories of TBI**. There are multiple definitions for TBI and there is no clear consensus definition. There are 3 broad acuity categories of TBI commonly used (mild, moderate, severe) and often these definitions are dissimilar. Although there are multiple definitions for all categories, MTBI (mild TBI) seems to have the greatest degree of variation in its definition. Some experts equate mild TBI to concussion and others do not. Regardless, for purposes of definitions, to provide a basis for discussion of patient treatment based on severity, and recognizing there is potential overlap for some cases, nevertheless, the following definitions are used:

Mild TBI (MTBI) is defined as including at least one of [92]:

- The person was not unconscious or was unconscious for less than 30 minutes.
- Memory loss lasted less than 24 hours.
- The GCS was 13 to15

Moderate TBI is defined as [92]:

- The person was unconscious for more than 30 minutes and up to 24 hours.
- Memory loss lasted anywhere from 24 hours to 7 days.
- The GCS was 9 to 12.

Severe TBI if [92]:

- The person was unconscious for more than 24 hours.
- Memory loss lasted more than 7 days.
- The GCS was 8 or lower.

Other terms used to describe mild TBI include concussion, minor head trauma, minor TBI, minor brain injury and minor head injury.

NICHD-supported research has found that the diagnosis of mild TBI (concussion) in practice, uses inconsistent criteria and relies heavily on patients' self-reported symptoms. A patient with TBI is a person who has had a traumatically induced physiological disruption of brain function.

The above categories are not absolute. For example, some suggest that those with an intracranial bleed but otherwise categorized as "mild" should be categorized as "moderate." [93, 94] Others have suggested relying more heavily on neuropsychological impairment to classify severity [94] as well as for the determination of longer term impairments [95].

**Trigeminal Nerve:** Damage to this nerve causes pain. TBI has a broad range of mechanisms and consequences of injury that may cause multiple types of pain that may include the trigeminal nerve. These mechanisms may or may not involve skull fractures and/or contusions. [96]. The trigeminal nerve is the primary sensory nerve to the face. Patients with trigeminal neuralgia or pain in the area of the trigeminal nerves due to inflammation frequently have pain in one or more of the three branches of the medium nerve (ophthalmic (V<sub>1</sub>), maxillary (V<sub>2</sub>), mandibular (V<sub>3</sub>)). This pain may be dull, sharp and/or shooting. reduced reflexes and some experience burning pain [97].

**Visual Analog Scale**: Visual Analog Scales (VAS) are figures of lines that are used to measure a patient's level of subjective pain. There are different types of VAS pain scales, but nearly all range in value from "0" or "no pain" to "10" or "worst pain" (or 0 to 100). Some have no numeric designation on them; instead a line is drawn between the extreme ends of the line noted as "no pain" and "severe pain" and the patient's "x" on the line is used to measure the fraction or distance between the ends. Some are 0 to 100mm in length. Some have additional verbal anchors such as "mild" and "moderate." Despite these nuances, the performance of these various VAS scales is believed to be valid and reliable.

## **Risk and Causation**

Traumatic brain injury affects nearly 10 million people every year and an estimated 10% of these cases are workrelated [16]. Additionally, the mechanisms of TBI injury differ in the workplace compared with the general population. Workplace TBI is more commonly a result of falling, being struck by an object, or machinery accidents than for non-work-related TBI. A direct blow to the head is not required for a TBI to occur because rapid acceleration or deceleration is a TBI mechanism. Military populations incur both blast- and non-blast-related TBI [98-101]. The majority of work-related TBI cases are not fatal and are considered mild. [102]. Estimates of the proportions from various causes in the general population are provided in Figure 2.

A determination of the work-relatedness of TBI is generally simple. The employment context for the event determines the work-relatedness of the TBI (see Work-relatedness Guideline). Work-relatedness may become considerably more complex if there are long-term sequelae and a history of multiple events and some occurred at work while some occurred avocationally. In such cases, factors such as determination of which event(s) led to the disability and apportionment may arise in some jurisdictions. Nevertheless, caution is warranted in interpreting pre- compared with post-injury symptoms [103-108] [109-115], as there is a propensity toward under-reporting pre-injury symptoms especially in mild TBI cases as well as high rates of similar symptoms in non-concussed individuals [105] [108, 109, 111, 113, 115]. Persistence of symptoms after TBI has been shown to be increased in those who are older [107, 116, 117], female [118], and had a more severe injury [107, 116, 117] [107, 119]. Yet, from an objective perspective, it is concerning that persistence of symptoms has been associated with alcohol [109, 116], drug use [109, 116], psychological/psychiatric history [109, 115, 116, 118], seeking compensation [115] and lower socioeconomic status [120]. Similar findings of worse outcomes with lower parental education, school achievement, and a history of learning problems, have been reported in pediatric TBI patients [107, 117] [121].

The ability to distinguish mild TBI from controls is reportedly only moderately successful [122]. One case series found insufficient effort in 45% of workers compensation TBI cases [123]. Effort has been reported to be more important than TBI injury severity ("diagnosis threat") [124-126] [127] [128, 129]. Similarly, a patient's perception of adverse consequences after mild TBI and/or stress are also important in the ongoing perception of symptoms persistence [127, 130, 131] [104] [110]. Stress, psychiatric history, low social support, low intelligence, anxiety and depression have all been found to predict persistence of symptoms after TBI [130, 132-135]. Worse return to work status has been reported among those who are older, had a lower Glascow Coma Score, had extremity injuries, had prior job instability, and have lower education [136].

## **Individual Factors**

Male gender is a strong risk factor for TBI [137, 138]. Severity measures also indicate that men incur worse TBIs than women, as men accrue more lost work time, and incurred higher average health care

costs [139]. Age is another risk factor for TBI, with varying insults over the lifespan. A strong bimodal distribution is present with those in their teens and again those in the elderly years incurring far higher rates of automobile accidents [140]. Assaults are common in among youth, while falls are increasingly common with advancing age [138, 141]. Increasing age has been associated with a poorer outcome for TBI [142]. Social support, education, social economic status, and age play a role in returning to work after TBI and the severity of injury is a strong determinant of (re)employability [143]. Other risks, especially for delayed recovery include prior mental disorder(s), attention deficit disorder, ADHD, drug use and pre-existing intellectual and physical disabilities. There is no significant evidence yet shown for risks from lack of exercise, genetics [144], cardiovascular disease [145], and illness [146].

## **Psychosocial and Work Organizational Factors**

Work-related TBI may be accompanied by physical, emotional and psychosocial costs. Depression, anxiety, sleep disturbance, fatigue inability to function socially, and other physical problems are negative consequences following TBI [115, 143, 147, 148]. Psychosocial characteristics, such as anxiety, depression, locus of control, and somatization have been used to assess impacts affecting those sustaining TBI injuries [118, 149]. Sleep problems and fatigue commonly affect all categories of TBI patients [150, 151] Additional factors lacking quality evidence, yet thought to influence impacts of TBI and return to work include history of sexual abuse, job strain, occupational support, nonoccupational support, and job satisfaction.

Particularly after severe TBI injuries, obtaining another job or returning to work may be difficult due to the various emotional and/or physical problems [152]. Comparatively minimal emotional issues are reported after mild TBI [153]. After TBI, inadequately addressing safety, poor social support, and financial burdens of injury may all influence returning to work [154].

Research conducted on Iraqi war veterans (N=277) suffering from mild TBIs showed that most had attendant psychosocial difficulties such as underemployment, low income, marital problems, low community integration, and life satisfaction. These difficulties were often still present three years after the initial TBI. [155]. Yet, it has also been reported that mild TBI is not adversely impacted by PTSD and other psychiatric disorders in veterans [156].

Clinical research suggests that most patients with pre-morbid employment with a perceived higher quality of life had a subsequently higher return to work probability, improved psychosocial characteristics, and better adjustments to physical ailments. In contrast, those with pre-morbid employment with a perceived lower quality of life, had a subsequently lower return to work probability, limited psychosocial changes, and limited changes to physical ailments.

## **Job Physical Factors**

Many severe TBI patients experience long-term difficulties with behavior, physical mobility, and/or cognitive tasks when returning or attempting to work. Regarding physical mobility factors, patients may be limited in performing work-related tasks, as well as daily routine tasks. Yet, quality research into these factors is relatively sparse and likely hampered somewhat by the great diversity in clinical TBI presentations and persistent debilities.

In one report, approximately half of a group of 175 TBI patients that had prior employment were not able to return to work due to physical limitations [157]. One factor making return to work more difficult

for some is the gradual enlargement, and thus complexities of many jobs to include far more tasks than in prior decades.

Correlations between questionnaire(s), clinical assessment, physical examination, and self-assessment is needed to validate a TBI patient's current physical limitations prior to determining a return to work status [158].

## **Red Flags**

Features of the patient's history or examination that indicate the possibility of potentially serious disorders are referred to as "red flags." These include features that suggest the possibility of intracerebral hemorrhages, increased intracranial pressure, central nervous system impairments, visual impairments, hearing impairments, skull fractures, spine fractures, acute dislocations, spinal infection, or serious or progressive neurologic deficit. While recognizing these "red flag" disorders is clearly important, there are no high quality prospective cohort studies to provide the evidence base for this section of the guidelines.

# Table 2. Red Flags for Potentially Serious TBI (including Neck/Thoracic Spine Conditions)

Disorder	Medical History	Physical Examination/Diagnostic Testing
SPINAL DISORDERS		
Increased	Altered consciousness, coma	Altered mental status
Intracranial	Headache	Altered consciousness
Pressure	History of hypertension	Concurrent elevated blood pressure
	Organ-system relevant history features if	Organ-system relevant physical
	history of focal intracranial damage or	examination features if history of focal
	bleeding	intracranial damage or bleeding
Intracerebral	Headache	Altered consciousness
hemorrhages	Nausea & vomiting	Organ-system relevant physical
	Organ-system relevant history features if	examination features if history of focal
	history of focal intracranial damage or	intracranial damage or bleeding
	bleeding	
Central nervous	Abnormal balance	Vertigo lasting for more than seconds
system	Loss of consciousness	Vestibular dysfunction
Impairments	Nausea	Hearing loss (unilateral)
	Visual difficulties	Visual dysfunction
	Organ-system relevant history features if	Organ-system relevant physical
	history of focal intracranial damage or	examination features if history of focal
	bleeding	intracranial damage or bleeding
Fracture	Major trauma, such as vehicular accident	Percussion tenderness over specific
	or fall from height[159] [159]	spinous processes
	Minor trauma or strenuous lifting in older	Careful neurological examination for
	or potentially osteoporotic patients	signs of neurological compromise
	Metabolic risks for osteopenia (including	
	renal failure, hyperthyroidism, rheumatic	
	disorders, debility and inheritance)	
Substance Abuse	Substance(s) abuse	Dilated Pupils
with Risk of	Prior substance(s) withdrawal	Tachycardia
Withdrawal		Sweating
Progressive	Progressive limb numbness or weakness,	Progressive loss in any sensory function
Neurologic Deficit	bowel or bladder control impairment, gait	(e.g., visual acuity/Snellen, visual fields,
	ataxia	audiometry, Romberg, balance,
	Progressive loss in any sensory function	sensation)
	(e.g., vision, hearing, balance, sensation)	Significant and progressive myotomal
	Severe spine pain	motor weakness
		Significant and increased sensory loss –
		in anatomical distribution
		Radicular signs
		Corticospinal tract involvement (gait
		ataxia, Babinski sign, hyperreflexia, and
		IIMD spasticity, etc.)
		Other neurological impairment(s)
Myelopathy	Ataxic gait, impaired upper limb	Hyperreflexia, ataxia, clonus, pathologic
	coordination, poor or reduced finger	reflexes (Babinski, Hoffman)
	movements, bladder and/or bowel control	Other neurological impairment(s)
1	impairment (incontinence)	

Adapted from van den Hoogen 95; Jarvik 02; Bigos 94.[160-162], Silbert 95 (1517-22), Hurwitz 96 (1746-61), Grad 1989 (281-4), Szmirnai 2001 (68-71), Bruce 2001(688-93), Berger 99 (175-81), Snyder 93 (253-8), Zaki 93 (110-12), Forsyth 93 (1678-83), Hiroki 2003 (34-100), Hong 2003 (210-14)

## Absence of Red Flags

Absent red flags, TBI can be classified into one of three working categories:

Mild TBI, which includes at least one of [92]:

- The person was not unconscious or was unconscious for less than 30 minutes.
- Memory loss lasted less than 24 hours.
- The GCS was 13 to 15

Moderate TBI, which includes [92]:

- The person was unconscious for more than 30 minutes and up to 24 hours.
- Memory loss lasted anywhere from 24 hours to 7 days.
- The GCS was 9 to 12.

Severe TBI, which includes [92]:

- The person was unconscious for more than 24 hours.
- Memory loss lasted more than 7 days.
- The GCS was 8 or lower.

Mild TBI is generally relatively benign and self-limited; however, in a small percentage of cases the symptoms persist. Most patients have resolution of symptoms over a period of a few days to a month. Symptoms have shown to persist up to a year [163]. Some patients can display symptoms beyond one year post-injury [164] [165, 166]. Moderate TBI is generally longer lasting, with symptoms lasting weeks to a few months. Severe TBI includes those with persistent symptoms. Many patients with severe TBI incur at least some permanent impairment.

## Diagnosis

## **Initial Assessment**

Thorough medical and work histories and a focused physical examination (see General Approach to Initial Assessment and Documentation guideline) are sufficient for the initial assessment of a patient complaining of potentially work-related TBI. Findings of the medical history and physical examination may alert the physician to other pathology (e.g., not of TBI origin) that can present concomitantly. Such findings include fractures, intracranial hemorrhages, vision impairments, hearing impairments, central nervous system impairments and peripheral nervous system impairments. In this assessment, certain findings, referred to as red flags, raise suspicion of serious underlying medical conditions (see Table 2). The absence of red flags and conditions rules out the need for special studies, referral, or inpatient care. During this time, spontaneous recovery is expected, provided any associated workplace factors are mitigated [167].

There also are potential psychological conditions that may be confounding and/or interacting and should be evaluated, such as substances use, psychological/psychiatric disorders, PTSD, suicidality, childhood sexual abuse, hallucinations or intoxication.

## **Medical History**

As TBI clinical presentations are so varied, comprehensive medical histories and physical examinations are necessary to assess the patient's TBI [168]. This section will review the medical history, including the questions

that should generally be asked. The diagnostic approach also needs tailoring to the specific patient, particularly as factors such as the patient's exact mechanism of injury(ies), age, past medical history, underlying medical conditions, prior injury history and genetic predilections all probabilistically adjust the diagnostic approach and prognoses [169].

As the history especially in subacute and chronic TBI patients may sometimes be unreliable [103, 105, 107-109], a suggested approach to consider is to: [170] take into account the patient's current physical and emotional state, (2) establish historical anchor points and/or memorable milestones, (3) decompose generic memories by finding distinctions from each other and (4) obtaining a retrograde clinical history, from recent to remote. [108] Questions may include the following:

- When were you injured? How? What happened?
- Did you lose consciousness? For how long?
- Do you have any memory of what happened? For how much time are you missing your memory or have amnesia?
- Inquire specifically about each symptom or area of symptoms below, since individuals with TBI may have difficulty organizing and communicating their symptoms without prompting. Document results, whether subtle or pronounced, so that the there is a baseline status recorded, as well as the potential for subsequent comparisons. For each of the following symptoms that is present, answer specific questions asked.
- What is the frequency, severity, and duration of headaches? Are they throbbing or ice-pick or squeezing/tension-like?
- Is there dizziness or vertigo? How often? How severe?
- Is there weakness or paralysis? Where? When did that start?
- Are there vision problems? Can you see out of both eyes? What can't you see?
- Are there hearing problems? Ringing in the ears (one or both)?
- Are there balance problems?
- If ambulatory, are there any problems walking?
- Are there memory problems? What have you noticed?
- Are there problems thinking?
- Do you have difficulty concentrating?
- Do you have difficulty with executive functions (speed of information processing, goal setting, planning, organizing, prioritizing, self-monitoring, problem solving, judgment, decision making, spontaneity, and flexibility in changing actions when they are not productive)
- Do you have speech or swallowing difficulties? Expressive aphasia? Difficulty with articulation?
- Do you have pain? What is the severity, duration, location? Does pain radiate?
- Do you have bowel or bladder problems?
- Do you have a history of any psychological or psychiatric issues? Mood swings, anxiety, depression, other (describe)?
- Do you have a history of substance use? What type? Last use(s)?
- Do you have any sensory changes, such as numbness or paresthesias? Location and type?
- Any decreased sense of taste or smell?
- Any history of recent or past seizures? What type, how often? When last experienced?
- Do you have any symptoms of (autonomic dysfunction, such as) heat intolerance, excess or decreased sweating, etc.

• other symptoms, including symptoms of endocrine dysfunction or cranial nerve dysfunction – describe. Caution is warranted in interpreting the history as there are reported problems with reliability for decision-making that may impact diagnosis, treatment and return to work [103, 105, 107-109] [171]. Under-reporting of pre-injury symptoms is reportedly problematic [105, 109]. Additionally, pre-injury conditions such as alcohol and drug use and the preexistence of psychological conditions and pre-existing pain have been shown to be recalled at significantly lower rates in comparison with preinjury medical records [109].

As cervical spine trauma is often present with TBI, the following questions regarding the cervical spine are included.

#### 1. What are your symptoms?

- Do you have pain or stiffness?
- Do you have numbness or tingling?
- For traumatic injuries: Was the area deformed? Did you lose any blood or have an open wound?
- Is the discomfort located primarily in your neck? In your arm?
- Do you have pain or other symptoms elsewhere? (Patients who present with a primarily with upper extremity pain may well have radiculopathy from a cervical disc herniation or other spine pathology.)
- When did your symptoms begin? Have you ever had symptoms like this before?
- Are your symptoms constant or intermittent? What makes the problem worse or better?
- What is the day pattern to your pain? Are you better first getting out of bed in the morning, during the morning, mid-day, evening, or while asleep? Worse as the day progresses? Do you have a problem sleeping? What position is most comfortable? Is there any pain with cough, sneezing, deep breathing, or laughing?
- How long can you sit, stand, walk, and bend?
- Can you lift? How much weight (use items such as gallons of milk, groceries, etc., as examples)?
- 2. How did your condition develop?

#### Past:

Have you had similar episodes previously?

Have you had previous testing or treatment? With whom?

Cause:

What do you think caused the problem?

How do you think it is related to work?

Did your symptoms begin gradually or suddenly? Did you notice the pain the day after the event? Did you slip, trip, or fall?

Were you doing anything at the time your symptoms began? (It is important to obtain all information necessary to document the biomechanical forces of injury.)

Job:

What are your specific job duties? How long do you spend performing each duty on a daily basis? Do you have assistance of other people or lifting devices?

#### Off-work Activities:

What other activities (hobbies, workouts, sports) do you engage in? At home or elsewhere? Any heavy lifting? How? How often? Any physically demanding activities requiring awkward postures, prolonged sitting or standing?

How do these symptoms limit you?

What activities of daily living are limited? Are there specific challenges in your home environment (e.g., steep steps)?

How long have your activities been limited? More than 4 weeks? Have your symptoms changed? How?

#### 3. Do you have other medical problems?

4. What are your expectations regarding your return to work and disability from this health problem?

5. What are your concerns about the potential for further injury to your neck as you recover?

6. What is your job? What do you do on the job? How do you like your job? Your supervisor and coworkers? What is your relationship with your co-workers and supervisor and how do they treat you?

7. What do you hope to accomplish during this visit?

## **Physical Exam**

The objective of the initial physical examination of the TBI patient is to assess those physical and cognitive abnormalities that evaluate the magnitudes and possible causes of loss of function that were elicited during the medical history [172]. Pertinent negatives are also sought. The overall initial impression is an important metric of functional status, as well as helping guide the speed of assessment(s) required. Vital signs, such as elevated blood pressure may suggest elevated intracranial pressure. Elevated temperature, may suggest the presence of an infection. Tachycardia may be a sympathetic nervous system response to the patient's pain, a sign of increased intracranial pressure, or it may be anxiety related. For those being assessed after the initial trauma assessment, a comprehensive physical examination, neurological evaluation, psychological evaluation and cognitive assessment should generally be performed [168]. For those undergoing more advanced testing for chronic TBI impacts, tachycardia may be relevant as indicating potential psychological disturbance, and illicit medication use.

- 1. <u>Vital Signs.</u> Assess vital signs. Assess postural changes in blood pressure and tachycardia as autonomic dysfunction may occur.
- 2. Initial screen for cognitive impairment, examine scalp. For those with impaired mentation, assess with the Glasgow Coma Scale. Next, assess orientation to person, place, time. Consider additional cognitive testing (e.g., recall of presidents, immediate/5-minute recall of 3 items). Palpate for boney step-offs and other signs of potential fractures. Predictors for estimating durations of loss of consciousness and post-traumatic amnesia are available [173].
- **3.** Vision and hearing screening examinations. Assess eye opening. Screen for visual acuity and perception. Consider confrontational testing. Assess peripheral vision. Examine pupils, extraocular movements, funduscopic exam. Assess smooth pursuits and near point convergence. Assess qualitative hearing. Perform otoscopic exam.
- 4. Balance and vestibular examination. Assess balance and vestibular functions. Consider Single leg stance, Balance Error Scoring System (BESS), Berg Balance Scale, Timed Up and Go, and the Functional Gait Assessment. Assess sway on Romberg.
- 5. Oral, facial examination. Examine oral cavity. Examine facial structures.
- **6. Cranial nerves.** Assess the remaining cranial nerves and exam, paying particular attention to those with evidence of potential damage (e.g., facial trauma).
- 7. <u>Neck exam.</u> Evaluate the cervical spine for trauma and/or fracture. Include gentle range of motion, pain with range of motion, muscle tenderness, and tender spinous processes.
- Examine heart, lungs. Perform exams on the heart, lungs, abdomen and then any area with evidence of trauma. Evaluation for orthostatic hypotension in those with longer-term TBI [174] [175].
- 9. Motor function. Assess cooperation with motor testing. Assess motor strength in all major muscle groups. More specificity in assessing affected muscles in all areas of weakness or paralysis is generally next performed using the standard muscle grading scale. To the extent possible, identify the peripheral nerves or innervations for the weakened or paralyzed muscles, even when the weakness or paralysis is of central origin. Standard muscle grading scale: 0 =

Absent No muscle movement felt. 1 = Trace Muscle can be felt to tighten, but no movement produced. 2 = Poor Muscle movement produced only with gravity eliminated. 3 = Fair Muscle movement produced against gravity, but cannot overcome any resistance. 4 = Good Muscle movement produced against some resistance, but not against "normal" resistance. 5 = Normal Muscle movement can overcome "normal" resistance. It is particularly important in TBI patients to make an assessment of strength that incorporates expected strength based on muscle bulk. For example, strength is not the same across the lifespan (including differences based on differential aging impacts on proximal vs. distal and upper vs. lower extremities), between sexes, and include different body frames. Comparisons with an unaffected side, when possible, are particularly helpful. Yet, especially in chronic cases, poor effort has been reported [176] Green 01 [125, 128].

- **10.** Muscle tone, reflexes. Describe any muscle atrophy or loss of muscle tone. Examine and report deep tendon reflexes (usually 0-4 scale) and any pathological reflexes.
- **11. Sensory function.** Describe exact location of any area of abnormal sensory function, noting methods of sensory testing used. Identify the peripheral nerve(s) that innervate the areas with abnormal sensation.
- **12. Gait, spasticity, cerebellar signs**. Describe any gait abnormality (if possible), imbalance, tremor or fasciculations, incoordination, or spasticity. If there is spasticity or rigidity (e.g., Ashworth Scale), assess any limitation of motion of joint (including joint contracture) by following the Joints examination protocol. (A tandem gait assessment (walking in a straight line with one foot directly in front of the other) is recommended.) Consider dual switching tests, such as tandem gait plus counting backwards from 100.
- **13.** Autonomic nervous system. Describe any other impairment of the autonomic nervous system, such as orthostatic (postural) hypotension (if present, state if associated with dizziness or syncope on standing), hyperhidrosis, delayed gastric emptying, heat intolerance, etc.
- **14. Cognitive impairment/Psychological Impairment.** Consider a Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE)) to perform a screen for cognitive impairment. Does the screening show problems with memory, concentration, attention, executive functions, mood, depression etc.? For subacute to chronic cases especially, a comprehensive neuropsychological evaluation is necessary [95] [168].
- **15. Psychiatric manifestations**. Conduct a screening examination for psychiatric manifestations, including neurobehavioral effects particularly if there is a history of same.
- 16. Skin. Describe any areas of trauma or skin breakdown.
- **17. Endocrine dysfunction.** If evidence of endocrine function is identified or suspected, select and follow the additional appropriate examination protocol for the type of endocrine disorder identified.

#### 18. Other abnormal physical findings.

As cervical spine trauma is a common accompaniment of TBI, the examination for the cervical spine is guided by the medical history and includes:

- General observation, including changes in positions, stance
- Gait while walking an extended distance, typically in the hallway, and changes in gait with distance walked
- Regional examination of the spine
- Examination of organ systems related to appropriate differential diagnosis
- Neurologic screening
- Testing for nerve root tension
- Monitoring pain behavior during range of motion and while seated as a clue to the problem's origin

The completely objective parts of the spine examination are circumferential measurements for atrophy or findings of fasciculations. All other findings require the patient's cooperation, although reflexes are generally more objective than subjective.

## **Neurologic Screening**

The most important neurologic deficit to recognize is myelopathy from spinal cord compression. Patients may have symptoms of cervical pain, and arm numbness and/or weakness like other patients with neck disorders. However, many also have additional symptoms of gait abnormality, leg numbness and/or weakness, and some have bowel or bladder control impairment [177].

Physical examination findings that correlate with significant myelopathy are:

- Hyperreflexia (Grade 3 or greater);
- Hoffman reflex (observing reflex flexion of the thumb distal phalanx when the distal phalanx of the middle finger is "flicked" or suddenly passively pushed into flexion at the DIP joint);
- Inverted brachioradialis reflex (during testing the brachioradialis reflex there is a decreased response from the brachioradialis and an abnormal flexion response of the fingers);
- Ankle clonus (forcefully dorsiflexing the ankle and maintaining pressure on the sole of the foot to maintain ankle dorsiflexion and observing for rhythmic beats of ankle flexion and extension, at least 4 "beats" required for sustained clonus to be abnormal);
- Babinski sign or reflex firmly sweeping the pointed end of a reflex hammer from the lateral sole to the base of the toes and observing for an extensor response of the hallux (great toe);
- Cervical stenosis while not a physical examination finding per se, it should be recognized that myelopathy is strongly linked to cervical stenosis, particularly congenital.

The neurologic examination most commonly focuses on a few tests that reveal evidence of nerve root impairment, peripheral neuropathy, or spinal cord dysfunction. The most common herniated disc in the cervical spine is the C5-C6 disc with impingement of the C6 nerve root. The clinical features of cervical nerve root compression are summarized in Table 3.

#### 1. Testing for Muscle Strength

There are no specific muscle tests for the C1 to C2 nerve roots.

Root Level	Sensory Deficit	Motor Weakness	Reflex
C3	Ear, anterior neck, occiput, posterior temporal	Not usually detectable	None
	area		
C4	Shoulder, posterior upper arm, upper chest	Not usually detectable	None
C5	Lateral shoulder, upper arm	Shoulder abduction, elbow flexion	Biceps
C6	Lateral forearm, thumb* and perhaps index finger	wrist extension (ECRL/ECRB) and elbow	Brachioradialis, and
		flexion (biceps)	possibly biceps
C7	Middle finger*	Elbow extension (triceps), wrist flexion,	Triceps
		finger extension	
C8	Distal forearm, ulnar ring, and little* finger	Finger flexion	Triceps
T1	Medial upper forearm and arm	middle finger flexion, finger abduction	None
		and adduction	
T2-T12	Unilateral, dermatomal based on nerve root(s)	Generally none unless multiple roots	None
	affected	affected	

#### Table 3. Physical Examination Correlates of Cervical Nerve Root Dysfunction

\*These are the most common sensory nerve deficits related to cervical nerve root dysfunction.

#### 2. Circumferential Measurements

Muscle atrophy is one of the few purely objective findings and can be measured with bilateral circumferential measurements of the upper arms and forearms at a fixed distance from an anatomic point (e.g., olecranon process). However, the dominant upper extremity usually may have an increase of up to 1cm. in circumference at the forearm and, possibly, also of the upper arm. Additional disparities in circumference are possible based on asymmetrical job physical requirements.

#### 3. Reflexes

The biceps reflex primarily tests the C5 root, and to a lesser extent, the C6 root. The brachioradialis reflex tests the C6 root. The C7 root is assessed with the triceps reflex. The Hoffmann pathologic reflex in combination with clonus may indicate an upper motor neuron lesion.

#### 4. Sensory Examination

Testing to light touch and pinprick (sharp dull perception) in the forearm and hand is usually sufficient to detect common nerve root compromise, but it may be necessary to perform sensory examination of the area from the neck to the forearm to test for higher nerve root compromise. Decreased sensation over the lateral deltoid muscle is a sign of C5 nerve root or axillary nerve compromise. Loss of sensation in the area of the radial forearm and thumb (and perhaps the index finger) suggests C6 nerve root involvement. Decreased sensation in the middle finger (3<sup>rd</sup> digit) may be a sign of C7 involvement, although it also is supplied occasionally by the C6 or C8 nerve root. The C8 root may show ring and little finger sensory findings. The ulnar side of the little finger (5<sup>th</sup> digit) is the purest area of C8 innervation. The T1 nerve root can be tested by evaluating sensation in the upper medial forearm and medial arm. The examiner should determine whether light touch can be felt, and whether the patient can distinguish between sharp and dull stimuli. These findings are more reliable than the report that sensory stimuli feel odd or "different" to the examinee, and yet each sensory stimulus is perceived [178].

#### 5. Physical Examination Tests

Ideally, the treatment of cervical or thoracic pain should be based upon a correct diagnosis. However, for most patients a specific diagnosis that indicates the pain generating structure and the pathophysiology is not possible, and their diagnosis is non-specific cervical pain. Physical examination rules out major neurologic involvement and provides a baseline from which to judge improvement over time. For a variety of reasons, a patient's response to a single test may not be reflective of the presence of identifiable underlying pathology.

# Diagnostic Recommendations

## **Basic Imaging**

Skull radiography has been used to diagnose fractures, and thus assessing in the evaluation of TBI patients. [188] [189] [190].

## **Skull X-Rays**

Recommended.

Skull radiography is recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Head trauma thought to be sufficiently forceful to potentially fracture the skull. Indicated as well for further evaluation of bony step-offs and other clinical signs of fracture.
Benefits:	Identification of fracture, which helps to suggest severity of the injury and potential severity of TBI.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only obtained at presentation. Occasionally re-xrayed at followup.
Rationale:	There is one study suggesting no significant differences between a 2- view and 3-view skull series [191]. Skull X-Rays are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are low cost, are helpful in diagnosing skull fractures and thus are recommended for evaluating TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: skull radiography, skull x-ray, head x-ray; brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; sensitivity, specificity, predictive value of tests, gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, or test. We found and reviewed 1247 articles in PubMed, 81 in Scopus, 42 in CINAHL, 42 in Cochrane Library, 13800 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. Of the 15 articles considered for inclusion, 1 diagnostic study and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### Computed Tomography (CT) Recommended.

Computed tomography is recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Head trauma thought to be sufficiently forceful to potentially cause cranial fracture, intracranial hemorrhage, epidural hemorrhage, subdural hemorrhage and/or other traumatic brain injury(ies). Generally not indicated after the initial evaluation, as MRI is generally preferred for subacute to chronic brain parenchymal evaluation. [199] [200-205].
	The New Orleans decision rule for indications for CT scans among those with Glasgow Coma Score of 15 are: headache, seizure, intoxication, short-term memory deficit, vomiting, aged >60yrs, or injury above the clavicles. The reported sensitivity is 100% and specificity of 24.5% [198].
	The Canadian Head CT rule for indications for CT scans among those with Glasgow coma Score of 13-15 are: high-risk are GCS<15 at 2hrs post-injury, suspected skull fracture, any sign of basal skull fracture, vomiting at least twice, aged at least 65 yrs; medium risk are
	vs. motorized vehicle, ejected from vehicle, fall from height >1m or 5 stairs). The reported sensitivity is 98.4% and specificity of 49.6% [198]. There are limited mild TBI cases where the severity or loss of consciousness or combinations of risks (e.g., in the elderly) may result
Benefits:	Identification of surgical emergencies, fractures, and assisting in identifying or suggesting the severity of the TBI. Generally considered superior to MRI for unstable patients. Scoring with the Helsinki score is reportedly superior to the Rotterdam and Marshall scores [206].
Harms:	Radiological exposure. May miss non-hemorrhagic abnormalities for which MRI is superior to CT for evaluation [199-205].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only obtained at presentation or at the initial, comprehensive evaluatioan.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing CT for diagnosis of TBI. CT is particularly useful for unstable patients with potential need of surgical intervention. CT is not invasive, has no adverse effects (other than radiation exposure), is high cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and thus is recommended for diagnosis and treatment planning of TBI
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: x-ray computed tomography, computed tomography, computerized tomography, CT scan, CAT scan, computerized axial tomography, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 2 462 articles in PubMed, 773 in Scopus, 468

in CINAHL, 3,290 in Cochrane Library, 53,400 in Google Scholar, and 16 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 16 from other sources. Of the 23 articles considered for inclusion, 11 diagnostic studies, 2 prognostic studies and 7 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

Moderately Recommended.

Magnetic resonance imaging is moderately recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Head trauma thought to be sufficiently forceful to potentially cause
	intracranial hemorrhage, epidural hemorrhage, subdural hemorrhage
	and/or other traumatic brain injury(ies). May be indicated for a
	followup MRI study for evaluation of ongoing symptoms, to assess a
	missed diagnosis, and/or resolution of prior defects.
Benefits:	Identification of surgical emergencies, fractures, and assisting in
	identifying or suggesting the severity of the TBI.
Harms:	May have the potential to mislead regarding prognosis, as minor
	abnormalities are common and there is some evidence that clinical
	findings are superior to only MRI findings [209] [210].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only obtained at presentation. Sometimes obtained to
	evaluate ongoing symptoms to assess a missed or secondary
	diagnosis.
Rationale:	There are multiple moderate quality studies suggesting utility of MRI
	for evaluation of TBI patients. MRI is reportedly superior to CT for
	assessing intracranial injuries, especially those without hemorrhage
	[199-204]. MRIs are not invasive (or minimally invasive with I.V.
	contrast), have no adverse effects, are high cost, but are helpful in
	diagnosing surgical emergencies and evaluation of the extent of TBI
	injury(ies) and are thus recommended for evaluating TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Magnetic Resonance Imaging OR MRI
	AND Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head
	Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis,
	sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive
	value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found
	and reviewed 1612 articles in PubMed, 891 in Scopus, 450 in CINAHL,
	102 in Cochrane Library, 15700 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. We considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 3
	from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 25
	from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 31
	diagnostic studies and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Advanced Imaging**

Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) is a noninvasive diagnostic tool similar to MRI with the additional capability of measuring the metabolite concentrations [211-220].

## Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (MRS)

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of magnetic resonance spectroscopy for the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing MRS for diagnosis of TBI. There is consistent, quality evidence that MRS findings are correlated with TBI [221-226]. There also is evidence that MRS findings are predictive of subsequent clinical outcomes [221] [222]. Some evidence suggests intelligence factors may confound or interact with the MRS findings [224]. One comparative study reported higher sensitivity with SPECT than MRS [227]. Still, there is no quality evidence that MRS alters the clinical course beyond that already obtained from MRI or other imaging. MRS is not invasive has no adverse effects, is high cost, and has evidence of diagnostic efficacy. Yet, without quality evidence it alters the clinical course, there is no recommendation for or against MRS for the diagnosis of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Magnetic Resonance (MR) Spectroscopy, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, and Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 72 articles in PubMed, 8 in Scopus, 28 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 50 in Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. Of the 21 articles considered for inclusion, 16 diagnostic studies and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Functional MRI**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of functional MRI for the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are a few quality studies assessing Functional MRI for diagnosis of TBI. However, there are no quality studies showing fMRI alters the clinical course compared with other diagnostic testing such as traditional MRI. Most studies utilizing fMRI have focused on working memory tasks and not for diagnostic purposes [228]). Functional MRI diagnostic test is minimally invasive, has no adverse effects, is high cost, but has no quality evidence of altering the clinical course and thus there is no recommendation for or against use of fMRI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: fMRI, Functional MRI, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 1529 articles in PubMed, 146 in Scopus, 50 in CINAHL, 32 in Cochrane Library, 9430 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We
	CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 11 articles considered for inclusion, 5 diagnostic studies and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
### Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI) Recommended.

Diffusion tensor imaging is recommendation for the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Symptoms of mild TBI, especially with somewhat unclear severity and need to perform imaging to assess ongoing symptoms to identify that there are no abnormalities consistent with TBI on DTI
Benefits:	Able to help identify existence of abnormalities consistent with TBI on imaging, as well as extent of abnormalities.
Harms:	Potential for misinterpretation when all other tests are normal and then conclusion drawn that permanent injury based on DTI and/or SPECT alone. Potential for confounding based on other brain abnormalities.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Single evaluation. Infrequently, second evaluation may be helpful to assess progress and/or residual changes.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing DTI for diagnosis of TBI. Most [250] [251, 252] but not all [253] studies suggest it may help identify abnormalities consistent with TBI injuries. One study found a need to adjust results by age, sex and GCS [254]. One study suggests DTI findings are clinically predictive [255] and another suggests long lasting changes are identifiable with DTI [256]. DTI is minimally invasive, has no adverse effects, is high cost, and has some evidence of diagnostic efficacy, thus it is selectively recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: DTI, Diffusion Tensor Imaging, Diffusion Functional Imaging, Diffusion Spectrum Imaging, DSI, Diffusion Weighted Imaging, DWI, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 324 articles in PubMed, 257 in Scopus, 80 in CINAHL, 18 in Cochrane Library, 13,900 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 16 from other sources. Of the 26 articles considered for inclusion, 23 diagnostic studies and 3 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Dynamic Imaging**

Single-proton emission computerized tomography (SPECT) or single-photon emission tomography (SPET) is a neuroimaging technique that detects cerebral blood flow (CBF) and brain metabolism. SPECT has been used for diagnostic testing in TBI patients [257-262].

### Single-Photon Emission Computerized Tomography (SPECT) No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of SPECT in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing SPECT for diagnosis of TBI. SPECT has been previously used to detect brain death [263], although that is no longer a typical use. Data are somewhat conflicting regarding the usefulness of SPECT. While quality data suggest SPECT is superior to CT for detecting parenchymal lesions, data conflict regarding whether SPECT is superior to MRI for detection of parenchymal TBI findings [264] [265] [266] or not superior [267]. SPECT has been used to attempt to objectify subjective complaints [268] [269] [270]. A few studies suggest SPECT findings are predictive of clinical outcomes [271] [272] [268] [273] [274]. SPECT is not
	invasive has no adverse effects, is high cost, has no clear evidence of
	diagnostic efficacy for TBI and thus there is no recommendation.
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Single-photon emission computerized tomography, SPECT, SPECT scan, SPET, Single-Photon Emission Computer-Assisted Tomography, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 60 articles in PubMed, 40 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 21 in Cochrane Library, 40 in Google Scholar, and 22 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library 0 from Google Scholar, and 22 from other sources. Of the 32 articles
	considered for inclusion, 30 diagnostic studies and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Positron Emission Test (PET) No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of PET in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are few quality studies assessing PET for diagnosis of TBI. PET is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, has limited evidence of diagnostic efficacy in TBI [280] without quality evidence the test alters the clinical course and thus there is no recommendation for or
	against PET for diagnosis of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Positron-Emission Tomography,
	Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury
	Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral
	Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity,
	specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and
	predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and
	reviewed 20 articles in PubMed, 10 in Scopus, 10 in CINAHL, 10 in
	Cochrane Library, 30 in Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. We
	considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from
	CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 5 from
	other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 6 diagnostic
	studies and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Vascular Imaging**

Vascular imaging tests are diagnostic tests that use high frequency waves to view blood flow of vessels. These tests encompass a few different types including: arteriography, ultrasound, noninvasive vascular assessment, and brain acoustic monitor [281]. Digital subtraction angiography has been used to detect vessel injury after penetrating brain injuries [282].

### **Vascular Imaging Tests**

Recommended.

Vascular imaging tests are recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Symptoms and/or signs consistent with vascular injury
Benefits:	Identify treatable condition(s)
Harms:	Adverse effects of the procedure, including bleeding, vascular injury for the invasive procedures.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Usually only one assessment is needed. Tests include diagnostic ultrasound, arteriography, magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) and CT.
Rationale:	There are few quality studies assessing Vascular Imaging Tests for diagnosis of and effects of TBI. Vascular Imaging tests are invasive have adverse effects, are high cost, have some evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and are selectively recommended for diagnosis of vascular problems associated with TBI.
Evidence:	<ul> <li>A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,</li> <li>Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date</li> <li>limits using the following terms: Vascular Imaging Tests,</li> <li>Arteriography, Venography, Noninvasive Vascular Assessment, NIVA,</li> <li>Brain Acoustic Monitor, Traumatic Brain Injury, Closed Head Injury,</li> <li>Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic,</li> <li>diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative</li> <li>predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency.</li> <li>We found and reviewed 414 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 7 in</li> <li>CINAHL, 141 in Cochrane Library, 8980 in Google Scholar, and 1 from</li> <li>other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from</li> <li>Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google</li> <li>Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for</li> <li>inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic study met the</li> <li>inclusion eritoria</li> </ul>

### Brain Acoustic Monitor (BAM) No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of a brain acoustic monitor in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing BAM for diagnosis of TBI. The reported correlation between BAM signal measured early after admission and subsequent anatomic and functional evidence of TBI indicates a high sensitivity (93-100%), but quite low specificity (14-30%) [283, 287]. Thus, the false positive rate is considerable and limits the utility of the technology. The BAM diagnostic test is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, has limited evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 6 articles in PubMed, 1 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 11400 in Google Scholar, and 5 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 in Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 1 diagnostic study, 2 prognostic studies and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

## Electroencephalography

Electroencephalography (EEG) has been used to detect brain activity, propensity towards seizures, and has been used in the evaluation of TBI patients [288-295].

## Electroencephalography (EEG)

### Recommended.

Electroencephalography (EEG) is recommendation for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Known or suspected TBI injury. Evaluation of seizure-like activity or evaluation of risk of seizures. May include sleep-deprived EEG especially if awake EEG is normal but clinical suspicion of seizures is present.
Benefits:	Identification of seizures. Previously used for identification of brain death, but that use has been largely replaced by other imaging tests.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only one assessment.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing EEG in comparison with other commonly used tests for diagnosing the extent of TBI. EEG is not
	invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost, and has utility in the diagnosis and management of seizures related to TBI and is thus recommended for diagnosis of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms; Quantitative Electroencephalograph (QEEG), Electroencephalography (EEG). Brain Injuries, Head Injuries, Penetrating, Brain Concussion, Concussion, Craniocerenral Trauma, Traumatic brain, Intracranial, Closed Head, Penetrating, Head, Craniocerebral Trauma, Injury, and Injuries. (Diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 7 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 8 diagnostic studies and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria

## Electroencephalography

Quantitative electroencephalogram has been used to assess brain activity among TBI patients [288-295].

## Quantitative Electroencephalograph (QEEG)

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of quantitative electroencephalograph (QEEG) in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing QEEG in comparison with other commonly used tests for diagnosing the extent of TBI, and no quality evidence QEEG is meaningfully superior to EEG. QEEG is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost, but has no clear superiority for evaluation of TBI patients and thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms; Quantitative Electroencephalograph (QEEG), Electroencephalography (EEG). Brain Injuries, Head Injuries, Penetrating, Brain Concussion, Concussion, Craniocerenral Trauma, Traumatic brain, Intracranial, Closed Head, Penetrating, Head, Craniocerebral Trauma, Injury, and Injuries. (Diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 7 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 8 diagnostic studies and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

## **Evoked Potentials**

Somatosensory evoked potentials have been used to determine if neurological damage has occurred from a traumatic brain injury [296-299].

### Somatosensory Evoked Potential (SSEP) Recommended.

Somatosensory evoked potentials (SSEP) are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Severe TBI with inability to test sensory system with more common methods, such as bedside testing.
Benefits:	Ability to assess the sensory system
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	May be used at baseline. If there are abnormalities and the injury continues to preclude other testing, then followup testing with somatosensory evoked potentials is reasonable.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of TBI, improvement sufficient to undergo standard testing.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Somatosensory Evoked Potential
	(SSEP) for diagnosis and followup of TBI. Somatosensory Evoked
	Potential (SSEP) testing is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low
	cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for
	selective diagnosis and assessment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Somatosensory Evoked Potential,
	Traumatic Brain Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity,
	positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive
	value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 19
	articles in PubMed, 16 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library,
	2240 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

## Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of vestibular evoked myogenic potentials to diagnose traumatic brain injury.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

There are no quality studies assessing Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials for evaluation of TBI. Vestibular Evoked Myogenic Potentials is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but

	absent quality evidence of diagnostic efficacy, there is no
	recommendation for evaluation of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Vestibular evoked myogenic
	potentials, VEMP, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed
	Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis,
	sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive
	value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found
	and reviewed 5 articles in PubMed, 5 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 1 in
	Cochrane Library, 582 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

#### Comments:

Electromyography (EMG) measures the health of the muscles and the nerves that control your muscles. This is done by evaluating the electrical activity levels in the muscles while resting and contracting. A nerve conduction study is often part of the EMG evaluation and examines how well nerves are functioning. The speed and velocity of the electrical signals produced by stimulated nerves is recorded [300].

### **EMG and Nerve Conduction Studies**

**Recommended.** 

Electromyography and nerve conduction studies are recommended for the evaluation of TBI.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Known or suspected peripheral nerve injuries or CNS injuries with peripheral nerve sequelae (e.g., identification of extent of partial paralysis).
Benefits:	Identification and quantification of peripheral nerve injury(ies). Occasionally may result in need for surgery to improve the clinical outcome.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only one assessment.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing EMG/NCS for diagnosis of peripheral nerve injury(ies) or consequences of central nervous system injury(ies) associated with TBI, although there are a few quality studies for evaluation of the distal upper extremity (see Hand, Wrist Forearm Guideline). facial nerve injury from TBI. EMG/NCS is minimally invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate to high cost depending on extent of the examination required, and is thought to aid in the identification of either peripheral nerve injury(ies) and/or peripheral consequences of central nervous system insults from TBIs and thus is selectively recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Electromyogram, EMG, Nerve conduction studies, Traumatic brain injury Closed Head injury,

Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 14 articles in PubMed, 62 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, in Cochrane Library, 16 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

### **Electrodiagnostic Studies**

Electroneuronography (ENoG) is a neurological test that assess the integrity and ability of the facial nerves. The purpose of ENoG is to quantify the percentage of nerve fibers that can be stimulated [301]. The assessment of the facial is thought to be useful in managing facial nerve disorders and identifying disorders that affect facial nerves.

### Electroneuronography (EnoG) Recommended.

Electroneuronography is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Known or suspected facial nerve injuries.
Benefits:	Identification and quantification of facial nerve injury(ies).
	Occasionally may result in need for surgery to improve the clinical
	outcome.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only one assessment.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing EnoG for diagnosis of facial
	nerve injury from TBI. EnoG is minimally invasive, has no adverse
	effects, is moderate cost, and is thought to aid in the identification of
	facial nerve injury and thus is selectively recommended to identify
	facial nerve injuries associated with TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: electroneurography
	Electroneuronography, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury,
	Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic,
	diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative
	predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency.
	We found and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 16 in Scopus, 0 in
	CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 10 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0
	from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0
	from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

## Ultrasound

### Ultrasonography

Recommended.

Ultrasonography is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Head trauma thought to be sufficiently forceful to potentially fracture the skull.
Benefits:	Identification of fracture, which helps to suggest severity of the injury and potential severity of TBI.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only obtained at presentation.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Ultrasonography for diagnosis of
	TBI. Ultrasonography is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for diagnosis
	of skull fractures associated with TBI.
Evidence:	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Ultrasonography, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 424
	articles in PubMed, 151 in Scopus, 65 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library,
	inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

## **Post-Concussion and Sideline Testing**

Multiple concussion screening tests are typically used on the sidelines of contact sports to manage concussion injuries [302-309]. These include but are not limited to ImPACT, MACE, King-Devick and SCAT. [310-312]. Post-concussion and/or sideline testing often consists of a computerized test battery. Tests of brain function are typically included, such as symptoms, attention, memory, processing speed, and reaction time.

## Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment (ImPACT)

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment (ImPACT) in the evaluation of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

There are a few quality studies assessing ImPACT for diagnosis of TBI [302, 305-307], although it is cumbersome to use and nearly all data

are from adolescent or young adult athletes raising questions about the applicability to occupational settings and its overall utility is disputed [313]. While the body of evidence suggests some some utility for this tool, the studies somewhat conflict regarding the overall sensitivity of the test. Sensitivity tends to be higher with batteries of tests used and overall sensitivity estimates range from approximately 40-85%. However, there are some data suggesting prognostic value of IMPACT in severe TBI [314-317]. The ImPACT diagnostic test is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, has somewhat conflicting evidence of efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 934 articles in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 18 in CINAHL, 10 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies, 4 prognostic studies and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Evidence:

### Military Acute Concussion Evaluation No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of Military Acute Concussion Evaluation in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing MACE for diagnosis of TBI in occupational populations. There is one study that attempted to determine utility of the MACE in a military population and suggests some discriminatory ability [310]. The MACE diagnostic test is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but has no documented evidence of diagnostic efficacy in typical employed populations, and thus there is no recommendation regarding its use in occupational populations for the evaluation of TBI. As some occupational TBI cases have similar ballistics as many military TBI cases, the applicability of the test to select patients may still be reasonable, although that needs to be determined in quality studies.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Military acute concussion evaluation, MACE, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 13 articles in PubMed, 2 in Scopus, 6 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 7830 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 1 prognostic study and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### King-Devick (K-D)

The King-Devick screen is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients. **Recommended.**  *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	Mild, moderate or severe TBI patients or athletes. Generally used among those with a known baseline measurement. King-Devick is a visual performance test to and has been used most often in contact sport athletes to enhance the detection of concussion. Concussion is frequently associated with saccade abnormalities, pursuit eye movement, convergence, accommodation and vestibular-ocular reflex. The King-Devick Test involves having the individual rapidly reads the numbers on 3 test cards with the score being the total time required in seconds [339].
Benefits:	Simple test that can be implemented with minimal training including among non-medically trained and can be performed rapidly at the sideline. Helps assess degree of TBI.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Baseline evaluation. Then measured after subsequent potential TBI event(s).
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There are several moderate quality studies assessing King- Devick for diagnosis of sports related concussion [323, 326-331, 333] [334] [335] [340] [337, 338] although most data are from adolescent or young adult athletes raising questions about the applicability to occupational settings. While the body of evidence suggests some utility for this tool, the studies somewhat conflict regarding the overall sensitivity of the test. The King-Devick diagnostic test is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, has somewhat conflicting evidence of efficacy, but has moderate evidence suggesting prognostic utility and thus is recommended for evaluation of mild-moderate to severe TBI. King-Devick testing may be performed at the rapidly by non- professional individuals
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 934 articles in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 18 in CINAHL, 10 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies, 4 prognostic studies and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

### Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT)

### Recommended.

The Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT) is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	The SCAT is a screening evaluative tool and not a diagnostic tool. Use
	of possible post-TBI testing. Repeat testing to follow progress may also be helpful.
Benefits:	Identification of severity of concussion, follow-up of symptoms and at resolution of symptoms.
Harms:	Negligible. Potential for occasional misinterpretations especially where baseline data are missing.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Administered after TBI and monitored periodically during recovery. For high risk situations, baseline or pre-concussion testing may help measure the baseline [344]. Baseline, pre-TBI testing would rarely be indicated in occupational settings.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing SCAT for diagnosis of TBI [345] [312, 346]. One comparative study suggested the SCAT 2 is superior to the MACE [312]. One study suggested utility of SCAT, although it also found differences by age and gender, potentially rendering interpretations more challenging [345]. The SCAT diagnostic test is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low cost, has some evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for diagnosis and follow-up testing of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: SCAT, sport concussion assessment tool, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 50 articles in PubMed, 40 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 20 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 1 diagnostic study, 3 prognostic studies and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Neuropsychological Assessment**

Neuropsychology is a specialized branch of psychology involving the assessment, management and rehabilitation of people suffering illness or disease (particularly to the brain). Neuropsychologists evaluate symptoms and neurocognitive (dys)function. Patient injuries and disorders evaluated include, but are not limited to TBI. Other disorders evaluated and treated by neuropsychologists include neurodegenerative disorders, multiple sclerosis, strokes, neurodevelopmental conditions, etc.

Neurocognitive dysfunction may be reflected in personality, intelligence, attention, executive function, reasoning, problem solving, information processing, and memory. Cognitive testing generally consists of a comprehensive evaluation of the patient's cognitive status by specific neurologic domains. Various testing batteries have been used, including for the evaluation of TBI patients [303, 304, 347, 348]. Neuropsychological assessments frequently include analyses of effort and signs of exaggeration.

Neuropsychology occupies a prominent role in the evaluation and treatment of TBI patients, especially moderate and severe patients. In most cases, mild TBI resolves within a few days and thus there is little role for professional evaluation(s) and treatment(s) other than natural recovery. However, neuropsychology is also highly helpful in the evaluation of mild TBI patients with persistent symptoms beyond one month. Neuropsychology is employs assessments that frequently consist of a thorough clinical and neuropsychological assessment of TBI and various types of tests and test batteries to identify abnormalities related to TBI [93, 95, 349-352]. These tests typically undergo frequent revisions and the most up-to-date version of the tests should be administered. Normally, patients are given a battery of tests in numerous different domains (e.g., intelligence, memory, executive function, speech, language, visual spatial) to assess impacts of, and plan treatment of, TBI patients. Some of these tests are referred to below according to specific cognitive domains (e.g., intelligence, attention and concentration, memory). It should also be noted that this review is not intended to be all inclusive. Many tests and test batteries are not included in this review, as there are hundreds of various tests of neuropsychological and cognitive functioning. Additional tests may be included for review in subsequent revisions. Neuropsychological rehabilitation for TBI may consist of psychotherapy, cognitive exercises and retraining. Neuropsychological tests and treatments are reviewed individually by topic in later sections.

### Neuropsychological and Neurocognitive Assessment

#### **Recommended.**

Neuropsychological assessment is recommended for the evaluation and treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Moderate or Severe TBI patients experiencing cognitive difficulties. Mild TBI patients with ongoing symptoms are also candidates for neuropsychological assessments, although most mild cases are expected to rapidly resolve and not require evaluation. May be performed to help guide treatment, oversee psychological and cognitive-related treatments and may later be performed as part of an evaluation for end-of-healing and clinical plateau. Well performed neuropsychological evalulations are widely considered indispensable
Donofito	for evaluation of TBI impairments [95].
Benejits:	behavioral and cognitive capabilities, potentially allowing better tailoring of therapy(ies) to address the specific deficit(s).
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally, a comprehensive assessment with a battery of tests is performed once or twice assessing numerous different domains (e.g., intelligence, memory, executive function, speech, language, visual spatial). Ongoing focused assessments and treatments are then

provided targeting deficits or functional issues identified in the assessment. May be used to target specific rehabilitation strategies. May later help determine end of healing and extent of residual deficits, if any.

Neuropsychological Assessments are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are moderately costly, are thought to be effective for evaluation of TBI patients and are thus recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients. Tests that are used should utilize the most recent versions.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Neuropsychological Assessment, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 20 articles in PubMed, 10 in Scopus, 10 in CINAHL, 10 in Cochrane Library, 10 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 4 from Scopus, 5 from CINAHL, 4 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 22 articles considered for inclusion, 9 diagnostic studies and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Neurocognitive testing, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 181 articles in PubMed, 580 in Scopus, 37 in CINAHL, 28 in Cochrane Library, 60 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion zero from PubMed, one from Scopus, one from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 4 diagnostic studies and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Copyright ©2020 Reed Group, Ltd.

Rationale:

Evidence:

The MMPI-2 (also MMPI-2-RF) has been widely used to assist in comprehensive psychological evaluations, including those of persons with traumatic brain injury [353-358]. Its use has been reported among TBI patients, including for the identification of malingering and/or exaggeration.

## Personality/Psychological Assessment

## Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI)

Recommended.

The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Post-TBI testing. Repeat testing to follow progress may sometimes be
Benefits:	Measure of psychological and emotional factors, including developing support for a psychiatric disorder (e.g., somatic symptom disorder, Major Depressive Disorder) or identify maladaptive personality characteristics that may better account for an individual's symptom complaints. May assist with identification of over-reporting of symptoms as well as malingering [253, 359-364] [365]. Often used in conjunction with clinical picture to attempt to substantiate subjective complaints.
Harms:	Negligible. Potential for occasional misinterpretations especially where baseline data are missing.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	May be administered to assist with identification of psychological and emotional factors.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing MMPI for evaluation of patients who sustained TBI. The MMPI is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost, has evidence of accuracy especially for detecting malingering, and is thus recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) and Hs (Hypochondriasis) and Hy (Hysteria); Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 122 articles in PubMed, 92 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 14 in Cochrane Library, 430 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 13 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, one from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 15 articles considered for inclusion, 2 prognostic studies, 11 diagnostic and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Intelligence Testing**

### Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale

### Recommended.

The Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale is moderate recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Post-TBI testing. Repeat testing to follow progress may be sometimes helpful.
Benefits:	Identification of severity of TBI, follow-up of symptoms and at resolution of symptoms. May assist with identification of malingering. [372-376] [377-380] The WAIS is often used in conjunction with clinical picture
	as well as Wechsler Memory Scale IV to attempt to substantiate subjective complaints.
Harms:	Negligible. Potential for occasional misinterpretations especially where baseline data are missing.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Administered after TBI to assist with patient management.
Rationale:	There are several moderate quality studies suggesting utlity of WAIS and/or WAIS-IV for evaluation of patients who sustained TBI [372-375] [376-378] [379, 380]. WAIS is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is of
	moderate cost, has evidence of accuracy for assessing IQ and for detecting malingering, and is thus recommended for evaluation of TBI patients. The test is periodically updated and the most recent version is recommended.
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) and Hs (Hypochondriasis) and Hy (Hysteria); Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 122 articles in PubMed, 92 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 14 in Cochrane Library, 430 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 13 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, one from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 15 articles considered for inclusion, 2 prognostic studies, 11 diagnostic and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. Traumatic Brain Injury– A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III, WAIS-III, WAIS-IV, Traumatic brain injury. Closed Head injury. Penetrating Head Injury. Concussion.
	Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 42 articles in PubMed, 21 in Scopus, 18 in CINAHL, 17 in Cochrane Library, 2480 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for

inclusion 12 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 14 articles considered for inclusion, 14 diagnostic and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics

Moderately Recommended.

Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics is moderately recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Post-TBI testing. Not used for diagnostic purposes, but is used as a
	test of neurocognitive functioning to help provide support to confirm
	or disconfirm the presence of mild TBI symptoms. Repeat testing to
	follow progress may also be helpful [397].
Benefits:	Follow-up of symptoms and at resolution of symptoms, although test
-	re-test reliability may be concerning.
Harms:	Negligible. Potential for occasional misinterpretations especially
	where baseline data are missing.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Administered after concussion and monitored periodically during
	recovery. For high risk situations, baseline or pre-concussion testing
	may help measure the baseline. Baseline, pre-concussion testing
	would rarely be indicated in occupational settings.
Rationale:	There are several quality studies assessing ANAM for diagnosis of TBI
	[393, 397-403]. All studies suggest utility of ANAM for diagnosis
	and/or prognosis, although the populations assessed in the quality
	studies are largely military. Some studies were primarily of athletes.
	The ANAM diagnostic test is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low
	cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for
	diagnosis of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed. Scopus.
	CINAHL, Google Scholar, and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: automated, neuropsychological, assessment, metrics, ANAM,
	neck, neck pain, cervical, radicular pain or radiculopathies, neck pain
	diagnosis, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative
	predictive value, predictive value of tests, vertebrae or vertebral or spine;
	brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or
	concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed
	Reductive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision
	nrecise test: diagnostic diagnosis sensitivity specificity positive predictive
	value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and
	efficiency. We found and reviewed 18 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 13 in
	CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 3460 in Google Scholar, and 0 in other sources.
	We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0
	from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar and 15 from other sources. Of
	the 17 articles considered for inclusion, 15 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic
	studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Memory, Malingering, Exaggeration & Poor Effort Testing

Memory tests have been used to assess TBI patients [404-418]. There are many different types of memory tests used, including: Everyday Memory Questionnaire (EMQ), Spatial Recall Test [409] Short Orientation Memory and Concentration Test (SOMC) [406], Recognition Memory Tests (RMT) [410], the Wechsler Memory Scale (WMS), standardized assessment of concussion (SAC) (O'Neil 14; McCrea 97,98,01; Barr 01;Yan 17), Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) (deGuise 13,14; Zhang 16a,b; Lim 16), as well as many others.

Malingering tests have been used to assess TBI patients [361, 364, 368, 369, 371, 372]. In addition to tests specifically designed to assess effort and malingering, there are standardized tests of neuropsychological functioning that have been shown to demonstrate the ability to detect suboptimal effort, although they are not malingering tests per se. These are commonly referred to as "embedded measures" of malingering. There various different types of malingering tests used, including: the Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM) [371] [414], Word Memory Test (WMT) [361], the Portland Digit Recognition Test [168], Reliable Digit Span test (Hall 2014), the Wisconsin Card Sorting test [372], as well as others.

## Memory and Malingering Tests

Recommended.

Memory and malingering tests are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate or Severe TBI patients experiencing cognitive difficulties. May be performed to help guide treatment. May later be performed as part of an evaluation for end-of-healing and clinical plateau. Generally not used for mild TBI patients, however highly selective use among those with either high and critical occupational cognitive demands and/or memory complaints may also be indicated.
Benefits:	Memory tests used to identify and measure memory difficulties, potentially allowing better tailoring of therapy(ies) to address any memory deficits. Malingering tests used to identify and measure intentional production of exaggerated or false symptoms.
Harms:	Negligible in most patients. Memory testing is strongly subject to malingering and many comparative studies exclude all patients involved in any litigation. Thus, careful interpretation and potential pairing with tests for malingering are indicated especially where there is strong potential for secondary gain(s).
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally not performed more than once or twice. May be used to target specific cognitive rehabilitation strategies. Memory tests may later help determine end of healing and extent of residual deficits, if any.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Memory Tests for diagnosis of TBI. There are also quality studies assessing Malingering Tests fo diagnosis of TBI. However, there are few comparative trials of sufficient size and rigor to allow a recommendation of one type of testing over another.

Evidence:

Memory and malingering tests are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are low cost, have evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and are thus recommended for diagnosis and evaluation of TBI patients. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: memory test, letter memory or test of memory malingering or word memory test, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; sensitivity and specificity, predictive value of tests, goldstandard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 941 articles in PubMed, 546 in Scopus, 793 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 10200 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 6 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 21 articles considered for inclusion, 15 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### California Verbal Learning Test (CVLT-I and CVLT-II)

Recommended.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Generally used in mild TBI patients, particularly for evaluating
	learning, memory and malingering.
Benefits:	Assess memory and learning. Identification of malingering.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally used on one occasion if use is for detecting malingering.
	May be used on subsequent occasions to track learning and memory progress.
Rationale:	The two highest quality studies suggest CVLT-II is useful for evaluating
	memory and malingering [420, 421]. One moderate quality study
	suggests CVLT-II is more sensitive for memory measures than the
	Word Memory Test [422]. CVLT is not invasive, has negligible adverse
	effects, is low cost and is recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: California Verbal Learning Test
	Second Edition, CVLT-II; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury,
	Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic,
	diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative
	predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency.
	We found and reviewed 36 articles in PubMed, 11 in Scopus, 5 in
	CINAHL, 18 in Cochrane Library, 20,400 in Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 0 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for

inclusion, 8 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Repeatable Battery of the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS)** Recommended.

The Repeatable Battery of the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Patients with ongoing cognitive symptoms from TBI. May also be used to assess effort and malingering [423, 424].
Benefits:	Assess cognitive function in 5 domains. Malingering is potentially able to be evaluated with 2 subscales [423].
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally used on one occasion if use is for detecting malingering.
	May be used on subsequent occasions to track learning and memory progress.
Rationale:	The highest quality studies suggest RBANS is useful for evaluating cognitive function [425, 426] and malingering [423, 424]. RBANS is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is low cost and is recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status, RBANS; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 17 articles in PubMed, 12 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 21in Cochrane Library, 3,760 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 4 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Wechsler Memory Scale

### Moderately Recommended.

The Wechsler Memory Scale is moderately recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Assess memory after TBI. May be used in select cases of mild TBI with ongoing symptoms. Repeat testing to follow progress may sometimes be helpful. May help evaluate potential symptoms exaggeration and malingering.
Benefits:	Identification of severity of TBI, follow-up of symptoms and at resolution of symptoms. May assist with identification of malingering. Often used in conjunction with WAIS-III as well as the clinical picture to attempt to substantiate subjective complaints. [430], [431]Langeluddecke, 2003 #2479}[124, 432-434].
Harms:	Negligible. Potential for occasional misinterpretations especially where baseline data are missing.
Frequency/Dose/Duration: Rationale:	<ul> <li>Administered after TBI, often at the point of maximum recovery.</li> <li>Multiple moderate quality studies suggest utility of WMS-III for evaluation of patients who sustained TBI [135, 427-429]. The WMS-III is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost, has evidence of utility for memory assessment, and is thus recommended for evaluation of TBI patients. The test is periodically updated and the most recent version is recommended.</li> <li><i>Evidence:</i> A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) and Hs (Hypochondriasis) and Hy (Hysteria); Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 122 articles in PubMed, 92 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 14 in Cochrane Library, 430 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 13 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, one from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 15 articles considered for inclusion, 2 prognostic studies, 11 diagnostic and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.</li> <li>A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III, WAIS-III, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 42 articles in PubMed, 21 in Scopus, 18 in CINAHL, 17 in Cochrane Library, 2480 in Google Scholar, an</li></ul>
	studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM)**

### Recommended.

The Test of Memory Malingering is moderately recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – **Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)** 

Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Post-TBI testing. Repeat testing to follow progress may sometimes be helpful [435] [122, 168, 405, 436-445] [365, 411, 414] There may be
	select patients with ongoing symptoms from mild TBI who are candidates.
Benefits:	Identification of severity of TBI. follow-up of symptoms and at resolution
,	of symptoms. May assist with identification of malingering and to
	attempt to substantiate subjective complaints.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Administered after TBI, generally early in the clinical course. May be
	administered in evaluations at the point of maximum recovery.
Rationale:	There are several moderate quality studies assessing TOMM evaluation of
	patients who sustained TBI. This test is not invasive, has no adverse
	effects, is of moderate cost, has evidence of accuracy especially for
	detecting malingering in MTBI, and is thus recommended for evaluation of
	TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using
	the following terms: Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI)
	and Hs (Hypochondriasis) and Hy (Hysteria); Traumatic brain injury, Closed
	Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury;
	diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value,
	negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and
	efficiency. We found and reviewed 122 articles in PubMed, 92 in Scopus,
	14 in CINAHL, 14 in Cochrane Library, 430 in Google Scholar, and zero
	from other sources. We considered for inclusion 13 from PubMed, zero
	from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, one from Cochrane Library, zero from
	Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 15 articles considered
	for inclusion, 2 prognostic studies, 11 diagnostic and 2 systematic studies
	met the inclusion criteria.

# Cognitive Event-Related Potential Recommended.

Cognitive event-related potential has been recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Post-TBI patients who either have symptoms of cognitive deficits
Deve office	and/or nave sustained a TBI sumclent to cause same.
Benefits:	Identification of cognitive deficits that may potentially be addressed
	by further cognitive therapy.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Baseline evaluation. May be used to evaluate progress and/or residual cognitive deficits.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient recovery, plateau, end of healing.
Rationale:	There are a few quality studies assessing Cognitive Event Related
	Potential for diagnosis of cognitive impacts of TBI and suggesting
	efficacy. Cognitive Event Related Potential is not invasive, has no
	adverse effects, is low cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is
	recommended for diagnosis of cognitive impacts of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Cognitive Event Related Potential.
	Event Related Potential, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury,
	Penetrating Head Injury Concussion Craniocerebral Injury diagnostic
	diagnosis sensitivity specificity positive predictive value pegative
	prodictive value, and predictive value of tests, officaev, and officiency
	We found and reviewed 286 articles in DubMed, 88 in Scenus, 24 in
	CINALITY 14 in Contrary Library 10100 in Cooperations and 12 from
	CINARL, 14 In Coonrane Library, 10100 in Google Scholar, and 12 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 3 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for
	inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

## **Attention Testing**

Recent studies have shown that various aspects of attention are affected following TBI, especially after severe TBI. These deficits include the ability to initially attend to and encode information [448], information processing speed [349, 449], maintain focus [450, 449], shift attention [451], attention span [449], supervisory attentional control [449], focused/selective attention [449], and sustain attention [449, 452]. Age was not found to be a significant factor by some [449] but not all studies [453].

However, Ginstfeldt [454] found that sustained attention was most vulnerable to TBI in children. There are many studies that have used attention testing in the evaluation of TBI patients [455, 456, 457, 458-474].

### **Attention Tests**

Recommended.

Attention tests are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate or Severe TBI patients experiencing cognitive difficulties
	that include attention. May be performed to help guide treatment.
	May later be performed as part of an evaluation for end-of-healing
	and clinical plateau.
Benefits:	Identify and measure attention difficulties, potentially allowing better
	tailoring of therapy(ies) to address any memory deficits.
Harms:	Negligible in most patients. Testing is strongly subject to malingering.
	Thus, careful interpretation and potential pairing with tests for
	malingering are indicated especially where there is strong potential for
	secondary gain(s).
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally not performed more than once or twice. May be used to
	target specific cognitive rehabilitation strategies. May later help
	determine end of healing and extent of residual deficits, if any.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Attention testing for diagnosis and
	evaluation of TBI. However, there are few comparative trials of
	sufficient size and rigor to allow a recommendation of one type of
	testing over another. Attention testing is not invasive, has no adverse
	effects, is low cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and thus is
	recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: attention test, sustained attention to
	response task or monotone counting or variables of attention test,
	traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury
	penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral
	injury, craniocerebral trauma; sensitivity and specificity, predictive
	value of tests, gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise,
	test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive
	value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy,
	and efficiency. We found and reviewed articles in 747 PubMed, 310 in
	Scopus, 496 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 25800 in Google Scholar,
	and 8 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from
	PubMed, 8 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library, 3

from Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. Of the 35 articles considered for inclusion, 19 prognostic studies, 1 randomized trial and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Executive Function**

### **Executive Function Test**

Recommended.

Executive function tests are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate or Severe TBI patients experiencing cognitive difficulties
	that include executive functions. Mild TBI patients are expected to
	have no durable executive dysfunction [126], but may be indicated in
	select circumstances where these is ongoing impairment. May be
	performed to help guide treatment. May later be performed as part of
	an evaluation for end-of-healing and clinical plateau. Selective use
	among those with mild TBI with ongoing difficulties high and critical
	occupational cognitive-executive demands and/or executive function
	complaints may also be indicated
Papafits	Identify and measure executive function difficulties notentially
Benejits.	allowing bottor tailoring of thorapy(icc) to address any deficits
11	allowing better tailoring of therapy(les) to address any deficits.
Harms:	
	Inus, careful interpretation and potential pairing with tests for
	malingering are indicated especially where there is strong potential for
_	secondary gain(s).
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally not performed more than once or twice. May be used to
	target specific cognitive rehabilitation strategies. May later help
	determine end of healing and extent of residual deficits, if any.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Executive function testing for
	diagnosis of TBI. However, there are few comparative trials of
	sufficient size and rigor to allow a recommendation of one type of
	testing over another. Executive function testing is not invasive, has no
	adverse effects, is low cost, has some evidence of diagnostic
	efficacy, and is thus recommended for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Executive Function Test, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; Sensitivity and
	Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy,
	precision, precise, test diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive
	officant, and officiency. We found and reviewed 222 articles in PubMed, 10 in
	Sconus 25 in CINAHL 0 in Cochrane Library 0 in Google Scholar and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed 4 from Scopus 3
	from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. Of the 9 articles considered for inclusion, 9 prognostic studies
	and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Vision Testing**

Visual acuity testing is the primary test used to evaluate visual function. Visual acuity testing is typically used to assess and screen the vision system for its most basic function. **See Eye Guideline.** 

### **Visual Acuity Testing**

Recommended.

Visual acuity testing is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Generally only an issue with severe TBI. Significant impacts on the
	vision system would be additional indications.
Benefits:	Identification of deficits in visual acuity.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally one assessment. May be used a second time to detect
	improvement or resolution.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Visual Acuity Testing for
	evaluation of TBI impairments. See also Eye Guideline. Visual Acuity
	Testing is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but is the
	primary means to evaluate impairments in visual acuity and thus is
	recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Visual Field Testing, Traumatic brain
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity,
	positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive
	value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 51
	articles in PubMed, 4 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library,
	40800 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.
	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Low Vision Evaluation, Traumatic
	brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity,
	positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive
	value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 4
	articles in PubMed, 12 in Scopus, 32 in CINAHL, 452 in Cochrane
	Library, 2290000 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We
	considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from
	CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar. and 0 from
	other sources. Of the 1 article considered for inclusion, 0 randomized
	trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Visual evoked potentials (VEPs) have been used to attempt to predict outcome after brain injury [297].

### Visual Evoked Potentials (VEP) Recommended.

Visual evoked potentials are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Severe TBI with inability to test visual system with more common methods, such as bedside testing, or Snellen testing.
Benefits:	Ability to assess the visual system
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	May be used at baseline. If there are abnormalities and the injury
	continues to preclude other testing, then followup testing with visual evoked potentials is reasonable.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of TBI, improvement sufficient to undergo standard vision testing.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Visual Evoked Response for
	diagnosis or evaluation of TBI. VEPs are not invasive have no adverse effects, are low cost, but appear to have utility to assess the visual system when other testing is not possible, and thus have limited evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and are selectively recommended to
	assess the visual system when other more common testing is not possible.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: evoked potential, evoked potential response, evoked potential responses, somatosensory evoked
	potential; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity,
	specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and
	predictive value of tests, efficacy, efficiency, Gold-standard, accurate, and accuracy. We found and reviewed 74 articles in PubMed 223 in
	Sconus 34 in CINAHI 19 in Cochrane Library 6 360 in Google Scholar
	and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

### **Visual Field Testing**

Visual field testing is commonly used to evaluate impairments of the vision system, particularly patchy, quadrant, or hemianopsias of the visual fields. Visual field testing is not typically used as a standalone diagnostic tool for Traumatic Brain Injury. It has been used to assess the visual field defects in individuals with strokes, as well as some TBIs [496].

### Visual Field Testing Recommended.

Visual field testing is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients. See Eye guideline.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Generally only an issue with severe TBI. Significant impacts on the vision system would be additional indications
Renefits.	Identification of deficits in fields
Erequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally one assessment. May be used a second time to detect
	improvement or resolution.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Visual Field Testing for
	evaluation of TBI impairments. See also Eye Guideline. Visual Field
	Testing is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but is the
	primary means to evaluate impairments in visual fields and thus is
	selectively used for the evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Visual Field Testing, Traumatic brain
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity,
	positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive
	value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 51
	articles in PubMed, 4 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library.
	40800 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed 0 from Sconus 0 from CINAHL 0 from
	Cochrane Library O from Google Scholar, and O from other sources
	Zoro articles met the inclusion criteria

## **Visual Perceptual Testing**

Visual perception testing involves assessing the meaning of what is seen. This contrasts with visual acuity testing, which is merely an assessment that something is seen.

### **Visual Perceptual Testing**

## Recommended.

Visual perceptual testing is selectively used for severe TBI.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Generally only an issue with severe TBI. Significant impacts on the vision system would be additional indications
Benefits:	Identification of deficits in the interpretation of visual inputs.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally one assessment. May be used a second time to detect
	improvement or resolution.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Visual Perceptual Testing for
	evaluation of TBI impairments. Visual Perceptual Testing is not
	invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but is the primary means

	to evaluate impairments in visual perception and thus are selectively used for the evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Visual Perceptual Testing, Traumatic
	brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity,
	positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive
	value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 10
	articles in PubMed, 3 in Scopus, 47 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library,
	10300 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

## **Other Tests**

Electroretinogram or ERG is typically not used as a reliable diagnostic tool for TBI.

### **Electroretinogram (ERG)**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of ERG in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

There are no quality studies assessing electroretinogram for diagnosis of TBI. Electroretinogram is minimally invasive, has minimal adverse effects, is moderate cost, but has no evidence of diagnostic efficacy in TBI patients, and thus there is no recommendation for evaluation of TBI patients.

Fluorescein angiography is a procedure in which a dye is injected into the bloodstream in order to highlight vessels to be photographed. This is typically used for evaluation of visual impairments.

#### Fluorescein Angiography Recommended.

Fluorescein angiography is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Impaired visual system function where visualization of the retinal blood vessels is important.
Benefits:	Assists in diagnosing select visual impairments associated with TBI.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally a one-time assessment.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing fluorescein angiography for evaluation of TBI patients. Fluorescein angiography is minimally invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost, and while there is not quality evidence of diagnostic efficacy in TBI patients, it is the gold standard for evaluation of the retinal blood supply and so is
	recommended for select evaluation of visual impairments associated with TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Fluorescein Angiography, Traumatic
	brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury, Eye blood vessel imaging, diagnostic, diagnosis,
	sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive
	value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found
	and reviewed 19 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in
	Cochrane Library, 6860 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from
	CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

Optical coherence tomography is a technology that creates cross-sectional imaging of microstructures in the human body. Optical coherence tomography may be used as a diagnostic test to diagnose traumatic brain injuries [497].

### **Optical Coherence Tomography**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of optical coherence tomography in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

There are no quality studies assessing Optical Coherence Tomography for evaluation of TBI. Optical Coherence Tomography is not invasive,

has no adverse effects, is low cost, but in the absence of diagnostic<br/>efficacy, there is no recommendation for diagnostic evaluation of TBI.Evidence:A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,<br/>CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the<br/>following terms: Optical Coherence Tomography, Traumatic Brain Injury;<br/>diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative<br/>predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We<br/>found and reviewed 26 articles in PubMed, 15 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 1 in<br/>Cochrane Library, 6,390 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We<br/>considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0<br/>from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero<br/>articles met the inclusion criteria.

## Audiometry/Otology

Damage to the hearing structures is a common effect of a TBI. Conducting Audiological tests to assess the level of damage may be useful in identifying hearing impairments and other disorders affiliated with TBI [498].

### Audiometry

#### **Recommended.**

Audiometry is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

## Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI with reduced hearing or tinnitus, especially but not solely if the
	mechanism of injury was a blast. There is a low threshold for screening all TBI
	patients with audiometry.
Benefits:	Identification and quantification of hearing deficits. Potential to identify
	candidate for hearing aids.
Harms:	Negligible. However, there is little quality evidence of effective treatments
	other than hearing aids.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Baseline measure. May need second assessment at end of healing.
Rationale:	There are few quality studies assessing Audiometry for diagnosis and
	evaluation of TBI, yet there is extensive evidence for evaluation of hearing for
	other conditions and audiometry is considered the gold standard for
	evaluation of hearing. Audiometry is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is
	low cost, has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for
	diagnosis of hearing impairments from TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Audiometry AND Traumatic Brain Injury, Closed head injury,
	Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic,
	diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive
	value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and
	reviewed 63 articles in PubMed. 11 in Scopus. 22 in CINAHL. 2 in Cochrane
	Library 7250 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 1 from PubMed 0 from Scopus 0 from CINAHL 0 from Cochrane
	Library 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 articles
	considered for inclusion 1 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria

# Brainstem Auditory Evoked Response Recommended.

Brainstem auditory evoked response is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Severe TBI with inability to test auditory system with more common methods, such as bedside testing, or audiometry
Benefits:	Ability to assess the auditory system
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	May be used at baseline. If there are abnormalities and the injury continues to preclude other testing, then followup testing with auditory evoked potentials is reasonable
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of TBI, improvement sufficient to undergo standard audiometric testing.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Brainstem Auditory Evoked Response for diagnosis or evaluation of TBI. Brainstem Auditory Evoked Response is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low cost, but appears to have utility to assess the hearing system and thus has evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for selective use to assess the hearing system when other more common testing is not possible.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, BAER, ABR, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 75 articles in PubMed, 21 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library, 11900 in Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 6 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Tympanometry is a method for assessing the current state of the tympanic membrane, the ossicles and attachments, and the air cushion of the tympanic cavity within the ear [502]. It is commonly used to diagnose hearing loss [502].

### Tympanometry No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of tympanometry in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Tympanometry for diagnosis of TBI. Tympanometry is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but in the absence of quality evidence of diagnostic efficacy, there is no recommendation for evaluation of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Vestibular function tests, test, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 74 articles in PubMed, 7 in Scopus, 24 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 44 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
Comments:	
# **Vestibular Function Testing**

Vestibular function testing is used to quantify and assess the status of an individual's vestibular system workings [503]. Vestibular function testing has been used to help define the severity and possible outcomes of an individual's dizziness and balancing issues [503]. Testing includes specific tests such as electro- or video-nystagmography (ENG/VNG), rotary chair testing, computerized dynamic platform posturography, electrocochleography (ECoG), and vestibular evoked myogenic potentials (VEMP) [504].

### **Vestibular Function Testing**

Recommended.

Vestibular function testing is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Equivocal results of a medical history and/or questionnaire(s)
	regarding vestibular symptoms
Benefits:	Ability to better define extent of vestibular problems
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	May be used at baseline. One or two follow-up assessments are reasonable to define progress.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of vertiginous symptoms, improvement sufficient to not need further rehabilitation.
Rationale:	There are few quality studies assessing tests of Vestibular function for diagnosis of impacts of TBI. There are no studies showing testing is superior to a medical history or questionnaires. There are reports of vestibular dysfunction in TBI patients [168]. Vestibular function tests are not invasive, have few adverse effects, are low cost, have limited evidence of efficacy and are selectively recommended for use in patients with unclear results from a medical history and/or questionnaires.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Vestibular function tests, test, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 74 articles in PubMed, 7 in Scopus, 24 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 44 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Balance Testing**

Following a mild traumatic brain injury, up to 30% of patients report having balance disorders including, dizziness, impaired balance, and reduced coordination [505]. Typically, clinicians diagnose balance impairment following Traumatic Brain Injury using subjective measures. However, objective measures can be assessed using a computerized dynamic posturography platform [506].

### **Computerized Dynamic Platform Posturography**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of computerized dynamic platform posturography in the evaluation of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Computerized Dynamic Platform Posturography for evaluation of TBI. Computerized Dynamic Platform Posturography is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, but without quality evidence of diagnostic efficacy, and there is no recommendation for evaluation of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Computerized Dynamic Platform Posturography, Posturography, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 22 articles in PubMed, 9 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 7 in Cochrane Library, 1 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Electronystagmography or Videonystagmography

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of electronystagmography or videonystagmography in the evaluation of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing electronystagmography or videonystagmography for evaluation of TBI patients. Electronystagmography and videonystagmography are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are low cost, but have no quality evidence of efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation for evaluation of TBI patients.
Evidence:	<ul> <li>A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,</li> <li>Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date</li> <li>limits using the following terms: Electronystagmography,</li> <li>Videonystagmography, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head Injury,</li> <li>Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; diagnostic,</li> <li>diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative</li> <li>predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency.</li> <li>We found and reviewed 207 articles in PubMed, 4 in Scopus, 2 in</li> <li>CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 28000 in Google Scholar, and 0 from</li> <li>other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 0 from</li> <li>Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google</li> <li>Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for</li> <li>inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the</li> <li>inclusion criteria.</li> </ul>

Rotary chair testing is used to diagnose vestibular impacts of traumatic brain injuries. Rotary chair testing examines vestibular and oculomotor functioning [508].

### **Rotary Chair Testing**

#### Recommended.

Rotary chair testing is recommended for the evaluation of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI patients with vestibular problems needing further diagnostic evaluation
Benefits:	Secure a diagnosis and potentially improve treatment efficacy.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only assessed once.
Rationale:	There are few quality studies assessing Rotary Chair Testing for
	evaluation of vestibular impacts of TBI. Vestibular dysfunction is
	reportedly problematic in TBI patients [168]. Rotary Chair Testing is
	not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, has evidence of
	diagnostic efficacy, and is recommended for diagnosis of vestibular impacts of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Rotary Chair testing, traumatic brain
	injury; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive
	value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy,

and efficiency. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 3,220 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 1 Diagnostic study met the inclusion criteria.

### **ENG Studies for Balance**

### Recommended.

ENG studies for balance are recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI patients with balance problems needing further diagnostic evaluation
Benefits:	Secure a diagnosis and potentially improve treatment efficacy.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally only assessed once.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing ENG Studies for evaluation of
	balance or dizziness in TBI patients. However, ENG has proven helpful
	in the evaluation of patients with other disorders. ENG is not invasive,
	has no significant adverse effects, is low cost, has evidence of
	diagnostic accuracy for other disorders, and thus is recommended for
	evaluation of TBI patients with balance and dizziness problems.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Electronystagmography, balance,
	Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury,
	Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral
	Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy,
	precision, precise, diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive
	predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of
	tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 4 articles in
	PubMed, 10 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 150 in
	Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion
	0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane
	Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles
	met the inclusion criteria.

# **Laboratory Testing**

Injury severity and medications dictate testing in the TBI patient. In moderate and severe TBI, electrolyte status usually needs close monitoring. Complete blood counts and coagulation studies are also required. The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) contains biomarkers which may be present after acute injury signaling a pre- (chronic traumatic encephalopathy) CTE state and assisting in clinical treatment and guiding prognosis [510]. Also, since approximately 15-20% of MTBI cases involve hypopituitarism, endocrine tests are commonly required; in such cases, electrolytes should be closely monitored as concomitant syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone [511-515] and hypopituitarism are common [516].

# **Biomarkers**

Biomarkers are under investigation as potentially predictive tools, particularly to supplement clinical assessment and neuroimaging tests [179, 180]. Biomarkers with some evidence of associations with TBI include autoantibodies against proteins, lipids, peptides, proteins, and RNA. Proteins studied include S-100 [181] [182] [183] [184] [185]. Reduced copeptin has been associated with TBI [186]. Galectin 3 [186] and occludin [186] has been associated with TBI. Problems with biomarker measurements include technical and instrumentation methods that require further development [180].

There are some data suggesting biomarkers may be associated with longer-term outcomes from TBI. While there is considerable evidence that biomarkers are associated with TBI, how measurement of these substances alters the management of TBI patients is unclear and thus there is **No Recommendation**, **Insufficient Evidence (I)** for or against biomarkers. Quality studies showing biomarkers impacting the management of patients are needed. Another potential use is to identify resolution of TBI [187], yet that too requires more sensitive methods and further investigation.

# **Lumbar Puncture**

**Lumbar puncture (LP)** is performed to examine cerebrovascular fluid in cases of injury and disease for signs of hemorrhage [1, 517-521]. It is the most common test performed to evaluate signs of infection, thus in TBI patients is probably most commonly used after penetrating injury when fever occurs and there are concerns about meningitis. LP is also performed to identify blood in the cerebrospinal fluid from subarachnoid hemorrhage and a negative CT scan. However, this procedure has inherent risks and is not recommended for acute spinal cord trauma, elevated intracranial pressure, bleeding problems, and epidural abscess. If there is suspicion of elevated intracranial pressure, a funduscopic examination should generally occur initially followed by MRI or CT.

# **Surgical Recommendations**

# **Operative and Surgical Procedures**

The TBI patient may require surgery particularly during the acute stage depending upon the individual injury mechanism and clinical presentation [588]. Many of these procedures occur in the setting of severe TBI. However, especially in older workers, surgical evacuations of subdural and epidural hemorrhages are more common and do not necessarily occur solely with severe TBI and/or loss of consciousness. Thus, those cases may technically be classified as mild TBI based on loss of consciousness criteria, but also classified as severe based on requiring neurosurgery. Attention to the clinical presentation, an understanding of the demographic group's risk factors, and careful attention to the clinical course are required to detect many of these cases.

There are numerous procedures used on TBI patients, and these are patient-specific and require physician discretion. It is not within the scope of this guideline to provide all potential surgeries. Common procedures include:

- Craniectomy for elevated intracranial pressure relief
- Cranioplasty [589]
- Debridement
- Decompression of nerves
- Evacuation of fluids
- Lumbar drains for cerebrovascular fluid (CSF) leaks or CSF fistula
- Maxillofacial fracture surgeries (including maxillofacial surgery, repairs, reconstruction and releases) [590, 591]
- Nerve repair/reconstruction/release
- Orthopedic surgeries for fractures
- Rhizotomy for spasticity as well as intrathecal Baclofen (see Medication Recommendations)
- Soft tissue repairs
- Relief of vascular occlusions
- Ventricular shunting
- Ventriculostomy for ICP and obstructive hydrocephalus

There are no specific surgical recommendations as the requirements of the individual patient are wide-ranging and beyond the scope of this guideline.

# Burr Holes, External Ventricular Drains, and Ventriculostomy

External ventricular drains (ventriculostomy) have been used in severe traumatic brain injury patients to reduce intracranial pressure rapidly [592]. This may be followed by permanent shunting [593]. These procedures are performed to attempt to improve cerebral blood flow, thus hopefully enhancing perfusion of the brain tissue and thus improving TBI prognosis [593-596]. Another type of ventriculostomy, percutaneous CT-controlled ventriculostomy (PCV), is a related technique with the main advantage of 50% faster completion than burr-holing, thus purportedly providing greater safety while monitoring and treating intercranial pressure [594, 595].

### Craniectomy

Decompressive craniectomy is most commonly used for TBI and ischemic stroke as a third-tier therapy [592, 597-610]. It is performed to decrease intracranial pressure (ICP) by lowering the volume constraints on the cranial contents [599, 603, 607]. Complications related to decompressive craniectomy include infection, homeostatic reaction, hygroma, seizures, and bone resorption [607]. The procedure has been advocated to be performed early purportedly to confer a better prognosis [600, 607]. In Jelcic 2013, there was evidnce for improvement of executive functions after late craniectomy.

There is one high-quality RCT comparing decompressive craniectomy plus standard care to standard care alone [611, 612]. There also are 2 moderate-quality RCTs comparing different surgical techniques. The non-randomized studies have shown mixed results [592, 597-608].

The sole trial comparing craniectomy to non-surgical management has conflicting results, with clear short-term benefits including 28% lower ICU length of stay, 27% lower days of mechanical ventilation and 24% reduction in hospitalization days [611] [612]. However, the longer-term outcomes are not positive as shown by 70% vs. 51% unfavorable Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale Scores. Randomized controlled trials are investigating use of craniectomy for TBI patients and are tending to suggest only limited applicability to severe TBI patients refractory to medical management [613].

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: evacuation of hematoma, or subdural hematoma, or epidural hematoma, Traumatic, brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 1113 articles in PubMed, 91 in Scopus, 28 in CINAHL, 82 in Cochrane Library, 3730 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Lumbar drains for cerebrovascular fluid (CSF) leaks or CSF fistula, Traumatic brain injury, Closed, Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 102 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 2390 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: maxillofacial fracture surgery, bone, surgery, fracture, fractures, maxillofacial nerve repair, maxillofacial reconstruction, maxillofacial release; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 209 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 10020 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for

inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Vascular Occlusions Relief , Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0 articles in PubMed, 2 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 3670 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Ventriculostomy for ICP and obstructive hydrocephalus, traumatic brain injury, closed head injury, penetrating head Injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 20 in Scopus, 7 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 391 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Rhizotomy for spasticity, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 11 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 2022 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Orthopedic Surgery for Fractures**

Orthopedic surgery involves surgery with the musculoskeletal system. Not many studies are found dealing with orthopedic surgery and traumatic brain injury. Most studies found deal with surgery with the brain itself or with the spine which are not relevant.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Orthopedic Surgery, Brain Injuries, Head Injuries Closed, Head Injuries Penetrating, Brain Concussion, Concussion, Craniocerebral Trauma, Traumatic Brain Injury, Intracranial Injury, Craniocerebral Injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 55 articles in PubMed, 76 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Soft Tissue Repairs**

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: **soft, tissue, repair, traumatic, brain, injury, intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma** controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 42 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 15700 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 15743 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

# **Ventricular Shunting**

Ventricular shunting is the process of surgically inserting a shunt into the head in order to drain fluid and to relieve pressure. This is done usually on patients who have hydrocephalus, which is the build-up of fluid in the brain. It is, per se, not a treatment for TBI.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: **Ventricular shunting OR Ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt OR VP Shunting AND Brain injuries, head injuries, closed, penetrating, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerenral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial, injury, injuries,** controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 26 articles in PubMed, 19 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 2570 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# Debridement

Debridement is the removal of damaged tissues or foreign objects. Surgical considerations for debridement surgery in traumatic brain injury patients is not a commonly used treatment, unless in cases of foreign object entrance to the brain.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Debridement, Brain Injuries, Head Injuries, Penetrating, Brain Concussion, Concussion, Craniocerebral Trauma, Traumatic Brain, Intracranial, Closed Head, Penetrating Head, Craniocerebral, Injury, Injuries, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 12 articles in PubMed, 56 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 6900 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Decompression and Facial Nerve Decompression**

Facial nerve decompression surgery has been used to treat facial nerve paralysis after temporal bone fractures [614], but there is no evidence that facial nerve decompression is used to treat TBI.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Surgical Decompression OR Facial Nerve Decompression, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion Craniocerebral Injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 168 articles in PubMed, 419 in Scopus, 46 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 4490 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Rapidly emerging innovative technologies for rehabilitation include robotics [615]. Robotic devices includes end-effector and exoskeleton devices that allow paraplegics and quadriplegics to walk, sometimes referred to as locomotor training with robotic assistance and robotic-assisted gait training [616-619].

### **Robotics**

#### Recommended.

Robotics are recommended for use in the treatment of select TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – Recommended, Evidence (C) *Level of Confidence* – Moderate

Indications:	Reached a plateau such that not able to walk without robotic
	assistance, also having sufficient interest and motivation.
Benefits:	Ability to ambulate, although current technology allows for only a
	slow, somewhat ratcheting gait.
Harms:	Potential for falls

Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A Falls. inability to tolerate. disinterest. disuse.
Rationale:	There are two moderate quality RCTs studies using robotics for
	treatment of TBI [620, 621]. One trial reported greater walking distance and no need for second therapists for training sessions with a robotic device compared with locomotor training [621]. Another trial reported mostly comparable efficacy with manually-assisted treadmill training [620]. There also are numerous successes of wheelchair- bound patients regaining the ability to walk [622-632] and there is one
	RCT in stroke patients [632]. Robotics is not invasive, has modest
	adverse effects, is very high cost, but has mostly empiric evidence of treatment efficacy, and is recommended for treatment of select severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Robotics, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 25 articles in PubMed, 12 in Scopus, 7 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 70 in Google Scholar, and zero from
	other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

# **Nonoperative Treatment Recommendations**

# **Intracranial Pressure Monitoring and Thresholds**

Intracranial pressure monitoring and cerebral perfusion pressure monitoring are used to measure blood flow within the brain and adjust therapy to attempt to maintain sufficient cerebral perfusion in TBI patients [522-526].

# **Intracranial Pressure Monitoring and Thresholds**

Recommended.

Intracranial pressure monitoring is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe TBI injuries with concerns for inadequate cerebral perfusion
	due to intracerebral pressure
Benefits:	Potential to alter treatment to raise or maintain sufficient cerebral perfusion
Harms:	Infections, bleeding, further brain tissue damage
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Early severe TBI patient monitoring until either there are no episodes
	of elevated intracerebral pressure, episodes of elevated intracerebral
	pressure have ceased and/or intracerebral pressure is thought to not be problematic.
Rationale:	There are some quality studies assessing Intracranial Pressure
	Monitoring & Thresholds for monitoring and treatment of TBI. Studies
	consistently demonstrate correlations between intracranial pressure
	and clinical outcomes [522, 524-527]. Intracranial Pressure Monitoring
	is invasive, has adverse effects, is high cost, has some evidence of
	efficacy, and thus is selectively recommended for treatment and
	monitoring of some severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head
	injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury,
	Intracranial Pressure, Cerebral Perfusion Pressure, Monitoring
	thresholds ;diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive
	predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of
	tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 18 articles in
	PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 9 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 18500 in
	Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion
	4 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane
	Library, 5 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 11
	articles considered for inclusion, 4 prognostic studies and 3 systematic
	studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Oxygen Monitoring and Thresholds Recommended.

Oxygen monitoring is recommended for use in the evaluation of TBI patients.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe TBI injuries with concerns for brain tissue hypoxia
Benefits:	Potential to alter treatment to reduce brain hypoxia
Harms:	Infections, bleeding, further brain tissue damage
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Early severe TBI patient monitoring until either there are no episodes
	hypoxia is thought to not be problematic.
Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Brain Oxygen Monitoring and Thresholds for treatment and monitoring of TBI [529-540]. The Brain
	Oxygen Monitoring and Thresholds diagnostic test is invasive, has
	adverse effects, is high cost, but has evidence of clinical efficacy, and thus is selectively recommended for treatment of severe TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	minits using the following terms. Drain, Drain tissue, oxygen,
	closed head injury, poperating head injury, encussion, brain
	ciosed field filjuly, peretrating field filjuly, concussion, brain
	disensois consistivity encodisity positive readistive value positive
	diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative
	predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency.
	We found and reviewed 168 articles in PubMed, 105 in Scopus, 25 in
	CINAHL, 118 in Cochrane Library, 31,800 in Google Scholar, and 13
	from other sources. We considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, 2
	from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google
	Scholar, and 6 from other sources. Of the 17 articles considered for
	inclusion, 12 prognostic studies and 5 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

# Osmotherapy, including: Mannitol, Hypertonic Saline, Lactate, Albumin

Increased intracranial pressure is associated with considerably worse mortality from TBI; thus, therapies to reduce intracranial pressure have been used for decades. Mannitol or mannite is a sugar alcohol that has the capability to cross the blood-brain barrier and used extensively in osmotherapy as a means of attempting to control elevated pressure following head trauma. Excessive use purportedly increases skull pressure and brain swelling and for this reason, mannitol has been recommended for patients with raised intracranial pressure or poor neurological status [541-549]. Hypertonic saline, sodium lactate solutions, lactated Ringer's solution, glycerol, crystalloids or albumin have also been used for reducing intracranial pressure from traumatic brain injury [550-554].

There also are many studies of resuscitation with hypertonic saline [80, 553, 555-558], dextran plus hypertonic saline [555, 557, 559, 560], and normal saline [556, 557, 559-562] for resuscitation including during transport and/or in ICUs. There are studies of lactated Ringer's solution for use in resuscitation [80, 553, 555, 558]. There are a few studies of albumin for use in resuscitation [561, 563].

### **Mannitol for Intracranial Pressure**

#### Recommended.

Mannitol is recommended for reducing intracranial pressure in TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence –Acute, Severe- Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Level of Confidence – Moderate	

Indications:	For decreasing brain swelling in acute, severe TBI patients, used as an osmotic diuretic
Benefits:	Reduced brain swelling post TBI
Harms:	Hypotension, acidosis, drug allergy
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Administration adjusted to pressure measures from a direct pressure
	device. Common targets also include increasing serum osmolarity to
	an initial target of 300-320mOsm/L or increase the serum sodium to
	145 -150mmol/L.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Hypotension, pulmonary congestion, fluid and electrolyte imbalance, acidosis, electrolyte loss, dryness of mouth, thirst, marked diuresis, urinary retention, edema, headache, blurred vision.
Rationale:	Nearly all quality evidence regarding mannitol used active controls.
	There is only one placebo controlled trial of normal saline that
	assessed early, in-field administration of mannitol [564]. One
	moderate-quality trial found much worse mortality for those treated
	with pentobarbital compared with mannitol [542]. Most of the
	remaining quality evidence compared mannitol with hypertonic saline
	and found no significant differences in outcomes [565, 566], thus
	showing comparable efficacy between mannitol and hypertonic saline.
	Mannitol is invasive, has significant adverse effects and is costly over
	time, but with strong evidence of mortality from increased intracranial
	pressure, it is one of the recommended options for treatment. There is
	no evidence to recommend hypertonic saline over mannitol, thus
	hypertonic saline is similarly recommended (see below).
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: mannitol or mannite or manna sugar; brain injuries,
	head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion,
	craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or

penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 194 articles in PubMed, 405 in Scopus, 40 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 17 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library and other sources. Of the 17 articles considered for inclusion, 8 randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 7 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There are 6 low-quality RCTs. There are 8 systematic reviews.

### **Hypertonic Saline for Intracranial Pressure**

Recommended.

Hypertonic saline is recommended for reducing intracranial pressure in TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe TBI with intracranial pressure >20mmHg for more than 5
	minutes.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	100mL of 7.5% Saline over 5 min by central venous catheter [568];
	[566].
	Administration adjusted to pressure measures from a direct pressure
	device. Common targets also include increasing serum osmolarity to
	an initial target of 300-320mOsm/L or increase the serum sodium to
	145-150mmol/L.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Fever and other adverse effects
Benefits:	Reduces ICP but maintains cerebral perfusion
Harms:	Fever
Rationale:	There are a few moderate quality trials comparing hypertonic saline
	with other solutions for managing increased intracranial pressure. Two
	trials found comparable results with mannitol [565, 566]. One trial
	suggested no difference between hypertonic saline and equimolar
	sodium bicarbonate [569]. Hypertonic saline is invasive, has significant
	adverse effects and is costly for administrations over time, but with
	strong evidence of mortality from increased intracranial pressure, it is
	one of the recommended options for treatment. There is no evidence
	to recommend hypertonic saline over mannitol, thus mannitol is
	similarly recommended (see above).
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: mannitol or mannite or manna sugar; brain injuries,
	head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion.
	craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or
	penetrating head or craniocerebral: controlled clinical trial. controlled
	trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials.
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found
	and reviewed 194 articles in PubMed, 405 in Scopus, 40 in CINAHI, 4
	in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 17 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library
	merusion 17 nom rubineu, o nom scopus, envine, coemune Ebrury

and other sources. Of the 17 articles considered for inclusion, 8 randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Ringers Lactate for Intracranial Pressure**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for ringers or lactated solutions for treatment of intracranial pressure.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Benefits:	Reduction in ICP
Harms:	Lactate acidosis
Rationale:	Relatively few studies have assessed lactated solutions for treatment
	of TBI. One trial reported lactate produced greater reductions in
	intracranial pressure compared with mannitol [551], while another
	found more treatment failures with mannitol [551].
	One randomized controlled trial concluded that a 48 hour half-molar
	sodium lactate infusion aids in reducing the number of elevated
	intracranial pressure episodes for those experiencing severe traumatic
	brain injury, while decreasing chloride and fluid balances [550] [551].
	One trial suggests hyperosmolar sodium lactate is superior to mannitol
	[551]. Another trial suggested One randomized prospective trial
	established that lactated Ringer's solution in combination with
	hypertonic saline assisted in controlling rising intracranial pressure
	following a traumatic brain injury [552]. Another study found that
	dextran 70 and sodium chloride solution serves to more effectively
	raise blood pressure and improve survival than lactated Ringer's
	solution when administered before hospitalization[553].
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: mannitol or mannite or manna sugar; brain injuries,
	head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion,
	craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or
	penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled
	trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found
	and reviewed 194 articles in PubMed, 405 in Scopus, 40 in CINAHL, 4
	in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 17 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library
	and other sources. Of the 17 articles considered for inclusion, 8
	randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
	There are 17 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

# Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy (HBO or HBOT)

Hyperbaric oxygen has been used as a treatment for TBI [385, 571-580].

### Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy (HBO or HBOT) Sometimes Recommended.

Hyperbaric oxygen therapy is sometimes recommended for the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Mild TBI: Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)

#### Moderate TBI: No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Severe TBI: Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

*Level of Confidence* – **Moderate** 

Indications:	Acute severe head injury (Glasgow Coma Scale score of 9 or less) admitted to a Level I trauma center in the highest quality study showing efficacy [581]. Not recommended in mild TBI and no recommendation in moderate TBI.
Benefits:	Improved outcomes, earlier improvements in Glasgow Coma Score. Reduced mortality in one study with randomization within 24 hrs. of severe TBI [582]
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	100% oxygen to 1.5 atm absolute (ATA) at a rate of 1 psi/min for 60 minutes every 8 hours for 2 weeks or until brain dead or could consistently respond to commands [581].
Indications for Discontinuation: Rationale:	Brain dead, able to consistently repond to commands [581]. The top three quality studies all showed negative effects of HBO for treatment of mild TBI/post-concussive symptoms [583] [584] [585]. Three moderate quality trials among severe TBI patients found significant improvements in mortality in the HBO group [581], 10; [586, 587]. Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy is not invasive, usually has minimal adverse effects, is high cost, has evidence of treatment efficacy for severe TBI, and is recommended. There is quality evidence of lack of efficacy for treatment of mild TBI and so it is not recommended for that indication. There is no quality evidence and thus no recommendation for treatment of moderate TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: hyperbaric oxygen therapy, HBO, HBOT, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 100 articles in PubMed, 1062 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 17 in Cochrane Library, 1790 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 13 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 10 randomized trials and 3 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Nutritional Support**

### **Nutritional Support in TBI Patients**

#### Recommended.

Patients with TBI commonly develop nutritional deficits such as hypercatabolism, hypermetabolism, and glucose intolerance [633]. Most severe TBI patients experience altered/delayed gastric emptying at least one week post injury and some experience this for considerably longer periods of time which may affect their ability to tolerate enteral feedings.

Nutritional support is usually not required in TBI patients other than select, severe TBI patients. Those who are unable to eat or adequately protect the airway need nutritional support. If the GI tract is functional, then the preferred treatment is a gastric or other enteric feeding tube. Using the functioning GI tract is far preferable to total parenteral nutrition as the GI tract helps to maintain better nutritional status as well as improving serum electrolyte control [634] showed patients who initially had rapid or normal gastric emptying tolerated full-strength full-rate feedings significantly earlier compared with those who experienced delayed gastric emptying.

Total parenteral nutrition is needed if there is an estimate beyond several days for use of the GI tract due to either: [170] an inability to use the GI tract (e.g., injured abdomen, abdominal surgery, prior disease) or (2) delayed gastric emptying sufficiently severe to preclude adequate nutrition using an enteric feeding tube.

There are no specific nutritional support recommendations as the requirements of the individual patient are wide-ranging and beyond the scope of this guideline.

# **Acute Therapeutic Procedures**

Prophylactic hyperventilation therapy has been used to improve intracranial pressure (ICP) and neurologic functioning. Intracranial pressure is increased in 50% to 75% of patients with severe head trauma [635, 636] and the duration of increased intracranial pressure >20 mm Hg has been found to be strongly correlated with worse outcomes [637].

### **Hyperventilation**

**Recommended.** Hyperventilation is selectively recommended for the treatment of patients with TBI.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Selectively recommended for brief control of severe TBI with increased
	intracranial pressure (usually >20mmHg), or perfusion pressure <70mmHg
	until other more effective measures may take effect. Addition of
	tromethamine may reduce adverse effects [638, 639].
Benefits:	Improved control of intracranial pressure, which may improve survival and
	neurological outcomes.
Harms:	Respiratory alkalosis, seizures, muscle spasms
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Use until more effective measures are in place.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Perfusion pressure and/or intracranial pressure normalized. May be
	discontinued after other measures effective.
Rationale:	Hyperventilation has been historically used for TBI and empirically reduces
	intracranial pressure on a short-term basis. As this treatment has long
	been in place, this somewhat impairs the size and quality of the evidence
	base. Nevertheless, there are no quality studies showing efficacy of
	Hyperventilation for treatment of TBI. Hyperventilation is not invasive, has
	multiple adverse effects, is high cost, has empirical evidence of short term
	efficacy for treatment of TBI and thus is selectively recommended for
	treatment of increased intracranial pressure pending efficacy of more
	effective measures.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using
	the following terms: hyperventilation, traumatic brain injury, intracranial
	injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain
	concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective,
	and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 67 articles in PubMed,
	268 in Scopus, 24 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 7800 in Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 12 from
	PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Google Scholar, and 0
	from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 5
	randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Induced Hypothermia

Not Recommended.

Induced hypothermia is not recommended for the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

There are multiple moderate quality studies assessing the utility of Rationale: Induced Hypothermia for treatment of TBI [651-653, 655-661, 664, 665, 667, 669, 670, 673-675, 677-679]. While there are some lower quality studies that suggested efficacy, all of the 3 highest quality studies show a lack of efficacy [651, 652, 655] and two were terminated early because of futility. There is no evidence of efficacy for prophylactic treatment. Induced Hypothermia is not invasive, has multiple adverse effects, is moderate cost, has quality evidence of a lack of utility in treatment of TBI and thus is not recommended for treatment of TBI. This may be a treatment option for management of intracranial pressure when other treatments with documented efficacy have failed. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: hypothermia, induced, induced hypothermia, therapeutic hypothermia, protective hypothermia, targeted temperature management, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral, trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 543 articles in PubMed, 1,904 in Scopus, 60 in CINAHL, 166 in Cochrane Library, 3,220 in Google Scholar, and 37 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 37 from other sources. Of the 47 articles considered for inclusion, 29 randomized trials and 16 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Swallow Studies**

Swallowing impairment (dysphagia) is common in some severe TBI patients due to prolonged intubation or tracheostomy, the traumatic injury itself, medications or weakened swallowing muscles due to lack of use [680-682]. These patients may require testing to determine swallow function, extent of dysfunction, and adequacy of airway protection. There are several different types of swallow studies ranging from the bedside clinical assessment, the modified Evans Blue-Dye Test (MEBDT), to instrumental evaluations like barium swallow, modified barium swallow (MBS) fiberoptic endoscopy (FEES), fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation with sensory testing (FEEST) and a videoflouroscopic study which adds oropharyngeal pressure assessment (MSE). Although there are many different tests they all evaluate the ability of the patient to swallow. The threshold for evaluating swallow studies is low among those with prolonged intubation, tracheostomy, difficulty swallowing or signs of gagging or aspiration.

# **Family Visits**

Family visits have been used to attempt to induce increased and earlier arousal from coma [683, 684]. Many individuals with traumatic brain injury (TBI) experience a longer period of sensory deprivation [683]. This is in part due to the increased hospitalization, immobilization, and isolation. To help recovery structured family visits are used to increase sensory stimulation including; visual, tactile, gustatory, tactile, and equilibrium stimuli [684].

### **Family Visits**

#### Recommended.

Family visits are recommended for the treatment of comatose TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Comatose patients.
Benefits:	Potential for increased and earlier arousal from coma.
Harms:	None
Rationale:	There are two moderate quality studies suggesting increased family visits may result in either increased arousal or earlier arousal [683, 684]. Family visits are not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, are low cost, have evidence of efficacy and are thus recommended for comatose patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Family Visit; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 12 articles in PubMed, 56 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 82 in Cochrane Library, 310 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Multimodal and Unimodal Coma Stimulation**

Multimodal coma stimulation has been used to treat comatose TBI patients [685-688].

# **Multimodal and Unimodal Coma Stimulation**

### Recommended.

Multimodal and unimodal coma stimulation are recommended for the treatment of comatose TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Comatose TBI patients. The highest quality study included those with Glasgow Coma Score <8 [685]
Benefits:	Improved arounsal, lessening of coma severity
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	5 times/day, 20 min./session. 2 hrs between session.
	Stimulations consisted of visual, auditory, tactile, olfactory and
	gustatory. Two trials either utilized a family member talking to the
	patient [689] or a familiar voice telling stories in common with the
	patient [690].
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial suggesting multimodal coma
	stimulation results in improvement in Glasgow Coma Score [685]. Two
	trials of familiar voices suggest successful improvements [689, 690].
	Uni-or multimodal coma stimulation is not invasive, has no adverse
	effects, may be low (familiar voice) to moderate to high cost in
	aggregate (multimodal), has evidence of efficacy and thus is
	recommended for comatose TBI patients.
Evidence:	Multimodal Coma stimulation- A comprehensive literature search was
	conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and
	Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms:
	traumatic brain injury, closed head injury, penetrating head Injury,
	concussion, craniocerebral injury controlled clinical trial, controlled
	trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 15 in Scopus, 6 in
	CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 1410 in Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google
	Scholar, and 3 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for
	inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

# **Occupational Therapy**

Occupational therapy is broadly defined as patient- or client-centered interventions aiming to return individuals to his/her everyday activities and occupation. Most occupational therapists are trained to recognize cognitive, psychological, sensory-perceptual, and physical issues that may influence the treatment and recovery of patients with TBI. Occupational therapy surrounding cognitive rehabilitation is traditionally broken into two approaches [691]. The remedial approach focuses on the restoration of cognitive functions, while the adaptive approach focuses on overcoming the limitations caused by a traumatic brain injury [78]. Similar to physical therapy, there is little quality evidence to support occupational therapy as an aggregate intervention.

### **Occupational Therapy**

#### Recommended.

Occupational therapy is recommended for moderate to severe TBI patients with functional deficits, especially those that impair employability.

**Allied Health Interventions** 

Strength of Evidence - Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – Low

For moderate to severe TBI patients with functional deficits, especially those that impair employability
Regimens varied widely. They included: 16 weeks of 15 hours per week of intensive OT [692]; 1.5-2.5hr/day for 60 days [166];
When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Self perceived quality of life, faster recovery and shortened hospitalization time which decreases costs associated with TBI.
Negligible
There are 5 moderate quality studies involving the use of OT [166, 692-694] and [695]. Cicerone suggest a comprehensive approach is best but all studies show either modest benefits or no differences. Details of the studies are limited. Occupational therapy is not invasive, has low adverse effects, is high cost, but some modalities and treatments are likely effective, thus occupational therapy is recommended. Better evidence-based guidance is able to be found from structured trials of specific interventions
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Occupational therapy, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 29 articles in PubMed, 1011 in Scopus, 17 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 5750 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 2 customatic trials and 2

# **Physical Therapy**

The term "physical therapy" is used here in the generic sense to include physical medicine and therapeutic and rehabilitative evaluations and procedures. Physical therapists are major health care providers who render many of these services through multiple, specific interventions (e.g., exercise, ultrasound, manipulation. The majority, if not all, of these interventions are also employed by other health care practitioners. However, there are a few RCTs of "physical therapy." The studies in this section include numerous interventions and lack structuring of treatments within the arms of these trials. Thus, there are no strong conclusions that may be drawn from this body of evidence with respect to the value of individual modalities and comparisons between generic treatment programs are weak. These studies of "physical therapy" are reviewed here for completeness.

### **Physical Therapy**

#### **Recommended.**

Physical therapy is recommended for use in the treatment of chronic severe or moderately severe TRI natients with fu

nctional physical deficits	in the treatment of throme severe of moderately severe rbi patients
Strength of Evidence – Recomme	nded. Insufficient Evidence (1)
Level of Confidence – Low	
Indications:	For subacute, chronic severe or moderately severe TBI patients with functional physical deficits, such as balance, strength or coordination.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Trials have used daily to weekly visits for 8 weeks [166, 696]. One trial used twice daily visits for 2 weeks [697].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Quicker recovery and return to work with accelerated independence.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are 6 moderate quality studies involving PT [166, 696-699, 700
	The trials are generally not well described, used multiple
	interventions and were not well structured. Most suggested
	improvements with higher intensity of therapy. In one [701] there was
	with intensive therapy, but at one year the functional outcomes were
	similar between groups and also in [699]there was seen a faster
	resumed independence and accelerated time to discharge from
	hospitalization. Physical therapy is not invasive, has low adverse
	effects, is high cost, but some modalities and treatments are likely
	effective, thus physical therapy is recommended. Better evidence-
	based guidance is able to be found from structured trials of specific interventions.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, physical
	therapy, physical rehabilitation, physical rehab; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled
	trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed 428 articles in PubMed,

1500 in Scopus, 39 in CINAHL, 228 in Cochrane Library, 100 in Google

Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 14 articles considered for inclusion, 7 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Exercise**

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: **Exercise Therapy, Exercise, Circuit-Based Exercise, Resistance Training**; **Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma,** controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 86 articles in PubMed, 619 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 2 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 9 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Strengthening Exercises**

#### Recommended.

Strengthening exercises are recommended for use in the treatment of subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low	
Indications:	For subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally prescribed on at least a daily basis. May require daily supervised treatment that transitions to home-based exercise program. Duration of supervised exercise is dependent on the severity of the deficits. Further durations should be based on ongoing improvements in function, particularly those that are not able to be sustained by a home-based program.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved physical fitness, mood, self esteem and motor performance.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are no quality trials including primarily strengthening exercises. Strengthening exercises are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are relatively low cost depending on supervision requirements and duration, and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Strengthening, exercises, traumatic, brain, intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, craniocerebral, injury, trauma, concussion; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 3 articles in PubMed, 1 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 1150 in Google Scholar, and 0 from

other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1157 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Stretching and flexibility exercises improve range of motion. When there is a poor range of motion, function can be significantly, adversely affected.

### **Stretching and Flexibility Exercises**

#### Recommended.

Stretching and flexibility exercises are recommended for use in the treatment of subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	For subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally prescribed on at least a daily basis. May require daily supervised treatment that transitions to home-based exercise program. Duration of supervised exercise is dependent on the severity of the deficits. Further durations should be based on ongoing improvements in function, particularly those that are not able to be sustained by a home-based program.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved physical fitness, mood, self esteem and motor performance.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are no studies involving primarily stretching and flexibility. There are no quality trials including primarily stretching and flexibility exercises. These exercises are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low to moderate cost depending on supervision requirements and duration, and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: stretch, flexibility, stretching and flexibility, exercise, yoga, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 91 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 12000 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, zero randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Relaxation exercises are activities that may help reduce anxiety, stress, anger, and pain. [118, 702] Group discussions may also be included in relaxation exercises. Relaxation is a broad topic that has many different types including physical, mental, and emotional techniques.

### **Relaxation Exercises, Group Discussions**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against relaxation exercises and group discussion for the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are 2 moderate quality studies involving relaxation. In [703], Qignong somewhat improved mood and self esteem and in [704], there was improved cardiovascular function which did not translate into improved psychological function or functional independence or mobility. Thus, there are no quality studies addressing relaxation exercises. Relaxation exercises are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low cost and in the absence of quality evidence, there is no recommendation for or against relaxation exercises.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Relaxation exercises, Group Discussion, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, closed head trauma, penetrating head trauma, penetrating craniocerebral, trauma, population groups, relaxation, group therapy; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 1 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 71 in Cochrane Library, 19800 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 4 articles
	considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Aerobic Exercise**

#### **Recommended.**

Aerobic exercise is recommended for use in the treatment of subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – <b>Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)</b> Level of Confidence – <b>Low</b>	
Indications:	For subacute, chronic, postoperative, moderate and severe TBI patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally prescribed on at least a daily basis. May require daily supervised treatment among more severely affected patients that transitions to home-based exercise program. Duration of supervised

	exercise is dependent on the severity of the deficits. Further durations
	should be based on ongoing improvements in function, particularly
	those that are not able to be sustained by a home-based program.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved physical fitness, mood, self esteem and motor performance.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are 4 moderate quality studies involving aerobic exercise [703,
	704, 707, 708]. One trial found improvements in cardiovascular
	fitness, but no psychological or functional change [704]. One trial
	found benefits from aquatic treatment [708]. There are no sizable
	trials including primarily aerobic exercises. Aerobic exercises are not
	invasive, have low adverse effects, are low to high cost depending on
	supervision requirements and duration, and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Aerobic, exercise, exercising, physical
	activity, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury,
	penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral
	injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 19 articles in PubMed, 115 in Scopus, 7 in
	CINAHL. 45 in Cochrane Library. 2.570 in Google Scholar. and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed. 1 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 6 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 11 articles considered for
	inclusion. 5 randomized trials and 6 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

# **Aquatic Therapy for Select TBI Patients**

*Level of Confidence* – Moderate

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Recommended.

A trial of aquatic therapy is recommended for the treatment of subacute or chronic TBI in select patients.

Indications:	Patient's with subacute or chronic TBI who meet criteria for referral for supervised exercise therapy and has co-morbidities (e.g., extreme obesity, significant degenerative joint disease, etc.) that preclude effective participation in weight-bearing physical activity. May also be considered when TBI impairments are sufficiently severe that removing effects of gravity improves, e.g., range of motion. Land-based exercise is generally preferable for mild TBI or for patients largely recovered, as they tend to be sustainable for most patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Program should generally begin with 3 to 4 visits per week. Patient should have demonstrated evidence of functional improvement within the first 2 weeks to justify additional visits. Program should include up to 4 weeks of aquatic therapy with progression towards a land-based, self-directed physical activity or self-directed aquatic therapy program by 6 weeks. Durations beyond 6 weeks should be limited to severe TBI patient injuries who are still demonstrating objective improvements at 6 weeks that cannot be achieved with land-based activities.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Non-tolerance, failure to progress or aggravation of pain or desired clinical
Benefits:	Ability to engage in exercise and rehabilitation when unable to sufficiently tolerate weight-bearing exercises in a traditional physical or occupational therapy program. More rapid improvements in range of motion in severe TBI nationals
Harms:	May aggravate pain in a minority.
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study involving aquatic aerobic exercise [708] that suggested improved physical fitness. Aquatic therapy is not invasive, has low adverse effects, is moderate to high in cost, depending upon numbers of visits but is likely effective, thus aquatic therapy is recommended for select patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Aerobic, exercise, exercising, physical activity, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 19 articles in PubMed, 115 in Scopus, 7 in CINAHL, 45 in Cochrane Library, 2,570 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 6 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 11 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 6 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Activity Modification**

Rest is often recommended because of a concern for reinjury during recovery from concussion [709-711]

### Rest

#### Not Recommended.

Rest is not recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Rationale:	There are quality studies assessing Rest for treatment of TBI. Rest is not invasive, has adverse effects, is low cost, has evidence of lack of efficacy, and is not recommended for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	efficacy, and is not recommended for treatment of TBI. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: rest, resting, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral, trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 233 articles in PubMed, 467 in Scopus, 15 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 49800 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 3 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Body Weight Support Treadmill Training for TBI Patients**

#### Recommended.

Body weight support treadmill training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients who have an inability to walk safely.

```
Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – Moderate
```

Indications:	Inability to walk, or inability to walk safely while having sufficient patient abilities to move the lower extremities.
Benefits:	Fosters faster return to walking ability, regain of muscle strength, and/or slower loss of strength.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	The optimum regimen needs to be tailored to the patient's abilities and stage of recovery. The 2 comparative trials used widely differing regimens, i.e., 15min 2x/wk [713] and 45 min, 3x/wk [620].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Ability to walk with a walker, or to walk unassisted.
Rationale:	There are no sham or placebo-controlled trails. There are a few quality comparative studies assessing Body Weight Support Treadmill Training for treatment of TBI [713] [620], mostly showing comparable efficacy with other techniques. Body Weight Support Treadmill Training is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is high cost in aggregate, has evidence of efficacy, and thus is recommended for select treatment of TBI patients.

#### Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: body weight support treadmill training, body-weight-supported treadmill training, body weight supported treadmill training, BWSTT; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 6 articles in PubMed, 14 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 10 in Cochrane Library, 329 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

### **Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy (CI) for TBI Patients**

#### Recommended.

Constraint-induced movement therapy is recommended for use in the treatment of severe TBI patients who have limb function deficits.

# Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

*Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	Severe TBI patients with deficits in limb function
Benefits:	Faster improvement in use of the more affected limb.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	14 days of 6 hrs session was more effective than a 3hr session in one
	trial [715]. Frequencies of an ongoing programunclear, thus
	individualization is recommended.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Reaching an acceptable plateau of performance or lack of progression
	of objective measures would be a reason to stop the program.
Rationale:	There is one moderate-quality study assessing Constraint-Induced
	Movement Therapy (CIMT) for treatment of TBI. CIMT is not invasive,
	has no adverse effects, is moderate to high cost in agggregate, has
	evidence of treatment efficacy, and is recommended for select
	treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Activity Modification, Constraint-
	induced movement therapy, CI, CIMT, Traumatic brain injury, Closed
	Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral
	Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head
	Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled
	trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed 5 articles in PubMed, 79
	in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 18 in Cochrane Library, 897 in Google Scholar,
	and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from

PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Whole Body Vibration (WBV) for TBI Patients

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of whole body vibration in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Whole Body Vibration for treatment of TBI. Whole Body Vibration is not invasive, has minimal adverse effects, is moderately costly in aggregate, but has no quality evidence of efficacy, and so there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: whole body vibration, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, 205 in Scopus, zero in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 60 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. <b>Zero</b> articles met the inclusion criteria.

Specific motor stimulation has been used to treat hand impairments from stroke or TBI [719].

### **Specific Motor Stimulation**

#### **Recommended.**

Specific motor stimulation is recommended for use in the treatment of moderate to severe TBI patients who have notable impairment of at least one extremity.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate to severe TBI injuries with notable impairment of at least one extremity. The quality study had entry criteria of <80% score on the Action Research Arm Test [719].
Benefits:	Improved functional rehabilitation of an extremity
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	One hour session daily, 5 days/wk for 6 weeks.
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial suggesting specific motor
	stimulation is effective for rehabilitation of patients, however, 90% of
	the patients were stroke patients [719]. Specific motor stimulation is
	not invasive, has low adverse effects, is high cost in aggregate, and

while some evidence suggests it may be effective, the population was not primarily TBI, thus it is recommended by consensus (I). Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 6 articles in PubMed, 2742 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 21500 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

### **Systematic Instruction**

#### Recommended.

Systematic instruction is recommended for the treatment of TBI patients with moderate to severe cognitive impairments.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications: Benefits: Harms:	TBI patients with moderate to severe cognitive impairments. Improved learning that is better than trial-and-error learning Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial suggesting systematic instruction is more effective than trial-and-error learning for rehabilitation of TBI patients [720]. Systematic instruction is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low to moderate cost in aggregate, has evidence of efficacy and is recommended for treatment of TBI patients with moderate to severe cognitive impairments
Evidence:	Systematic Instruction – A comprehensive literature search was
Evidence.	conducted using PubMed Scopus CINAHL Cochrane Library and
	Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms:
	Traumatic brain injury Intracranial injury Closed Head injury
	Ponotrating boad injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion
	Creationary Read Injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion,
	Craniocerebrai injury, Craniocerebrai Trauma, Closed Head Trauma,
	Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma,
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial,
	randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*,
	randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 59
	articles in PubMed, 33 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 92 in Cochrane Library,
	22300 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of
	the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 0
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Television-Assisted Rehabilitation**

#### Recommended.

Television-assisted rehabilitation is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – **Low** 

Indications:	TBI impacts that limit completion of tasks at home, for which
Benefits:	Improved task completion. May be usable to remind to complete exercises or cognitive exercises.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial of television-assisted rehabilitation
	for treatment of acquired brain injury patients that suggested some efficacy [722]. Television-assisted rehabilitation is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate to high cost, has some evidence of efficacy and is thus recommended for treatment of TBL patients [722]
Fuidanca	Tologician Accisted Bohabilitation A comprehensive literature
Evidence.	coarch was conducted using PubMed Sconus CINALL Coshrane
	Search was conducted using Publiced, Scopus, Chivane, Cochiane
	Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following
	terms: Television Assisted Renabilitation; Traumatic brain injury,
	Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 1 articles in PubMed, 3 in Scopus, 2 in
	CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 11 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0
	from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0
	from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 1
	randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Action Sequences**

Recommended.

Action sequences are recommended for use in the treatment of patients with severe TBI. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Severe TBI patients with requirements to (re)learn sequences of
	functional tasks.
Benefits:	Better learning of required tasks
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Modeling the activities to be taught is reportedly superior to molding, with 69% better longer-term recall of a learned sequence [724].
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality RCT [724] and one low quality trial [725]. The sole quality study suggests. These principles appear equally applicable to vocational rehabilitation as to activities of daily living, although there is no quality study regarding teaching occupationally relevant action sequences. Teaching action sequences is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is low to moderate cost and has some data suggesting some efficacy and so is recommended for treatment of select TBI patients.
Evidence:	<ul> <li>Action Sequences– A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 5 articles in PubMed, 76 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 57 in Cochrane Library, 30400 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion critoria.</li> </ul>

# **Cognitive Behavioral Therapies**

Recommended. Behavioral and Psychological Interventions

Cognitive behavioral therapies are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients with cognitive deficits.

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Moderate to severe TBI with cognitive deficits. Rare mild TBI patients with ongoing and significant symptoms may be candidates.
Improved management of cognitive function and psychosocial factors
Negligible
Frequency is generally tailored based on individual factors of severity and need
Sufficient resolution, lack of progression, lack of compliance.
There are quality studies assessing Cognitive Behavioral Therapies for treatment of TBI, most of which suggest some efficacy, although there are some conflicts between the studies. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, and has some evidence of efficacy and is thus recommended for treatment of select TBI patients.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury ,Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 74 articles in PubMed, 371 in Scopus, 7 in CINAHL, 7 in Cochrane Library, 1800 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the
## **Cognitive-Motor Dual-Tasking**

**Recommended.** 

Cognitive-motor dual-tasking is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies of walking and talking therapy (or cognitive-motor dual-tasking). There is one trial of divided cognitive attention suggesting potential efficacy [741], but not cognitive-motor. There is one low quality study suggesting a trend towards improvement [740]. Cognitive-motor dual tasking is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderately costly, but has no quality evidence of efficacy and thus there is no recommendation
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Cognitive-Motor Dual-Tasking:
	Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0 articles in PubMed, 18 in Scopus, 1 in
	CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 87 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0
	from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Attention Regulation Training**

**Recommended.** Attention regularion training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – **Low** 

may be
y be
ks for
ce with
ion
,
41]
0
I
, , ,

patients. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: attention regulation training, rehabilitation; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 13 articles in PubMed, 4 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 29,611 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 2 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

evidence suggesting efficacy is recommended for treatment of TBI

## **Motivational Interviewing**

#### **Recommended.**

Motivational interviewing is recommended for use in the treatment of patients with anxiety or depressive symptoms after TBI.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level	of Confidence – Low	
	Indications:	TBI patients with anxiety or depressive symptoms after TBI.
	Benefits:	Potential to improve depressive and anxiety symptoms after TBI.
	Harms:	Negligible
	Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Regimens varied. They included: Four 20-minute sessions (Zatzick
		2014), 10 weekly 2-hour sessions [745], to one session at 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, and 9 months post initial treatment (Bombardier 2009, Bell 2005).
	Rationale:	and 9 months post initial treatment (Bombardier 2009, Bell 2005). There are multiple moderate quality trials evaluating the usage of motivational interviewing for patients with TBI. Multiple moderate quality trials suggested motivational interviewing was successful in reducing symptoms of anxiety and depression (Ponsford 2016, Hsieh 2012, Bombardier 2009), with two utilizing cognitive behavioral therapy (Ponsford 2016, Hsieh 2012). However, one trial had baseline differences in groups concerning for potential randomization failure (Ponsford 2016). One moderate quality study suggested motivation interviewing can improve overall function (Bell 2005). Three moderate quality studies evaluated the usage of motivation interviewing for the treatment of alcohol consumption problems (Zatzick 2014, Tweedly 2012, Ponsford 2012). Two studies suggest efficacy (Zatzick 2014, Tweedly 2012) but one suggests readiness to change influences the offectiveness of treatment (Bonsford 2012).
		Motivational interviewing with cognitive behavioral therapy is not
		invasive has negligible adverse effects is moderate cost in aggregate
		has some potential evidence of effectiveness and so is recommended

Evidence:

for selective treatment of TBI patients with anxiety or depressive symptoms and/or alcohol consumption problems after TBI. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed without date limits using the following terms: motivational interviewing; brain injuries, closed head injuries, penetrating head injuries, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial, closed head, penetrating head, craniocerebral, injury, injuries; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 16 articles in PubMed and 6 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed and 6 from other sources. Of the 9 articles considered for inclusion, 9 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### Emotional Training Recommended.

Emotional training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI patients with emotional problems after TBI, able to comprehend short paragraphs, and scores at least one standard deviation below the mean on a test of facial affect recognition [747]. The sole quality study included only those more than one year after TBI, however earlier treatment may be selectively appropriate. Mild TBI patients are not expected to need emotional training due to the TBI [153], although emotional training may be needed for pre-existing reasons
Benefits:	Potential to improve emotional interpretations and including understanding/reading facial expressions.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Regimens varied: regimens ranged from 9 hours over 2-3 weeks (Neumann 2015), 1-hour sessions per week for 16-20 weeks (Westerhof-Evers 2017), 1-hour sessions, 3 times per week for 2-3 weeks (Radice-Neumann 2009), and 8 two hour sessions given over 4 days (Tornås 2016a).
Rationale:	Multiple moderate quality trials (Tornås 2016a, Tornås 2016b, Westerhof-Evers 2017, Radice-Neumann 2009) evaluate the usage of emotional training in TBI patients. The multiple moderate quality studies suggested emotional training was successful in improving facial recognition and emotional processing (Tornås 2016a, Tornås 2016b, Westerhof-Evers 2017, Radice-Neumann 2009), however one study contained baseline differences in time from injury (Tornås 2016b). Emotional Training is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost in aggregate, has some potential evidence of effectiveness and so is recommended for selective treatment of severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed without date limits using the following terms: emotional training.

emotion training; brain injuries, closed head injuries, penetrating head injuries, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial, closed head, penetrating head, craniocerebral, injury, injuries; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 55 articles in PubMed and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed and 2 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Goal Setting**

## Recommended.

Goal setting is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Two moderate quality trials both have small sample sizes,
underpowering and poor reporting of results [748, 749]. Yet re-
learning goal setting and attainment are important tasks. Some data
suggest efficacy [753-755]. These approaches to goal setting are not
invasive, have no adverse effects, are moderate to high cost in
aggregate, so therefore are recommended.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
limits using the following terms: Goal Setting; Traumatic brain injury,
Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion,
Craniocerebral Injury controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
We found and reviewed 114 articles in PubMed. We considered for
inclusion 11 from PubMed and 1 from Google Scholar. Of the 12
articles considered for inclusion, 7 randomized trials and 5 systematic
studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Education Programs

Recommended.

Education programs are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing education programs for treatment of TBI. Education programs are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are low cost when education is incorporated in other rehabilitation programs, has no quality evidence of treatment efficacy, and are recommended as part of a rehabilitation plan for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Educational program; Traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, Closed Head injury Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 35 articles in PubMed, 240 in Scopus, 6 in CINAHL, 13 in Cochrane Library, 50 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria

Neuroplasticity is the brain's capacity to change and adapt. It refers to the physiological changes in the brain that happen as a result of our interactions with our environment. Neuroplasticity is a definite factor in recovery from brain injury. It is the basis for much of our cognitive physical rehabilitation practices.

#### Neuroplasticity

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of neuroplasticity in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Neuroplasticity for treatment of TBI. Neuroplasticity is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low cost, but in the absence of quality evidence of efficacy, there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Neuroplasticity, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma ; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random

allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 62 articles in PubMed, 58 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 210 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

A social peer mentoring program has been included in the treatment of TBI patients [756] to address social isolation that has been reported in this population [757-760]

#### **Peer Mentoring Program**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of a peer mentoring program in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

There are no quality trials and one low quality study of a peer mentoring program [756]. Peer-Mentoring is not invasive, have no adverse effects, are moderate to high cost in aggregate and in the absence of quality evidence of efficacy, there is no recommendation. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: mentoring, mentored, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 5 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 0 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria

Video feedback on task performance has been used for treatment of TBI patients [762, 763]. Decreased self-awareness is suggested to occur due to a number of neuroanatomical as well as cognitive impairments [764, 765].

# Video Feedback on Task Performance Recommended.

Video feedback on task performance is recommended for use in the treatment of patients with severe TBI.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI patients with task performance problems after severe TBI. The quality trial used meal preparation as the outcome [762, 763], although the approach appears applicable to occupational task performance.
Benefits:	Potential to improve accuracy of task performance.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Meal task performance was accomplished on 4 occasions in the quality study with subsequent self- and therapist-videotape reviews and verbal feedback [762, 763],
Rationale:	One moderate quality trial with two reports suggested a combination of video feedback with verbal was superior to either approach alone [762, 763], Video feedback plus verbal training is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate to high cost in aggregate, has some potential evidence of effectiveness and so is recommended for selective treatment of severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: feedback intervention, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 32 articles in PubMed, 10 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 90 in Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and from Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria

## **Memory Rehabilitation**

Recommended.

Memory rehabilitation is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Memory problems post TBI. May be selectively indicated for mild TBI patients with significant memory deficits.
Benefits:	Improved recall and memory
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are one high-quality, 2 moderate-quality studies and one low- quality study evaluating memory rehabilitation.and many studies have incorporated such exercises as part of a rehabilitation program. Memory rehabilition is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, has been purportedly successful for many years and thus, it is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 342 articles in PubMed. 0 in Scopus. 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library
	22600 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 7 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 3
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Reading Comprehension Exercises**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of reading comprehension exercises in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality trials to address success, content, frequency or intensity of reading exercises. There is one moderate quality trial suggesting simplified emergency department discharge instructions
	for head injury are preferable, but this does not test rehabilitation and
	is in mild TBI patients [766]. Reading Comprehension exercises are not
	invasive, have no adverse effects, are low cost, are thought to be
	helpful but in the absence of quality evidence, there is no
	recommendation.

Higher-order reasoning training has been used for treatment of TBI patients, in large part to develop skills to determine the gist meanings of information [768, 769]. Higher-Order Reasoning Training is typically short but intense programs that target the frontal lobe which provides an integrative approach to train functionally relevant complex reasoning abilities [768, 769]. Specifically, the "Top-Down" approach has been developed by researchers to be deliberate in focusing on tasks that highlight the pre-frontal cortex in attention and task-relevant stimuli, while screening out irrelevant distractions [769]. Training frontal-mediated top-down processes in adults with TBI is theorized to be beneficial in restoring and improving higher-order cognitive functions [769].

## High-Order Reasoning Training

Recommended.

High-order reasoning training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate to severe TBI
Benefits:	Improved reasoning and better understanding gist of information
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	12 group sessions of 1.5hrs/session [768]. Taught SMART strategies. Reading materials used.
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality RCT suggesting some efficacy of higher- order reasoning among chronic TBI patients [768]. Hhigher-order reasoning training is not invasive, has not adverse effects, is moderately costly, has evidence of efficacy and tis thus recommended.
Evidence:	Higher-Order Reasoning Training – A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Higher- Order Reasoning Training; Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury controlled

clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 1 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library, 975 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### Attention

Attention deficits are one of the most frequent cognitive consequences following the TBI, [771, 772]. Common treatment models include, APT-3 (basic sustained attention and executive controls), Attention Training Technique (Time Pressure management or 7 level models of training) [771].

#### **ATTENTION PROCESS TRAINING**

#### Recommended.

Attention process training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Indications:	For subacute to chronic, moderate and severe TBI patients. May apply
	to select mild TBI patients with these cognitive deficits.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	10 weeks of APT training (one hour per week) times 3 days for 10
	weeks.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improvement in performance of attention related tasks.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are no quality studies involving APT. There is one [773] showing
	improvement in patient self reported attention related tasks and
	psychological function, although the study had a small sample size.
	This intervention is not invasive, has few adverse effects, is low cost,
	and is therefore recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: attention process training, apt,
	traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury,
	penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral
	injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 20 articles in PubMed, 76 in Scopus, 5 in
	CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 1190 in Google Scholar, and 1 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from

## Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **RECREATIONAL COMPUTING**

## Recommended.

Recreational computing is recommended for the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Mild, moderate or severe, subacute or chronic TBI patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration: 2 x 75-	minute sessions per week for 6 weeks.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve.
Benefits:	Increased attentional function
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one low quality study [774] with a small sample suggesting
	the experimental group performed better on tests at 6 months (PASAT
	and WAIS-R). This intervention is not invasive, has negligible adverse
	effects, is moderate to high cost and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: recreational computing, traumatic
	brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head
	injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury,
	craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 1 articles in PubMed, 45 in Scopus, 0 in
	CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 1280 in Google Scholar, and 2 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google
	Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for
	inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

### COMPUTERIZED ATTENTION TRAINING WITH VISUAL, AUDITORY, AND DIVIDED TRAINING

Recommended.

*Level of Confidence* – Low

Computerized attention training is recommended for use in the treatment of patients with chronic TBI.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Indications:	For chronic TBI patients at least 12 months post injury
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Six 2-hour sessions for 9 weeks.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved attention measures.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study [456] suggesting Computerized Attention Training significantly improved on measures of attention. This is not invasive, has low adverse effects, is moderate to high cost and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion Craniocerebral Injury, Computerized Attention Training with Visual, Auditory, and Divided training; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random* randomized randomization, randomly: systematic
	systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, zero in Scopus, 30 in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 120 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## "CAPTAIN'S LOG"- COMPUTER TRAINING PROGRAM FOR ATTENTION SKILLS WITH TASKS FOR VIGILANCE, INATTENTION, PRUDENCE, IMPULSIVITY, FOCUS, VARIABILITY, AND SPEED

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of "Captain's Log" in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies using the Captain's Log for improved
	attention in TBI patients. This intervention is not invasive, has no
	adverse effects, is low to moderate cost, but there is no
	recommendation in the absence of quality evidence.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Captain's Log, computers, computer,
	software, program, training; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury,
	closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain
	concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0
	articles in PubMed, 1 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 20
	in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of
	the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Restorative computer and non-computer attention remediation has been used to treat TBI patients [779-781].

#### **RESTORATIVE COMPUTER AND NON-COMPUTER ATTENTION REMEDIATION**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of restorative computer and non-computer attention remediation in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies involving Restorative Computer and Non- Computer Attention Remediation. This technique is not invasive, has low adverse effects, is moderate to high cost, and in the absence of quality evidence, there is no recommendation for or against Restorative Computer and Non-Computer Attention Remediation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Attention remediation, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury ,Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.

We found and reviewed 9 articles in PubMed, 425 in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 81 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Reaction time tests (arm movement reaction time, hand response with different levels of difficulty) have been used for saccadic deficits after severe head trauma [782-785].

#### **REACTION TIME TRAINING**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of reaction time training in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies using Reaction time training. These techniques are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are moderate to high cost, and in the absence of quality evidence, there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: reaction time training, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 38 articles in PubMed, 1,709 in Scopus, 38 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 34,600 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

### Balance

Vestibular dysfunction is repotedly common in TBI patients [168]. Adults with mild traumatic brain injury may acquire some vestibular dysfunction. Vestibular dysfunction is associated with dizziness, vertigo, visual blurring, oscillopsia (a jumping of the visual field associated with movement of the head), and feeling off balance [786]. Vestibular therapy aims to decrease these symptoms and improve dynamic and static balance by utilizing exercises that target these impairments [787]. For the best outcomes, exercises should be individualized to the patient. Often, this means taking extensive amounts of information regarding history, symptoms, and tolerance to certain exercises. Studies have shown that generalized vestibular exercises are not as successful as individualized and personal ones [788].

#### **VESTIBULAR REHABILITATION**

#### Recommended.

Vestibular rehabilitation is selectively recommended for TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Post TBI with vestibular symptoms thought to be peripheral and not central in origin. Generally initiated with electronystagmogram (ENG). Not indicated for concussion patients.
Benefits:	Faster resolution of vestibular symptoms
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient recovery, resolution of symptoms.
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study suggesting efficacy of Vestibular
	Rehab Treatment for treatment of TBI [696]. Vestibular Rehab
	Treatment is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is moderate cost,
	has some evidence of treatment efficacy, and is recommended for
	selective treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Vestibular Rehabilitation; Traumatic
	brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating, Head Injury, Concussion,
	Craniocerebral Injury; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 31 articles in PubMed, 112 in Scopus, 4 in
	CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 240 in Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 3 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for
	inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 4 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

#### *COMPUTER & VIDEO GAMES FOR BALANCE* Recommended.

#### Computer and video games for balance are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Hemiparetic patients > 6 months attending a rehabilitation program,
	absence of cognitive impairment who are able to walk 10 meters
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Two regimens have been used, either 20 hour long sessions, 3-5 times
	per week [792] or 15 minute stand balance training for 4 weeks [793].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved balance
Harms:	Negligible.
Rationale:	There are 2 moderate quality studies using video games [793, 794].
	Both studies had small sample sizes. In [792], there was significant
	improvement in static balance and in [793], there was a weak positive
	trend towards increasing balance. Computer and video games are non
	invasive have low adverse effects, are moderate to high cost
	depending on supervision requirements and duration, and are
	recommended but larger studies need to substantiate the findings of
F. data and	the smaller pilot studies.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using Publied,
	Scopus, CINARL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	Cognitive Behabilitation, traumatic brain injuny, intrographic injuny
	cognitive Renabilitation, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury,
	closed field injury, penetrating field injury, concussion, brain
	concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled
	controlled trials, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled thats, random allocation, random , randomized,
	randomization, randomity, systematic, systematic review,
	articles in PubMed 42 in Sconus 1 in CINAHL 6 in Cochrane Library
	2980 in Google Scholar, and O from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 1 from PubMed 0 from Sconus 1 from CINAHI 0 from
	Cochrane Library O from Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. Of
	the 3 articles considered for inclusion 3 randomized trials and 3
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria
	systematic statics met the mousion enterial

#### VIRTUAL REALITY FOR BALANCE

Recommended.

Virtual reality for balance is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Level of Confidence – Low	

Indications:	In TBI patients physically able to use a VR system (be ambulatory), have good sitting balance and no perceptual disabilities which would prevent them from viewing the monitor where the virtual environment was displayed [797].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	3 times per week for 25 minutes for a total of 4 weeks [797].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved memory, balance, reaction time, movement, visual and verbal learning tasks.
Harms:	Falls in unstable patients, dizziness, otherwise negligible
Rationale:	There are 7 moderate quality studies with most supporting modest
	efficacy [793, 797-802]. Yet, most of the studies have small sample
	sizes, or there are sparse methods. Larger studies are needed to
	clearly determine efficacy. Virtual reality games are non invasive have
	low adverse effects, but may be high cost if ongoing supervision is
	required, and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Virtual Reality, Virtual Reality Program; Traumatic brain
	injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury,
	Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebrai Injury, Craniocerebrai Trauma,
	Trauma, Virtual Reality, Virtual Reality Program: controlled clinical trial
	controlled trials randomized controlled trial randomized controlled trials
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly:
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We
	found and reviewed 35 articles in PubMed, 20 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 8 in
	Cochrane Library, 14,100 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We
	considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0
	from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 7 from other sources. Of
	the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 9 randomized trials and 3 systematic
	studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Perception and Self-Awareness and Psychological Well-Being

Perceptual deficits are common in adults with diffuse brain injury [803]. Perceptual training involves using tasks like construction of puzzles to improve functional performance [803]. Perceptual training can take place on the computer [804] or completing other functional tasks such as puzzles [803]. Perceptual training includes, basic visual scanning, somatosensory awareness and size estimation training, and complex visual perceptual organization [805].

#### PERCEPTUAL SKILLS TRAINING

There is no recommendation for perceptual skills training for TBI patients. No Recommendation.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Level of Confidence – Low	

Rationale:	There are no quality studies specifically addressing perceptual skills
	training. These techniques are not invasive, have low adverse effects,
	are moderate to high cost, and in the absence of quality evidence,
	there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Perceptual skills training, brain
	injuries, closed head injuries, penetrating head injuries, brain
	concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain injury,
	intracranial injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 1 article in PubMed, 32 in Scopus, 2 in
	CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 61,700 in Google Scholar, and 2 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from
	Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google
	Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for
	inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

In cognitive rehabilitation, verbal labeling training is used to provide feedback to TBI patients through tasks to improve performance [806]. The use of verbal and visual feedback improves self-awareness to TBI patients during occupational performances [806]. Interpersonal Process Recall (IPR) is a technique that specifically uses "videotaped interactions of participants with a professional in order to facilitate therapy" [807]. IPR is used specifically to help researchers "gain access to participants' silent in-session experiences as remembered by the participant" [808]. These silent experiences may include "feelings, emotions, body language, and subconscious reasoning [808]." Participants are "recorded interacting with a counselor and then are exposed to that recording with the counselor present" [807]. There is a "remote control present in case the participant or the counselor wishes to pause the recording at specific moments" [807]. IPR strives to "accelerate participants' recovery process with counseling by identifying underlying reasoning for specific actions during the interaction" [808].

VERBAL LABELING TRAINING AND COMPENSATORY INTERPERSONAL PROCESS RECALL Recommended.

Verbal labeling training and compensatory interpersonal process recall is selectively recommended for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

#### Level of Confidence – Low

Indications: Moderate to severe chronic and post-op TBI patients with impaired Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation:

Benefits: Harms: Rationale:

Evidence:

self awareness and are at least one year post TBI. Preparation of 4 meals with 2-4 days between each meal. When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve. Improved self awareness Negligible There is one moderate quality study [806] showing combination video plus virtual feedback was effective in TBI patients as measured by the number of errors made in meal preparation. This intervention is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost, and is recommended. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Verbal, labeling, training, traumatic, brain, injury, intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 6 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 6 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 5720 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 5733 articles considered for

inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 0 systematic studies met the

inclusion criteria.

### **PSYCHOSOCIAL FUNCTIONING AND ADLS**

#### Recommended.

Functionally based rehabilitation is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate, severe, chronic and postop TBI patients 3-4 years post injury with ongoing deficits in functional independence, anxiety and depression [809]
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	2 sessions per week of 2-6 hours per week for 27 weeks
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Self organization and psychological well being
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study suggesting a multidisciplinary community outreach program post severe TBI is of benefit after the
	active treatment phase ended. This intervention is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost, and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Psychosocial functioning and ADLs,
	Traumatic brain injury (mild, moderate, severe, acute, subacute
	chronic), Closed Head Penetrating Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury;
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials
	randomized randomization randomly: systematic systematic review
	retrospective and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 366
	articles in PubMed 18 in Sconus 24 in CINAHL 1 in Cochrane Library
	120 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered
	for inclusion 2 from PubMed zero from Scopus zero from CINAHI
	zero from Cochrane Library, zero from Google Scholar, and zero from
	other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized
	trial and 1 systematic studies mat the inclusion criteria
	that and I systematic studies met the inclusion chieffa.

### Memory and Motor Imagery

Memory and reasoning tasks are used as cognitive rehabilitation utilizing accept methods in TBI patients [810, 811]. Some specific methods include computer memory retaining groups, games, reasonings tasks.

*MEMORY/REASONING TASKS, GAMES, COMPUTER GAMES* Recommended.

Memory/reasoning tasks, games, computer games are selectively recommended for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low	
Indications:	Moderate, severe, postoperative, chronic TBI patients with ongoing memory deficits injured at least one to seven years previously, with adequate interpersonal communication skills, 25% intact visual fields, motivated and no premorbid history of psychiatric disturbance [810].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Daily treatment for 4 days per week (5 hours per day for 20 treatment hours per week) totaling 160 hours of treatment.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve
Benefits:	Memory improvement
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are 2 low quality studies, with one suggested some benefit from computer games on memory performance [810]. This intervention is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost, and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury (mild, moderate, severe, acute, subacute chronic) Closed Head Penetrating Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury Memory/reasoning tasks, games, computer games; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, 77 in Scopus, zero in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 80 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion zero from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

#### COMPUTER MEMORY RETRAINING GROUP (CMRG)

#### Recommended.

**Rehabilitation Programs** 

Computer Memory Retraining Group is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate, severe, postop, chronic TBI patients with at least one functional hand to interact with computer demands without evidence of psychiatric disorders, post injury substance abuse, no premorbid
	neurological disorders, sufficient vision and cognitive function
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	2 hour sessions per day for 20 total hours
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve
Benefits:	Improved memory functions.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study [812] and one low quality study [813] showing CMRG improves memory retraining. This is a non- invasive, has negligible adverse effects, moderate-high cost and with evidence suggesting efficacy is therefore recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Computer Memory Retraining Group, (CMRG); Traumatic brain, Intracranial, Closed Head, Penetrating head, Craniocerebral, injury, trauma, Concussion; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 7 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 4330 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria

Handheld computers have been used by TBI patients to assist in memory [814].

#### HANDHELD COMPUTERS AS MEMORY AIDS

**Recommended.** Handheld computers are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate or Severe TBI patients who had emerged from post-
	traumatic amnesia, had ongoing memory problems who also had
	sufficient hand function to use a PDA.
Benefits:	Improve memory and reducing forgetfulness.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Rationale:	A high quality trial suggested superior performance on memory goals after use of a handheld computer [814]. Handheld computerized aids
	are not invasive, have no adverse effects, are high cost, have evidence of efficacy, and thus are recommended for selective treatment of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: attention test, sustained attention to
	response task or monotone counting or variables of attention test,
	traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury
	penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral
	injury, craniocerebral trauma; sensitivity and specificity, predictive
	value of tests, gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise,
	test; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive
	value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy,
	and efficiency. We found and reviewed articles in 747 PubMed, 310 in
	Scopus, 496 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 25800 in Google Scholar,
	and 8 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from
	PubMed, 8 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library, 3
	from Google Scholar, and 8 from other sources. Of the 35 articles
	considered for inclusion, 19 prognostic studies, 1 randomized trial and
	5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **Restorative Imagery Training**

Restorative imagery training is selectively recommended for severe TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe, postop, chronic TBI patients with ongoing deficits
	approximately 8 years post injury with a mean GCS of about 5
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	2 sessions per week 45-60 minutes long using imagery from Story
	Memory Technique (mSMT) for 5 weeks. [817].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve
Benefits:	Improved memory and learning functions in addition to improved
-	motor imagery [816].
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one high quality study on Restorative Imagery training for
	memory improvement that [817] suggests improved memory and
	learning. There is one moderate quality study [816] showing some
	benefit in restoration of motor imagery. Restorative Imagery Training
	is non-invasive has negligible adverse effects moderate-high cost and
	with evidence suggesting efficacy is therefore moderately
	with evidence suggesting encacy is therefore moderately
	recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Restorative, imagery, training, traumatic, brain, injury,
	intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma;
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial,
	randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed 3 articles in PubMed, 5 in Scopus,
	1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 3380 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from
	CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. Of the 3389 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and
	2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **RESTORATIVE FUNCTIONAL SKILLS TRAINING**

There is no recommendation for the use of restorative functional skills training in the treatment of TBI patients. **No Recommendation.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:There are no quality studies on Restorative functional Skills Training.<br/>Restorative Functional Skills Training is non-invasive, has negligible<br/>adverse effects, moderate-high cost, but in the absence of evidence of<br/>efficacy there is no recommendation.Evidence:A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,<br/>Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date<br/>limits using the following terms: Restorative, functional, skills, training,<br/>traumatic, brain, injury, intracranial, closed, head, penetrating,<br/>concussion, craniocerebral, trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled<br/>trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized, randomization, randomly;<br/>systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.<br/>We found and reviewed 9 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in

We found and reviewed 9 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 767 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 777 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Repetition of a certain activity is used to improve recovery in patients after brain injury [820]. However repetitive training is a time consuming process and patients often report boredom [820]. Play-based interventions to stimulate enjoyment is one approach being used to overcome such difficulties [820].

#### GAMES, ART, AND SELF-EXPRESSION

Games, art and self-expression are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

Strength of Evidence – <b>Recomme</b> Level of Confidence – Low	nded, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Indications:	TBI patients between 1 and 7 years post injury. Evidence best for mild TBI patients [821] but more severe TBI patient are thought to
	potentially benefit
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Six weeks of 4 days per week of 5.5 hours of training (psychological and neuropsychological) for a total of 6 weeks [821].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve
Benefits:	Improved memory function
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study involving the use of Games, Art and Self Expression techniques which suggested modest efficacy [821]. These are non-invasive, have negligible adverse effects, low cost when self-administered, and are recommended.

#### Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Game, puzzle, toy, art, selfexpression, play, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 937 articles in PubMed, 51 in Scopus, 61 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 3,240 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

#### **COMPUTER-ASSISTED COGNITIVE REHABILITATION**

Computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation is selectively recommended for the treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – **Recommended**, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	TBI patients 3-6 months post injury with moderate cognitive
	dysfunction (more marked in language production, visual attention,
	memory span and other memory abilities such as immediate recall).
	Most patients showed unilateral hemispheric lesions via MRI [702].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	24 sessions of pre-cognitive training 3 times per week times 8 weeks.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or
	failure to improve
Benefits:	Improved memory span and other memory functions
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale: There are 3 moderate qu	uality studies [166, 702, 822], all suggesting efficacy although one [166]
	found short term and not long term improvement in global outcomes
	at one year. This technique is non-invasive, has negligible adverse
	events and is low to moderate cost depending on self-administration
	and is therefore recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Computer-Assisted Cognitive Rehabilitation, Traumatic brain
	injury, Intracranial injury, Closed head injury, Penetrating head injury,
	Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma,
	Cognitive, Computer assisted; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation,
	random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic
	review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 22
	articles in PubMed, 144 in Scopus, 43 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 8050 in
	Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from
	PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 2 from

Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 8 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Problem Solving**

*GROUP SESSIONS FOR PROBLEM SOLVING, DISCUSSION OF SOCIAL ISOLATIONS AND FRUSTRATIONS* Recommended.

Group sessions for problem solving, discussion of social isolation and frustrations are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI patients at least one year post TBI injury with documented impairments in social/vocational functions, but with cognitive functional abilities that include: taking organized notes, giving and receiving feedback, relating to others with adequate social skills, and sustaining attention for an hour long session [823].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Weekly for 12 weeks [824] to 24 weeks [823].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved communication, coping skills and problem solving.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are 2 moderate quality studies involving group sessions for
	chronic TBI patients in comparison with either no or conventional
	treatment [824] and [823]. Both studies showed TBI patients improved
	at 6 months and one year. Group therapy is non-invasive, has
	negligible adverse effects and is moderate to high cost depending on
	duration and is thus recommended for patients with cognitive deficits.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL. Cochrane Library, and Google scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: group, psychotherapy, session, sessions, therapy, social
	support, supportive therapy; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed
	head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion,
	craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We
	found and reviewed 5,012 articles in PubMed, 3,083 in Scopus, 458 in CINAHL,
	1,453 in Cochrane Library, 8,210 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources.
	We considered tor inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0
	trom Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 6 from other sources. Of
	the / articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 2 systematic
	studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **COMPENSATORY SKILLS TRAINING**

Compensatory skills training is recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate-severe TBI patients that includes difficult problem solving and executive dysfunction
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	STEP program is 9 hours per week for 12 weeks
Indications for Discontinuation:	When desired improvement has been achieved, clinical plateau or failure to improve.
Benefits:	Improved problem solving, executive function, anxiety, self concept and interpersonal communication.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There is one moderate study involving compensatory skills training [828] suggesting STEP is efficacious in self reported TBI problem solving and executive function. The other 2 low quality studies both have small samples. One study shows comparable efficacy between both groups [829] and the other study [830] reported improved anxiety, self concept, interpersonal and communication skills compared to control group. This type of intervention is non-invasive, low-moderate cost depending upon therapist time and number of sessions and has negligible adverse effects and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: compensatory skills training, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 19 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 10,200 in Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

**RESTORATIVE AND COMPENSATORY COMPUTER ASSISTED COGNITIVE REMEDIATION (CACR) AND EXTERNAL AIDS** 

There is no recommendation regarding restorative and compensatory computer assisted cognitive remediation and external aids for TBI patients.

No Recommendation.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Level of Confidence – Low	

Rationale:

There are no quality studies. Restorative and Compensatory CACR is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects and is low to moderate cost, and in the absence of quality evidence, there is no recommendation for or against its use.

#### Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: restorative compensatory computer assisted cognitive remediation or (CACR), traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 19 articles in PubMed, 51 in Scopus, 8 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 54 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **Visual Training**

There is a high incidence (greater than 50%) of visual and visual-cognitive disorders in neurologically impaired patients (traumatic brain injury, cerebral vascular accidents, multiple sclerosis etc.) [488]. Visual difficulties after traumatic brain injury (TBI) are common and often difficult to recognize. Oculomotor dysfunctions are also among the most common vision problems in individuals with acquired brain injury (ABI). Visual training has been used for treatment of neurological deficits, however the randomized studies of size are mostly of stroke patients [489, 490]. One study evaluated improvements in visiual search among hemianopic patients [489], while the other compared explorative saccade and flicker training in hemianopic patients [490-494].

Visual training has been used for treatment of neurological deficits; however, the randomized studies are almost solely of stroke patients [489, 490]. One study evaluated improvements in visual search among hemianopic patients [489], while the other compared explorative saccade and flicker training in hemianopic patients [490].

#### VISION TRAINING Recommended.

Vision training is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence	(I)
Level of Confidence – Low	

Indications:	Moderate and severe TBI with any of: accommodation, blurred vision, ocular motility abnormalities, difficulty with gaze, tracking difficulties, diplopia, disequilibrium in visually stimulating environments, impaired visual memory, light sensitivity, visual-spatial processing and problems with visual field integrity.
Benefits:	Ability to improve visual symptoms
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Dependent on severity of symptoms, and progress.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of visual problems from TBI.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Vision Training in TBI patients.
	There are multiple low quality studies, including studies suggesting
	efficacy. Vision Training is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is
	moderate cost, and is recommended for patients with visual
	impairments related to TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the

following terms: visual training, oculomotor training; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and reviewed 164 articles in PubMed, 15 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 281 in Cochrane Library, 63,600 in Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **OCULOMOTOR TRAINING** Recommended.

Oculomotor training is recommended for the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	TBI with accommodative dysfunction of at least 6 months duration.
Benefits:	Identification and treatment of accommodative dysfunction related to
	TBI.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Two 60minute sessions/week for 9 sessions total [495].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution, completion of a course of treatment.
Rationale:	There is one moderate-quality trial in the military suggesting efficacy
	of Oculomotor Training for rehabilitation of TIB [495]. Oculomotor
	Training is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is low to
	moderate cost in aggregate, has some evidence of efficacy in military
	settings, and thus is recommended for select treatment of TBI
	patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: visual training, oculomotor training; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury.
	penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral
	injury, craniocerebral trauma; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity,
	specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and
	predictive value of tests, efficacy, and efficiency. We found and
	reviewed 164 articles in PubMed, 15 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 281 in
	Cochrane Library, 63,600 in Google Scholar, and 3 from other sources.
	CINAHI O from Cochrane Library O from Google Scholar, and 3 from
	other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion. 1 randomized
	trial and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
	,

## **Medication Recommendations**

## **Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Medications**

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory (NSAIDs) have been used for treatment of traumatic brain injuries, although mostly for febrile control [835-837]. A few studies reviewed potential NSAID use for intracerebral pressure control [837, 838]. Some have theorized that NSAIDs may be helpful in neuroregenerative processes [839], and one trial in mice found evidence of reduced inflammatory responses among those mice treated with ibuprofen although no differences in their cognitive-maze test [840].

## **NSAIDs for TBI Patients**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against NSAIDs for treatment of TBI. There are other indications for TBI patients such as headache, febrile control and musculoskeletal pain.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

NSAIDs for treatment of TBI.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
Traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed Head injury, penetrating
head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury,
craniocerebral Trauma, anti-Inflammatory Agent, pharmacological action,
controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial,
randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective
studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 123 articles
in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other
sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from
CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles
considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the
inclusion criteria. There is 1 moderate-quality randomized controlled trial.

There are no quality placebo-controlled trials evaluating the use of

## **NSAIDs for Febrile Control**

Recommended.

NSAIDs are recommended for treatment of fever in TBI patients, with preference for continuous I.V. infusion over boluses [835].

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications	Moderate severe TPI with fever
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Diclotenac low-dose infusion: initial I.V. bolus 0.2 mg/kg diluted in 100
	ml NS then a continuous infusion of 75 mg in 50 ml normal saline until
	internal temperature was lower than 38°C for at least 12 hours [835].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Satisfactory temperature control
Benefits:	Improved febrile control. May improve CNS outcomes
Harms:	Hemorrhage, especially GI or CNS.
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of NSAIDs compared with placebo for
	treatment of TBI patients. One moderate quality trial for treatment of
	fever found continuous NSAID infusion superior to boluses for control

of fevers in comatose patients [835]. NSAIDs are not invasive, have low adverse effects in employed populations although somewhat higher in ICU settings, and are low cost. There is moderate quality evidence of efficacy for febrile suppression among patients treated with continuous I.V. NSAID infusion.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed Head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral Trauma, anti-Inflammatory Agent, pharmacological action, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 123 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 moderate-quality randomized controlled trial.

Evidence:

## **Dextromethorphan (Nuedexta®) for TBI Patients**

Dextromethorphan/quinidine has been used for treatment of pseudobulbar affect in adults with underlying neurological conditions [841] [842, 843].

## **Dextromethorphan for TBI Patients**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for the use of dextromethorphan in the treatment of TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – **No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	Has been used for emotional dyscontrol accompanying TBI. Also has been used to treat pseudobulbar palsy.
Benefits:	Purported improvement of control of emotions associated with TBI
Harms:	Sedation, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, constipation, diarrhea, dizziness, confusion
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	As per manufacturer's recommendation.
Rationale:	Dextromethorphan is not invasive has some adverse effects, is low to moderate cost. There are no quality studies addressing the use of dextromethorphan for TBI patients and thus there is no recommendation. Dextromethorphan also has other potential
	indications.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar
	without date limits using the following terms: Nuedexta,
	Dextromethorphan, Quinidine, traumatic brain injury,
	intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury,
	concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury,
	craniocerebral trauma controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in
	PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 27 in
	Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. Of the one article considered for inclusion, zero
	randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion
	criteria.

## **Cytoprotective Drugs for TBI Patients**

There are two main reasons for using cytoprotective drugs in TBI patients: [170] prevention of stress ulcers, and to (2) counteract NSAID-related effects on the GI tract. There are four commonly used cytoprotective classes of drugs – proton pump inhibitors (esomeprazole, lansoprazole, omeprazole, pantoprazole, rabeprazole), misoprostol, sucralfate, and histamine Type 2 receptor blockers (famotidine, ranitidine, cimetidine, etc.). There is not generally believed to be substantial differences in efficacy for prevention of gastrointestinal bleeding, [844, 845].

## **Proton Pump Inhibitors (PPIs)**

#### Strongly Recommended.

Proton pump inhibitors are strongly recommended for use with NSAIDs for select TBI patients. *Strength of Evidence* – **Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A)** *Level of Confidence* – High

Indications:	NSAID use with either risk factors for GI bleeding (e.g., elderly, diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis), or ICU stay and concerns for
	gastric ulcers.
Benefits:	Eliminates increased risk of GI bleeding from NSAIDs. May reduce risk of stress ulcers
Harms:	Adverse effects of the proton nump inhibitor. Concerns for higher
	hacterial burden in the stomach with lack of low nH and thus
	increased risk of bacterial nneumonia from asniration making
	suggestions sucralfate or possibly H2 blockers may be preferable for
	that indication [846, 847]
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Dose and frequency for proton pump inhibitors sucralfate and H2
requency, bose, buration.	blockers are as recommended by manufacturer. Duration is the extent
	of the NSAID therapy: use is at times permanent for those with
	recurrent bleeds or other complications
Rationale	Risks of gastrointestinal events are also recommended for assessment
hationale.	narticularly including prior history of gastrointestinal bleeding and
	source length of treatment age smoking diabetes mellitus and other
	medical factors. Those with greater risk should be considered for
	treatment with acetaminophen NSAID plus misoprostol proton pump
	inhibitors (see below) or a COX-2 selective agent (see
	NSAIDs/acetaminophen evidence table) (306-307-342-346-354-355)
	[848-853].
	Gastrointestinal adverse events are generally considered the most
	significant of the risks of NSAIDs. A large volume of high- and
	moderate-quality evidence consistently shows proton pump inhibitors
	are effective for prevention and or treatment of gastric and duodenal
	ulcers and erosions.(356-365) [854-863]. There is only one quality
	head-to-head trial, and it found no difference in efficacy between
	pantoprazole and omeprazole(358) [855]. Misoprostol has also been
	consistently shown to be effective compared with placebo.(366-375)
	[845, 864] [865-867]; [868] [869] [870, 871] Relatively fewer studies
	have shown sucralfate to be effective compared with placebo;(376)
	[872] H2 blockers appear more effective for treatment of duodenal
	than gastric mucosa.(319-321) [873] [874] [875]. There are relatively
	few quality trials comparing efficacy of the different classes of agents.
	Pantoprazole but not lansoprazole has been found modestly superior
	to misoprostol.(315, 377) [876] [845]. No difference was found

	between famotidine and lansoprazole.(378) [877] Misoprostol has been reported superior to ranitidine,(379, 380) [859] [864] cimetidine, (381) [867] and sucralfate.(371, 382) [878] [867]. In short, while the evidence is not definitive, available quality evidence suggests proton pump inhibitors and misoprostol appear superior to H-2 blockers and sucralfate. While COX-2 selective agents have generally been recommended as either third- or fourth-line medications for routine use in osteoarthrosis patients, when there is a risk of gastrointestinal complications, they are often preferred. For patients at high risk of gastrointestinal bleeding, there is evidence that a combination of proton pump inhibitor plus COX-2 selective agent is efficacious (383) [879]
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Proton pump inhibitors, PPIs, critical care, intensive care unit, ICU, emergency room, ER; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; systematic, systematic review. We found and reviewed 1 article in PubMed, 16 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 63 in Cochrane Library, 653 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

### Sucralfate

#### Recommended.

Group sessions for problem solving, discussion of social isolation and frustrations are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	NSAID use with either risk factors for GI bleeding (e.g., past history of GI bleeding, elderly, diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis), or ICU stay and concerns for gastric ulcers.
Benefits:	Eliminates increased risk of GI bleeding from NSAIDs. May reduce risk of stress ulcers.
Harms:	Adverse effects of the proton pump inhibitor. Concerns for higher bacterial burden in the stomach with lack of low pH and thus increased risk of bacterial pneumonia from aspiration, making suggestions sucralfate or possibly H2 blockers may be preferable for that indication [846] [847].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Dose and frequency for proton pump inhibitors, sucralfate, and H2 blockers are as recommended by manufacturer. Duration is the extent of the NSAID therapy; use is at times permanent for those with recurrent bleeds or other complications.
Rationale:	Risks of gastrointestinal events are also recommended for assessment, particularly including prior history of gastrointestinal bleeding and source, length of treatment, age, smoking, diabetes mellitus and other medical factors. Those with greater risk should be considered for treatment with acetaminophen, NSAID plus misoprostol, proton pump
inhibitors (see below), or a COX-2 selective agent (see NSAIDs/acetaminophen evidence table) (306, 307, 342, 346, 354, 355) [848] [849] [850, 851] [852] [853].

Gastrointestinal adverse events are generally considered the most significant of the risks of NSAIDs. A large volume of high- and moderate-quality evidence consistently shows proton pump inhibitors are effective for prevention and or treatment of gastric and duodenal ulcers and erosions.(356-365) [854], [855] [856] [857] [858] [859] [860, 861] [862] [863]) There is only one quality head-to-head trial, and it found no difference in efficacy between pantoprazole and omeprazole. (358) [855] Misoprostol has also been consistently shown to be effective compared with placebo.(366-375) [880] [864-867] [868] [869] [870] [871]. Relatively fewer studies have shown sucralfate to be effective compared with placebo (376) [872] H2 blockers appear more effective for treatment of duodenal than gastric mucosa (319-321) [873] [874] [875]. There are relatively few quality trials comparing efficacy of the different classes of agents. Pantoprazole but not lansoprazole has been found modestly superior to misoprostol (315, 377) [876] [845]. No difference was found between famotidine and lansoprazole (378) [877] Misoprostol has been reported superior to ranitidine, (379, 380) ([859] [864] cimetidine, (381) [867] and sucralfate.(371, 382) [878] [867]. In short, while the evidence is not definitive, available quality evidence suggests proton pump inhibitors and misoprostol appear superior to H-2 blockers and sucralfate. While COX-2 selective agents have generally been recommended as either third- or fourth-line medications for routine use in osteoarthrosis patients, when there is a risk of gastrointestinal complications, they are often preferred. For patients at high risk of gastrointestinal bleeding, there is evidence that a combination of proton pump inhibitor plus COX-2 selective agent is efficacious (383) [879]. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: sucralfate, critical care, intensive care unit, ICU, emergency room, ER; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 1 article in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 2,185 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 article considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Evidence:

# H2 Blockers

Recommended.

H2-blockers are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	NSAID use with either risk factors for GI bleeding (e.g., elderly, diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis), or ICU stay and concerns for gastric ulcers.
Benefits:	Eliminates increased risk of GI bleeding from NSAIDs. May reduce risk of stress ulcers.
Harms:	Adverse effects of the proton pump inhibitor. Concerns for higher bacterial burden in the stomach with lack of low pH and thus increased risk of bacterial pneumonia from aspiration, making suggestions sucralfate or possibly H2 blockers may be preferable for that indication [846] [847].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Dose and frequency for proton pump inhibitors, sucralfate, and H2 blockers are as recommended by manufacturer. Duration is the extent of the NSAID therapy; use is at times permanent for those with recurrent bleeds or other complications.
Rationale:	Risks of gastrointestinal events are also recommended for assessment, particularly including prior history of gastrointestinal bleeding and source, length of treatment, age, smoking, diabetes mellitus and other medical factors. Those with greater risk should be considered for treatment with acetaminophen, NSAID plus misoprostol, proton pump inhibitors (see below), or a COX-2 selective agent (see NSAIDs/acetaminophen evidence table) (306, 307, 342, 346, 354, 355) [848] [849-851] [852] [853]. Gastrointestinal adverse events are generally considered the most significant of the risks of NSAIDs. A large volume of high- and moderate-quality evidence consistently shows proton pump inhibitors are effective for prevention and or treatment of gastric and duodenal ulcers and erosions.(356-365) [854], [855] [856] [857] [858] [859] [861, 881] [862] [863]) There is only one quality head-to-head trial, and it found no difference in efficacy between pantoprazole and omeprazole.(358) [855] Misoprostol has also been consistently shown to be effective compared with placebo.(366-375) [880] [815] [865] [866, 867]; [868] [869] [870] [871] Relatively fewer studies have shown sucralfate to be effective compared with placebo;(376) [882] H2 blockers appear more effective for treatment of duodenal than gastric mucosa [873] [874] [875]. There are relatively few quality trials comparing efficacy of the different classes of agents. Pantoprazole but not lansoprazole has been found modestly superior to misoprostol (315, 377) [876] [845]. No difference was found between famotidine and lansoprazole (378) [877] Misoprostol has been reported superior to ranitidine, (379, 380) [859] [864] cimetidine, [867] and sucralfate [878] [867]. In short, while the evidence is not definitive, available quality evidence suggests proton pump inhibitors and misoprostol appear superior to H-2 blockers and sucralfate. While COX-2 selective agents have generally been recommended as either third- or fourth-

	line medications for routine use in osteoarthrosis patients, when there is a risk of gastrointestinal complications, they are often preferred. For patients at high risk of gastrointestinal bleeding, there is evidence that a combination of proton pump inhibitor plus COX-2 selective agent is
	efficacious [879].
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: sucralfate, critical care, intensive care
	unit, ICU, emergency room, ER; traumatic brain injury, intracranial
	injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain
	concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 1
	article in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library,
	2,185 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of
	the 1 article considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1
	systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

## **Other Medications**

## **Magnesium for TBI Patients**

Not Recommended.

Magnesium is not recommended for TBI patients [884, 885], other than magnesium-deficient patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Acute TBI – Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)

Strength of Evidence – Subacute, Chronic, pre/peri/post-operative– Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There is one high-quality trial among acute TBI patients suggesting lack of efficacy for treatment of moderate to severe TBI patients [884]. The other trial was only partially completed and was low quality [885]. With one high-quality trial suggesting lack of efficacy, magnesium is moderately not recommended for treatment of acute TBI patients. It is not recommended (insufficient evidence) for treatment of other TBI
	patients absent evidence of Mg nutritional deficiency.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: magnesium, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective
	studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and
	Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles in PubMed, 387 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 48 in Cochrane Library and 1 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from PubMed, zero
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from Publiced, zero

from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, and one from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 high-quality and 1 low-quality RCT incorporated into this analysis.

## **Progesterone for TBI Patients**

#### Not Recommended.

#### Progesterone is not recommended for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence (Acute, Moderate to severe) – Strongly Not Recommended, Evidence (A)

*Strength of Evidence (Subacute, Chronic and/or Mild, pre/peri/postoperative) – Not Recommended,* 

#### Insufficient Evidence (I)

*Level of Confidence* – High

Rationale:	There are 2 high-quality, sizable trials of progesterone for moderate to severe, acute TBI patients with neither showing benefits [892] [888] and one showing increased risk of phlebitis [892]. Two smaller-sized trials had suggested some potential benefits [889] [887]. Progesterone is either not invasive or minimally invasive, has apparent risks of phlebitis, and thrombophlebitis, is low cost, but is not shown to be effective and is thus not recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: progesterone, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles in PubMed, 387 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 48 in Cochrane Library and 1 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, and one from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Bromocriptine**

Bromocriptine is a dopamine receptor agonist that affects D2 and partially affects D1 receptors. D2 sites reportedly are involved in head injured patients in controlling NP and NBH problems, and D2 sites affect the nigrostriatal region. When head injuries are severe and diffuse in nature, bromocriptine is purportedly beneficial [893-895] and [896].

## BROMOCRIPTINE FOR TBI PATIENTS

## No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against bromocriptine for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There are 3 small, moderate-quality crossover trials with conflicting results regarding efficacy [893-895] and thus there is no
	recommendation for or against bromocriptine.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: bromocriptine, traumatic brain injury, brain injuries, intracranial injury, closed head
	injury, penetrating head injury, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, craniocerebral injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 52 articles, and considered 14 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 103 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In CINAHL,
	we found and reviewed 22 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 14 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
	There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

## **Cyclosporine for TBI Patients**

#### No Recommendation.

### There is no recommendation for or against cyclosporine for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale: There are few trials of cyclosporine for purposes of treating acute, severe TBI. Most studies are dosing or pharmacokinetic studies. There is one moderate quality trial for treatment of TBI patients and found a nonsignificant trend suggesting improved functional outcomes [897]. However, without clear evidence of efficacy, there is no recommendation until additional studies with sufficient power are available. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cyclosporine, brain injuries, head injuries closed, head injuries penetrating, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial, closed head, penetrating head or craniocerebral, injury, injuries, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 25 articles, and considered 6 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 80 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed zero articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 9 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 4 moderate-guality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT. There are zero systematic reviews.

## **Donepezil for TBI Patients**

Recommended.

#### Donepezil is recommended for TBI patients. Strength of Evidence (Subcade, Chronic) – Recommended, Evidence (C)

*Strength of Evidence (Acute, Pre/Peri/Postoperative)* – **Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	Particularly for subacute or chronic TBI with attention and/or short-term memory impairments [905].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Trial was of 10 weeks duration [905]. It is unclear if longer duration has any added benefits.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Adverse effects, satisfactory recovery.
Benefits:	Improvements in memory and attention
Harms:	Bowel frequency and incontinence [905].
Rationale:	There is one moderate-quality trial suggesting modest efficacy among subacute or chronic TBI patients for memory impairments [905]. A second trial lacked placebo control and reported comparable efficacy between Donepezil, Galantamine, and Rivastigmine [904]. Donepezil is not invasive,
	has low adverse effects and is thus recommended for cognitive function.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms Traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, Aricept, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic,
	systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 12 articles in PubMed, 56 in Scopus, 11 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.
	There are 2 systematic reviews.

## **Methylphenidate for TBI Patients**

Recommended.

**Medications (including topical creams)** 

Methylphenidate is recommended for TBI patients with cognitive deficits.

Strength of Evidence (Subacute) - Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Strength of Evidence (Acute, Chronic) – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

reasonable to trial in those with chronic TBI who exhibit cognitive
problems.
Six weeks [911]. Longer duration may be indicated for ongoing deficits, provided there are also ongoing cognitive improvements.
tachycardia, hypertension, excessive or intolerable harms including difficulty sleeping, decreased appetite, blunted affect, nervous habits and mannerisms, and obsessive thinking
Improved memory, attention, cognition
Difficulty sleeping, decreased appetite, blunted affect, nervous habits and mannerisms, and obsessive thinking. Infrequent hypertension and tachycardia [912]
There are multiple quality trials, most suggesting benefits. One study of 2-week duration showed improved information processing speed [913, 914]. A 6-week, moderate quality treatment trial suggested improved cognitive processing and attention [911]. One study showed some benefit with even a single dose although this study had a small sample size. [102]. Methylphenidate is not invasive, has relatively low adverse effects, is not costly and is recommended for treatment of TBI patients with cognitive and attentional deficits.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Methylphenidate, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 54 articles in PubMed, 76 in Scopus, 29 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 19 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 20 articles considered for inclusion, 15 randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 1 high- and 11 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There are 2 low-quality RCTs.

## **Modafinil for TBI Patients**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against modafinil for TBI patients. It is primarily used for treatment of narcolepsy and hypersomnolence [916].

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale: There are 3 moderate quality studies on Modafinil. One study, [917] showed some improvement in EDS and ability to stay awake but not in post-traumatic fatigue and [918] showed no benefit when compared to placebo. Thus, there is no recommendation for or against modafinil or armodafinil for TBI patients. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Modafinil and Armodafinil, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 16 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 10 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library and other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 7 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There are 7 systematic reviews.

## **Anti-spasticity Medications (Not Including Botox)**

Anti-spasticity medications are typically administered to relieve muscle pain and muscle spasms. Patients may experience post-TBI spasticity events, or side effects, that can reduced by these agents [919-929]. Certain muscle relaxants, such as suxamethonium, offer sedative and relaxing properties without increasing intracranial pressure or reducing cerebral perfusion pressure [930].

# ANTI-SPASTICITY MEDICATIONS FOR TBI PATIENTS Recommended.

Anti-spasticity medications are recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Indications:	For treatment of discrete indications of muscle spasticity and dystonia associated with TBL Otherwise, can be impairing and result in slowed
	mentation and potentially slowed recovery.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medications typically used for this purpose include tizanidine,
	dantrium, baclofen. Per manufacturer's recommendations depending upon medication
Indications for Discontinuation:	Drowsiness, somnolence, bradycardia, hypertension, elevated liver enzymes, constipation
Rationale:	There is 1 moderate RCT [931] comparing Tizanidine to placebo. It
	suggested improvements in spasticity and hypertonia. There are 2 moderate quality studies showing comparable efficacy. Thus, muscle
	relaxants are recommended for treatment of spasticity and
	hypertonia. They have separate indications for other sequelae of
	accidents (e.g., see Low Back Disorders Guideline).
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus,
	CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	muscle relaxants, baclofen, carisoprodol, chlorzoxazone, chlorphenesin,
	cyclobenzaprine, dantrolene, diazepam, medazepam, mephenesin,
	meprobamate, metaxalone, methocarbamol, orphenadrine, quinine,
	tizanidine, tolperisone, xylazine, zoxazolamine, traumatic brain injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury,
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial,
	randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective
	studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles
	in PubMed, 423 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 15 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 0 from
	CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 11 articles
	considered for inclusion, 10 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met
	the inclusion criteria. There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this
	analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT.

## **Botulinum Toxin**

## Recommended.

Botulinum toxin is recommended for use in the treatment of spasticity related to TBI. Indications for cervical spine related conditions are in the Cervical and Thoracic Spine Guideline.

## Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Spasticity related to TBI. Also is used for treatment of chronic migraine.
Benefits:	Reduction in spasticity
Harms:	Muscle weakness. May result in death if over-dosed.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	The highest quality placebo-controlled trial used Botulinum 100U in 5mL/2mL NS injection (above/below elbow diluant). 50U injected into each of FCR and FCU. Other muscles from shoulder to hand injected up to 500U [1074].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient resolution of spasticity, adverse effects.
Rationale:	Both moderate quality placebo-controlled trials suggested botulinum is superior for management of spasticity [1074, 1075], and one of the trials found comparable results to physiotherapy [1075]. Benefit durations of 18-22 weeks in the higher quality trial [1074]. Botulinum Toxin is invasive, has significant adverse effects especially if over- dosed, is high cost, but has evidence of treatment efficacy, and is recommended for treatment of spasticity related to TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic, brain, injury, Intracranial, Closed, Head, Penetrating, Concussion, Concussion, Craniocerebral, Trauma, Penetrating, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 70 articles in PubMed, 4 in Scopus, 32 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 4100 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 12 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 5 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. Of the 24 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 19 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria

## **Migraine Headache Medications**

There are other classes of migraine headache medications that are FDA-approved for treatment of migraine headaches. These include triptans and ergot alkaloids.

#### TRIPTANS AND ERGOT ALKALOIDS FOR POST-TBI MIGRAINE HEADACHES Recommended.

Migraine headache medications, including triptans and ergot alkaloids, are recommended for treatment of post-TBI migraine headaches.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Post-TBI migraine headaches or post-concussive headaches.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Adverse effects, intolerance, adverse effects, resolution of headaches
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for treating TBI patients. However, these
	medications have approved indications for treatment of migraines
	(Holland 12; Silberstein 12) and thus they are recommended for
	treatment of post-TBI patients.

## **Antiseizure Prophylaxis (Anticonvulsants)**

Posttraumatic seizures are a frequent complication accompanying traumatic brain injuries [396, 932] [933]. Antiseizure prophylactic medications have been administered following TBI to both prevent development of seizures, as well as to reduce risk of second seizures after an initial seizure occurs after TBI [396, 932-934].

#### ANTISEIZURE PROPHYLAXIS (ANTICONVULSANTS) FOR TBI PATIENTS

There is no recommendation for or against anti-seizure prophylaxis for severe or postoperative traumatic brain injury. Anti-seizure prophylaxis is not recommended for routine use in mild or moderate TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Severe TBI, Post-operative

*Strength of Evidence* – **Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** Mild, moderate TBI *Level of Confidence* – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality trials of efficacy in mild or moderate TBI patients. There is one moderate –quality study [933] suggests phenytoin prevents seizures through the first week post TBI [933]. A trial without placebo group had a trend towards more mortality in the valproate arm (13.4% vs. 7.2%, p=0.07) [935]. Another trial lacked a placebo group and suggested comparable efficacy [936]. Seizure prophylaxis is not invasive, has minimal short-term adverse effects but significant management issues over intermediate to long term and thus there is no recommendation for or against use in severe or post-operative TBI patients. Use is not recommended in mild and moderate TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 8 articles in PubMed, 53 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library and 2 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 0

from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 lowquality RCT.

#### Antidepressants

Antidepressants treat depressive disorders and conditions by inhibiting the uptake of certain molecules in the brain. Many studies have shown an association between this kind of head injury and depression [937-943] [944]. Antidepressants include SSRIs, MAOIs, SNRIs, rMAO-A-inhibitors, TeCAs, NaSSAs and TCAs. When addressing TBI and depression, certain drugs, such as Sertraline, have shown benefit in addressing neurobehavioral and emotional problems, but has little effect on behavioral and cognitive issues [937]. Another study addressing depression after TBI with sertraline found improved recent verbal memory, visual memory, psychomotor speed and general cognitive efficiency [942]. Evidence remains conflicted for recommendation as other investigators have found sertraline not as effective as methylphenidate for improving cognitive function [941]. Another study aimed to reduce the incidence of depression within the first year of traumatic brain injury showed no beneficial results when Sertraline was discontinued [939].

## ANTIDEPRESSANTS FOR TBI PATIENTS

### Recommended.

#### Anti-depressants are recommended for treatment of TBI patients with depressive symptoms or depression. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Indications:	For the treatment of depression in TBI patients
Benefits:	Improvement in depressive symptoms in TBI patients.
Harms:	Intolerance, nausea, increased appetite, weight gain, fatigue,
	drowsiness, insomnia, dry mouth, blurred vision, drug-drug interactions
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of or significant improvement in depressive symptoms.
Rationale:	There are 6 moderate quality studies with mixed results; 2 suggesting efficacy [943],[938]) <i>and</i> 3 suggesting lack efficacy [940, 945], [946]. Thus, evidence specific to TBI is limited. Anti-depressants are not invasive, have some adverse effects and are low to moderate cost. They are indicated for treatment of depression or depressive symptoms.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: antidepressants, traumatic brain injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 47 articles in PubMed, 69 in Scopus, 6 in CINAHL, 27 in Cochrane Library and 5 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 12 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 2 from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 8 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 6 moderate-quality BCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-guality BCT.

## **Atypical Antipsychotics**

Atypical antipsychotics have been used to treat psychotic disorders [947]. These drugs are classified as atypical due to an association with lower risk of causing extrapyramidal signs and symptoms (EPS) [948, 949]. Controversy surrounds the usage of these drugs for TBI treatment [950].

#### **ATYPICAL ANTIPSYCHOTICS FOR TBI PATIENTS**

#### **Recommended.**

Atypical antipsychotics are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients with agitation from mood disorders.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

For the treatment of agitation in TBI patients with mood disorders
Improvement in agitation and mood disorder symptoms in TBI patients.
Intolerance, weight gain, fatigue, drowsiness, insomnia, dry mouth, blurred vision, drug-drug interactions. Caution is warranted in those with hypothalamic pituitary dysfunction.
Per manufacturer's recommendations
Resolution of or significant improvement in agitation. Development of hypothalamic pituitary dysfunction.
There are no quality studies for the use of atypical antipsychotics to treat agitation in TBI patients. Some data suggest efficacy [951-954]. Atypical antipyschotics are not invasive, have some adverse effects and are low to moderate cost. Thus, these medications are recommended but lack sufficient evidence.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Valporic Acid, Depakote, Atypical Antipsychotic, Agitation; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma; Sensitivity, Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, test controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0 articles in PubMed, 1 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 6 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other

## **Mood Stabilizers**

Structural brain changes, cognitive and functional decline, and poor treatment response are all characteristics of neuropsychiatric disorders. Mood stabilizers such as lithium are theorized to upregulate numerous neuroprotective pathways in order to inhibit the functional and structural decline of the brain [955].

#### **MOOD STABILIZERS FOR TBI PATIENTS**

There is no recommendation regarding mood stabilizers for treatment of TBI patients. There may be other indications for treatment with these agents.

#### No Recommendation.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies for the use of mood stabilizers to treat TBI patients. Lithium may be indicated for treatment of mania and bipolar disorders that are beyond the scope of this guideline. Thus, there is no recommendation for or against the use of lithium for treatment of TBI patients.
Evidence:	Mood stabilizers – A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Mood Stabilizers, Lithium; Traumatic Brain Injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 7 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 5,170 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, Ofrom Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Benzodiazepines**

Benzodiazepines are typically used to treat anxiety, depression, panic attacks, nausea, seizures, vomiting and muscle spasms, but can also be used for sedation [956-959]. After experiencing a traumatic brain injury, benzodiazepines have been used to provide sedation before procedures, but effectiveness over other sedative agents is purportedly unclear [956-960].

## **BENZODIAZEPINES FOR TBI PATIENTS**

## Sometimes Recommended.

Benzodiazepines are not indicated for treatment of TBI patients. Benzodiazepines are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients with discrete indications including anxiety, spasticity secondary to TBI and persistent vestibular dysfunction.

Strength of Evidence – <b>Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)</b> Level of Confidence – Low	
Indications:	Not for use solely for TBI. Uses include discrete issues with anxiety, panic attacks, agitation, insomnia, alcohol withdrawal. As benzodiazepines impair memory and cognitive recovery, those TBI patients requiring a course of benzodiazepines after TBI (e.g., alcohol withdrawal) should be tapered as soon as practical.
Benefits:	Reduction in anxiety, panic attacks, hysteria. Reduced risk of seizures with alcohol withdrawal
Harms:	Respiratory sedation, CNS depression, confusion, dizziness, addiction, dependency.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	As per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient resolution of the symptoms that necessitated treatment.
Rationale:	There are few quality studies evaluating benzodiazepines in TBI patients. There is only 1 moderate quality study [958] finding comparable efficacy between midazolam and propofol. No studies are compared tp placebo. Thus, evidence specific to TBI is limited. Benzodiazepines are not invasive, have some adverse effects and are low to moderate cost. They are not indicated for treatment of TBI. However, they may have discrete indications for treatment of anxiety, agitation, panic attacks, insomnia or alcohol withdrawal symptoms.

#### Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 37 articles in PubMed, 14 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 moderate-quality RCT incorporated into this analysis. There are 2 low-quality RCTs.

#### **Corticosteroids**

Corticosteroids has been used for treatment of acute TBI. The effect of corticosteroids on the risk of death has been reported in a past [961].

#### **CORTICOSTEROIDS FOR TBI PATIENTS**

**Moderately Not Recommended.** 

#### Glucocorticosteroids are moderately not recommended for treatment of TBI.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)

Level of Confidence - Moderate

Rationale: There are 6 moderate quality studies involving glucocorticosteroids and 5 of these report lack of efficacy [962] [963, 964] [965] and [966]. Neither morbidity nor mortality was improved by the steroid. Steroids have evidence of efficacy for traumatic hyphema (see Eye Guideline). Glucocorticosteroids are either not invasive or minimally invasive depending on route of administration, have adverse effects, are low cost, but are not effective and thus are not indicated for treatment of TBI. Fvidence<sup>.</sup> A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: corticosteroids, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 390 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 39 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 5 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 75 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 5 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

## NMDA Receptor Antagonists (Excitatory Amino Acid Inhibitors)

Excitatory amino acid inhibitors prevent the reuptake of excitatory neurotransmitters, aspartate and glutamate, by interfering with excitatory amino acid transporters [967-972]. After experiencing a TBI, ionic imbalances in brain tissue purportedly result in excitoxic episodes that are thought to potentially lead to neuronal death [967, 970]. Amantadine is also considered an NMDA Receptor Antagonist and is considered separately below. Some inhibitory drugs, such as Ketamine and Dexanabinol, have also been included in this class and have been suggested to reduce mean arterial pressure, without resulting in increased intracranial pressure [969, 971].

#### *EXCITATORY AMINO ACID INHIBITORS FOR TBI PATIENTS* No Recommendation.

#### There is no recommendation for or against excitatory amino acid inhibitors.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There are 4 are moderate quality trials [970, 973, 974]. One pilot study suggested gacyclidine may be beneficial at high doses [973]. These medications are not invasive, have adverse effects, but lack evidence of efficacy other than a potentially promising pilot study of gacyclidine, thus there is no recommendation for or against these medications.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, excitatory amino acid antagonists, excitatory amino acid inhibitors, n-methyl-d-aspartate, neuroprotective agent, ampa/kainate receptor blockers, metabotropic receptor blockers, antagon, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 203 articles in PubMed, 43 in Scopus, 24 in CINAHL, 24 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 19 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 14 articles considered for inclusion, 10 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 4 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT.

## Amantadine

Amantadine is a dopamine agonist and an *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor antagonist [975, 976]. Amantadine has been used for treatment of TBI patients [893, 896, 976-985].

# AMANTADINE FOR MILD TBI PATIENTS, PRE/PERI/POST-OPERATIVE No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against amantadine for mild TBI patients and pre/peri/post-operative. Strength of Evidence (Mild TBI, Pre/Peri/Post-operative) – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

# AMANTADINE FOR MODERATE AND SEVERE, SUBACUTE TBI PATIENTS Recommended.

Amantadine is moderately recommended for moderate and severe TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence (Subacute to early Chronic Phases, Severe TBI) – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Strength of Evidence (Subacute to early Chronic Phases, Moderate TBI) – **Recommended, Insufficient** Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence - Moderate

Indications:	Moderate-severe TBI, including penetrating injuries. Treatment in the highest quality trial was initiated from 4 to 16 weeks post TBI for treatment of functional deficits. [980]. Another trial enrolled TBI patients with irritability at 6 months after TBI and found efficacy for irritability [981].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Amantadine 100 mg 2x/day, then 150 mg 2x/day at 14 days, and 200 mg 2x/day at week 4 [980]. Another quality trial used 100mg QAM and at noon (B.I.D.) for 28 days [981].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Intolerance, adverse effects (see harms, below)
Benefits:	Earlier resolution of disabilities
Harms:	Vomiting, agitation, hypertonia, spasticity, insomnia, psychosis, hyperactivity, disorganization, vivid dreams, anorexia, aggression, delirium, and depression [980] [975] [976].
Rationale:	A high-quality RCT suggested amantadine is successful for treating functional deficits among subacute to chronic severe TBI patients [980]. The next highest quality trial suggested success to decrease irritability among those with chronic TBI and irritability among patients over 6 months beyond TBI [981]. Amantadine is not invasive or minimally invasive, has low adverse effects is low to moderate cost depending on route of administration, has evidence of efficacy and is thus recommended for these select patients. It is recommended by inference for treatment of subacute or chronic moderate TBI patients with functional deficits or irritability. There is no recommendation for treatment of other TBI patients including mild, pre/peri/postoperative TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: amantadine, traumatic brain injury, brain injuries, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, brain concussion, concussion, craniocerebral trauma, craniocerebral injury, controlled clinical trial,

controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 52 articles, and considered 14 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 103 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 22 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 14 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 high- and 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT. There are2 systematic reviews.

## **Cannabinoids**

Dexanabinol (HU-211) is a synthetic, nonpsychotropic cannabinoid that has been suggested as a neuroprotective drug. This drug purportedly differs from other neuroprotective drugs because it targets various pathophysiological mechanisms, which include glutamate excitotoxicity, free radical damage, and inflammatory response. Dexanabinol is suggested to be most protective against the breakdown of the blood-brain barrier, reduces edema formation, decreases the number and severity of neurological problems and has been used for treatment of TBI patients [968] [971]. Endocannabinoids have also been used to treat TBI patients [986].

#### **CANNABINOIDS FOR TBI PATIENTS**

#### No Recommendation.

#### There is no recommendation for or against cannabinoids for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Rationale:	The overall breadth and depth of literature on these related subjects is
	sparse. A high quality trial of dexanabinol suggested no benefits of a
	single early dose on 6-month outcomes [968]. A moderate quality trial
	suggested lower intracranial pressures and a trend but no clear
	evidence of better long-term survival [971]. A moderate quality trial of
	a cannabinoid CB1/CB2 receptor agonist suggested potential modest
	short-term efficacy with lower intracranial pressures and short term
	survival but no evidence of long-term benefits [986]. With a lack of
	clear evidence of efficacy and the highest quality study being negative,
	there is no recommendation for or against dexanabinol or
	endocannabinoids for TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: HU-211, brain injuries, head injury or closed,
	penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma,
	traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or
	craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized
	controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation,
	random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic,
	retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed
	5 articles in PubMed, 42 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library
	and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from
	PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library and other sources.

Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 high- and 2 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

## Cerebrolysin

Cerebrolysin is a neuropeptide preparation, which mimics endogenous neurotropic factor action on the brain and is thought to decrease amyloid production. It has also been used in dementia and Parkinson's disease patients [987].

#### *CEREBROLYSIN FOR TBI PATIENTS (NOT CURRENTLY APPROVED FOR USE IN U.S.)* No Recommendation.

## There is no recommendation for or against cerebrolysin for treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There are 2 RCTs of Cerebrolysin. [988] is a pilot study and [989] performed an exploratory RCT on 208 ischemic stroke patients with promising results although a phase III trial is needed to confirm these results. Neither study clearly defined the dose, instead both identified volume of the drug (mL). While preliminary data suggest efficacy, Phase 3 trials are needed prior to a potential recommendation for TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; Sedatives, sedative hypnotics (zolpidem, propofol) and analgesics, narcotics (morphine sulfate, fentanyl, sufentanil), controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 265 articles in PubMed, 22 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and 2 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 high- and 1 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.
Comments:	This medication has not been approved for use in the US.

## **Tranexamic Acid**

Tranexamic acid aids in reducing blood loss, or intracranial bleeding, associated with traumatic brain injury without increased occlusive events [990-993].

# TRANEXAMIC ACID FOR TBI PATIENTS Recommended.

#### Tranexamic acid is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	For selective use in TBI patients immediately post injury (1-3 hours) with either 1) evidence of intracranial hemorrhage or 2) strong suspicion of hemorrhage. The purpose is to reduce mortality risk and rebleeding and need for transfusion. [991]
Benefits:	Prevent further bleeding post TBI. Reduce risk of death. [991]
Harms:	Thromboembolic complications including hemorrhage and potential death.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Loading doses range from 2.5 mg/kg to 100 mg/kg and maintenance doses range from 0.25 mg/kg/hr. to 4 mg/kg/hr. delivered over 1-12 hours [991]
Indications for Discontinuation:	When patient is stable or complications arise from treatment with TXA.
Rationale:	(See also Eye Guideline for use of tranexamic acid for traumatic hyphema.) One quite large, high-quality study suggested TXA reduced risk of death by an absolute value of 1.5% (14.5% vs. 16.0%) if given within 3 hours [991]. There are 2 other studies of much smaller sample sizes, one of which is borderline significant. [993, 994]. TXA is minimally invasive, has adverse effects, and is costly, but has some evidence of efficacy in a highly select, at-risk population and is thus selectively recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: tranexamic acid, amikapron, amstat, anvitoff, carxamin, cylcocapron, cyklokapron, emorhalt, frenolyse, mastop, rikavarin, tamcha, tranexamsaeure, tranexan, tranhexamic, transamin, trasamlon, ugurol, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 30 articles in PubMed, 18 in Scopus, 7 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 9 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 9 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 high- and 1 moderate-quality BCTs incorporated into this analysis

## Sedatives, Sedative Hypnotics, and Opioids

A variety of agents in this classification have been used to treat TBI patients primarily for purposes of inducing and/or controlling sedation, including propofol [957-959, 995], ketamine [969, 996], midazolam [957-959, 996], fentanyl [996-999], remifentanil [998], sufentanil [969] [999], alfentanil [999], dexmedetomidine [995], morphine [997] [998]. These have been used in hospital settings, and thus they are beyond the scope of this Guideline. For guidance on Opioids Use, see Opioids Guideline.

#### SEDATIVES, SEDATIVE HYPNOTICS, AND OPIOIDS FOR TBI PATIENTS

No Recommendation.

Because these agents are used in hospital settings, there is no recommendation for or against sedatives, sedative hypnotics, and opioids for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; Sedatives, sedative hypnotics (zolpidem, propofol) and analgesics, narcotics (morphine sulfate, fentanyl, sufentanil), controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 265 articles in PubMed, 22 in Scopus, 12 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and 2 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There are 6 lowquality RCTs.

## Barbiturates

Barbiturates serve as central nervous system depressants. After traumatic brain injury, certain barbiturates, such as pentobarbital, have been used to attempt to control refractory intracranial hypertension that can result from surgery or medical treatment [934, 1000-1005].

#### **BARBITURATES FOR TBI PATIENTS** Not Recommended.

#### Barbiturates are not recommended for treatment of TBI.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are 2 moderate quality studies. In one study, mannitol was considerably superior to pentobarbital for reducing mortality (41% vs. 77%) [542]. The other trial used a control arm that is no longer substantially used [1003]. As there is moderate quality evidence that mannitol is superior to pentobarbital, use of barbiturates is not recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 75 articles in PubMed, 24 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 9 in Cochrane Library and 1 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 3 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.
	There are 3 low-quality RCTs.

## **Beta Blockers**

Beta blockers prevent the stimulation of the adrenergic receptors. After experiencing a traumatic brain injury, catecholamines form in response to excitatory neurotransmitters. This surge purportedly results in poor neurological outcomes and secondary injury [1006-1009]. Beta blockers are believed to assist in controlling the effects of intracranial hemorrhaging, tachycardia, hypertension and intensity of agitation [977, 1006, 1007, 1009-1017]

#### **BETA BLOCKERS FOR TBI PATIENTS**

#### Recommended.

Beta-blockers are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence –Acute, moderate & severe, pre/peri/post-operative: Recommended, Evidence (C)

Strength of Evidence –Subacute, Chronic, mild: Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Selectively recommended for management of tachycardia in TBI
	patients. May be used as an option for hypertensive management.
Benefits:	Cessation of tachycardia and/or normalization of blood pressure
Harms:	Bradycardia, syncope, dizziness, drowsiness, fatigue, dry mouth.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When tachycardia symptoms resolve or other adverse events.
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of the general use of beta-blockers for
	management of TBI patients, thus there is no recommendation for
	general use among TBI patients. There are 2 moderate quality studies
	regarding beta blockers. One trial showed that atenolol reduced
	supraventricular tachycardia and ST-segment and T wave changes as
	well as appearance of less necrosis at autopsy [1018]. One trial found
	landiol effective for controlling tachycardia [1010]. A third trial
	addressed intubation and is thus not included here [1012]. Beta-
	blockers are either not invasive or minimally invasive, have modest
	risks, are low to moderate cost and have evidence of efficacy. They are
	recommended for selective treatment of patients with TBI. Benefits of
	ongoing treatment after the acute phase have not been shown
	specifically for TBI patients, but may be inferred based on treatment
	of either tachycardia and/or hypertension and thus are recommended
	by expert consensus.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: beta blockers, propranolol, pindolol, acebutolol,
	atenolol, bisoprolol, metoprolol, nadolol, propranolol, beta-adrenergic
	blocking agents, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating,
	brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic
	brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or
	craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized
	controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation,
	random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic,
	retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed
	40 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 10 in CINAHL, 9 in Cochrane
	Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 9 from
	PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 2 from Cochrane Library and
	0 from other sources. Of the 17 articles considered for inclusion, 4
	randomized trials and 7 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

There are 3 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT.

#### **Aminosteroids**

Aminosteriods have been shown to inhibit lipid peroxidation in animals and further randomized controlled trials have attempted to evaluate the effectiveness of tirilazad, an aminosteriod, in humans with head injuries. [1019].

#### AMINOSTEROIDS FOR TBI PATIENTS Not Recommended.

#### Aminosteroids are not recommended for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	Few studies have been performed evaluating efficacy of aminosteroids. Of these, there is one showing that the mortality rate is almost identical in both the placebo and study group. A Cochrane review represented a RCT purportedly with 1,156 subjects was to be imminently published, but extensive literature searching has failed to reveal such a study [1019]. In [1020] results cannot be accurately interpreted due to potential randomization failure due to baseline "dissimilarity of prognostic variables." Thus in the absence of quality evidence, along with strong reason to believe a negative study went unpublished, aminosteroids are not recommended for use in treating TBL patients
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: aminosteroids, traumatic brain Injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 8 articles in PubMed, 2 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 systematic review.

## Citicoline

Choline is an intermediary of acetylcholine, a neurotransmitter that helps in central and peripheral nervous system functions such as arousal, motor functioning, cognitive functioning, and memory. Cytidine 5'-diphosphocholine (CDP-choline or citicoline) is a naturally occurring source of choline supplementation that may provide neuroprotection and repair as well as improve cognitive symptoms months to years after injury. In the US, CDP-choline is considered a supplement whereas in other countries, such as Europe and Japan, it is considered a pharmaceutical drug that is prescribed [1021]. In TBI, CDP-choline purportedly may be beneficial for neuroprotection during the secondary injury phase and for neurofacilitation for improving recovery throughout rehabilitation [1021-1027].

#### **CITICOLINE FOR TBI PATIENTS**

#### No Recommendation.

#### There is no recommendation for or against citicholine for TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

There are 2 moderate quality trials involving Citicholine. One study was terminated early for lack of utility [1028]. The other study suggested a slight benefit [1029] but sample size was small. in the absence of evidence of efficacy, there is no recommendation. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Citicoline, cytidine diphosphate choline, citicholine, CDP choline, INN, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 36 articles in PubMed, 108 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis. There are 3 low-quality RCTs. There are 4 systematic reviews.

## **Physostigmine (Eserine)**

Physostigmine interrupts acetylcholine metabolism and inhibits acetylcholinesterase. It has been used as an aid in memory retention and cognitive function after traumatic brain injury [1030, 1031]. Scopolamine alternatively has been associated with memory impairments in some experimental studies [1032-1034], providing some rationale for physostigmine.

#### *PHYSOSTIGMINE (ESERINE) FOR TBI PATIENTS* No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for physostigmine for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

*Level of Confidence* – Low

Rationale: There are 2 moderate quality studies from over 20 years ago with neither showing clear benefit of physostigmine [1030, 1031]. Thus, there is no recommendation for physostigmine. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Physostigmine, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 2 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

## Rivastigmine

The most common neurobehavioral consequences of TBI are cognitive impairments. Rivastigmine is a cholinesterase inhibitor that has been suggested to improve cholinergic function in patients with TBI [1035].

# **RIVASTIGMINE FOR TBI PATIENTS**

## Recommended.

### Rivastigmine is recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Indications:	For TBI patients with moderate to severe memory deficits.
Benefits:	Improved cognitive function
Harms:	Nausea, vomiting, upper respiratory tract infection, vomiting, diarrhea, tremor, dizziness, drowsiness, anxiety, arthralgia, weakness.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Rivastigmine 1.5mg B.I.D. with food. Increased to 3.0mg B.I.D. at 4 wks. Increased to highest tolerated dose, up to 6 mg/day [1036].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Intolerance, adverse drug events or sufficient resolution of symptoms. The longest trial lasted 26 weeks as an open label [1035].
Rationale:	There are 3 studies using Rivastigmine for TBI. One trial with two reports suggests those with moderate to severe TBI showed improvements [1036] [1035] although the overall study trial was negative suggesting lack of benefit in mild TBI patients. Another trial has also suggested modest benefits [1037], although a third study found no advantage over Donepezil or Galantamine [904]. Adverse drug reactions are high [1037]. Rivastigmine is not invasive, has considerable adverse effects, is moderately costly and has some evidence of efficacy in moderate to severe TBI patients and is thus recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Rivastigmine, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are 4 moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

## Cabergoline

Cabergoline is an ergot derivative, dopamine receptor agonist, lowers prolactin levels, and has a similar use profile as bromocriptine. Deamino arginine vasopressin is used to treat diabetes insipidus, as well as hypernatremia [1038, 1039]. Memantine has been studied in rat models and thought to have neuroprotective potential for TBI patients [1040, 1041]. Substance P is proposed to have an important role in edema, and thus antagonists are proposed as neuroprotective [1042, 1043].

#### CABERGOLINE FOR TBI PATIENTS

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against cabergoline for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Level of Confidence – Lov	o Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) v
Rationale:	There is no quality studies of cabergoline and thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cabergoline; brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0 articles in PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library and other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library and other sources. No articles met the inclusion criteria. There no quality studies for cabergoline for TBI patients.

## Deamino Arginine Vasopressin (DDAVP) (Desmopressin)

Desmopressin is an ADH analog aimed at decreasing urine output by increasing the activity of ADH [1044]

**DEAMINO ARGININE VASOPRESSIN (DDAVP) FOR TBI PATIENTS Recommended.(For treatment of diabetes insipidus)** 

DDAVP is recommended for treatment of diabetes insipidus. Otherwise, there is no recommendation for or against DDAVP for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence (Diabetes Insipidus) – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Strength of Evidence (Lacking DI) – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) *Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	DDAVP (Cabergoline) is recommended for treatment of diabetes
	insipidus [1044] but there is no recommendation for use in TBI
	patients.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendation
Indications for Discontinuation:	Until not needed for treatment of diabetes insipidus.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies of cabergoline and thus there is no
	recommendation for general treatment of TBI patients. However,
	some patients do have indications for treatment of diabetes insipidus.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: Deamino arginine vasopressin, brain injuries, head
	injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion,
	craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or
	penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled
	trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found
	and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 2 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 1 in
	Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 0
	articles from the databases and other sources. Zero randomized trials
	and systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are no quality
	studies on DDAVP for TBI patients.

## Memantine

Memantine is an N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-receptor antagonist. It works by blocking excess activity from glutamate and "may" reduce symptoms associated with Alzheimer's disease [1045] or Parkinson's disease or other types of dementia [1046].

#### **MEMANTINE FOR TBI PATIENTS**

No Recommendation. Medications (including topical creams) There is no recommendation for or against memantine for the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There are no quality studies of memantine and thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: memantine, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma, penetrating head trauma, closed head trauma, brain concussion, penetrating craniocerebral trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, zero in Scopus, zero in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion zero from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the zero articles considered for inclusion, zero randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are no quality studies on
	memantine for TBI patients.

## Substance P Antagonists (Neurokinin 1 Receptors)

Substance P antagonists are non-peptidic antagonists which have recently emerged as a class of drugs with antidepressant activity but potentially less adverse effects [1047, 1048]. Substance P has been determined to directly result in neuronal death. Limiting the release of Substance P has been linked to a decrease in cerebral edema and increased functional outcomes post TBI [1043].

#### SUBSTANCE P ANTAGONISTS FOR TBI PATIENTS

No Recommendation.

#### There is no recommendation for or against substance P antagonists for the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

There are no quality studies of substance P antagonists and thus there is no recommendation.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed Head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral Injury, craniocerebral Trauma, and neurokinin-1 Receptor Antagonists, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 2 articles in PubMed, 39 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 1 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There are no quality studies on Substance P antagonists for TBI patients.

## **Piracetam**

Piracetam is a derivative of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and has been suggested to restore cellular membrane fluidity. At the neuronal level, Piracetam modulates cholinergic and glutamatergic transmitter systems and is thought to have neuroprotective and anticonvulsant properties. It has been used to treat cognitive disorders and dementia [1049].

## PIRACETAM FOR TBI PATIENTS

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against use of piracetam for treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Rationale:	There are no quality studies of Piracetam and thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	<b>Piracetam</b> – A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Google Scholar and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: piracetum, brain injuries, head injury or closed, penetrating, brain concussion or concussion, craniocerebral trauma, traumatic brain, intracranial or closed dead or penetrating head or craniocerebral; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, retrospective studies, or prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, zero in Scopus, zero in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion zero from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

## **Complementary and Alternative Medicine**

Complementary and alternative medications and homeopathy have been used for treatment of TBI patients [1050-1052].

## **Boswellia Serrata for TBI Patients**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against *Boswellia Serrata* for TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

There is one moderate quality pilot study of Boswellia Serrata reporting a non-significant trend [1052], thus there is no recommendation for or against Boswellia Serrata.. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: complementary therapies, complementary and alternative medicine, integrative medicine, alternative therapies, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles in PubMed, 387 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 48 in Cochrane Library and 1 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, and one from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Other Alternative, Complementary, Homeopathic Treatments for TBI Patients

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against other alternative, complementary, or homeopathic treatments for TBI patients.

Level of Confidence – Low	
Rationale:	Homeopathic treatments were evaluated in two low quality studies [1050, 1051]. among patients 3 years after injury [1051], thus there is no quality evidence and no recommendation for or against other complementary, alternative or homeopathic treatments for TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: complementary therapies, complementary and alternative medicine, integrative medicine, alternative therapies, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles in PubMed, 387 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 48 in Cochrane Library and 1 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 11 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero

from Cochrane Library, and one from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is one moderate-quality RCTs incorporated into this analysis.

There are nosystematic reviews.

## **Infusion Therapy**

## Inthrathecal Baclofen (ITB) Pump for TBI Patients

#### Recommended.

Intrathecal baclofen is recommended for highly selective use among TBI patients.

Indications:	For treatment of severe, chronic muscle spasticity and dystonia
	associated with TBI that is unable to be sufficiently controlled through
	non-invasive means that included other pharmaceutical, including
	baclofen at 80-160mg/day. Also should have considered and tried at
	least one of: diazepam, clonidine and/or dantrolene [1053]. Should
	have severe hypertonia sufficient to interfere with activities of daily
	living [1053]. That single quality trial required at least one year with
	these indications prior to inclusion in the trial, as well as Ashworth
	score at least 3, and average spasm score at least 2.
Benefits:	Reduced muscle spasticity and ability to better accomplish normal activities
Harms	Drowsiness weakness dizziness headache seizures nausea
norms.	vomiting constination hypotension confusion fatigue respiratory
	depression insomnia increased urinary frequency urinary retention
	adverse events infections naralysis and death
Frequency/Dose/Duration	Intrathecal test dose of 50 mcg in a volume of 1 mL injected into the
riequency, bose, burution.	intrathecal space by barbotage over at least one minute. Generally at
	least 2 trials of saline and intrathecal dose of haclofen to confirm
	efficacy before consideration of implantation of an intrathecal num
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient resolution of symptoms, often after a trial of turning the
	device off infections, complications, intelerance
Pationalo	There is 1 moderate quality study [1052] and one lower quality study
Rutionale.	there is a model ate quality study [1055] and one lower quality study
	showing some enicacy in reducing spasificity and dystollia in bilateral
	extremities [929]. Both studies were compared to placebo and both
	with small sample sizes. Neither involved implantation of a pump
	system. Bacioten administered intratnecally, especially by a pump, is
	invasive, has considerable adverse effects, is costly, but data suggest it
	is likely effective for a highly select TBI patient group.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the
	following terms: muscle relaxants, baclofen, carisoprodol,
	chlorzoxazone, chlorphenesin, cyclobenzaprine, dantrolene, diazepam,
	medazepam, mephenesin, meprobamate, metaxalone,
	methocarbamol, orphenadrine, quinine, tizanidine, tolperisone,
	xylazine, zoxazolamine, traumatic brain injury, closed head injury,
	penetrating head injury, concussion, craniocerebral injury, controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 118 articles in PubMed, 423 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 15 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 11 articles considered for inclusion, 10 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. There is 1 moderate RCT incorporated into this analysis. There is 1 low-quality RCT.

### **Injection Therapy**

#### **Nerve Blocks**

Diagnostic and therapeutic nerve blocks involve a percutaneous needle filled with lidocaine or another local anesthetic and are used to target specific nerves. Most commonly in TBI patients, these are to target one or both of the occipital nerve branches. Nerve blocks trialed also include supraorbital, supratrochlear and auriculotemporal. These are used to attempt to determine and evaluate headaches, spasticity, ROM and/or dystonia. Generally, these blocks are performed simultaneously for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. There also are nerve blocks commonly administered for cervical nerve roots to address neck-related pain.

#### *RADIOFREQUENCY NEUROTOMY, NEUROTOMY, OR FACET RHIZOTOMY FOR CHRONIC CERVICOTHORACIC PAIN* No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of radiofrequency neurotomy, neurotomy, or facet rhizotomy for the treatment of chronic cervicothoracic pain confirmed with diagnostic blocks, but who do not have radiculopathy and who have failed conservative treatment.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Chronic cervicothoracic pain patients without radiculopathy who failed conservative treatments and who have had a confirmed diagnosis by medial branch blocks.[1054]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms. If there is no response to the first procedure, there is no evidence that a second lesion will be beneficial.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	One procedure might be tried after failure of non-invasive treatments including NSAIDs and a quality exercise program or as a means to help with participation in an active rehabilitation program. There is no recommendation for repeated procedures. It is reasonable to attempt a second lesion after 26 weeks in patients who had greater than 50% improvement in pain from first procedure for the first 8 weeks with a late return of pain.[1055] There is no recommendation for a third or for additional procedures. There is logically a limit as to how many times it is possible to permanently destroy the same nerve.

*RADIOFREQUENCY NEUROTOMY FOR CERVICOGENIC HEADACHE* Moderately Not Recommended.

# Radiofrequency neurotomy is moderately not recommended for the treatment of cervicogenic headache.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Low

Occipital nerve blocks have been used to treat migraine and cervicogenic headaches [1056-1059]. Greater occipital nerve blockade has been used to treat episodic cluster headache [1060] and for migraines [1061].

#### **OCCIPITAL NERVE BLOCKS**

#### Recommended.

Occipital nerve blocks are recommended for the treatment of cervicogenic headache. There is no recommendation for or against occipital nerve blocks for the treatment of migraine headache. **For Cervicogenic Headache:** Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – Low

# *For Migraine Headache:* Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) *Level of Confidence – Low*

Indications:	Unilateral cervicogenic headaches, with headache precipitated by neck movement or pressure over the greater occipital nerve, reduced neck range of motion [1056]. Post-traumatic migraine headaches are another potential indication. Whiplash injury was excluded from the Naja study. Headaches should be resistant to other forms of treatment (e.g., NSAID, acetaminophen, stress reduction, exercise etc.).
Benefits:	Potential for reduced headache intensity, frequency and duration. Potential for reductions in use of other medications.
Harms:	Medicalization of the case, especially as average pain relief of 3.67 days vs. 1.52 days for normal saline [1056]. Rare procedure complications.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	The highest quality study showing limited short-term efficacy for cervicogenic headaches used 10mL (3mL 2% lidocaine, 3mL 2% lidocaine with epinephrine 1:200,000, 2.5mL 0.5% bupivacaine, 0.5mL fentanyl 50μg/mL and 1mL clonidine 150 μg /mL).
Rationale:	There are 2 high quality trials with conflicting results, one suggesting efficacy for cervicogenic headache [1056] and one suggesting a lack of efficacy for migraines [1057], resulting in questions regarding whether efficacy may differ based on the diagnosis. Two moderate quality trials suggested efficacy for migraines [1058] [1059]. Thus, the overall quantity of quality literature is small and conflicts for migraine headaches. There is no long-term study showing efficacy for treatment of cervicogenic headaches, and there is one trial without placebo control suggesting comparable efficacy with a transcutaneous stimulation device [1062]. Nerve blocks are invasive, have some adverse effects, are moderate to high cost over time, and have some evidence of short-term efficacy and thus are selectively recommended for treatment of cervicogenic and migraine headaches thought to be related to the TBI event that are resistant to other forms of treatment.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: migraine disorders, Migraines,

Tension-Type Headache, neuralgia, cluster headache, post-traumatic headache, cervicogenic headache, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 22 articles in PubMed, 7 in Cochrane Library, 4550 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Occipital Nerve Stimulation (ONS)**

Occipital nerve stimulation has been attempted both trancutaneously (non-invasive) [1063] and by implanted stimulator [1064-1067].

### Non-Invasive Occipital and Supraorbital Nerve Stimulation (ONS) Recommended.

Non-invasive occipital and supraorbital nerve stimulation is recommended for the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence - Low Indications: Non-allodynia pain (i.e., not overly sensitive to pain on palpation of neck/scalp or other stimulation; may be assessed with 12-item allodynia symptoms checklist, ASC-12 [1068]). Chronic migraine or tension headaches [1069] thought to be related to the TBI event. Headaches should be resistant to other forms of treatment (e.g., NSAID, acetaminophen, stress reduction, exercise etc.) [1064]. At least 2 months of medication withdrawal for medication overuse headaches [1064]. Benefits: Potential for reduced headache intensity, frequency and duration. Potential for reductions in use of other medications. Harms: Medicalization of the case. Sessions of 30min./day for 2 weeks. Frequency/Dose/Duration: A few moderate quality RCTs found headache reductions compared Rationale: with sham [1063]. One trial found the reductions lasted beyond the 2wks of treatment to the duration of the trial of 60 days with 86% v. 4% of non-allodynic patients achieving at least 50% reduction in headache days [1063]. Cutaneous nerve stimulation administered in sessions is not invasive, has minimal adverse effects, is high cost, and have some evidence of short- to intermediate-term efficacy and thus are selectively recommended for treatment of cervicogenic and migraine headaches thought to be related to the TBI event that are resistant to other forms of treatment. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Peripheral Nerve Stimulation, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 93 articles in PubMed, 756 in Scopus, 13 in CINAHL, 11 in Cochrane Library, 3770 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 3 from Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. Of the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria

# Implantable Occipital Nerve Stimulation (ONS) Devices

#### Not Recommended.

Implantable occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) devices are not recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial suggesting lack of efficacy [1070]. There is one report of some efficacy in a longer-term, but open label trial for treatment of migraine headaches [1071]. The same trial reported high rates of adverse events with 20/177 (11.3%) having unsuccessful trials, 9/105 (8.6%) having explantation in the active device group in the first year, and an overall experience of adverse events affecting 70.7% of the patients. Implantable devices are invasive, have significant adverse effects, are high cost and with the only quality trial suggesting lack of efficacy, there is a need for further quality trials to establish efficacy. Additionally, the only quality trial of size is on migraine headaches, which is of questionable use for treatment of TBI patients. These devices may be a consideration for limited use in those with normal psychological profiles, no evidence of malingering, and with headaches refractory to numerous treatments and preventives including, but not limited to, multiple classes of nharmaceuticals, and hotulinum
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Peripheral Nerve Stimulation, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 93 articles in PubMed, 756 in Scopus, 13 in CINAHL, 11 in Cochrane Library, 3770 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 3 from Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. Of the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria

# **Allied Health**

A Meniett device is a device that is used for treating Meniere's disease [1076-1080]. Meniere's is a reported complication of trauma [1081].

### **Meniett Device**

#### No Recommendation.

A Meniett device is recommended for use in the treatment of select TBI patients with Meniere's disease.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Unilateral Meniere's with disruptive levels of vertigo, low frequency sensorineural hearing loss on audiometry, functional level of 2-4 (Ololaryngol Head Neck Surg 1995;113:181-185), abnormal cochleogram in the affected ear (SP/AP click ratio >0.39 or toneburst SP of ≥2.0µV) [1082].
Benefits:	Improved control of vertiginous symptoms, although differences at 4 months compared with sham relatively modest [1082].
Harms:	Intolerance of device, lack of sufficient control of symptoms, ear infection.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient recovery to not need device, intolerance, non-use of device.
Rationale:	A sham-controlled trial found the Meniett device effective, although by 4 months there were relatively modest differences compared with sham [1082] [1083]. There are no quality studies assessing Meniett Device for treatment of TBI. Meniett Device is invasive, has some adverse effects, is high cost, has some evidence of efficacy in Meniere's patients and thus is selectively recommended (I) for treatment of vertigo both resistant to other treatment and passage of time from TBI, as well as of sufficient severity.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	limits using the following terms: Meniett Device; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 24 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 3 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Out of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trails and 0 systematic reviews met the inclusion criteria

# **Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)**

Transcranial magnetic stimulation uses an electromagnetic coil that is placed against a patient's forehead. It attempts to stimulate or inhibit nerve cells in the brain. TMS has a few different methods of procedure and has been used to treat depression [1084]. There have been attempts to use TMS for neurological conditions including TBI [1085-1090].

#### **Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation for treatment of TBI. Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is high cost, but in the absence of quality evidence of effectiveness, there is no recommendation. There are other approved indications, including headache and depression.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 43 articles in PubMed, 229 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 7 in Cochrane Library, 3870 in Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 4 from other sources. Of the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 7 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. TBI often leads to cognitive and emotional impairments such as attention deficit and memory loss.

Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) is a noninvasive neuro-modulatory modality that is increasingly being used to improve cognitive function [1091] [1092, 1093]. tDCS involves the application of a weak DC electric current to the scalp to modulate the neurons in the brain [1093] [1094]. tDCS applied on the motor cortex has been reported to increase the pain threshold and provide relief from neuropathic pain [1094].

#### **Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (TCDS)**

#### No Recommendation.

#### **Allied Health Interventions**

There is no recommendation for or against the use of transcranial direct current stimulation in the treatment of TBI patients.

## Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing the utility of Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for treatment of TBI. There are a few mechanistic studies suggesting potential utility, but they lack meaningful clinical followup and outcomes [1095] [1094]. Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation is not invasive has no adverse effects, is high cost, but with the lack of quality evidence of clinical efficacy, there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 15 articles in PubMed, 60 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 31 in Cochrane Library, 40 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 0
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Manipulation and Mobilization**

Manipulation and mobilization are two types of manual therapy. These include wide arrays of different techniques and schools of thought. Some consider these two interventions to be on a spectrum of velocity and applied force. In general, mobilization involves assisted, low-force, low-velocity movement within or at the limit of joint range of motion. Manipulation involves higher-force, higher-velocity, and low-amplitude action with a focus on moving a target joint.

From the standpoint of evidence-based practice guidelines development, there are numerous types of manipulation utilized in many different studies [1096-1104]. These issues result in difficulties comparing methods, techniques, or results across the available literature. Differences between techniques appear to be largely unstated in the available systematic reviews, which have aggregated all studies together. Adjustment is generally a synonym for manipulation in the chiropractic profession. There are studies evaluating thoracic manipulation for cervical pain without cervical manipulation [1105].

Many practitioners begin with lower force manipulation or mobilization techniques, and reserve higher force manipulation techniques for those who do not respond to lower force techniques to limit adverse effects and complications. Manipulation is generally considered a safe procedure, but like all other treatments is not without risks. For example, reported fatal outcomes have occurred and are particularly attributed to cervical manipulation [1106]. Reports of more severe but rare adverse effects include vertebrobasilar dissection, carotid artery injury, and disc herniation or spinal cord compression myelopathy, although these reports need to be considered in the context of natural progressions of cervical pain without any intervention [1107]. The mean age of patients experiencing vertebrobasilar dissection in the case reports is 38 and the risk has been reportedly due to cervical manipulation with a rotary component [1106]. However, more recent population based studies have questioned the incidence of vascular injury from manipulation, suggesting instead that this may more often be an acceleration or natural progression of an event in progress [1108]. Mobilization is less likely to lead to side effects than is manipulation.

The most common adverse response to neck manipulation is local discomfort that resolves within 24 to 48 hours [1106] [1106]. There have been reports of vertebral artery dissection that result in posterior circulation stroke purportedly following cervical manipulation [1098]. There has been much debate on the frequency of these events and multiple reports suggest low risk [1109]. Population-based case control study of all patients who seek chiropractic care in Ontario revealed a frequency of 8 cases occurred within 7 days of receiving chiropractic care in 109 million person years of observation in Ontario [1108]. Of particular interest was the observation that the odds ratio of a stroke occurring after a primary physician visit for cervical pain was the same as that noted following a chiropractic office visits, raising doubt as to whether there is any relationship between the manipulation and stroke. Vertebral artery dissections are heralded by cervical pain and frequently headache that can bring a patient to either a chiropractor or general physician's office, and if not recognized can progress to stroke that can be fatal. This should be considered in the differential diagnosis of cervical pain.

# Manipulation/Mobilization for Acute, Subacute, or Chronic Cervicothoracic Pain

#### Recommended.

Manipulation/mobilization of the cervical and/or thoracic spine is recommended for short-term relief of cervical pain or as a component of an active treatment program focusing on active exercises for acute cervicothoracic pain. However, high amplitude, high velocity manipulation is not recommended.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence - Low

Benefits:	Potential for faster resolution of pain and improved function.
Harms:	Worsening of neck pain, especially immediately after manipulation.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Dependent on severity. Most patients with more severe spine
	conditions may receive up to 12 visits over 6 to 8 weeks, typically one
	to 3 times a week;[1110-1112] total treatments dependent on
	response to therapy. Substantial progression (e.g., return to work or
	activities, increasing ability to tolerate exercise, reduced medication
	use) should be documented at each follow-up visit. Treatment plan
	should be reassessed after each 2-week interval. Most guidelines
	suggest that if there is significant response in the above outcomes, it is
	worth considering another 2 weeks of treatment. If no response to 2
	weeks of application of a particular manipulation treatment, it should
	be discontinued and 2 weeks of a different method of
	manipulation/mobilization or other treatment should be considered. If
	there is no response after 4 weeks and two 2-week trials of different
	manipulation/mobilization techniques, it is unlikely that further
Indications for Discontinuation:	Lack of domonstrated continued functional response after 6
	manipulation/mobilization sessions (2 trials of 2 or more different
	methods) resolution of symptoms or failure to participate in an active
	rehabilitation program.
Rationale:	Multiple studies evaluate thoracic and cervical spine manipulation.
	[1106, 1113] whereas other studies evaluated one or the other. [1100,
	1111, 1114-1117] Other studies do not delineate between the two
	different types of therapies.[1097, 1118-1122]
	There are no quality trials comparing mobilization to sham or placebo
	for treatment of acute cervical pain. The closest study appears to be
	that of Cleland et al (2007), but it was impaired by methodological
	limitations. Most studies compare mobilization to manipulation, or
	use mobilization as a component of other interventions, significantly
	studies had small samples sizes with most <70 [1111, 1112, 1124]
	11251 A moderate quality trial evaluating mobilization suggested
	greater henefit compared with directed evercise and continued care
	by a general practitioner. However, this study included acute
	subacute and chronic nain without delineation between duration in
	the results, and the general practitioner care appeared to fail to
	include treatments thought to be efficacious. [1126] A moderate-
	quality trial comparing cervical manipulation to mobilization suggested
	improvement in pain and range of motion in both groups after a single
	treatment, but manipulation was reportedly associated with overall
	better pain improvement on the NRS-101 and larger gains in range of
	motion [1127]. Thus, the available quality evidence conflicts on

treatment of cervicothoracic pain.[1128] Hoving suggested mobilization is a favorable treatment option for patients with cervical pain compared with directed exercise or continued care by a general practitioner, although the general medical care may have been suboptimal.[1126]

There are no sham-controlled trials of manipulation. Only a few RCTs evaluated subacute cervicothoracic pain and did so in combination with chronic cervicothoracic pain without reporting findings based on duration of symptoms. [1112] A moderate-quality study comparing a single episode of cervical manipulation versus mobilization in subacute and chronic patients reported manipulation to have greater improvement in cervicothoracic pain at rest and active range of motion.[1114] A moderate-quality study that did not describe well the duration of symptoms found an increase in range of motion after a single thoracic spine manipulation compared to no intervention.[1129] (Krauss 08) Where another study compared manipulation and exercises alone and in combination and reported no significant clinical differences at 12-month follow up in chronic pain patients.[1113]

A moderate-quality study of patients with chronic pain examined manipulation, manipulation and exercise and an exercise only group. They found that the manipulation alone group had less improvement compared to manipulation with exercise and exercises alone at 16 months after 11 weeks of treatment. [1113] One study of 119 patients with cervicothoracic pain greater than 3 months duration reported improvement in all groups, but did not find any difference in the manipulation group when compared to physiotherapy and intensive training of cervical musculature for 6 weeks. [1130] A moderate-quality study suggested acupuncture was more effective than manipulation or medications in treating chronic cervical pain.[1097] Another moderate-quality study compared manipulation with sham ultrasound to sham ultrasound alone and suggested an improvement in pain in the manipulation group at 12 weeks. [1131] While the RCTs show that other interventions are equally beneficial, the manipulation groups also experienced significant improvement in pain control and range of motion. Manipulation in subacute and chronic cervicothoracic pain is recommended and is best utilized in combination with an active exercise program. [1113, 1132] It was not possible to determine which technique was beneficial for which patient populations. There was also insufficient evidence for cervicothoracic pain with radicular findings.

A study evaluated a Clinical Prediction Rule for cervicothoracic pain using thoracic manipulation that is somewhat analogous to those for the lumbar spine (see Low Back Disorders guideline). They reported predictors for increasing the likelihood of a positive outcome with thoracic manipulation.[1133, 1134] These 6 variables were symptoms <30 days, no symptoms distal to the shoulder, neck extension does not aggravate pain, FABQPA score <12, diminished upper thoracic spine kyphosis, and cervical extension ROM <30 degrees. Once this information has been reproduced and validated there may be a group of patients identified where thoracic manipulation may be recommended with greater specificity. However, a recent RCT reported that the above CPR was not able to be validated.[1135] Another group assessed a clinical prediction rule and noted better response to treatment if: initial Neck Disability Index <11.5, bilateral involvement pattern, no sedentary work >5 hours a day, feeling better while moving the neck, not worse while extending the neck, and a diagnosis of spondylosis without radiculopathy.[1136]

There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this analysis. [487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-quality [1190-1216] RCTs and 5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain, neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy, radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement, herniated, herniat\*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk, disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles, and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Evidence:

# Manipulation for Chronic Cervicogenic Headache Pain

#### Recommended.

Spinal manipulation of the cervical and/or thoracic spine is recommended for treatment of chronic cervicogenic headache pain.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Once or twice a week for 4 to 5 appointments, up to 8 total
	appointments [487, 1219]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms, adverse effects from treatment, lack of
	demonstrated positive effect on headache intensity and/or frequency,
	or non-participation in an active rehabilitation therapy program.[1143]
Evidence:	There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality
	RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this
	analysis.[487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116,
	1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-quality [1190-1216] RCTs and
	5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1.
	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple
	search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane
	Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation
	and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain,
	neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy,
	radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement,
	herniated, herniat*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk,
	disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective
	studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non-
	experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles,
	and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed
	1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and
	reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane
	Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for
	inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other
	sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized
	trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### **Manipulation for Cervical Spine Conditions**

#### Not Recommended.

High-amplitude, high-velocity spinal manipulation of the cervical and/or thoracic spine is not recommended for treatment of cervical spine conditions.

#### Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale: A moderate-quality study evaluated 80 patients with chronic cervicogenic headache randomized to either 8 or 16 spinal manipulation sessions in 8 weeks as the intervention group, and 8 or 16 sessions of "light massage" as the control group. The authors reported both clinical and statistical benefit of manipulation lasting up to 24 weeks with decreased reported pain and decreased reported analgesic use. There was no clear benefit of 16 versus 8 visits.[487] A moderate-quality study evaluated cervical manipulation with sham manipulation in a modified crossover study design suggested improvement with cervical range of motion, but did not find improvement in headache pain.[1152] Another moderate-quality study in headache patients evaluated cervical manipulation compared to low level laser treatment and massage and failed to find a difference in cervical range of motion, analgesic use per day, headache intensity per episode and number of headaches per day.[1143, 1220] A moderate-quality study that was a continuation of an earlier study evaluated high velocity low amplitude manipulation with laser and massage as placebo. They reported significant improvement in cervicogenic headache.[1151] A moderate-quality study evaluated manipulation versus exercise and found that exercise groups produced better long term outcomes than placebo or manipulation alone.[1219] High-amplitude, high-velocity manipulation is not recommended due to concerns it may increase risk of adverse effects such as arterial dissection. Evidence: There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this analysis. [487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-guality [1190-1216] RCTs and 5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain, neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy, radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement, herniated, herniat\*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk, disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles, and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed

1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

#### Cervical Manipulation for Tension Headaches Not Recommended. Cervical manipulation is not recommended for tension headaches.[1140, 1145, 1149] Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There is a moderate-quality study of 75 patients evaluating cervical manipulation versus laser light therapy and soft tissue massage as placebo. The authors did not find any benefit of manipulation after 19 weeks of follow up.[1140] Another moderate-quality study evaluated manipulation compared to amitriptyline for tension headaches. They found after discontinuation of treatment manipulation had positive
Evidence:	outcomes over amitriptyline; however, they did not address possible withdrawal headaches from amitriptyline.[1145] There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this analysis.[487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-quality [1190-1216] RCTs and 5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1.
	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain, neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy, radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement, herniated, herniat*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk, disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non- experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles, and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Regular or Routine Manipulation or Mobilization Not Recommended.

Regular or routine manipulation or mobilization, prolonged treatment (manipulation several times a month for years), and prophylactic treatment is not recommended.

#### Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Rationale:	There is no quality evidence of efficacy for prolonged treatment (manipulation several times a month for years). There is no quality evidence that prophylactic treatment is effective for primary
	prevention (before first episode of pain) or for secondary prevention (after recovery from an episode of cervicothoracic pain), and
	prophylactic treatment is not recommended. There is also no evidence
Evidence:	That manipulation on a regular or routine basis is beneficial. There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality
	RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this
	analysis.[487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-guality [1190-1216] RCTs and
	5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1.
	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple
	search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane
	Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation
	neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculonathy.
	radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement,
	herniated, herniat*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk,
	disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation random* randomized randomization randomly:
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective
	studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non-
	experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles,
	and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed
	1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and
	Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for
	inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other
	sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized
	trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Manipulation for Radicular Pain Syndromes with Acute Neurological Deficits

#### Not Recommended.

Manipulation is not recommended for the treatment of radicular pain syndromes with acute neurological deficits, especially with progressive neurological loss.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Rationale:	There is no quality evidence to address manipulation with neurological deficits; however, there are concerns about the use of manipulation in the presence of acute or progressive neurological deficits. Young et al. conducted an RCT evaluating cervical traction for radicular pain. Each group received manual therapy consisting of HLVA of the cervical and thoracic spine in addition to exercise. They reported improvement in both groups; however the study was not designed to evaluate the effects of manipulation of cervical radiculopathy.[1099] Another study compared cervical lateral glide mobilization to ultrasound and reported benefits for manipulation. The evaluations were taken immediately following the single intervention without long-term follow up.[1141]
Evidence:	There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this analysis.[487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-quality [1190-1216] RCTs and 5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1.
	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain, neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy, radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement, herniated, herniat*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk, disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non- experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles, and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### Manipulation for Radicular Pain Syndromes without Neurologic Deficits

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against manipulation for the treatment of radicular pain syndromes without neurologic deficits.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There is no quality evidence to address manipulation with neurological deficits; however, there are concerns about the use of manipulation in the presence of acute or progressive neurological deficits. Young et al. conducted an RCT evaluating cervical traction for radicular pain. Each group received manual therapy consisting of HLVA of the cervical and thoracic spine in addition to exercise. They reported improvement in both groups; however the study was not designed to evaluate the effects of manipulation of cervical radiculopathy.[1099] Another study compared cervical lateral glide mobilization to ultrasound and reported benefits for manipulation. The evaluations were taken immediately following the single intervention without long-term follow up [1141]
Evidence:	There are 4 high-[1099, 1118, 1137, 1138] and 76 moderate-quality RCTs or crossover trials (one with two reports) incorporated into this analysis.[487, 1096, 1097, 1100, 1101, 1106, 1110, 1111, 1113-1116, 1119-1131, 1139-1189] There are 25 low-quality [1190-1216] RCTs and 5 other studies [1117, 1214, 1216-1218] in Appendix 1. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: manipulation and mobilization, disorder terms-cervicalgia, neck pain, cervical pain, neck, cervical, vertebrae, vertebral, spine, radiculopathy, radiculopathies, radicular pain, intervertebral disc displacement, herniated, herniat*, displacement, displacements, displaced, disk, disc, disks, discs, pain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non- experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 756 articles, and considered 130 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1,436 articles, and considered 5 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 134 articles, and considered 8 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 32 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 0 articles from other sources. Of the 143 articles considered for inclusion, 104 randomized trials and 13 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

The main function of the thalamus is arousal and regulation [980, 1221]. Deep brain stimulation (DBS) attempts to stimulate the deep brain and thus arouse the patient and help the thalamus recover [980, 1222, 1223].

#### Deep Thalamic Stimulation No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of deep thalamic stimulation in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Deep Thalamic Stimulation for treatment of TBL Deep Thalamic Stimulation is not invasive has no
	adverse effects, is low cost, has no quality evidence of treatment
	efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: ((Deep Thalamic Stimulation) OR
	(Thalamic Deep Brain Stimulation)); Traumatic brain injury OR Closed
	Head injury OR Penetrating Head Injury OR Concussion OR
	Craniocerebral Injury; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 12 articles in PubMed, 16 in Scopus, 5 in
	CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library, 2640 in Google Scholar, and 0 from
	other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 1 from
	Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 4 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 5 articles considered for
	inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the
	inclusion criteria.

### Acupuncture

Acupuncture has been used to treat some patients with traumatic brain injury [1224, 1225]. It has be used to treat headache related symptoms in TBI patients [1225], muscle spasticity [1224], insomnia [1226] and cervical disorders. Cervical spine disorders are likely the most common indication for acupuncture among TBI patients.

Acupuncture is based in part on the theory that many diseases are manifestations of an imbalance between yin and yang, as reflected by disruption of normal vital energy flow (qi) in specific locations, referred to as meridians. Needling along one of the 361 classical acupuncture points on these meridians is believed to restore balance. This stimulation is classically done with thin, solid, metallic needles, which are frequently manipulated (or turned) manually or stimulated electrically (electroacupuncture). In addition to needling, acupuncture frequently involves moxibustion and cupping. Besides traditional Chinese acupuncture, there are many other types of acupuncture that have arisen, including accessing non-traditional acupuncture points.[1150, 1227-1231]

#### Acupuncture for Chronic Cervicothoracic Pain Recommended.

Acupuncture is recommended for select use in chronic cervicothoracic pain with or without radicular symptoms as an adjunct to facilitate more effective treatments.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	As an adjunct treatment option for chronic cervicothoracic pain as a limited course during which time there are clear objective and
	functional goals that are to be achieved. Considerations include time-
	limited use in chronic cervicothoracic pain patients without underlying
	serious pathology as an adjunct to a conditioning program that has
	both graded aerobic exercise and strengthening exercises.
	Acupuncture is recommended to assist in increasing functional activity
	levels more rapidly, and, if it is recommended, the primary attention
	should remain on the conditioning program. In those not involved in a
	conditioning program, or who are non-compliant with graded
	increases in activity levels, this intervention is not recommended.
Benefits:	Modest reduction in pain.
Harms:	Rare needling of deep tissue, such as artery, lung, etc. and resultant
	complications. Use of acupuncture may theoretically increase reliance
	on passive modality(ies) for chronic pain.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Different frequencies and numbers of treatments used in quality
	studies ranged from weekly for 1 month to 20 appointments over 3
	months. Usual program is 10 sessions over 3 to 4 weeks.[1232] An
	initial trial of 5 to 6 appointments is recommended in combination
	with a conditioning program of aerobic and strengthening exercises.
	Future appointments should be tied to improvements in objective
	measures to justify an additional 6 sessions, for a total of 12 sessions.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution, intolerance, or non-compliance including non-compliance
	with aerobic and strengthening exercises.

### Acupuncture for Acute or Subacute Cervicothoracic Pain

#### Not Recommended.

Routine use of acupuncture is not recommended for treatment of acute or subacute cervicothoracic pain or for acute radicular pain.

#### Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

There are quality studies evaluating the utility of acupuncture for treatment of chronic cervicothoracic pain, although they conflict to some extent regarding whether it is efficacious and which type of acupuncture to perform. [1118, 1233-1235] One issue is the benefit of acupuncture versus electroacupuncture. A moderate-quality study showed that electroacupuncture was more effective than acupuncture alone.[1236] Quality trials compared to sham demonstrated a short term improvement in range of motion and pain[1233, 1234, 1237] and one of these moderate quality trials showed acupuncture was associated with improvements in pain-related activity, sleep, anxiety, depression, and satisfaction with life.[1232] Trials comparing acupuncture with no treatment have shown a decrease in pain of up to 40% over baseline after 12 weeks. [1238] The highest scored study (see evidence table) showed improvement in motion-related pain 1 hour after acupuncture above that seen for dry needling and sham acupuncture.[1233] Benefits beyond the duration of treatment of up to 3 years have been suggested. [1232] However, studies generally fail to control for attention bias, and also suggest that needling in locations other than traditional acupuncture points can provide equal benefit, [1232, 1239, 1240] which leads to questions regarding whether it is the needling rather than the acupuncture that was beneficial. Other quality trials have compared acupuncture with physiotherapy and medications and other treatments, with some failing to find differences in outcomes. A moderate-quality study of acupoint electrical stimulation did not find improvement in patients with variable duration of pain ranging from acute to chronic.[1241] Other studies found less of an effect or no effect, when compared to other treatments and placebo. [1118, 1237, 1242] One moderatequality study looked at acupuncture compared to sham acupuncture; both treatment groups improved without a significant difference between the two up to 16 weeks after intervention.[1235]

There is no high quality evidence for treatment of acute cervicothoracic pain, radicular pain syndromes, or other cervical painrelated conditions. Acupuncture would not be expected to improve on the history of acute cervicothoracic pain treated with more effective treatments reviewed elsewhere.

Despite reservations regarding its true mechanism of action, the overall presence of quality trials demonstrating superiority of acupuncture to sham acupuncture provides quality evidence of efficacy, although the magnitude of benefits is modest and the treatment is passive. Acupuncture is minimally invasive, has relatively low adverse effects in experienced hands, and is moderate cost depending on numbers of treatments.

There are no sham-controlled studies, but there is one quality study assessing use of acupuncture for treatment of spasticity related to TBI [1224] which suggested efficacy of electroacupunture at 100Hz. Acupuncture is not invasive, generally has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost, and has some potential evidence of treatment efficacy for spasticity. There is no recommendation for treatment of spasticity related to TBI until there is a sufficient body of quality evidence.

Fvidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Acupuncture; Traumatic brain injury AND Closed Head injury AND Penetrating Head Injury AND Concussion AND Craniocerebral Injury; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 36 articles in PubMed, 30 in Scopus, 6 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 5460 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 3 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Copyright ©2020 Reed Group, Ltd.

# **Biofeedback for TBI Patients**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of biofeedback in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Biofeedback for treatment of TBI. Biofeedback is not invasive has no adverse effects, is low cost, has no quality evidence of treatment efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI. There may be other indications
Evidence:	for biofeedback. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Biofeedback OR neurofeedback; Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating, Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 17 articles in PubMed, 26 in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library, 3210 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google
	Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Laser therapy or low-level laser therapy has been used for treating pain, inflammation, neurological disorders, and promoting healing of tissues [915, 1244-1249]. LLLT uses red and NIR light rather than hotter light that is used for cutting and heating tissue. LLLT has been raising interest for treating traumatic brain injury because of purported abilities to inhibit apoptosis, stimulate growth, and increase neurogenesis [1244]. See Cervical and Thoracic Spine Disorders Guideline for indications for treatment of the cervical spine.

# Laser Therapy/Low-Level Laser Therapy (LLLT)

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of laser therapy in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

Evidence:

There are no quality studies assessing Low Level Laser Therapy for treatment of TBI. Low Level Laser Therapy is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is high cost, but has no evidence of treatment efficacy for TBI and thus there is no recommendation. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma, Low level light therapy, low level laser therapy, Laser therapy, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 120 articles in PubMed, 57 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library, 1 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 2 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Functional electrical stimulation [1182] uses a stimulator to activate skeletal muscle to accomplish a functional goal [1250]. FES bypasses the injured spinal cord and applies electrical pulses to peripheral motor neurons that elicit or, in part, mimic action potentials to induce distal muscles to contract [1251].

### **Functional Electrical Stimulation**

No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of functional electrical stimulation in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are only two quality and one low quality study assessing Functional Electrical Stimulation for treatment of TBI [1252] [1253] [587] and only the low quality study showed trends towards efficacy without statistical significance. Functional Electrical Stimulation is not invasive or minimally invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate to high cost in aggregate, but as it is lacking evidence of efficacy, there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI. As the low quality study was underpowered but suggested a trent towards meaningful differences, this rating is no recommendation rather than not recommended pending reports of further invetigations of quality.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Functional electrical stimulation [1182]; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 33 articles in PubMed, 93 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 11 in Cochrane Library, 14,000 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 7 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

### **Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation (NMES)**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of neuromuscular electrical stimulation in the treatment of TBI patients.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are two quality studies assessing Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation for treatment of TBI and they conflict, with one showing
	improved swallowing function [1259], while another showed no
	improvement [1260]. A low quality trial suggested efficacy [1261].
	Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation is not invasive, has low adverse
	effects, is moderate to high cost in aggregate, but as it is lacking
	quality evidence of treatment efficacy, there is no recommendation
	for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation;
	Traumatic brain injuryIntracranial injury, Closed Head injury ,
	Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral
	Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random
	allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly;
	systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies.
	We found and reviewed 5 articles in PubMed, 31 in Scopus, 2 in
	CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library, 23 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other
	sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 0
	from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0
	from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 3
	randomized trials and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Non-Operative Therapeutic Procedures**

Traumatic brain injuries lead to neurobehavioral impairments such as physical, psychologic, and behavioral challenges [1262]. For survivors of serious brain injury, behavioral symptoms, including marked irritability, aggression, and various forms of regressed social functioning, commonly increase over time as other indicators of functional disability decrease [419, 802, 1262-1267].

## **Behavioral Programs**

#### Recommended.

Behavioral programs are recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate to severe TBI with behavioral issues, especially if not transfing towards resolution
Benefits:	Improved awareness and function. Resolution of functional and impairing difficulties, especially those that may inhibit return to quality life and work.
Harms:	Medicalization
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	The highest quality study included social skills training program of 12 weekly 3-hour group sessions with therapist plus 1 weekly individual session with clinical psychologist [1267], while another study used web-based approaches [1266].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms, sufficient recovery to function, lack of compliance, reaching a clinical plateau.
Rationale:	There are no quality sham-controlled trials. The overall literature base has much heterogeneity in methods and interventions which preclude an evidence-based treatment recommendation. Yet, these programs have some empirical evidence of efficacy. Behavioral Programs are not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, are moderate cost, have no quality evidence of treatment efficacy, are thought to be effective and necessary for recovery from some sequalae and thus are recommended for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: behavioral programs, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 136 articles in PubMed, 288 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 8 in Cochrane Library, 16400 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 6 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

# **Inpatient and Outpatient Rehabilitation Programs**

There are numerous and diverse rehabilitation programs that have been developed. Some are inpatient, while some are outpatient [1268-1270]. Some are based in acute care facilities, while others rehabilitation facilities and still others specialize in TBI patients. Some programs have a single or few components (e.g., physical therapy and medical services), while others are integrated/multidisciplinary and include many other services (e.g., psychology/mental health, vocational rehabilitation, occupational therapy, substances abuse treatment/prevention, social work). Not all patients need all program components, so regardless of the setting, tailoring of the program to the specific patient's needs is required. Multidisciplinary programs are generally more comprehensive and may be more indicated with more severe injuries with greater degrees of various impairments. Selective and integrated rehabilitation programs are designed to help the individual work on specific tasks in order to "retrain" the body to accomplish said task [1271]. Some programs focus on TBI while others may focus on an array of neurological and orthopedic conditions [1272]. This section will classify these heterogenous programs into only the two categories of inpatient and outpatient for ease of use.

For those with TBI rehabilitation typically consists of an individualized program of rehabilitation therapies delivered most often by an integrated interdisciplinary team with at least two components (e.g., medical and therapy). Most programs have many more components, especially those targeting the TBI patient population and some are multi-disciplinary [1268, 1269, 1273].

# **Outpatient: Home and Community-Based Rehabilitation**

Recommended.

Outpatient home and community-based rehabilitation is selectively recommended for TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Sufficient residual symptoms and/or signs of post TBI to necessitate ongoing treatment, be it medical, physical therapy, occupational therapy, or other. These programs are generally more helpful for those with greater numbers and magnitudes of mismatch between current abilities and job cognitive and physical demands. There may be select cases with mild TBI with ongoing symptoms who may be candidates.
Benefits:	Ongoing treatment targeting functional outcomes to improve the patient's overall prognosis. Improved likelihood <i>o</i> f achieving goals
11	Including RTW.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Highly variable and depends on the clinical status, including
	symptoms, signs, functional deficits, rate of progress, need for
	individualized care (e.g., coaching), etc. Outpatient apointments are
	generally at least 2-3 times/week. With outpatient physical therapy
	services needs, appointments may be daily.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient recovery, end of healing, reaching a plateau, non-
	compliance, substances use recalcitrant recidivism.
Rationale:	The overall literature base is weak, as there are quality studies
	assessing components of rehabilitation programs, but no quality
	studies assessing whether these programs are superior to no
	treatment or to sham. Outpatient home and Community-Based
	Rehabilitation is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is high
	cost, is thought to be quite effective and so is recommended for
	selective treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date

limits using the following terms: home and community based rehabilitation, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 25 articles in PubMed, 69 in Scopus, 35 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 17400 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 2 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 9 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Outpatient rehabilitation, services, traumatic, brain, injury, intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 35 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 17 in CINAHL, 5 in Cochrane Library, 7340 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 7410 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## Inpatient: Comprehensive Integrated Interdisciplinary Rehabilitation

Inpatient comprehensive integrated interdisciplinary rehabilitation is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

Recommended.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Sufficient residual symptoms and/or signs of mostly acute TBI to necessitate ongoing and daily treatment, be it medical, physical therapy, occupational therapy, or other. Most programs are mulitidiscipilnary and generally TBI inpatients are sufficiently severely affected to require multidisciplinary services. Most patients will have incurred severe TBI, but occasionally, patients with moderate TBI may also be benefited by these programs. Generally not used for chronic patients unless the TBI was severe and the patient is making functional gains not possible or substantially less likely in an outpatient setting.
Benefits:	Ongoing treatment targeting functional outcomes to improve the patient's overall prognosis. Improved likelihood of achieving goals including RTW.
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Highly variable and depends on the clinical status, including symptoms, signs, functional deficits, rate of progress, need for individualized care (e.g., coaching), etc.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Sufficient recovery to be able to be discharged to outpatient facilities.
Rationale:	The overall literature base is weak, as there are quality studies assessing components of inpatient rehabilitation programs, but naturally no quality studies assessing whether these programs are superior to no treatment or to sham. Inpatient Comprehensive Integrated Rehabilitation is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is high cost, is thought to be quite effective and so is recommended for selective treatment of TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: multidisciplinary rehabilitation program, traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 78 articles in PubMed, 52 in Scopus, 9 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library, 8490 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 8 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Residential Rehabilitation**

Residential rehabilitation facilities are used for treatment of TBI patients [1275]. Residential Rehabilitation has been used as a treatment option for those who have had a traumatic brain injury and are seeking treatment. It is a program that is separate from home and inpatient care.

### **Residential Rehabilitation**

Residential rehabilitation is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Sufficient residual symptoms and/or signs of post TBI to necessitate ongoing outpatient treatment, be it medical, physical therapy, occupational therapy, or other. Generally these programs are used for those with more numerous impairments, an inability to return to home unassisted, and/or greater numbers and magnitudes of mismatch between current abilities and ADLs, job cognitive, and physical demands.
Ongoing treatment targeting functional outcomes to improve the patient's overall prognosis. Improved likelihood of achieving goals including ADLs and RTW.
Negligible
Highly variable and depends on the clinical status, including symptoms, signs, functional deficits, rate of progress, need for individualized care (e.g., coaching), etc. Daily unskilled or skilled care is generally needed.
Sufficient recovery, end of healing, reaching a plateau, non- compliance.
There are no quality studies assessing residential rehabilitation programs. These programs are not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, are high cost, are thought to be effective and so are recommended for selective treatment of TBI.
There are quality studies assessing Residential Rehabilitation for treatment of TBI. Residential Rehabilitation is not invasive have no adverse effects, are low cost, have evidence of treatment efficacy, and are/not recommended for treatment of TBI.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Residential Rehabilitation, Brain Injuries, Head Injuries, Closed, Penetrating, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Trauma, Traumatic Brain, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 28 articles in PubMed, 32 in Scopus, 10 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 2500 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 1 from PubMed, 4 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Supported living programs or long-term care residential services are used for patients that require long-term care or rehabilitation [1276, 1277]. These are generally less intensive than skilled nursing facilities.

### **Supported Living Programs**

Supported living programs are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe TBI with sufficient impairments and inabilities to, e.g., perform ADLs, but insufficient for a skilled nursing facility that assisted living is required. Most patients needing supported living programs will have incurred severe TBI, but occasionally, select patients with moderate TBI with significant impairments and incapacity may also be benefited by these programs.
Benefits:	Ability to receive tailored assistance. May be able to receive sufficient care to achieve independence and discharge to either home or a lower level of skilled care.
Harms:	Potential for nosocomial infections. May also be in a facility that does not sufficiently accelerate the rehabilitative process, thus impairing achievement of treatment goals.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Recovery sufficient to not require
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Supported Living Programs (SLP) for treatment of TBI. SLP is not invasive, has significant risks of problems such as nosocomial infections, and is high cost. For select severe TBI patients, there may be no other practical alternative and thus skilled care SLPs are selectively recommended for some severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Supported Living Programs, SLP, Long- Term Care Residential Services, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 3 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 14 in CINAHL, 97 in Cochrane Library, 33760 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

There are many options for treatment facilities for someone with a severe TBI. One of these is a nursing care facility. These facilities are also known as nursing homes or skilled nursing facilities (SNF). These facilities provide medical care to patients 24 hours a day and can treat those suffering acute or chronic conditions [1278].

## **Skilled Nursing Facilities**

Skilled nursing facilities are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Severe TBI with sufficient impairments and inabilities to perform ADLs that a skilled nursing facility if needed.
Benefits:	Ability to receive tailored assistance. May be able to receive sufficient care to achieve independence and discharge to either home or a lower level of skilled care.
Harms:	Potential for nosocomial infections. May also be in a facility that does not sufficiently accelerate the rehabilitative Process, thus impairing achievement of treatment goals.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	Recovery sufficient to not require
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Nursing Care Facilities for
	treatment of TBI. Nursing Care Facility treatment is not invasive, has
	significant risks of problems such as nosocomial infections, and is high
	cost. For select severe TBI patients, there may be no other practical
	alternative and thus skilled care facilities are selectively recommended
	for some severe TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: nursing care facility, facilities, skilled nursing facilities, nursing care; traumatic brain injury, intracranial injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized
	randomized randomized controlled thats, random allocation, random'r,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 5 articles in
	PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 4 in CINAHL, 7 in Cochrane Library, 23 in Google Scholar,
	and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

With TBI, rehabilitation may be helpful particularly for rehabilitating the patient toward the goal of return to work (RTW).

## **Occupational Rehabilitation**

Occupational rehabilitation is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.**  *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – **Low** 

Indications:	There are many indications. These include sufficient impairments to provide for mismatch between the patient's current capabilities and
	future job requirements. Also helpful for mismatches in ADLs. In some
	practice settings, occupational therapy rehabilitation concentrates on
	the distal limbs while physical therapy concentrates on torso and
	proximal limbs; if so, those are additional indications.
Benefits:	Improved functional recovery, recovery at a faster pace. Ability to
	RTW. RTW at a higher job function.
	Return home with greater ability to perform ADLs.
Harms:	Negligible. Medicalization is possible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Frequency is dependent on the individual status, including degrees of
	deficits, and degrees of mismatches between capabilities and ADLs
	and/or job tasks. In general, inpatient or outpatient intensive services
	requirements are often daily, while outpatient care with fewer
	mismatches may be as little as every week or two to start.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Recovery, plateau, lack of further functional gain, exhaustion of
,	treatment options with quality efficacy.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing the utility of Occupational
	Rehabilitation for treatment of TBL although there are many studies of
	individual treatment components. Occupational Rehabilitation is not
	invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate to high cost, has
	evidence of treatment efficacy for many component parts, and thus is
	recommended for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed. Scopus.
	CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the
	following terms: Occupational, rehabilitation, traumatic, brain, injury,
	intracranial, closed, head, penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma,
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial,
	randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed 239 articles in PubMed, 10 in
	scopus, 7 in CINARL, 2 in Coordane Library, 21800 in Google Scholar, and U
	Sconus O from CINAHI 1 from Cochrane Library O from Google Scholar and O
	from other sources. Of the 22058 articles considered for inclusion. 0
	randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Opioid/Chemical treatment programs have been used for treatment of substances use patients [1279-1281]. They are a heterogenous group of treatment programs ranging from detoxification to 24-hr. residential treatment facilities. There is one study suggesting potential efficacy for purposes of prevention [1282].

### **Opioid/Chemical Treatment Programs**

Opioid/chemical treatment programs are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Substances abuse sufficient to require opioid and/or chemical treatment programs, including withdrawal, anticipated high-risk withdrawal, medical condition, emotional factors, behavioral factors, cognitive aspects, recurrences, and degrees of addictions.
Benefits:	Avoidance of substances use, managed withdrawal to reduce fatalities and other severe effects of withdrawal.
Harms:	Negligible. May incur complications from treatment especially with medications.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Completion of treatment.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Opioid/Chemical Treatment
	Program for treatment of TBI patients. Opioid/Chemical Treatment
	Programs are not invasive, may not have significant adverse effects
	(other than medication treatment complications), are high cost, do not
	have evidence of treatment efficacy for TBI patients, but are likely
	effective for select patients with substances abuse and are thus
	recommended for treatment of select TBI patients.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Opioid or Chemical treatment
	programs, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating
	Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled
	trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and
	prospective studies. We found and reviewed 101 articles in PubMed,
	121 in Scopus, 11 in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 180 in Google
	Scholar, and zero from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion
	criteria.

# **Outpatient Rehabilitation Services**

See physical therapy, occupational therapy, vocational rehabilitation, outpatient treatment programs, etc. Music therapy is clinical use of music intended to be a therapeutic intervention. Music therapy has been used in rehabilitation to stimulate brain functions involved in movement, cognition, speech, emotions, and sensory perceptions [1283, 1284].

### **Music Therapy**

There is no recommendation for or against the use of music therapy in the treatment of TBI patients. **No Recommendation.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There is one moderate quality study assessing Music Therapy for treatment of TBI [1284], however the sample sizes are so small at 4-5 per group that with non-significant results, the overall evidence base is inadequate. Music Therapy is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low to moderate cost in aggregate, but has no quality evidence of efficacy, and thus there is no recommendation for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma, Music Therapy, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 6 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 24000 in Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 2 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
# **Adaptive Devices**

Orthotics, especially ankle-foot orthotics (AFOs) have been used for treatment of foot drop [1285].

### **Ankle-foot Orthotics for Treatment of Foot Drop**

Ankle-foot orthotics are selectively recommended for treatment of foot drop associated with TBI injuries.

#### Recommended.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Rationale:	Although there are no quality trials, ankle-foot orthotics for foot drop have been used successfully for many years and thus they are recommended since they facilitate walking ability. Evaluation for
	orthotics should include evaluation of the footwear that is to be worn by the patient, including the nature of the fore-soles. Fronts of shoes and boots can catch on carpets and low-lying irregular surfaces, and
	modifications of shoes and boots may mitigate slip, trip, and fall risks posed by footwear.
Evidence:	There is 1 low-quality RCT in Appendix 1 [1285].

Adaptive devices, casting, and orthotics have long been used for treatment of impairments, including those related to TBI. This prominently includes AFOs for the foot and wrist/hand supports for the distal upper extremity.

# Adaptive Devices, Casting, and Orthotics

**Recommended.** 

Adaptive devices, casting, and orthotics are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Sufficient impairment to need a device to position the extremity for function, e.g., sufficient foot drop that a device may foster better walking and avoid stumbling; sufficient wrist drop that a device positions the extremity for better grasp. Some manufactured devices suffice, but some custom-made orthotics and casts are required to be made for specific circumstances or injury/patient characteristics.
Benefits:	Better able to use the extremity. May help maintain, or reduce losses of, extremity strength through greater use of the extremity.
Harms:	May use the device beyond that required, i.e., pseudo-dependent on it.
Indications for Discontinuation: Rationale:	Sufficient recovery to no longer require a device There are no quality studies assessing Adaptive Devices for treatment of TBI. See also Ankle/Foot Guideline regarding foot drop. Adaptive Devices, casts and orthotics are not invasive, have minimal adverse effects, are moderate cost, have been found to be helpful for treatment including ambulation, and thus are recommended for select treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Adaptive devices (beds, standing

frames, wheelchair cushions, lower extremity bracing); Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed zero articles in PubMed, 533 in Scopus, zero in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 5 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: muscle tone and joint restriction management, spasticity, orthotics, casting, postural control; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 101 articles in PubMed, 71 in Scopus, 8 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library, 180 in Google Scholar, and 7 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 7 from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

# **Neuromuscular Re-Education**

Neuromuscular re-education is a therapy used to restore normal movement and function. The therapy uses simple repetitive movements of joints, weight bearing, resistance, and variable speed and length of therapy. (North American Spine Society) The application of neuromuscular reeducation for treatment of traumatic brain injury is unknown.

### **Neuromuscular Re-Education**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of neuromuscular re-education in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Neuromuscular Re-Education
	for treatment of TBI. Neuromuscular Re-Education is not invasive, has
	minimal adverse effects, is moderate to high cost in aggregate, but has
	no quality evidence of treatment efficacy, and thus there is no
	recommendation for treatment of TBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial
	injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 0
	articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 2 in CINAHL, 11 in Cochrane Library,
	359 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from
	Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources.
	Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

# **Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management**

Severe damage to the central nervous system, of various origin, often causes severe spasticity [1286-1293].

## **Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management**

There is no recommendation for muscle tone and joint restriction management in TBI patients. No Recommendation.

## Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:	There are no quality studies assessing Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management (Including Spasticity) for treatment of TBI
	There are other evidence-based recommendations for management of spasticity, occupational therapy, exercise, physical therapy, etc.
	Muscle Tone and Joint Restriction Management (Including Spasticity)
	is not invasive, has neglible adverse effects, is moderate to high cost in
	aggregate, but absent quality evidence, there is no recommendation
	for this specific approach for treatment of IBI.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed,
	Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date
	limits using the following terms: postural balance, balance, balancing,
	visual, orthoptics, neurotology, neuro-otologic, communication,
	swallowing, therapy, treatment; traumatic brain injury, intracranial
	injury, closed head injury, penetrating head injury, concussion, brain
	concussion, craniocerebral injury, craniocerebral trauma; controlled
	clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized.
	randomization randomly systematic systematic review
	retrospective and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 2 088
	articles in PubMed 2 265 in Sconus 106 in CINAHI 862 in Cochrane
	Library 1/9 518 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We
	considered for inclusion 6 from PubMed 1 from Sconus 0 from
	CINALL O from Cochrone Library O from Coogle Scholar, and O from
	CINARL, U HUIH COCHTAILE LIDIALY, U HUIH GOUGIE SCHOlar, and U from
	other sources. Ut the / articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized
	trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# Anger Management Therapy

Anger sometimes occurs either to have caused the TBI, or as a consequence of it. Anger management therapy has been used to treat anger issues in TBI patients [1294]. As with many cases of traumatic brain injuries (TBI), the recovery and treatment phase to improve the lifestyle of the patient. One particular area that patients are overcoming is anger management. It was observed that more family support and participation help patients deal with anger management [1295]. Patients with anger after undergoing TBI is complex, multifaceted problem that should be under estimated and should be observed as psychological adjustment in difficulty [1296].

### **Anger Management Therapy**

Anger management therapy is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:

ons:	TBI patients with anger management needs, either as an underlying
	cause of the TBI of as a consequence of it.
Benefits:	Better anger management
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	One low quality trial utilized 5 to 8 weekly individual therapy sessions [1294].
Rationale:	There are no quality studies. Anger management therapy is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is moderate cost in aggregate and while there is not quality evidence of efficacy, it is recommended for selective treatment of TBI patients with anger issues as there is little else to manage these problems.
Evidence:	Anger Management – A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: anger, management, traumatic, brain, injury, intracranial, closed, head,
	penetrating, concussion, craniocerebral, trauma controlled clinical
	trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 6
	articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 3 in Cochrane Library,
	24600 in Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. We considered for
	inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 1 from
	Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and 0 from other sources. Of
	the 24612 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 6
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

## **Suicide Prevention**

TBI patients are susceptible to depression and suicide, thus suicide prevention has been included in some programs [745]. Scheduled telephone interventions have also been used for TBI patients with depressive symptoms [1297]. Neuropsychological impairments such as dysfunction of memory and speed of information processing are post-concussion symptoms that can cause significant psychosocial problems following TBI [567, 1298-1301].

#### **Suicide Prevention**

Suicide prevention is selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

*Level of Confidence* – Low

'S
utilized 10 weekly 2-hour sessions [745]. A telephone intervention [1297].
suggested psychological treatment was rovement in hope that persisted for 3 training is not invasive, has negligible e cost in aggregate, has evidence of pelessness and so is recommended for patients with depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation.
search was conducted using PubMed and e limits using the following terms: hological rehabilitation, suicide, depressive natic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed ad injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, ocerebral Trauma, controlled clinical trial, d controlled trial, randomized controlled undom*, randomized, randomization, ematic review, retrospective, and and and reviewed 105 articles in PubMed, d 6 from other sources. We considered for from Google Scholar, and 6 from other onsidered for inclusion, 7 randomized trials

# **Substance Abuse Counseling**

Substance abuse counseling has been used as a preventive action to minimize substance abuse following a traumatic brain injury (TBI) [1282, 1302].

# **Substance Abuse Counseling**

#### Recommended.

Substance abuse counseling is recommended for use in the treatment of TBI patients. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Illicit substance(s) use, substance(s) abuse, substance(s) involved in
	TBI event, and/or problematic substancces use.
Benefits:	Potential for reduced risk of future injury, reduced adverse health
	risks.
Harms:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are no quality studies with sufficient data reporting to support
	an evidence-based recommendation. Community based life goals are
	not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, but in the absence of
	quality evidence, there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed and
	Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms:
	Substance abuse counseling, Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury,
	Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain
	Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed
	Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral
	Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized
	controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation,
	random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic,
	systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found
	and reviewed 11 articles in PubMed, 22700 in Google Scholar, and 14
	from other sources. We considered for inclusion 3 from PubMed, 1
	from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 5 articles
	considered for inclusion, 4 randomized trials and 1 systematic studies
	met the inclusion criteria.

# **Community Based Life Goals**

Acquired brain injury is a significant health problem, which often has considerable consequences for societal participation of those affected. Those with severe psychosocial problems may experience difficulties with community reintegration [1303]. Community-based rehabilitation programs for people with a brain injury are diverse [1304]. The results of the perspective study indicate that the improvements of independent living and societal participation are not achieved at the expense of emotional stability [1303].

# **Community-Based Life Goals**

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against the use of community-based life goals in the treatment of TBI patients.

#### Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale: There are no quality studies with sufficient data reporting to support an evidence-based recommendation. Community based life goals are not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, but in the absence of quality evidence, there is no recommendation. Fvidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: community based life goals, Traumatic brain injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating Head Injury, Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random\*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 9 articles in PubMed, zero in Scopus, 11 in CINAHL, zero in Cochrane Library, 60 in Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. We considered for inclusion 9 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library, 1 from Google Scholar, and zero from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trials and 9 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

# **Resistance-based Healthcare (Telehealth; Telemedicine)**

See Initial Approaches to Treatment Guideline.

# **Home Healthcare**

See Initial Approaches to Treatment Guideline.

## **Return to Work and Assessments**

Return to work (RTW) is considered a major challenge for TBI affected patients [152, 570, 1305-1311], as it is for return to sports [351, 1312-1315] [308, 309, 1316, 1317] [1318] [570]. Most estimates are that less than 50% of moderate to severely affected patients achieve employment [1306, 1319], and one estimate was under 10% [1320]. Thus, return to work is considered an important part of rehabilitation after TBI since being employed is typically associated with better quality of life and self-worth for TBI survivors [1305]. Factors associated with higher RTW rates are unclear, but generally thought to include shorter hospital stay, and shorter rehabilitation stays [1321-1323] which would also appear likely confounded by injury severity, [1311], younger age , multiple body injuries and increased severity of TBI (Waljas 2014) yet, Glascow Coma Scale Scores have not been found predictive [1323-1326] nor have anxiety or depression [1311, 1321, 1326-1328]. Decision-making may be difficult as there are reported problems with reliability of the history and physical examination for decision-making that may impact return to work determinations [103, 105, 108, 109, 117]. Chief among these is likely under-reporting of pre-injury symptoms, psychological conditions, alcohol use, and drug use that is problematic in studies that independently assessed pre-morbid medical records [105] [109]. Decision-making may also be potentially difficult as there are reported problems with effort on physical examination and/or neuropsychological evaluation [176] [125, 128]. It has been suggested that this is addressable.

examination and/or neuropsychological evaluation [176] [125, 128]. It has been suggested that this is addressable through: [170] optimize expectations, (2) treat depression and anxiety, (3) minimize stereotype threat, (4) addressing anger and revenge, (5) address loss aversion, and (6) consider possible effects of compensation on behavior. [176]

## **Return to Work**

It is recommended workers are returned to work, generally earlier than later. [460] **Recommended.**  *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – **Moderate** 

Indications:

All TBI patients. The speed of return to usual work activities, if possible, is based on the patient's current cognitive and physical status as compared with the job's cognitive and physical demands. Mild TBI patients may generally be returned to work in some capacity immediately. Close follow-up can be utilized to adjust work activities as tolerated. RTW for those with safety critical jobs requirement exercising of judgment and/or executive demands beyond the current capacity may require added cautions about the speed of RTW.

Yet, especially with progressively more severe TBI, decision-making may be difficult as there are reported problems with reliability for decision-making that may impact diagnosis, treatment and return to work [103] [105, 109]. Under-reporting of pre-injury symptoms is reportedly problematic [105, 109]. Additionally, pre-injury conditions such as alcohol and drug use and the preexistence of psychological conditions and pre-existing pain have been shown to be recalled at

significantly lower rates in comparison with preinjury medical records [109].
Among more severely affected workers, graded transitional programs (cognitive and/or physical, as indicated) and gradually increasing hours of work should be strongly considered. Tailoring of the limitations and lengths of shifts with consideration of graded transitional work positions are strong considerations.
Potential to improve faster based on return to work earlier
May result in some frustration if the job demands substantially exceed the patient's capabilities. Mismatches may require re-addressing.
There are no RCTs comparing early vs. delayed return to work. A trial in pediatric patients found worse outcomes among those assigned to strict rest compared with the usual care group, suggesting strict rest is not helpful.
There is one moderate-quality trial assessing whether the use of resource facilitation is helpful for RTW and found efficacy of those services; please see vocational rehabilitation section below [1305]. That trial may provide some indirect evidence that earlier RTW may be effective. There are no trials for any disorder in any of the ACOEM Guidelines showing superiority of delayed return to work, thus the earlier a worker can RTW, generally the better and return to work is recommended.
Return to work is non-invasive, has few adverse effects, is low cost, is likely quite effective and thus is recommended. RTW often requires tailoring to the specific worker and their limitations.
A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: Traumatic Brain Injury, Return to work, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury, Craniocerebral Trauma, Closed Head Trauma, Penetrating Head Trauma, Penetrating Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 130 articles in PubMed, 205 in Scopus, 20 in CINAHL, 6 in Cochrane Library, 47,100 in Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 4 from Scopus, 9 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 0 from Google Scholar, and 5 from other sources. Of the 25 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 5

## **Vocational Rehabilitation Programs**

Vocational rehabilitation programs are selectively recommended for treatment of TBI patients. **Recommended.** 

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Many severe TBI patients and occasional moderate TBI patients. Vocational rehabilitation programs are generally more helpful for those with greater mismatch between current abilities and job cognitive and physical demands. See also Return to Work above
Benefits:	Potential to improve faster based on earlier return to work
Harms:	Negligible other than program cost.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Rationale:	There are no quality RCTs comparing vocational rehabilitation programs to those treated without VR programs. There is one moderate-quality trial assessing whether the use of resource facilitation is helpful for RTW and found efficacy of those services
	[1305]. Vocational rehabilitation programs are non-invasive, have negligible effects, are moderate cost, and are likely effective and thus are recommended. They often require tailoring to the specific worker and their limitations.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar without date limits using the following terms: vocational rehabilitation; Traumatic brain injury, Intracranial injury, Closed Head injury, Penetrating head injury, Concussion, Brain Concussion, Craniocerebral Injury ,Craniocerebral Trauma; controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective, and prospective studies. We found and reviewed 71 articles in PubMed, 1565 in Scopus, 42 in CINAHL, 49 in Cochrane Library, 50 in Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 6 from Scopus, 1 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library, 2 from Google Scholar, and 1 from other sources. Of the 12 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 8 systematic studies met the

# **Functional Capacity Evaluations**

While most commonly used for evaluation of spine and extremity disorders, functional capacity evaluations have been used to assess TBI patients [1336]. Functional capacity evaluations are a set of tests, observations and practices that are combined to attempt to ascertain the ability of the patient to function most commonly either in one discrete job (e.g., return to work after injury) or potentially in a wide variety of different employment settings without targeting one in particular. A functional capacity evaluation is used to infer the work capacity [1337]. A FCE may also be used to ascertain a baseline from which to develop a treatment program, to target specific work return to work needs.[1338-1340] The goals of FCEs include:

- Determine individual's readiness to work after injury or illness at Maximum Medical Improvement (MMI),
- Assist with goal-setting and treatment planning for rehabilitation or to monitor the progress of a patient in a rehabilitation program,
- Estimate potential vocational status and provide a foundation for effective vocational rehabilitation,
- Provide information to assist in disability determinations,
- Provide information for hiring decisions (post-offer or fit-for-duty testing),
- Assess the extent of disability in litigation cases, and
- Provide information regarding a patient's level of effort and consistency of performance.

### **FCEs for Traumatic Brain Injury Patients**

#### **Recommended.**

FCEs are a recommended option for evaluation of disabling TBI sequelae where the information may be helpful to attempt to objectify worker capability, function, motivation and effort vis-à-vis either a specific job or general job requirements. There are circumstances where a patient with moderate to moderately-severe TBI is not progressing as anticipated at 6 to 8 weeks and an FCE can evaluate functional status and patient performance in order to match performance to specific job demands, particularly in instances where those demands are medium to heavy. If a provider is comfortable describing work ability without an FCE, there is no requirement to do this testing.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Benefits:Assess functional abilities and may facilitate greater confidence in<br/>return to work.Harms:Medicalization, worsening of pain with testing. May have misleading<br/>results that understate capabilities. May be particularly misleading if<br/>the FCE does not assess job-specific cognitive aspects, yet those are<br/>the patients primary difficulties.

### FCEs for Chronic Disabling Cervical or Thoracic Pain

#### Recommended.

FCEs are a recommended option for evaluation of disabling chronic cervical or thoracic pain where the information may be helpful to attempt to objectify worker capability, function, motivation and effort vis-à-vis either a specific job or general job requirements. There are circumstances where a patient is not progressing as anticipated at 6 to 8 weeks and an FCE can evaluate functional status and patient performance in order to match performance to specific job demands, particularly in instances where those demands are medium to heavy. If a provider is comfortable describing work ability without an FCE, there is no requirement to do this testing.

#### Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Benefits:	Assess functional abilities and may facilitate greater confidence in return to work.
Harms:	Medicalization, worsening of pain with testing. May have misleading results that understate capabilities.
Rationale:	FCEs are one of the few means to attempt to objectify limitations and are frequently used in workers' compensation systems, particularly as the correlation between pain ratings and functional abilities appears weak.[1341-1347] Yet, obtaining objective data regarding either TBI or spine problems is somewhat more challenging than for extremity- related impairments due to the degree of reliance on the patient's subjective willingness to exert or sustain major activities (e.g., standing, walking, sitting) that are critical for job performance. As FCEs typically emphasize physical over cognitive performance, FCEs are also typically somewhat limited in their ability to assess most TBI patients. Those that combine job-specific cognitive with physical assessments may be better able evaluate, assess and guide the return to work and rehabilitative processes. Because their reliability and validity have not been proven, FCEs should be utilized to evaluate work ability about what a patient was willing to do on a given day. They should not be used to override the judgment about the work ability of a patient with a TBI or spine problem.
	Many commercial FCE models are available. There is research regarding inter-and intra-rater reliability for some of the models (complete discussion is beyond the scope of this guideline). The validity of FCEs, particularly predictive validity, is more difficult to determine, since factors other than physical performance may affect return to work.[1348, 1349] An FCE may be done for one or more reasons, including identifying an individual's ability to perform specific job tasks associated with a job (job-specific FCE) and physical activities associated with any job (general FCE), or to assist in the objectification of the degree(s) of impairment(s). The type of FCE needed, and any other issues the FCE evaluator needs to address, should be specified when requesting a FCE.

The term "capacity" used in FCE may be misleading, since an FCE generally measures an individual's voluntary performance rather than his or her capacity. Physical performance is affected by psychosocial as well as physical factors. The extent of an individual's performance should be evaluated as part of the FCE process through analysis of his

or her level of physical effort (based on physiological and biomechanical changes during activity) and consistency of performance. Perhaps more importantly, the objective findings identified in the musculoskeletal evaluation should correlate with any identified functional deficits. The individual's performance level, especially as it relates to stated levels of performance, should be discussed in the FCE report. A properly performed and well-reported FCE will highlight such discrepancies. This is particularly important in TBI and cervicothoracic evaluations where there may be greater degrees of impairments at stake and where there are somewhat fewer metrics available than for the distal upper extremity.

FCE test components may vary depending on the model used, but most contain the following:

- Patient interview including:
- Informed consent
- Injury/illness and medical history
- Current symptoms, activities and stated limitations
- Pain ratings/disability questionnaires
- Musculoskeletal examination (e.g., including Waddell's nonorganic signs)
- Observations throughout the session (e.g., demonstrated sitting tolerance, pain modifying behaviors)
- Material handling tests (lifting, carrying, pushing, pulling)
- Movement tests (walking, crouching, kneeling, reaching, etc.)
- Positional tolerance tests
- Dexterity/hand function
- Static strength (varies among models)
- Aerobic fitness (usually submaximal test-also variable among models)
- Job specific activities as relevant
- Reliability of client reporting (e.g., non-organic signs, pain questionnaires, placebo tests, etc.)
- Physical effort testing (e.g., Jamar Dynamometer maximum voluntary effort, bell curve analysis, rapid exchange grip, competitive test performance, heart rate, observation of clinical inconsistencies, etc.)

FCE test length may vary between FCE models, although most 1-day FCEs are completed in 3 to 4 hours. Two-day tests, where the patient is seen on 2 consecutive days, may be recommended when there are problems with fatigue (e.g., chronic fatigue syndrome), delayed onset of symptoms, unusually complex job demands to simulate, and questions about symptom validity. Test length for 2-day tests is generally 3 to 4 hours on the first day, and 2 to 3 hours on second day.

Interpretation of FCE results is complicated in that it is a measure of voluntary performance. Before beginning testing, the patient is counseled to avoid doing anything to knowingly reinjure him or herself. Thus "fear avoidance" may cause testing to seriously underestimate actual ability and result in a report that the patient had "self-limited performance due to pain," suggesting a low pain

tolerance, when in reality the patient was doing what he or she was instructed.

The best studies on the ability of FCEs to predict safe re-entry to the workplace following rehabilitation of work-related back pain/injury suggest that FCEs are not able to predict safe return to work (concurrent validity).[1350-1352] In a prospective cohort study of 1,438 consecutive work-related back patients, all underwent a FCE prior to return to work. In the control group, the FCE was used to write return-to-work guidelines, while in the study group it was ignored and the worker was returned usually to full duty. Ignoring the FCE reportedly improved outcomes in a 1994 study, although the results have not been duplicated[1353] and the quality of an FCE is believed to be heavily dependent on the skill, knowledge and experience of the FCE evaluator.[1354]

### FCEs for Chronic Stable Cervicothoracic Pain or Post-operative Recovery

#### No Recommendation.

There is no recommendation for or against FCEs for chronic stable cervicothoracic pain or after completion of post-operative recovery among those able to return to work.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale:

FCEs are one of the few means to attempt to objectify limitations and are frequently used in workers' compensation systems, particularly as the correlation between pain ratings and functional abilities appears weak.[1341-1347] Yet, obtaining objective data regarding either TBI or spine problems is somewhat more challenging than for extremityrelated impairments due to the degree of reliance on the patient's subjective willingness to exert or sustain major activities (e.g., standing, walking, sitting) that are critical for job performance. As FCEs typically emphasize physical over cognitive performance, FCEs are also typically somewhat limited in their ability to assess most TBI patients. Those that combine job-specific cognitive with physical assessments may be better able evaluate, assess and guide the return to work and rehabilitative processes. Because their reliability and validity have not been proven, FCEs should be utilized to evaluate work ability about what a patient was willing to do on a given day. They should not be used to override the judgment about the work ability of a patient with a TBI or spine problem.

Many commercial FCE models are available. There is research regarding inter-and intra-rater reliability for some of the models (complete discussion is beyond the scope of this guideline). The validity of FCEs, particularly predictive validity, is more difficult to determine, since factors other than physical performance may affect return to work.[1348, 1349] An FCE may be done for one or more reasons, including identifying an individual's ability to perform specific job tasks associated with a job (job-specific FCE) and physical activities associated with any job (general FCE), or to assist in the objectification of the degree(s) of impairment(s). The type of FCE needed, and any other issues the FCE evaluator needs to address, should be specified when requesting a FCE.

The term "capacity" used in FCE may be misleading, since an FCE generally measures an individual's voluntary performance rather than his or her capacity. Physical performance is affected by psychosocial as well as physical factors. The extent of an individual's performance should be evaluated as part of the FCE process through analysis of his or her level of physical effort (based on physiological and biomechanical changes during activity) and consistency of performance. Perhaps more importantly, the objective findings identified in the musculoskeletal evaluation should correlate with any identified functional deficits. The individual's performance level, especially as it relates to stated levels of performance, should be discussed in the FCE report. A properly performed and well-reported FCE will highlight such discrepancies. This is particularly important in TBI and cervicothoracic evaluations where there may be greater degrees of impairments at stake and where there are somewhat fewer metrics available than for the distal upper extremity.

FCE test components may vary depending on the model used, but most contain the following:

- Patient interview including:
- Informed consent
- Injury/illness and medical history
- Current symptoms, activities and stated limitations
- Pain ratings/disability questionnaires
- Musculoskeletal examination (e.g., including Waddell's nonorganic signs)
- Observations throughout the session (e.g., demonstrated sitting tolerance, pain modifying behaviors)
- Material handling tests (lifting, carrying, pushing, pulling)
- Movement tests (walking, crouching, kneeling, reaching, etc.)
- Positional tolerance tests
- Dexterity/hand function
- Static strength (varies among models)
- Aerobic fitness (usually submaximal test-also variable among models)
- Job specific activities as relevant
- Reliability of client reporting (e.g., non-organic signs, pain questionnaires, placebo tests, etc.)
- Physical effort testing (e.g., Jamar Dynamometer maximum voluntary effort, bell curve analysis, rapid exchange grip, competitive test performance, heart rate, observation of clinical inconsistencies, etc.)

FCE test length may vary between FCE models, although most 1-day FCEs are completed in 3 to 4 hours. Two-day tests, where the patient is seen on 2 consecutive days, may be recommended when there are problems with fatigue (e.g., chronic fatigue syndrome), delayed onset of symptoms, unusually complex job demands to simulate, and questions about symptom validity. Test length for 2-day tests is generally 3 to 4 hours on the first day, and 2 to 3 hours on second day.

Interpretation of FCE results is complicated in that it is a measure of voluntary performance. Before beginning testing, the patient is counseled to avoid doing anything to knowingly reinjure him or herself. Thus "fear avoidance" may cause testing to seriously underestimate actual ability and result in a report that the patient had "self-limited performance due to pain," suggesting a low pain tolerance, when in reality the patient was doing what he or she was instructed.

The best studies on the ability of FCEs to predict safe re-entry to the workplace following rehabilitation of work-related back pain/injury suggest that FCEs are not able to predict safe return to work (concurrent validity).[1350-1352] In a prospective cohort study of 1,438 consecutive work-related back patients, all underwent a FCE prior to return to work. In the control group, the FCE was used to write return-to-work guidelines, while in the study group it was ignored and the worker was returned usually to full duty. Ignoring the FCE reportedly improved outcomes in a 1994 study, although the results have not been duplicated[1353] and the quality of an FCE is believed to be heavily dependent on the skill, knowledge and experience of the FCE evaluator.[1354]

# FCEs for Acute Cervicothoracic Pain, Acute or Subacute Radicular Syndromes, or Post-Surgical Cervical or Thoracic Pain

Not Recommended.

FCEs are not recommended for evaluation of acute cervicothoracic pain, acute or subacute radicular syndromes, or post-surgical cervicothoracic pain problems within the first 12 weeks of the post-operative period.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Rationale:

FCEs are one of the few means to attempt to objectify limitations and are frequently used in workers' compensation systems, particularly as the correlation between pain ratings and functional abilities appears weak.[1341-1347] Yet, obtaining objective data regarding either TBI or spine problems is somewhat more challenging than for extremityrelated impairments due to the degree of reliance on the patient's subjective willingness to exert or sustain major activities (e.g., standing, walking, sitting) that are critical for job performance. As FCEs typically emphasize physical over cognitive performance, FCEs are also typically somewhat limited in their ability to assess most TBI patients. Those that combine job-specific cognitive with physical assessments may be better able evaluate, assess and guide the return to work and rehabilitative processes. Because their reliability and validity have not been proven, FCEs should be utilized to evaluate work ability about what a patient was willing to do on a given day. They should not be used to override the judgment about the work ability of a patient with a TBI or spine problem.

Many commercial FCE models are available. There is research regarding inter-and intra-rater reliability for some of the models (complete discussion is beyond the scope of this guideline). The validity of FCEs, particularly predictive validity, is more difficult to determine, since factors other than physical performance may affect return to work.[1348, 1349] An FCE may be done for one or more reasons, including identifying an individual's ability to perform specific job tasks associated with a job (job-specific FCE) and physical activities associated with any job (general FCE), or to assist in the objectification of the degree(s) of impairment(s). The type of FCE needed, and any other issues the FCE evaluator needs to address, should be specified when requesting a FCE.

The term "capacity" used in FCE may be misleading, since an FCE generally measures an individual's voluntary performance rather than his or her capacity. Physical performance is affected by psychosocial as well as physical factors. The extent of an individual's performance should be evaluated as part of the FCE process through analysis of his or her level of physical effort (based on physiological and biomechanical changes during activity) and consistency of performance. Perhaps more importantly, the objective findings identified in the musculoskeletal evaluation should correlate with any identified functional deficits. The individual's performance level, especially as it relates to stated levels of performance, should be discussed in the FCE report. A properly performed and well-reported

FCE will highlight such discrepancies. This is particularly important in TBI and cervicothoracic evaluations where there may be greater degrees of impairments at stake and where there are somewhat fewer metrics available than for the distal upper extremity.

FCE test components may vary depending on the model used, but most contain the following:

- Patient interview including:
- Informed consent
- Injury/illness and medical history
- Current symptoms, activities and stated limitations
- Pain ratings/disability questionnaires
- Musculoskeletal examination (e.g., including Waddell's nonorganic signs)
- Observations throughout the session (e.g., demonstrated sitting tolerance, pain modifying behaviors)
- Material handling tests (lifting, carrying, pushing, pulling)
- Movement tests (walking, crouching, kneeling, reaching, etc.)
- Positional tolerance tests
- Dexterity/hand function
- Static strength (varies among models)
- Aerobic fitness (usually submaximal test-also variable among models)
- Job specific activities as relevant
- Reliability of client reporting (e.g., non-organic signs, pain questionnaires, placebo tests, etc.)
- Physical effort testing (e.g., Jamar Dynamometer maximum voluntary effort, bell curve analysis, rapid exchange grip, competitive test performance, heart rate, observation of clinical inconsistencies, etc.)

FCE test length may vary between FCE models, although most 1-day FCEs are completed in 3 to 4 hours. Two-day tests, where the patient is seen on 2 consecutive days, may be recommended when there are problems with fatigue (e.g., chronic fatigue syndrome), delayed onset of symptoms, unusually complex job demands to simulate, and questions about symptom validity. Test length for 2-day tests is generally 3 to 4 hours on the first day, and 2 to 3 hours on second day.

Interpretation of FCE results is complicated in that it is a measure of voluntary performance. Before beginning testing, the patient is counseled to avoid doing anything to knowingly reinjure him or herself. Thus "fear avoidance" may cause testing to seriously underestimate actual ability and result in a report that the patient had "self-limited performance due to pain," suggesting a low pain tolerance, when in reality the patient was doing what he or she was instructed.

The best studies on the ability of FCEs to predict safe re-entry to the workplace following rehabilitation of work-related back pain/injury suggest that FCEs are not able to predict safe return to work (concurrent validity).[1350-1352] In a prospective cohort study of 1,438 consecutive work-related back patients, all underwent a FCE

prior to return to work. In the control group, the FCE was used to write return-to-work guidelines, while in the study group it was ignored and the worker was returned usually to full duty. Ignoring the FCE reportedly improved outcomes in a 1994 study, although the results have not been duplicated[1353] and the quality of an FCE is believed to be heavily dependent on the skill, knowledge and experience of the FCE evaluator.[1354]

Evidence: Comments:

## **Job Site Evaluations**

Job site evaluations are used for many purposes that include ascertainment of job requirements (as job descriptions are typically inadequate for job-specific return to work analyses), measurement of specific exposures, measurement of job performance abilities, analyses of potential movement to another position, ability to reduce job limitations on the job, planning rehabilitation program targets and components, and prevention of secondary injuries. Any of these are appropriate uses of job site evaluations.

# **Prognosis**

The prognosis for TBI patients is naturally correlated with the severity of the TBI event [126, 453, 1355-1357] [429]. Markers for prognosis include durations of loss of consciousness and post-traumatic amnesia [453]. Military and civilian populations have been found to have few long-term sequella of TBI after accounting for PTSD [100, 133, 1358].

Psychological factors, psychiatric history, anxiety, depression, low social support, perception of adverse consequences of TBI, stress and low intelligence are widely reported risks for persistence of TBI symptoms, especially mild TBI [104, 127, 130, 132-135, 1359] [110, 131]. There is a reported propensity for a sizable proportion of those with mild TBI to exaggerate the duration and severity of symptoms, especially with secondary gain considerations that include workers compensation or litigation [126, 427]. Assessment of effort has been reported to be a major problem in evaluation of subacute to chronic TBI cases, especially when the TBI was mild [124-126, 128].

Full recovery is expected after mild TBI [117, 126, 350, 1360] [114, 135, 349, 1357, 1361], with expected full recovery in 1 to 3 months [429] [106, 349, 427, 436, 1317, 1362]. By contrast, most improvements in moderate to severe TBI occur over the first 1 to 2 years, but may persist beyond and indefinitely particulary with severe injuries [95, 429, 449, 1355]. There is far less quality literature on repeated TBI events, nearly all of which involves athletes; quality data substantially conflict regarding whether there are worse cognitive or degenerative outcomes and prognoses with multiple TBIs [1363-1365] despite the attention this is receiving in the lay press.

# **Follow-up Visits**

It is recommended that patients with work-related mild to moderate TBI should follow-up in person or by phone every 1 to 5 days with a health care provider who can offer subsequent assessments and counseling regarding assessments for complications (e.g., subdural hematomas), advancing cognitive activity levels, advancing physical activities, avoiding inactivity, medication use, anticipated favorable prognosis, and other concerns [**Recommended Insufficient Evidence (I)**]. Those with moderate to severe TBI may require hospitalization and some will require intensive care monitoring and treatments [**Recommended Insufficient Evidence (I)**].

Interactive sessions should typically actively involve the patient in his or her recovery. If the patient has returned to work, these interactions may be conducted on site or by telephone to avoid interfering with

work activities. Subsequent follow-up can occur when there is need for: 1) altered treatment; 2) release to modified, increased, or full duty; or 3) after appreciable healing or recovery can be expected. Typically, this will be no later than 1 week into the acute pain period.

When a patient has residual and stable sequellae of TBI, less frequent followup is needed. Achievement of stability generally takes a minimum of 2 years. Regardless of apparent stability, more frequent follow-up may be needed when there is a move to the next level of functioning, e.g., when an individual is ready to re-enter the work force well down the line post-injury. In that context of re-integrating into the work force, follow-up is frequently of benefit and more frequent follow-up during that transitioning period may be of benefit to work through transitioning, accommodations, and fear avoidant beliefs.

After 2 years, and when there is complete stability, follow-up may be infrequent, such as every 6 months, unless there is functional transitioning noted above. Depending upon the complexity of the case and the TBI complications, outpatient follow-up visits may be needed more frequently, approximately every 3-6 months. Mostly stable patients may generally be seen 4-6 times per year due to their TBI co-morbidities, with more frequent and individualized followups needed for complex and/or less stable patients.

# **Appendix 2: PICO Questions**

- P Workers and/or patients with hip pain/suspected hip osteoarthrosis
- I Antibodies for evaluating hip pain
- **C** Are antibodies superior to other screening and testing tools for hip pain?
- **O** Identification of hip pain and/or differentiating inflammatory rheumatic disorders from hip osteoarthrosis
- 1. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Skull x-rays
  - C—Is there evidence that skull x-rays are superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - **O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 2. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Computerized tomography (CT)
  - C—Is there evidence that CT is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 3. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)
  - C—Is there evidence that MRI is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 4. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS)
  - C—Is there evidence that MRS is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 5. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI)
  - C-Is there evidence that fMRI is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 6. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Diffusor tension imaging (DTI)
  - C-Is there evidence that DTI is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 7. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT)
  - C—Is there evidence that SPECT is superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - **O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

8. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Positron emission testing (PET)

C-Is there evidence that PET is superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

9. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Vascular imaging tests

C—Are vascular imaging tests superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

10. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Brain acoustic monitoring (BAM)

**C**—Is BAM superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

11. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Electroencephalography (EEG)

**C**—Is EEG superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

12. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Quantitative electroencephalography (qEEG)

C—Is qEEG superior to EEG or other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

- 13. **P**—Workers and/or patient with TBI
  - I—Somatosensory evoked potential (SSEP)

**C**—Is SSEP superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

14. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials

**C**—Are vestibular evoked myogenic potentials superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

15. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Electromyography (EMG)

C-Is EMG superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

16. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Nerve conduction studies

**C**—Are nerve conduction studies superior to other diagnostic tools?

**O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

17. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Electroneuronography (EnoG)

**C**—Is EnoG superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

18. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Ultrasonography (US)

**C**—Is US superior to other diagnostic tools?

O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI

19. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Neurocognitive testing

C-Is neurocognitive testing superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

20. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Neurological assessment

C-Is neurological assessment superior to other diagnostic tools?

**O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

21. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Automated neuropsychological assessment metrics [1]

C-Is ANAM superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

22. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cognitive event related potential

**C**—Is the use of cognitive event related potential superior to other diagnostic tools?

O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI

23. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Immediate Post-Concussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT)

C-Is ImPACT superior to other post-concussion tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

24. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—King Devick testing

C—Is King Devick testing superior to other post-concussion tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

25. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Military Acute Concussion Evaluation [318]

- **C**—Is the MACE superior to other concussion evaluations?
- **O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 26. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT)

C—Is the SCAT superior to other concussion evaluation

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

27. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Standardized Assessment of Concussion (SAC)

 $\mathbf{C-}\mbox{Is the SAC}$  superior to other concussion evaluation

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

28. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Attention tests

- **C**—Are Attention tests superior to other diagnostic tools?
- O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 29. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Executive function tests

C—Are executive function tests superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

30. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Memory tests

C—Are memory tests superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

31. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI)

C—Is the MMPI superior to other diagnostic tools?

**O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

32. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS, WAIS-III)

C—Are the WAIS or WAIS-III superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

- 33. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Wechsler Memory Scale III (WMS-III)

C—Is the WMS-III superior to other diagnostic tools?

- O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 34. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Tests of memory malingering

- **C**—Are memory malingering tests superior to other diagnostic tools?
- o—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 35. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Visual acuity testing
  - C—Is visual acuity testing superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 36. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Visual evoked potential (VEP)
  - C—Is VEP superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 37. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Visual field testing
  - C—Is visual field testing superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 38. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Visual perceptual testing
  - C-Is visual perceptual testing superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 39. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Electroretinogram (REG)
  - **C**—Is ERG superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 40. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Fluorescein antibody
  - C—Is fluorescein antibody superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 41. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Optical coherence tomography
  - C—Is optical coherence tomography superior to other diagnostic tools?
  - **O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI
- 42. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Audiometry

- C—Is audiometry superior to other diagnostic tools?
- **O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

43. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Brainstem audiometry evoked response

C-Is brainstem audiometry evoked response superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

44. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Tympanometry

**C**—Is tympanometry superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

45. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Vestibular function testing

C—Is vestibular function testing superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

46. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Computerized dynamic platform posturography

C—Is computerized dynamic platform posturography superior to other diagnostic tools?

**O**—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

47. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Electronystagmography (ENG) or video nystamography (VNG)

C—Are either ENG or VNG superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

48. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Rotary chair testing

C—Is rotary chair testing superior to other diagnostic tools?

O-Identification/diagnosis of TBI

49. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cognitive-motor dual testing

**C**—Is cognitive-motor dual testing superior to other diagnostic tools?

O—Identification/diagnosis of TBI

50. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Family visits

C-Are family visits equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

51. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Multimodal and unimodal coma stimulation

C-Are multimodal or unimodal coma stimulation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

52. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Action sequences

**C**—Are action sequences equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

53. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—High order reasoning training

C-Is high order reasoning training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

54. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Vision training

C-Is vision training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

55. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Reading comprehension

C-Is reading comprehension equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

56. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Specific motor comprehension

C-Is specific motor comprehension equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 57. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Systematic instruction

C-Is systematic instruction equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 58. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Television assisted rehabilitation

C-Is television assisted rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

59. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Handheld computers for memory aids

C-Are handheld computers equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

60. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Physical therapy

- **C**—Is physical therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 61. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Occupational therapy

C—Is occupational therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 62. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Strengthening exercises

**C**—Are strengthening exercises equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

63. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Stretching and flexibility exercises

C—Are stretching and flexibility exercises equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 64. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Relaxation exercises and group discussion

C—Are relaxation exercises and group discussion equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

65. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Aerobic exercises

C-Are aerobic exercises equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

66. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Aquatic therapy

C-Is aquatic therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

67. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Computer and video games

**C**—Are computer and video games equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 68. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Virtual reality

**C**—Is virtual reality equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 69. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Compensatory skills training

- C-Is compensatory skills training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 70. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Restorative and compensatory computer assisted cognitive remediation (CACR) and external aids

C—Are CACR and external aids equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 71. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Attention process training [770]

C-Is APT equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

72. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Recreational computing

- **C**—Is recreational computing equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 73. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Computerized attention training with visual, auditory and divided training

- C-Is computerized attention training with visual, auditory and divided training equivalent or superior
- to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

74. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Captain's Log

**C**—Is Captain's Log equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 75. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Restorative computer and non-computer attention remediation

C—Are restorative computer and non-computer attention remediation equivalent or superior to other

effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

76. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Reaction time training

**C**—Is reaction time training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

77. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Perceptual skills training

C-Is perceptual skills training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

78. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Verbal labeling training and compensatory interpersonal process recall

C—Are verbal labeling training and compensatory interpersonal process recall equivalent or superior to

other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

79. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Psychological functioning and activities of daily living (ADLs)

C—Are psychological functioning and ADLs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

80. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Memory/reasoning tasks, games and computer games

C- Memory/reasoning tasks, games and computer games equivalent or superior to other effective

treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 81. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Computer memory retraining group (CMRG)

C—Is CMRG equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

82. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Restorative imagery training

C-Is restorative imagery training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

83. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Restorative functional skills training

**C**—Is restorative functional skills training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

84. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Games, art, and other types of self-expression

C—Are games, art, and other types of self-expression equivalent or superior to other effective

treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

85. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation

C—Is computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

86. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Induced hypothermia

C-Is induced hypothermia equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

87. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Intracranial pressure monitoring and thresholds

**C**—Are intracranial pressure monitoring and thresholds equivalent or superior to other effective

treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 88. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Oxygen monitoring and thresholds
  - **C**—Are oxygen monitoring and thresholds equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
  - O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 89. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Return to work

C-Is Return to work equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

90. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Vocational rehabilitation programs

C-Are vocational rehabilitation programs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

91. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Functional capacity evaluations (FCEs)

C—Are FCEs equivalent or superior to other TBI assessment tools?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

92. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—FCEs for chronic disabling cervical or thoracic pain

C—Are FCEs recommended assessments for chronic disabling cervical or thoracic pain?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

93. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-FCEs for chronic stable cervicothoracic pain or post-operative recovery

C—Are FCEs recommended for assessment of chronic stable cervicothoracic pain or post-operative

recovery?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

94. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—FCEs for acute cervicothoracic pain, acute or subacute radicular syndromes, or post-surgical cervical or thoracic pain

**C**—Are FCEs recommended for acute cervicothoracic pain, acute or subacute radicular syndromes, or post-surgical cervical or thoracic pain?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 95. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Proton pump inhibitors (PPIs)
  - C—Are PPIs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

96. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Sucralfate

- C-Is sucralfate equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 97. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—H2 blockers

C-Are H2 blockers equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 98. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents (NSAIDS)

C-Are NSAIDS equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

99. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-NSAIDs for febrile control

C-Are NSAIDs for febrile control equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 100. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Boswellia Serrata

C-Is Boswellia Serrata equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 101. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Other alternative, complementary, or homeopathic treatments

**C**—Are other alternative, complementary, or homeopathic treatments equivalent or superior to other

effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

102. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Magnesium

C—Is magnesium equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

103. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Progesterone

C-Is progesterone equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

104. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Bromocriptine

**C**—Is bromocriptine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

105. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cyclosporine

C-Is cyclosporine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

106. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Donepezil

C-Is donepezil equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

107. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Mannitol for intracranial pressure

C-Is Mannitol for intracranial pressure equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

108. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Hypertonic saline for intracranial pressure

C-Is hypertonic saline for intracranial pressure equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

109. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Ringers lactate for intracranial pressure

C-Is Ringers lactate for intracranial pressure equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

110. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Methylphenidate

- **C**—Is methylphenidate equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 111. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Modafinil

C-Is modafinil equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

112. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Anti-spasticity medications

C—Are anti-spasticity medications equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

113. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Antiseizure prophylaxis (anticonvulsants)

C-Is antiseizure prophylaxis (anticonvulsants) equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 114. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Antidepressants

C-Are antidepressants equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

115. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Benzodiazepines

C-Are benzodiazepines equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

116. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Corticosteroids

C-Are corticosteroids equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

117. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Excitatory amino acid inhibitors

**C**—Are excitatory amino acid inhibitors equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 118. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Amantadine

**C**—Is amantadine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 119. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cannabinoids

- **C**—Are cannabinoids equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 120. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cerebrolysin

- C-Is cerebrolysin equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 121. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Tranexamic acid
  - C-Is tranexamic acid equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 122. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Sedatives, sedative hypnotics, and opioids
  - C-Are sedatives, sedative hypnotics, and opioids equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
  - O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 123. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Barbiturates

C-Are barbiturates equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 124. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Beta blockers
  - C-Are beta blockers equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
  - **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 125. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Aminosteroids
  - C-Are aminosteroids equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
  - **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 126. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Citicoline

- C—Is citicoline equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 127. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Physostigmine (eserine)

- C-Is physostigmine (eserine) equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
128. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Rivastigmine

C-Is rivastigmine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

129. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Cabergoline

**C**—Is cabergoline equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

130. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Deamino arginine vasopressin (DDAVP)

C-Is deamino arginine vasopressin (DDAVP) equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

131. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Memantine

C-Is memantine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 132. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Substance P antagonists

**C**—Are substance P Antagonists equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

133. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Piracetam

C-Is piracetam equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

134. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Intrathecal baclofen pumps

C-Are intrathecal baclofen pumps equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

135. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Nutritional support

**C**—Is Nutritional support equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

136. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Rest

**C**—Is rest equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

137. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Body weight support treadmill

C-Is a body weight support treadmill equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

138. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Constraint-induced movement therapy

C-Is constraint-induced movement therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

139. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Whole body vibration (WBV)

C-Is WBV equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 140. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT)

C—Is CBT equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

141. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Education programs

**C**—Are education programs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

142. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Neuroplasticity

C-Is neuroplasticity equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

143. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Robotics

C—Are robotics equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

144. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Vestibular rehabilitation treatment

C-Is vestibular rehabilitation treatment equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

145. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Radiofrequency neurotomy, neurotomy, and facet rhizotomy

**C**—Are radiofrequency neurotomy, neurotomy, and facet rhizotomy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

146. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Radiofrequency neurotomy for cervicogenic headache

C-Is radiofrequency for cervicogenic headache equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 147. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I-Occipital nerve blocks

**C**—Are occipital nerve blocks equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

148. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Non-invasive occipital nerve stimulation (ONS)

C-Is ONS equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

149. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Implantable occipital nerve stimulation devices

C-Are implantable ONS devices equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

150. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Botulinum toxin

**C**—Is botulinum toxin equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

151. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Meniett device

C-Is the Meniett device equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

152. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS)

C—Is TMS equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

153. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Transcranial direct current stimulation (TDCS)

C-Is TDCS equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

154. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBO or HBOT)

C-Is HBO or HBOT equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

155. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Manipulation / mobilization for cervicothoracic pain

C-Is manipulation / mobilization for cervicothoracic pain equivalent or superior to other effective

treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

156. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Manipulation for chronic cervicogenic headache pain

C-Is manipulation for chronic cervicogenic headache pain equivalent or superior to other effective

#### treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

157. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Manipulation of cervical spine

C-Is manipulation of cervical spine equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

158. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Cervical manipulation for tension headaches

C-Is cervical manipulation for tension headaches equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

159. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Routine manipulation / mobilization

C-Is routine manipulation / mobilization equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

160. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Manipulation for radicular pain syndromes with acute neurological deficits

C-Is manipulation for radicular pain syndromes with acute neurological deficits equivalent or superior

to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

161. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Manipulation for radicular pain without neurological deficits

**C**—Is manipulation for radicular pain without neurological deficits equivalent or superior to other

effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

162. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Deep thalamic simulation

C-Is deep thalamic stimulation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O-Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

163. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Acupuncture for cervicothoracic pain

C-Is acupuncture for cervicothoracic pain equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

164. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Induced hypothermia

C-Is induced hypothermia equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

- 165. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI
  - I—Laser therapy/low-level laser therapy

C-Is laser therapy or low-level laser therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 166. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Functional electrical stimulation [1182]

C-Is FES equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

167. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES)

C-Is NMES equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

168. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Hyperventilation

C-Is hyperventilation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

169. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Behavioral programs

**C**—Are behavioral programs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

170. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Outpatient home and community-based rehabilitation

**C**—Is outpatient home and community-based rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

171. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Comprehensive integrated interdisciplinary rehabilitation

C-Is comprehensive integrated interdisciplinary rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective

treatments?

O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

172. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Residential rehabilitation

C-Is residential rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

173. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Supported living programs

C—Are supported living programs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 174. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Skilled nursing facilities (SNFs)

C-Are SNFs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

175. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Occupational rehabilitation

C-Is occupational rehabilitation equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 176. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Opioid/chemical treatment programs

C-Are opioid/chemical treatment programs equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

177. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Music therapy

C—Is music therapy equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

178. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Ankle-foot orthotics

**C**—Are ankle-foot orthotics equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

179. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Adaptive devices, casting, and orthotics

C—Are adaptive devices, casting and orthotics equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

180. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Neuromuscular re-education

C-Is neuromuscular re-education equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

181. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I-Muscle tone and joint restriction management

C-Is muscle tone and joint restriction management equivalent or superior to other effective

#### treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

182. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Mood stabilizers

C-Are mood stabilizers equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

**O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

183. P-Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Attention regulation training

- C-Is attention regulation training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 184. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Anger management training

C-Is anger management training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 185. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Suicide prevention

C-Is suicide prevention equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- **O**—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 186. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Motivational interviewing

**C**—Is motivational interviewing equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?

- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 187. P—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Emotional training

- C—Is emotional training equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 188. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Goal setting

- C-Is goal setting equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms
- 189. **P**—Workers and/or patients with TBI

I—Peer monitoring program

- C—Is a peer monitoring program equivalent or superior to other effective treatments?
- O—Treatment of TBI and/or symptoms

# Algorithms



### Algorithm 1. Acute TBI



## Algorithm 2. Severe TBI



Algorithm 3. Rehabilitation Assessment and Treatment

# References

- 1. Barritt, A.M., S; Davagnanam, I; Matharu, M, *Rapid diagnosis vital in thunderclap headache.* The Practitioner, 2016. **260**(1792): p. 23.
- 2. American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, *Methodology for the Update of the* Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines. Available at: https://acoem.org/acoem/media/PracticeResources/Methodology-2017-Update.pdf.
- American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Summary: Methodology for Updates to the ACOEM Practice Guidelines. Available at: <u>https://acoem.org/Guidance-and-Position-Statements/</u> Guidelines.
- Harris, J.S., et al., Methodology to update the practice recommendations in the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine's Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines, second edition. J Occup Environ Med, 2008. 50(3): p. 282-95.
- 5. Institute of Medicine, *Standards for Developing Trustworthy Clinical Practice Guidelines. Available at:* <u>https://www.nationalacademies.org/our-work/standards-for-developing-trustworthy-clinical-practice-guidelines.</u>
- 6. The AGREE Research Trust, *Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation II (AGREE II) Instrument.* 2009.
- 7. Melhorn, J., et al., AMA Guides<sup>®</sup> to the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation, second edition. 2014, Chicago, IL: American Medical Association.
- 8. Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences, *Spine surgery. A Report by the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care. CMS-FDA Collaborative.* 2006.
- 9. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Vital signs: overdoses of prescription opioid pain relievers---United States, 1999--2008.* MMWR, 2011. **60**(43): p. 1487-92.
- 10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Vital signs: risk of overdose from methadone used for pain relief-United States, 1999-2010.* MMWR, 2012. **61:**: p. 493-7.
- Brouwers, M.C.K., Michelle E; Browman, George P; Burgers, Jako S; Cluzeau, Francoise; Feder, Gene; Fervers, Béatrice; Graham, Ian D; Grimshaw, Jeremy; Hanna, Steven E, AGREE II: advancing guideline development, reporting and evaluation in health care. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 2010. 182(18): p. E839-E842.
- 12. Institute of Medicine. *Standards for Developing Trustworthy Clinical Practice Guidelines*. 2011; Available from: <u>http://www.nationalacademies.org/hmd/Reports/2011/Clinical-Practice-Guidelines-We-Can-Trust/Standards.aspx</u>.
- 13. Faul, M.X., Likang; Wald, Marlena M; Coronado, VG, *Traumatic brain injury in the United States*. Atlanta, GA: national Center for injury Prevention and Control, Centers for disease Control and Prevention, 2010.
- 14. Langlois, J.A.R.-B., W.; Wald, M. M., *The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2006. **21**(5): p. 375-8.
- 15. Sosin, D.M.S., JE; Thurman, David J, *Incidence of mild and moderate brain injury in the United States, 1991.* Brain injury, 1996. **10**(1): p. 47-54.
- 16. Hyder, A.A.W., Colleen A; Puvanachandra, Prasanthi; Gururaj, G; Kobusingye, Olive C, *The impact of traumatic brain injuries: a global perspective*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2007. **22**(5): p. 341-353.
- 17. CDC, Percent Distributions of TBI-related Deaths by Age Group and Injury Mechanism United States, 2006–2010. 2016.
- 18. Jager, T.E.W., H. B.; Coben, J. H.; Pepe, P. E., *Traumatic brain injuries evaluated in U.S. emergency departments, 1992-1994.* Acad Emerg Med, 2000. **7**(2): p. 134-40.
- 19. Ragnarsson, K.C., WR; Daling, JR; Garber, SL; Gustafson, CF; Holland, AL; Jordan, BD; Parker, JC; Riddle, Mark A; Roth, EJ, *Rehabilitation of persons with traumatic brain injury*. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association, 1999. **282**(10): p. 974-983.
- Coronado, V.G.X., Likang; Basavaraju, Sridhar V; McGuire, Lisa C; Wald, Marlena M; Faul, Mark D; Guzman, Bernardo R; Hemphill, John D, Surveillance for traumatic brain injury-related deaths: United States, 1997-2007. 2011: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Atlanta.

- 21. Thurman, D.J.A., C.; Dunn, K. A.; Guerrero, J.; Sniezek, J. E., *Traumatic brain injury in the United States: A public health perspective*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1999. **14**(6): p. 602-15.
- 22. Thurman, D.J., et al., *Traumatic brain injury in the United States: A public health perspective*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1999. **14**(6): p. 602-15.
- 23. Selassie, A.W.Z., Eduard; Langlois, Jean A; Miller, Ted; Jones, Paul; Steiner, Claudia, *Incidence of Long-term Disability Following Traumatic Brain Injury Hospitalization, United States, 2003.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2008. **23**(2): p. 123-131.
- 24. Zaloshnja, E.M., Ted; Langlois, Jean A; Selassie, Anbesaw W, *Prevalence of Long-Term Disability From Traumatic Brain Injury in the Civilian Population of the United States, 2005.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2008. **23**(6): p. 394-400.
- 25. Kankaanpaa, M., et al., *The efficacy of active rehabilitation in chronic low back pain. Effect on pain intensity, self-experienced disability, and lumbar fatigability.* Spine, 1999. **24**(10): p. 1034-42.
- 26. Mannion, A.F., et al., *Comparison of three active therapies for chronic low back pain: results of a randomized clinical trial with one-year follow-up*. Rheumatology 2001. **40**(7): p. 772-8.
- 27. Corsellis, J.A. and J.B. Brierley, *Observations on the pathology of insidious dementia following head injury.* J Ment Sci, 1959. **105**: p. 714-20.
- 28. McKee, A.C., et al., *The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy*. Brain, 2013. **136**(Pt 1): p. 43-64.
- 29. HS., M., *Punch Drunk.* Journal of the American Medical Association, 1928. **91**: p. 1103-1107.
- 30. McKee, A.C., et al., *Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy after repetitive head injury.* J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 2009. **68**(7): p. 709-35.
- 31. Gavett, B.E., et al., *Mild traumatic brain injury: a risk factor for neurodegeneration*. Alzheimers Res Ther, 2010. **2**(3): p. 18.
- 32. Corsellis, J.A., C.J. Bruton, and D. Freeman-Browne, *The aftermath of boxing.* Psychol Med, 1973. **3**(3): p. 270-303.
- 33. Harmon, K.G.D., Jonathan A; Gammons, Matthew; Guskiewicz, Kevin M; Halstead, Mark; Herring, Stanley A; Kutcher, Jeffrey S; Pana, Andrea; Putukian, Margot; Roberts, William O, *American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement: concussion in sport*. Br J Sports Med, 2013. **47**(1): p. 15-26.
- 34. Guskiewicz, K.M.W., Nancy L; Padua, Darin A; Garrett, William E, *Epidemiology of concussion in collegiate and high school football players*. Am J Sports Med, 2000. **28**(5): p. 643-650.
- 35. Holm, L.D.C., J; Carroll, Linda; Borg, Jörgen, *Summary of the WHO collaborating centre for neurotrauma task force on mild traumatic brain injury*. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 2005. **37**(3): p. 137-141.
- Masel, B.E.D., Douglas S, *Traumatic brain injury: a disease process, not an event.* J Neurotrauma, 2010.
   27(8): p. 1529-1540.
- 37. Lee, Y.-K., et al., *Increased risk of dementia in patients with mild traumatic brain injury: a nationwide cohort study.* PloS one, 2013. **8**(5): p. e62422.
- 38. Plassman, B.L., et al., *Documented head injury in early adulthood and risk of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias*. Neurology, 2000. **55**(8): p. 1158-1166.
- 39. Barnes, D.E., et al., *Traumatic brain injury and risk of dementia in older veterans*. Neurology, 2014. **83**(4): p. 312-319.
- 40. Guo, Z., et al., *Head injury and the risk of AD in the MIRAGE study*. Neurology, 2000. **54**(6): p. 1316-1323.
- 41. Wang, H.-K., et al., *Population based study on patients with traumatic brain injury suggests increased risk of dementia.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2012. **83**(11): p. 1080-1085.
- 42. Fleminger, S., et al., *Head injury as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: the evidence 10 years on; a partial replication.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2003. **74**(7): p. 857-862.
- 43. Morris, J.C., *Mild cognitive impairment and preclinical Alzheimer's disease*. Geriatrics, 2005. **Suppl**: p. 9-14.
- 44. Linn, R.T., et al., *The 'preclinical phase' of probable Alzheimer's disease. A 13-year prospective study of the Framingham cohort.* Arch Neurol, 1995. **52**(5): p. 485-90.
- 45. Mehta, K., et al., *Head trauma and risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease The Rotterdam Study.* Neurology, 1999. **53**(9): p. 1959-1959.
- 46. Lye, T.C. and E.A. Shores, *Traumatic brain injury as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: a review.* Neuropsychology review, 2000. **10**(2): p. 115-129.

- 47. Gross, D.P., M.C. Battie, and A. Asante, *Development and validation of a short-form functional capacity evaluation for use in claimants with low back disorders*. J Occup Rehabil, 2006. **16**(1): p. 53-62.
- 48. Hunt, T.A., Chad, *Concussion assessment and management*. Clinics in sports medicine, 2010. **29**(1): p. 5-17.
- 49. Patel, D.R.S., Vandana; Baker, Robert J, *Management of sport-related concussion in young athletes*. Sports Medicine, 2005. **35**(8): p. 671-684.
- 50. French, L.M., M; Baggett, M, *The military acute concussion evaluation (MACE)*. Journal of Special Operations Medicine, 2008. **8**(1): p. 68-77.
- 51. Coldren, R.L.K., Mark P; Parish, Robert V; Dretsch, Michael; Russell, Michael L, Evaluation of the Military Acute Concussion Evaluation for use in combat operations more than 12 hours after injury. Mil Med, 2010.
   175(7): p. 477-481.
- 52. Vernon, H. and S. Mior, *The Neck Disability Index. A study of reliability and validity.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1991. **14**: p. 409-15.
- 53. Carreon, L.Y., et al., *Neck Disability Index, short form-36 physical component summary, and pain scales for neck and arm pain: the minimum clinically important difference and substantial clinical benefit after cervical spine fusion.* Spine J, 2010. **10**(6): p. 469-74.
- 54. Cleland, J.A., et al., *The reliability and construct validity of the Neck Disability Index and patient specific functional scale in patients with cervical radiculopathy.* Spine 2006. **31**(5): p. 598-602.
- 55. En, M.C., D.A. Clair, and S.J. Edmondston, *Validity of the Neck Disability Index and Neck Pain and Disability Scale for measuring disability associated with chronic, non-traumatic neck pain.* Man Ther, 2009. **14**(4): p. 433-8.
- 56. MacDermid, J.C., et al., *Measurement properties of the neck disability index: a systematic review.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2009. **39**(5): p. 400-17.
- 57. Pool, J.J., et al., *Minimal clinically important change of the Neck Disability Index and the Numerical Rating Scale for patients with neck pain.* Spine, 2007. **32**(26): p. 3047-51.
- 58. Vernon, H., *The psychometric properties of the Neck Disability Index*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(7): p. 1414-5; author reply 1415-6.
- 59. Young, B.A., et al., *Responsiveness of the Neck Disability Index in patients with mechanical neck disorders.* Spine J, 2009. **9**(10): p. 802-8.
- 60. Bolton, J. and B. Humphreys, *The Bournemouth Questionnaire*. *A short-form comprehensive outcome measure II: Psychometric properties in neck pain patients*. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2002. **25**(3): p. 141-8.
- 61. Fairbank, J.C., et al., *The Oswestry low back pain disability questionnaire*. Physiotherapy, 1980. **66**(8): p. 271-3.
- 62. Roland, M. and J. Fairbank, *The Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire and the Oswestry Disability Questionnaire.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2000. **25**(24): p. 3115-24.
- 63. Stratford, P., et al., *Assessing disability and change in individual patients: a report of a patient-specific measure.* Physiother Can, 1995. **47**: p. 258-63.
- 64. Westaway, M.D., P.W. Stratford, and J.M. Binkley, *The patient-specific functional scale: validation of its use in persons with neck dysfunction.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 1998. **27**(5): p. 331-8.
- 65. Hahne, A.J. and J.J. Ford, *Functional restoration for a chronic lumbar disk extrusion with associated radiculopathy.* Phys Ther, 2006. **86**(12): p. 1668-80.
- 66. Poiraudeau, S., F. Rannou, and M. Revel, *Functional restoration programs for low back pain: a systematic review.* Ann Readapt Med Phys, 2007. **50**(6): p. 425-9, 419-24.
- 67. Schaafsma, F., et al., *Physical conditioning programs for improving work outcomes in workers with back pain*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2010(1): p. CD001822.
- 68. Schonstein, E., et al., *Work conditioning, work hardening and functional restoration for workers with back and neck pain.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2003(1): p. CD001822.
- 69. Teasdale, G.J., Bryan, Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness: a practical scale. The Lancet, 1974. **304**(7872): p. 81-84.
- 70. Bruns, D. and J.M. Disorbio, *The Psychological Evaluation of Patients with Chronic Pain: a Review of BHI 2 Clinical and Forensic Interpretive Considerations*. Psychol Inj Law, 2014. **7**(4): p. 335-361.

- 71. Narouze, S., *Occipital Neuralgia Diagnosis and Treatment: The Role of Ultrasound*. Headache, 2016. **56**(4): p. 801-7.
- 72. Choi, I.J., S. R., *Neuralgias of the Head: Occipital Neuralgia*. J Korean Med Sci, 2016. **31**(4): p. 479-88.
- 73. Theeler, B.J.E., J. C., *Mild head trauma and chronic headaches in returning US soldiers*. Headache, 2009. **49**(4): p. 529-34.
- 74. Maas, A.I.S., E. W.; Butcher, I.; Dammers, R.; Lu, J.; Marmarou, A.; Mushkudiani, N. A.; McHugh, G. S.; Murray, G. D., *Prognostic value of computerized tomography scan characteristics in traumatic brain injury: results from the IMPACT study*. J Neurotrauma, 2007. **24**(2): p. 303-14.
- 75. Bazarian, J.J.B., B.; Mookerjee, S.; He, H.; McDermott, M. P., *Sex differences in outcome after mild traumatic brain injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2010. **27**(3): p. 527-39.
- 76. Thelin, E.P.J., L.; Nelson, D.; Bellander, B. M., *S100B is an important outcome predictor in traumatic brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(7): p. 519-28.
- 77. Heidari, K.A., S.; Jamshidian, M.; Abrishamchi, S. N.; Nouroozi, M., *Prediction of neuropsychological outcome after mild traumatic brain injury using clinical parameters, serum S100B protein and findings on computed tomography.* Brain Inj, 2015. **29**(1): p. 33-40.
- 78. Katz, D.I.A., M. P., *Traumatic brain injury. Predicting course of recovery and outcome for patients admitted to rehabilitation.* Arch Neurol, 1994. **51**(7): p. 661-70.
- 79. Wood, R.L.R., N. A., *Demographic and cognitive predictors of long-term psychosocial outcome following traumatic brain injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2006. **12**(3): p. 350-8.
- 80. Ponsford, J.D., K.; Schonberger, M., *Functional outcome 10 years after traumatic brain injury: its relationship with demographic, injury severity, and cognitive and emotional status.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2008. **14**(2): p. 233-42.
- 81. Milders, M.I., M.; Crawford, J. R.; Currie, D., *Social behavior following traumatic brain injury and its association with emotion recognition, understanding of intentions, and cognitive flexibility.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2008. **14**(2): p. 318-26.
- 82. Milders, M.F., S.; Crawford, J. R., *Neuropsychological impairments and changes in emotional and social behaviour following severe traumatic brain injury.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2003. **25**(2): p. 157-72.
- 83. Sherer, M.B., P.; Levin, E.; High, W. M., Jr.; Oden, K. E.; Nick, T. G., *Impaired awareness and employment outcome after traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1998. **13**(5): p. 52-61.
- Ezrachi, O.B.-Y., Yehuda; Kay, Thomas; DiUer, Leonard; Rattok, Jack, *Predicting employment in traumatic brain injury following neuropsychological rehabilitation*. The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1991.
   6(3): p. 71-84.
- 85. Van Den Eeden, S.K., et al., *Incidence of Parkinson's disease: variation by age, gender, and race/ethnicity.* Am J Epidemiol, 2003. **157**(11): p. 1015-22.
- 86. Hirsch, E.C., et al., *Nondopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease*. Adv Neurol, 2003. **91**: p. 29-37.
- 87. Braak, H., et al., *Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease*. Neurobiol Aging, 2003. **24**(2): p. 197-211.
- 88. de Lau, L.M. and M.M. Breteler, *Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease*. Lancet Neurol, 2006. 5(6): p. 525-35.
- 89. Head, J., *Definition of mild traumatic brain.*. *Injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1993. **8**(3): p. 86-87.
- 90. Menon, D.K.S., Karen; Wright, David W; Maas, Andrew I, *Position statement: definition of traumatic brain injury*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2010. **91**(11): p. 1637-1640.
- 91. Dawodu, S.T., *Traumatic brain injury (TBI)-definition, epidemiology, pathophysiology.* Medscape Reference: Drugs, Diseases & Procedures (10 November 2011). Available from: <u>https://</u> emedicine.medscape.com/article/326510-overview.
- 92. Duhaime, A.-C.B., Jonathan G; Maerlender, Arthur C; McAllister, Thomas W; Crisco, Joseph J; Duma, Stefan M; Brolinson, P Gunnar; Rowson, Steven; Flashman, Laura A; Chu, Jeffrey J, *Spectrum of acute clinical characteristics of diagnosed concussions in college athletes wearing instrumented helmets*. J Neurosurg, 2012. **117**(6): p. 1092.
- 93. Kashluba, S., et al., *Neuropsychologic and functional outcome after complicated mild traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(5): p. 904-11.
- 94. Ruff, R.M., et al., *Recommendations for diagnosing a mild traumatic brain injury: a National Academy of Neuropsychology education paper.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2009. **24**(1): p. 3-10.

- 95. Williams, M.W., et al., *Incremental Validity of Neuropsychological Evaluations to Computed Tomography in Predicting Long-Term Outcomes after Traumatic Brain Injury.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2013.
- 96. Mayer, C.L.H., B. R.; Peskind, E., *Traumatic brain injury, neuroinflammation, and post-traumatic headaches.* Headache, 2013. **53**(9): p. 1523-30.
- 97. Crucco, G., Leandri, M., Feliciani, M., Manfredi, M., *Idiopathic and symptomatic trigeminal pain.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 1990. **53**: p. 1034-1042.
- 98. Luethcke, C.A., et al., *Comparison of concussive symptoms, cognitive performance, and psychological symptoms between acute blast-versus nonblast-induced mild traumatic brain injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2011. **17**(1): p. 36-45.
- 99. Lippa, S.M., et al., *Postconcussive symptoms after blast and nonblast-related mild traumatic brain injuries in Afghanistan and Iraq war veterans.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2010. **16**(5): p. 856-66.
- 100. Polusny, M.A., et al., Longitudinal effects of mild traumatic brain injury and posttraumatic stress disorder comorbidity on postdeployment outcomes in national guard soldiers deployed to Iraq. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 2011. **68**(1): p. 79-89.
- 101. Kontos, A.P.E., R. J.; Kotwal, R. S.; Lutz, R. H.; Kane, S.; Benson, P. J.; Forsten, R. D.; Collins, M. W., *The effects of combat-related mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI): Does blast mTBI history matter?* J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 2015. **79**(4 Suppl 2): p. S146-51.
- 102. Kim, Y.H.K., M. H.; Na, S. Y.; Park, S. H.; Kim, K. W., *Effects of single-dose methylphenidate on cognitive performance in patients with traumatic brain injury: a double-blind placebo-controlled study.* Clin Rehabil, 2006. **20**(1): p. 24-30.
- 103. Barth, R., *Examinee-Reported History Is Not a Credible Basis for Clinical or Administrative Decision Making.* American Medical Association: The Guides Newsletter, 2009. **September/October**.
- 104. Iverson, G.L. and L.M. McCracken, 'Postconcussive' symptoms in persons with chronic pain. Brain Inj, 1997.
   11(11): p. 783-90.
- 105. Iverson, G.L., et al., "Good old days" bias following mild traumatic brain injury. Clin Neuropsychol, 2010. **24**(1): p. 17-37.
- 106. Stovner, L.J., et al., *Headache after concussion*. Eur J Neurol, 2009. **16**(1): p. 112-20.
- 107. Babikian, T., D. McArthur, and R.F. Asarnow, *Predictors of 1-month and 1-year neurocognitive functioning from the UCLA longitudinal mild, uncomplicated, pediatric traumatic brain injury study.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2013. **19**(2): p. 145-54.
- 108. Barsky, A.J., *Forgetting, fabricating, and telescoping: the instability of the medical history*. Arch Intern Med, 2002. **162**(9): p. 981-4.
- 109. Don, A.S. and E.J. Carragee, *Is the self-reported history accurate in patients with persistent axial pain after a motor vehicle accident?* Spine J, 2009. **9**(1): p. 4-12.
- 110. Machulda, M.M., et al., *Relationship between stress, coping, and postconcussion symptoms in a healthy adult population.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 1998. **13**(5): p. 415-24.
- 111. Wang, Y., R.C. Chan, and Y. Deng, *Examination of postconcussion-like symptoms in healthy university students: relationships to subjective and objective neuropsychological function performance.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2006. **21**(4): p. 339-47.
- 112. Gouvier, W.D., M. Uddo-Crane, and L.M. Brown, *Base rates of post-concussional symptoms*. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 1988. **3**(3): p. 273-8.
- 113. Zakzanis, K.K. and E. Yeung, *Base rates of post-concussive symptoms in a nonconcussed multicultural sample.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2011. **26**(5): p. 461-5.
- 114. Larrabee, G.J. and M.L. Rohling, *Neuropsychological differential diagnosis of mild traumatic brain injury.* Behav Sci Law, 2013. **31**(6): p. 686-701.
- 115. de Leon, M.B., et al., *Baseline predictors of fatigue 1 year after mild head injury*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2009. **90**(6): p. 956-65.
- 116. Dikmen, S., et al., *Rates of symptom reporting following traumatic brain injury*. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2010. **16**(3): p. 401-11.
- 117. Babikian, T. and R. Asarnow, *Neurocognitive outcomes and recovery after pediatric TBI: meta-analytic review of the literature*. Neuropsychology, 2009. **23**(3): p. 283-96.
- 118. Ponsford, J., et al., *Predictors of postconcussive symptoms 3 months after mild traumatic brain injury.* Neuropsychology, 2012. **26**(3): p. 304-13.

- 119. Rohling, M.L., J.E. Meyers, and S.R. Millis, *Neuropsychological impairment following traumatic brain injury: a dose-response analysis.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2003. **17**(3): p. 289-302.
- 120. Spitz, G., et al., *Mortality following Traumatic Brain Injury Inpatient Rehabilitation.* J Neurotrauma, 2015. **32**(16): p. 1272-80.
- 121. Yeates, K.O. and H.G. Taylor, *Neurobehavioural outcomes of mild head injury in children and adolescents.* Pediatr Rehabil, 2005. **8**(1): p. 5-16.
- 122. Paniak, C., et al., A longitudinal study of the relationship between financial compensation and symptoms after treated mild traumatic brain injury. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2002. **24**(2): p. 187-93.
- 123. Tricco, A.C., et al., Work-related deaths and traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj, 2006. 20(7): p. 719-24.
- 124. West, L.K., et al., *Memory in traumatic brain injury: the effects of injury severity and effort on the Wechsler Memory Scale-III.* J Neuropsychol, 2011. **5**(Pt 1): p. 114-25.
- 125. Green, P., et al., *Effort has a greater effect on test scores than severe brain injury in compensation claimants.* Brain injury, 2001. **15**(12): p. 1045-1060.
- 126. Ord, J.S., et al., *Executive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury: the effects of injury severity and effort on the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2010. **32**(2): p. 132-40.
- 127. Whittaker, R., S. Kemp, and A. House, *Illness perceptions and outcome in mild head injury: a longitudinal study.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2007. **78**(6): p. 644-6.
- 128. Lange, R.T., et al., *Influence of poor effort on self-reported symptoms and neurocognitive test performance following mild traumatic brain injury.* Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 2010. **32**(9): p. 961-972.
- 129. Gunstad, J. and J.A. Suhr, "Expectation as etiology" versus "the good old days": postconcussion syndrome symptom reporting in athletes, headache sufferers, and depressed individuals. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2001. **7**(3): p. 323-33.
- 130. Hou, R., et al., When a minor head injury results in enduring symptoms: a prospective investigation of risk factors for postconcussional syndrome after mild traumatic brain injury. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2012. **83**(2): p. 217-23.
- 131. Pavawalla, S.P., et al., *An exploration of diagnosis threat and group identification following concussion injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2013. **19**(3): p. 305-13.
- 132. Luis, C., R. Vanderploeg, and G. Curtiss, *Predictors of postconcussion symptom complex in community dwelling male veterans.* Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 2003. **9**(7): p. 1001-15.
- 133. Nelson, N.W., et al., *Neuropsychological outcomes of U.S. Veterans with report of remote blast-related concussion and current psychopathology*. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2012. **18**(5): p. 845-55.
- 134. Iverson, G.L., *Misdiagnosis of the persistent postconcussion syndrome in patients with depression*. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2006. **21**(4): p. 303-10.
- 135. Iverson, G.L., *Outcome from mild traumatic brain injury*. Curr Opin Psychiatry, 2005. **18**(3): p. 301-17.
- 136. Dikmen, S.S., et al., *Employment following traumatic head injuries*. Arch Neurol, 1994. **51**(2): p. 177-86.
- 137. Javouhey, E.G., Anne-Celine; Chiron, Mireille, *Incidence and risk factors of severe traumatic brain injury resulting from road accidents: a population-based study.* Accident Analysis & Prevention, 2006. **38**(2): p. 225-233.
- 138. Kim, Y.J., *A systematic review of factors contributing to outcomes in patients with traumatic brain injury.* Journal of clinical nursing, 2011. **20**(11-12): p. 1518-1532.
- 139. Colantonio, A.M., David; Patel, Jigisha; Lewko, John; Fergenbaum, Jennifer; Brison, Robert, *Examining occupational traumatic brain injury in Ontario*. Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique, 2010: p. S58-S62.
- 140. Lam, L.T., *Distractions and the risk of car crash injury: The effect of drivers' age.* Journal of Safety Research, 2002. **33**(3): p. 411-419.
- 141. Maas, A.I.S., Nino; Bullock, Ross, *Moderate and severe traumatic brain injury in adults*. The Lancet Neurology, 2008. **7**(8): p. 728-741.
- 142. Hukkelhoven, C.W.S., Ewout W; Rampen, Anneke JJ; Farace, Elana; Habbema, J Dik F; Marshall, Lawrence F; Murray, Gordon D; Maas, Andrew IR, *Patient age and outcome following severe traumatic brain injury: an analysis of 5600 patients.* Journal of neurosurgery, 2003. **99**(4): p. 666-673.

- 143. Keyser-Marcus, L.A.B., J. C.; Wehman, P.; Campbell, L. R.; Cifu, D. X.; Englander, J.; High, W.; Zafonte, R. D., *Acute predictors of return to employment after traumatic brain injury: a longitudinal follow-up.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2002. **83**(5): p. 635-41.
- 144. Davidson, J.C., Michael D; Bendena, William G, *Post-Traumatic Brain Injury Genetic Susceptibility to Outcome*. The Neuroscientist, 2015. **21**(4): p. 424-441.
- 145. Serri, K.E.R., Malak; Giraldeau, Geneviève; Williamson, David; Bernard, Francis, *Traumatic brain injury is not associated with significant myocardial dysfunction: an observational pilot study.* Scandinavian journal of trauma, resuscitation and emergency medicine, 2016. **24**(1): p. 1.
- 146. Östberg, A.T., Olli, *Smoking and outcome of traumatic brain injury*. Brain Injury, 2014. **28**(2): p. 155-160.
- 147. Ponsford, J.L., et al., *Fatigue and sleep disturbance following traumatic brain injury—their nature, causes, and potential treatments.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2012. **27**(3): p. 224-233.
- 148. Schnieders, J., D. Willemsen, and H. de Boer, *Factors contributing to chronic fatigue after traumatic brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2012. **27**(6): p. 404-12.
- 149. Mrazik, M.B., Brian L; Jubinville, Andrea; Meeuwisse, Willem H; Emery, Carolyn A, *Psychosocial outcomes of sport concussions in youth hockey players*. Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 2016. **31**(4): p. 297-304.
- 150. Viola-Saltzman, M. and N.F. Watson, *Traumatic brain injury and sleep disorders*. Neurol Clin, 2012. **30**(4): p. 1299-312.
- 151. Viola-Saltzman, M. and C. Musleh, *Traumatic brain injury-induced sleep disorders*. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat, 2016. **12**: p. 339-48.
- 152. Yasuda, S.W., P.; Targett, P.; Cifu, D.; West, M., *Return to work for persons with traumatic brain injury*. Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2001. **80**(11): p. 852-64.
- 153. Panayiotou, A., M. Jackson, and S.F. Crowe, *A meta-analytic review of the emotional symptoms associated with mild traumatic brain injury*. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2010. **32**(5): p. 463-73.
- 154. Mansfield, E., et al., *Return-to-work challenges following a work-related mild TBI: The injured worker perspective.* Brain injury, 2015. **29**(11): p. 1362-1369.
- 155. Pietrzak, R.H.J., Douglas C; Goldstein, Marc B; Malley, James C; Southwick, Steven M, *Posttraumatic stress* disorder mediates the relationship between mild traumatic brain injury and health and psychosocial functioning in veterans of Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom. The Journal of nervous and mental disease, 2009. **197**(10): p. 748-753.
- 156. Gordon, S.N., P.J. Fitzpatrick, and R.C. Hilsabeck, *No effect of PTSD and other psychiatric disorders on cognitive functioning in veterans with mild TBI*. Clin Neuropsychol, 2011. **25**(3): p. 337-47.
- 157. Ponsford, J.L.O., JH; Curran, C, *A profile of outcome: 2 years after traumatic brain injury*. Brain Injury, 1995. **9**(1): p. 1-10.
- 158. Andruszkow, H.P., Christian; Grün, Orna; Krettek, Christian; Hildebrand, Frank, Does additional head trauma affect the long-term outcome after upper extremity trauma in multiple traumatized patients: is there an additional effect of traumatic brain injury? Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research<sup>®</sup>, 2013. 471(9): p. 2899-2905.
- 159. Boissonnault, B., *Primary Care for the Physical Therapist Examination and Triage*. 2005, St. Louis, MO: Elsevier.
- Bigos, S., O. Bowyer, and G. Braen, et al, *Acute low back problems in adults. Clinical Practice Guideline No.* 14. 1994, Rockville, MD: Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, Public Health Services, U.S.
   Department of Health and Human Services, AHCPR Publication No. 95-0642.
- 161. Jarvik, J. and R. Deyo, *Diagnostic evaluation of low back pain with emphasis on imaging*. Ann Intern Med, 2002. **137**(7): p. 586-97.
- 162. van den Hoogen, H., et al., *On the accuracy of history, physical examination, and erythrocyte sedimentation rate in diagnosing low back pain in general practice. A criteria-based review of the literature.* Spine 1995. **20**(3): p. 318-27.
- 163. Alves, W., S.N. Macciocchi, and J.T. Barth, *Postconcussive symptoms after uncomplicated mild head injury*. The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1993. **8**(3): p. 48-59.
- 164. Cicerone, K.D. and K. Kalmar, *Persistent postconcussion syndrome: the structure of subjective complaints after mild traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1995. **10**(3): p. 1-17.

- 165. Leininger, B.E.K., J. S.; Hill, M. R., *Comparison of minor and severe head injury emotional sequelae using the MMPI*. Brain Inj, 1991. **5**(2): p. 199-205.
- 166. Vanderploeg, R.D.S., K.; Walker, W. C.; Fraser, J. A.; Sigford, B. J.; Date, E. S.; Scott, S. G.; Curtiss, G.; Salazar, A. M.; Warden, D. L., *Rehabilitation of traumatic brain injury in active duty military personnel and veterans: Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center randomized controlled trial of two rehabilitation approaches.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(12): p. 2227-38.
- 167. Airaksinen, O., et al., *Chapter 4. European guidelines for the management of chronic nonspecific low back pain.* Eur Spine J, 2006. **15 Suppl 2**: p. S192-300.
- 168. Guise, B., Effects of Brain Injury Severity and Effort on Neuropsychological Tests of Attention. 2010.
- 169. Dams-O'Connor, K.C., Joshua B; Brown, Margaret; Dijkers, Marcel P; Spielman, Lisa A; Gordon, Wayne A, Screening for traumatic brain injury: findings and public health implications. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2014.
   29(6): p. 479-489.
- McCREA, W.B.B.a.M., Sensitivity and specificity of standardized neurocognitive; testing immediately following sports concussion; . Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society (2001), 2000. 7: p. 693–702.
- 171. Alla, S., et al., *Does exercise evoke neurological symptoms in healthy subjects?* Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 2010. **13**(1): p. 24-26.
- 172. US Department of Veterans Affairs. VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of Concussion-mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI). 2016 [cited 2016 November].
- 173. Sherer, M., et al., *Comparison of indices of traumatic brain injury severity: Glasgow Coma Scale, length of coma and post-traumatic amnesia.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2008. **79**(6): p. 678-685.
- 174. Taveggia, G.R., I.; Trani, V.; Cuva, D.; Angeretti, C.; Fontanella, M.; Panciani, P. P.; Borboni, A., *Robotic tilt table reduces the occurrence of orthostatic hypotension over time in vegetative states.* Int J Rehabil Res, 2015. **38**(2): p. 162-6.
- 175. Luther, M.S., et al., *Comparison of orthostatic reactions of patients still unconscious within the first three months of brain injury on a tilt table with and without integrated stepping. A prospective, randomized crossover pilot trial.* Clinical rehabilitation, 2008. **22**(12): p. 1034-1041.
- 176. Silver, J.M., *Effort, exaggeration and malingering after concussion.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2012. **83**(8): p. 836-841.
- 177. McCormick, W., M. Steinmetz, and E. Benzel, *Cervical spondylotic myelopathy*. Cleveland Clinic J Med, 2003. **70**(10): p. 899-904.
- 178. Bedard, M.F., M.; Marshall, S.; Cullen, N.; Gibbons, C.; Dubois, S.; Maxwell, H.; Mazmanian, D.; Weaver, B.; Rees, L.; Gainer, R.; Klein, R.; Moustgaard, A., *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy reduces symptoms of depression in people with a traumatic brain injury: results from a randomized controlled trial.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2014. **29**(4): p. E13-22.
- 179. Papa, L., D. Edwards, and M. Ramia, *Exploring Serum Biomarkers for Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*, in *Brain Neurotrauma: Molecular, Neuropsychological, and Rehabilitation Aspects*, F.H. Kobeissy, Editor. 2015: Boca Raton (FL).
- 180. Kim, C. and P.C. Searson, *Magnetic bead-quantum dot assay for detection of a biomarker for traumatic brain injury*. Nanoscale, 2015. **7**(42): p. 17820-17826.
- 181. Astrand, R., J. Unden, and B. Romner, *Clinical use of the calcium-binding S100B protein*. Methods Mol Biol, 2013. **963**: p. 373-84.
- 182. Mondello, S., et al., *The challenge of mild traumatic brain injury: role of biochemical markers in diagnosis of brain damage.* Med Res Rev, 2014. **34**(3): p. 503-31.
- 183. Dimopoulou, I., et al., *Protein S-100b serum levels in trauma-induced brain death*. Neurology, 2003. **60**(6): p. 947-51.
- 184. Bettermann K. and Slocomb J. E., *Clinical relevance of biomarkers for traumatic brain injury*, in *Biomarkers for Traumatic Brain Injury*, H.R.L. Dambinova S., Wang K. K. W., Editor. 2012, Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge. p. 1-18.
- 185. Goncalves, C.A., M.C. Leite, and P. Nardin, *Biological and methodological features of the measurement of S100B, a putative marker of brain injury.* Clin Biochem, 2008. **41**(10-11): p. 755-63.

- 186. Shan, R., et al., *A new panel of blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of mild traumatic brain injury/concussion in adults.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2016. **33**(1): p. 49-57.
- 187. Grey, B.J. and G.E. Marchant, *Biomarkers, Concussions, and the Duty of Care.* Mich. St. L. Rev., 2015: p. 1911.
- 188. Borg, J.H., L.; Cassidy, J. D.; Peloso, P. M.; Carroll, L. J.; von Holst, H.; Ericson, K., *Diagnostic procedures in mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.* J Rehabil Med, 2004(43 Suppl): p. 61-75.
- 189. Gorman, D.F., *The utility of post-traumatic skull X-rays*. Arch Emerg Med, 1987. **4**(3): p. 141-50.
- 190. Clarke, J.A.A., J. E., *The application of clinical guidelines for skull radiography in the Accident and Emergency department: theory and practice.* Clin Radiol, 1990. **41**(3): p. 152-5.
- 191. McGlinchey, I., et al., A comparison of two or three radiographic views in the diagnosis of skull fractures. Clinical radiology, 1998. **53**(3): p. 215-217.
- 192. Furlow, B., *Computed tomography imaging of traumatic brain injury*. Radiol Technol, 2013. **84**(3): p. 273CT-290CT; quiz p 291CT-294CT.
- 193. Englander, J.C., D. X.; Wright, J. M.; Black, K., *The association of early computed tomography scan findings and ambulation, self-care, and supervision needs at rehabilitation discharge and at 1 year after traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2003. **84**(2): p. 214-20.
- 194. Maas, A.I.H., C. W.; Marshall, L. F.; Steyerberg, E. W., *Prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury with computed tomographic characteristics: a comparison between the computed tomographic classification and combinations of computed tomographic predictors.* Neurosurgery, 2005. **57**(6): p. 1173-82; discussion 1173-82.
- 195. Zhu, G.W.W., F.; Liu, W. G., *Classification and prediction of outcome in traumatic brain injury based on computed tomographic imaging*. J Int Med Res, 2009. **37**(4): p. 983-95.
- 196. Williams, M.W.R., L. J.; Hanks, R. A.; Millis, S. R.; Greene, H. A., *Incremental Validity of Neuropsychological Evaluations to Computed Tomography in Predicting Long-Term Outcomes after Traumatic Brain Injury.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2013.
- 197. Pearson, W.S.S., D. E.; McGuire, L. C.; Coronado, V. G., *Emergency department visits for traumatic brain injury in older adults in the United States: 2006-08.* West J Emerg Med, 2012. **13**(3): p. 289-93.
- 198. Smits, M.D., D. W.; de Haan, G. G.; Dekker, H. M.; Vos, P. E.; Kool, D. R.; Nederkoorn, P. J.; Hofman, P. A.; Twijnstra, A.; Tanghe, H. L.; Hunink, M. G., *External validation of the Canadian CT Head Rule and the New Orleans Criteria for CT scanning in patients with minor head injury*. Jama, 2005. **294**(12): p. 1519-25.
- 199. Yuh, E.L.M., P.; Lingsma, H. F.; Yue, J. K.; Ferguson, A. R.; Gordon, W. A.; Valadka, A. B.; Schnyer, D. M.; Okonkwo, D. O.; Maas, A. I.; Manley, G. T., *Magnetic resonance imaging improves 3-month outcome prediction in mild traumatic brain injury*. Ann Neurol, 2013. **73**(2): p. 224-35.
- 200. Gentry, L.R.G., John C; Thompson, Brad; Dunn, Val D, *Prospective comparative study of intermediate-field MR and CT in the evaluation of closed head trauma*. American journal of neuroradiology, 1988. **9**(1): p. 91-100.
- 201. Kara, A.C., Suat Erol; Dalbayrak, Sedat; Yilmaz, Mesut; Akansel, Gür; Tireli, Gürcan, *Magnetic resonance imaging finding in severe head injury patients with normal computerized tomography*. Turkish neurosurgery, 2008. **18**(1): p. 1-9.
- 202. Snow, R.B.Z., Robert D; Gandy, Samuel E; Deck, Michael DF, *Comparison of magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography in the evaluation of head injury*. Neurosurgery, 1986. **18**(1): p. 45-52.
- 203. Wilberger, J.E., Jr.; Deeb, Z.; Rothfus, W., *Magnetic resonance imaging in cases of severe head injury*. Neurosurgery, 1987. **20**(4): p. 571-6.
- 204. Firsching, R.W., Dieter; Diedrich, Michael; Klein, Susan; Rückert, Andreas; Wittig, Holger; Döhring, Wilfried, *Early magnetic resonance imaging of brainstem lesions after severe head injury*. Journal of neurosurgery, 1998. **89**(5): p. 707-712.
- 205. Orrison, W.W.G., L. R.; Stimac, G. K.; Tarrel, R. M.; Espinosa, M. C.; Cobb, L. C., *Blinded comparison of cranial CT and MR in closed head injury evaluation.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 1994. **15**(2): p. 351-6.
- 206. Raj, R.S., J.; Skrifvars, M. B.; Hernesniemi, J.; Kivisaari, R., *Predicting outcome in traumatic brain injury: development of a novel computerized tomography classification system (Helsinki computerized tomography score).* Neurosurgery, 2014. **75**(6): p. 632-46; discussion 646-7.

- 207. Hayempour, B.J.R., Susan E; Alavi, Abass, *The role of neuroimaging in assessing neuropsychological deficits following traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of psychiatry & law, 2011. **39**(4): p. 537-566.
- 208. Kou, Z.W., Z.; Tong, K. A.; Holshouser, B.; Benson, R. R.; Hu, J.; Haacke, E. M., *The role of advanced MR imaging findings as biomarkers of traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(4): p. 267-82.
- 209. Hughes, D.G.J., A.; Mason, D. L.; Berry, E.; Hollis, S.; Yates, D. W., *Abnormalities on magnetic resonance imaging seen acutely following mild traumatic brain injury: correlation with neuropsychological tests and delayed recovery*. Neuroradiology, 2004. **46**(7): p. 550-8.
- 210. Lui, Y.W.X., Y.; Kenul, D.; Ge, Y.; Grossman, R. I.; Wang, Y., *Classification algorithms using multiple MRI features in mild traumatic brain injury.* Neurology, 2014. **83**(14): p. 1235-40.
- 211. Gujar, S.K.M., Sharad; Björkman-Burtscher, Isabella; Sundgren, Pia C, *Magnetic resonance spectroscopy*. Journal of neuro-ophthalmology, 2005. **25**(3): p. 217-226.
- 212. Friedman, S.B., WM; Jung, RE; Chiulli, SJ; Sloan, JH; Montoya, BT; Hart, BL; Yeo, RA, *Quantitative proton MRS predicts outcome after traumatic brain injury.* Neurology, 1999. **52**(7): p. 1384-1384.
- 213. Chen, Z.L., J.; Lou, X.; Ma, L., [Sequential evaluation of brain lesions using functional magnetic resonance imaging in patients with Leigh syndrome]. Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao, 2012. **32**(10): p. 1474-7.
- 214. Cohen, B.A.I., M.; Rusinek, H.; Babb, J. S.; Grossman, R. I.; Gonen, O., *Proton MR spectroscopy and MRI*volumetry in mild traumatic brain injury. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2007. **28**(5): p. 907-13.
- 215. Sinson, G.B., Linda J; Cecil, Kim M; Torchia, Maria; McGowan, Joseph C; Lenkinski, Robert E; McIntosh, Tracy K; Grossman, Robert I, *Magnetization transfer imaging and proton MR spectroscopy in the evaluation of axonal injury: correlation with clinical outcome after traumatic brain injury*. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2001. **22**(1): p. 143-151.
- 216. Kirov, II; Tal, A.; Babb, J. S.; Reaume, J.; Bushnik, T.; Ashman, T. A.; Flanagan, S.; Grossman, R. I.; Gonen,
   O., Proton MR spectroscopy correlates diffuse axonal abnormalities with post-concussive symptoms in mild traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma, 2013. 30(13): p. 1200-4.
- 217. Brooks, W.M.S., Christine A; Petropoulos, Helen; Jung, Rex E; Weers, David C; Friedman, Seth D; Barlow, Matthew A; Sibbitt Jr, Wilmer L; Yeo, Ronald A, *Metabolic and cognitive response to human traumatic brain injury: a quantitative proton magnetic resonance study.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2000. **17**(8): p. 629-640.
- 218. Vagnozzi, R.S., S.; Cristofori, L.; Alessandrini, F.; Floris, R.; Isgro, E.; Ria, A.; Marziale, S.; Zoccatelli, G.; Tavazzi, B.; Del Bolgia, F.; Sorge, R.; Broglio, S. P.; McIntosh, T. K.; Lazzarino, G., Assessment of metabolic brain damage and recovery following mild traumatic brain injury: a multicentre, proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic study in concussed patients. Brain, 2010. **133**(11): p. 3232-42.
- 219. Garnett, M.R.B., A. M.; Rajagopalan, B.; Styles, P.; Cadoux-Hudson, T. A., *Evidence for cellular damage in normal-appearing white matter correlates with injury severity in patients following traumatic brain injury: A magnetic resonance spectroscopy study.* Brain, 2000. **123 (Pt 7)**: p. 1403-9.
- Sivak, S.B., M.; Grossmann, J.; Nosal, V.; Kantorova, E.; Sivakova, J.; Demkova, A.; Hnilicova, P.; Dobrota, D.; Kurca, E., *Clinical correlations of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy findings in acute phase after mild traumatic brain injury*. Brain Inj, 2014. 28(3): p. 341-6.
- 221. Tollard, E.G., D.; Perlbarg, V.; Sanchez-Pena, P.; Le Fur, Y.; Abdennour, L.; Cozzone, P.; Lehericy, S.; Chiras, J.; Puybasset, L., *Experience of diffusion tensor imaging and 1H spectroscopy for outcome prediction in severe traumatic brain injury: Preliminary results.* Crit Care Med, 2009. **37**(4): p. 1448-55.
- 222. Friedman, S.D.B., W. M.; Jung, R. E.; Chiulli, S. J.; Sloan, J. H.; Montoya, B. T.; Hart, B. L.; Yeo, R. A., *Quantitative proton MRS predicts outcome after traumatic brain injury.* Neurology, 1999. **52**(7): p. 1384-1384.
- 223. Signoretti, S.D.P., V.; Vagnozzi, R.; Lazzarino, G.; Amorini, A. M.; Belli, A.; D'Urso, S.; Tavazzi, B., *Transient* alterations of creatine, creatine phosphate, *N*-acetylaspartate and high-energy phosphates after mild traumatic brain injury in the rat. Mol Cell Biochem, 2010. **333**(1-2): p. 269-77.
- 224. Yeo, R.A.G., C.; Merideth, F.; Ruhl, D.; Doezema, D.; Mayer, A. R., *A longitudinal proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study of mild traumatic brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 2011. **28**(1): p. 1-11.
- 225. Maudsley, A.A.G., V.; Levin, B.; Saigal, G.; Harris, L.; Sheriff, S., *Distributions of Magnetic Resonance Diffusion and Spectroscopy Measures with Traumatic Brain Injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2015. **32**(14): p. 1056-63.

- 226. Govind, V.G., Stuart; Kaliannan, Krithica; Saigal, Gaurav; Falcone, Steven; Arheart, Kristopher L; Harris, Leo; Jagid, Jonathan; Maudsley, Andrew A, *Whole-brain proton MR spectroscopic imaging of mild-tomoderate traumatic brain injury and correlation with neuropsychological deficits.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2010. **27**(3): p. 483-496.
- 227. Dhandapani, S.S., A.; Sharma, K.; Das, L., *Comparative evaluation of MRS and SPECT in prognostication of patients with mild to moderate head injury*. J Clin Neurosci, 2014. **21**(5): p. 745-50.
- 228. Jantzen, K.J., *Functional magnetic resonance imaging of mild traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(4): p. 256-66.
- 229. Palacios, E.M.S.-L., R.; Junque, C.; Roig, T.; Tormos, J. M.; Bargallo, N.; Vendrell, P., *White matter integrity related to functional working memory networks in traumatic brain injury.* Neurology, 2012. **78**(12): p. 852-60.
- 230. Dettwiler, A.M., M.; Putukian, M.; Cubon, V.; Furtado, J.; Osherson, D., *Persistent differences in patterns of brain activation after sports-related concussion: a longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging study.* J Neurotrauma, 2014. **31**(2): p. 180-8.
- 231. Czerniak, S.M.S., Elif M; Navarro, Ana A Liso; McCafferty, Joseph; Eisenstock, Jordan; Stevenson, J Herbert; King, Jean A; Moore, Constance M, *A resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging study of concussion in collegiate athletes*. Brain imaging and behavior, 2015. **9**(2): p. 323-332.
- 232. Jantzen, K.J.A., B.; Steinberg, F. L.; Kelso, J. A., *A prospective functional MR imaging study of mild traumatic brain injury in college football players.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2004. **25**(5): p. 738-45.
- 233. Ramos-Zuniga, R.G.-d.I.T., M.; Jimenez-Maldonado, M.; Villasenor-Cabrera, T.; Banuelos-Acosta, R.; Aguirre-Portillo, L.; Rizo-Curiel, G.; Jauregui-Huerta, F., *Postconcussion syndrome and mild head injury: the role of early diagnosis using neuropsychological tests and functional magnetic resonance/spectroscopy*. World Neurosurg, 2014. **82**(5): p. 828-35.
- 234. Slobounov, S.M., et al., *Functional abnormalities in normally appearing athletes following mild traumatic brain injury: a functional MRI study.* Experimental brain research, 2010. **202**(2): p. 341-354.
- 235. Bazarian, J.J., Zhu, T.; Blyth, B.; Borrino, A.; Zhong, J. *Subject-specific changes in brain white matter on diffusion tensor imaging after sports-related concussion.* Magn Reson Imaging, 2012. **30**(2): p. 171-180.
- 236. Jang, S.H.K., S. H.; Kim, O. L.; Byun, W. M.; Ahn, S. H., *Corticospinal tract injury in patients with diffuse axonal injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2009. **25**(4): p. 229-33.
- 237. Kumar, R.S., Sona; Husain, Mazhar; Srivastava, Arti; Rathore, Ram KS; Agarwal, Shruti; Gupta, Rakesh K, Serial changes in diffusion tensor imaging metrics of corpus callosum in moderate traumatic brain injury patients and their correlation with neuropsychometric tests: A 2-year follow-up study. The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2010. **25**(1): p. 31-42.
- 238. Gu, L.L., Jia; Feng, Dong-Fu; Cheng, Er-Tao; Li, Dao-Chang; Yang, Xian-Qing; Wang, Bo-Cheng, *Detection of white matter lesions in the acute stage of diffuse axonal injury predicts long-term cognitive impairments: a clinical diffusion tensor imaging study.* Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 2013. **74**(1): p. 242-247.
- 239. Greenberg, G.M., David J; Ng, Kevin; DeSouza, Danielle; Green, Robin E, *Use of diffusion tensor imaging to examine subacute white matter injury progression in moderate to severe traumatic brain injury*. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 2008. **89**(12): p. S45-S50.
- 240. Rutgers, D.F., P; Paradot, G; Tadie, M; Lasjaunias, P; Ducreux, D, *Diffusion tensor imaging characteristics of the corpus callosum in mild, moderate, and severe traumatic brain injury.* American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2008. **29**(9): p. 1730-1735.
- 241. Palacios, E.M.F.-E., Davinia; Junque, Carme; Sanchez-Carrion, Rocio; Roig, Teresa; Tormos, Jose M; Bargallo, Nuria; Vendrell, Pere, *Diffusion tensor imaging differences relate to memory deficits in diffuse traumatic brain injury*. BMC neurology, 2011. **11**(1): p. 1.
- Marquez de la Plata, C.D.Y., F. G.; Wang, J. Y.; Krishnan, K.; Bakhadirov, K.; Paliotta, C.; Aslan, S.; Devous, M. D.; Moore, C.; Harper, C.; McColl, R.; Munro Cullum, C.; Diaz-Arrastia, R., *Diffusion tensor imaging biomarkers for traumatic axonal injury: analysis of three analytic methods.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2011. 17(1): p. 24-35.
- 243. Kraus, M.F.S., T.; Caughlin, B. P.; Walker, C. J.; Sweeney, J. A.; Little, D. M., *White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study.* Brain, 2007. **130**(Pt 10): p. 2508-19.

- 244. Li, L.S., G.; Liu, K.; Li, M.; Li, B.; Qian, S. W.; Yu, L. L., *White Matter Changes in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Following Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Prospective Longitudinal Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study.* Chin Med J (Engl), 2016. **129**(9): p. 1091-1099.
- 245. Ilvesmaki, T., Acute mild traumatic brain injury is not associated with white matter change on diffusion tensor imaging. Brain, 2014. **137**(1): p. 1876-1882.
- 246. Watts, R.T., A.; Filippi, C. G.; Nickerson, J. P.; Freeman, K., *Potholes and molehills: bias in the diagnostic performance of diffusion-tensor imaging in concussion*. Radiology, 2014. **272**(1): p. 217-23.
- 247. Mayer, A.L., J; Mannell, MV; Gasparovic, C; Phillips, JP; Doezema, D; Reichard, R; Yeo, RA, *A prospective diffusion tensor imaging study in mild traumatic brain injury*. Neurology, 2010. **74**(8): p. 643-650.
- 248. Hulkower, M.P., DB; Rosenbaum, SB; Zimmerman, ME; Lipton, Michael L, *A decade of DTI in traumatic brain injury: 10 years and 100 articles later.* American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2013. **34**(11): p. 2064-2074.
- 249. Zappala, G.d.S., Michel Thiebaut; Eslinger, Paul J, *Traumatic brain injury and the frontal lobes: what can we gain with diffusion tensor imaging?* Cortex, 2012. **48**(2): p. 156-165.
- 250. Sidaros, A.E., Aase W; Sidaros, Karam; Liptrot, Matthew G; Herning, Margrethe; Petersen, Palle; Paulson, Olaf B; Jernigan, Terry L; Rostrup, Egill, *Diffusion tensor imaging during recovery from severe traumatic brain injury and relation to clinical outcome: a longitudinal study.* Brain, 2008. **131**(2): p. 559-572.
- 251. Murugavel, M.C., V.; Putukian, M.; Echemendia, R.; Cabrera, J.; Osherson, D.; Dettwiler, A., *A longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study assessing white matter fiber tracts after sports-related concussion.* J Neurotrauma, 2014. **31**(22): p. 1860-71.
- 252. Rutgers, D.T., F; Cazejust, J; Fillard, P; Lasjaunias, P; Ducreux, D, *White matter abnormalities in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study.* American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2008. **29**(3): p. 514-519.
- 253. Lange, R.T.B., T. A.; French, L. M., *Examination of the Mild Brain Injury Atypical Symptom Scale and the Validity-10 Scale to detect symptom exaggeration in US military service members*. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2015. **37**(3): p. 325-37.
- Betz, J.Z., Jiachen; Roy, Anindya; Shanmuganathan, Kathirkamanthan; Gullapalli, Rao P, *Prognostic value of diffusion tensor imaging parameters in severe traumatic brain injury*. Journal of neurotrauma, 2012.
   29(7): p. 1292-1305.
- 255. Kumar, R.G., Rakesh K; Husain, Mazhar; Chaudhry, Chaynika; Srivastava, Arti; Saksena, Sona; Rathore, Ram KS, *Comparative evaluation of corpus callosum DTI metrics in acute mild and moderate traumatic brain injury: its correlation with neuropsychometric tests.* Brain Injury, 2009.
- 256. Farbota, K.D.B., Barbara B; Alexander, Andrew L; Rowley, Howard A; Dempsey, Robert J; Johnson, Sterling C, *Longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging and neuropsychological correlates in traumatic brain injury patients*. Frontiers in human neuroscience, 2012. **6**: p. 160.
- 257. Umile, E.M., R.C. Plotkin, and M.E. Sandel, *Functional assessment of mild traumatic brain injury using SPECT and neuropsychological testing*. Brain Inj, 1998. **12**(7): p. 577-94.
- 258. Umile, E.M.S., M. E.; Alavi, A.; Terry, C. M.; Plotkin, R. C., *Dynamic imaging in mild traumatic brain injury: support for the theory of medial temporal vulnerability.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2002. **83**(11): p. 1506-13.
- 259. Atighechi, S.S., H.; Baradarantar, M. H.; Jafari, R.; Karimi, G.; Mirjali, M., *A comparative study of brain perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in patients with post-traumatic anosmia.* Am J Rhinol Allergy, 2009. **23**(4): p. 409-12.
- 260. Fumeya, H.I., K.; Yamagiwa, O.; Funatsu, N.; Okada, T.; Asahi, S.; Ogura, H.; Kubo, M.; Oba, T., *Analysis of MRI and SPECT in patients with acute head injury*. Acta Neurochir Suppl (Wien), 1990. **51**: p. 283-5.
- 261. Wiedmann, K.D.W., JT; Wyper, D; Hadley, DM; Teasdale, GM; Brooks, DN, *SPECT cerebral blood flow, MR imaging, and neuropsychological findings in traumatic head injury*. Neuropsychology, 1989. **3**(4): p. 267.
- 262. Davalos, D.B.B., T. L., *A review of the use of single-photon emission computerized tomography as a diagnostic tool in mild traumatic brain injury.* Appl Neuropsychol, 2002. **9**(2): p. 92-105.
- 263. Munari, M.Z., P.; Carollo, C.; Gallo, F.; De Nardin, M.; Marzola, M. C.; Ferretti, S.; Facco, E., *Confirmatory tests in the diagnosis of brain death: comparison between SPECT and contrast angiography.* Crit Care Med, 2005. **33**(9): p. 2068-73.

- 264. Newton, M.R.G., R. J.; Britton, K. E.; Charlesworth, M.; Nimmon, C. C.; Carroll, M. J.; Dolke, G., *A study comparing SPECT with CT and MRI after closed head injury*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1992. **55**(2): p. 92-4.
- 265. Bavetta, S.N., C. C.; White, J.; McCabe, J.; Huneidi, A. H.; Bomanji, J.; Birkenfeld, B.; Charlesworth, M.; Britton, K. E.; Greenwood, R. J., *A prospective study comparing SPET with MRI and CT as prognostic indicators following severe closed head injury.* Nucl Med Commun, 1994. **15**(12): p. 961-8.
- 266. Kant, R.S.-S., L.; Isaac, G.; Duffy, J., *Tc-HMPAO SPECT in persistent post-concussion syndrome after mild head injury: comparison with MRI/CT*. Brain Inj, 1997. **11**(2): p. 115-24.
- 267. Joglekar, S.S.B., J. R.; Caroline, M.; Chase, P. J.; Domesek, J.; Patel, P. S.; Sataloff, R. T., *Evaluating the role of single-photon emission computed tomography in the assessment of neurotologic complaints*. Ear Nose Throat J, 2014. **93**(4-5): p. 168-73.
- 268. Romero, K.L., N. J.; Black, S. E.; Ehrlich, L.; Feinstein, A., Old wine in new bottles: validating the clinical utility of SPECT in predicting cognitive performance in mild traumatic brain injury. Psychiatry Res, 2015.
   231(1): p. 15-24.
- 269. Lorberboym, M.L., Y.; Gerzon, I.; Sadeh, M., *Brain SPECT evaluation of amnestic ED patients after mild head trauma*. Am J Emerg Med, 2002. **20**(4): p. 310-3.
- 270. Mitchener, A.W., D. J.; Patterson, J.; Hadley, D. M.; Wilson, J. T.; Scott, L. C.; Jones, M.; Teasdale, G. M., *SPECT, CT, and MRI in head injury: acute abnormalities followed up at six months.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1997. **62**(6): p. 633-6.
- 271. Jacobs, A.P., E.; Ingels, M.; Bossuyt, A., *Prospective evaluation of technetium-99m-HMPAO SPECT in mild and moderate traumatic brain injury.* J Nucl Med, 1994. **35**(6): p. 942-7.
- 272. Jacobs, A.P., E.; Ingels, M.; Put, T.; Bossuyt, A., One-year follow-up of technetium-99m-HMPAO SPECT in mild head injury. J Nucl Med, 1996. **37**(10): p. 1605-9.
- 273. Ichise, M.C., D. G.; Wang, P.; Wortzman, G.; Gray, B. G.; Franks, W., *Technetium-99m-HMPAO SPECT, CT* and MRI in the evaluation of patients with chronic traumatic brain injury: a correlation with neuropsychological performance. J Nucl Med, 1994. **35**(2): p. 217-26.
- 274. Hofman, P.A.S., S. Z.; van Kroonenburgh, M. J.; Jolles, J.; de Kruijk, J.; Wilmink, J. T., *MR imaging, single-photon emission CT, and neurocognitive performance after mild traumatic brain injury.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2001. **22**(3): p. 441-9.
- 275. Levine, B.C., R.; McIntosh, A. R.; Black, S. E.; Grady, C. L.; Stuss, D. T., *Functional reorganisation of memory after traumatic brain injury: a study with H(2)(15)0 positron emission tomography.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2002. **73**(2): p. 173-81.
- 276. Chen, S.H.K., D. A.; Fastenau, P. S.; Trexler, L. E.; Hutchins, G. D., A study of persistent post-concussion symptoms in mild head trauma using positron emission tomography. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2003.
   74(3): p. 326-32.
- 277. Spadoni, A.D.K., E.; Buchsbaum, M. S.; Simmons, A. N., *Neural correlates of malingering in mild traumatic brain injury: A positron emission tomography study.* Psychiatry Res, 2015. **233**(3): p. 367-72.
- Vespa, P.B., M.; Hattori, N.; Wu, H. M.; Huang, S. C.; Martin, N. A.; Glenn, T. C.; McArthur, D. L.; Hovda, D. A., *Metabolic crisis without brain ischemia is common after traumatic brain injury: a combined microdialysis and positron emission tomography study.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2005. 25(6): p. 763-74.
- 279. Steiner, L.A.C., J. P.; Johnston, A. J.; Chatfield, D. A.; Smielewski, P.; Fryer, T. D.; Aigbirhio, F. I.; Clark, J. C.; Pickard, J. D.; Menon, D. K.; Czosnyka, M., *Assessment of cerebrovascular autoregulation in head-injured patients: a validation study.* Stroke, 2003. **34**(10): p. 2404-9.
- 280. Coles, J.P.F., T. D.; Smielewski, P.; Rice, K.; Clark, J. C.; Pickard, J. D.; Menon, D. K., *Defining ischemic burden after traumatic brain injury using 150 PET imaging of cerebral physiology*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2004. **24**(2): p. 191-201.
- 281. Dutton, R.P.P., K.; Cohen, R.; Wade, C.; Sewell, J.; Fouche, Y.; Stein, D.; Aarabi, B.; Scalea, T. M., *Diagnosing mild traumatic brain injury: where are we now*? J Trauma, 2011. **70**(3): p. 554-9.
- 282. Bodanapally, U.K.S., K.; Boscak, A. R.; Jaffray, P. M.; Van der Byl, G.; Roy, A. K.; Dreizin, D.; Fleiter, T. R.; Mirvis, S. E.; Krejza, J.; Aarabi, B., *Vascular complications of penetrating brain injury: comparison of helical CT angiography and conventional angiography.* J Neurosurg, 2014. **121**(5): p. 1275-83.

- 283. Dutton, R.P.V.D.H., M.S.; Aarabi, B.; Sewell, J.; Scalea, T. M., *Screening TBI patients with the brain acoustic monitor: Association; with CT scan findings and neurologic status at hospital discharge.* Clinical Intensive Care, 2005. **16**(2): p. 97-105.
- 284. Dutton, R.P.M., M., *Traumatic brain injury*. Curr Opin Crit Care, 2003. **9**(6): p. 503-9.
- 285. Dutton, R.P., et al., *Preliminary trial of a noninvasive brain acoustic monitor in trauma patients with severe closed head injury.* J Trauma, 2002. **53**(5): p. 857-63.
- 286. Rice, V.J.B., G.L.; Alfred, P.E.; DeVilbiss, C.; Bateman, R., *Human Factors Feedback: Brain Acoustic Monitor*. 2012, Army Research Laboratory.
- 287. Dutton, R.P., et al., *Diagnosing mild traumatic brain injury: where are we now?* J Trauma, 2011. **70**(3): p. 554-9.
- Jiang, L.Y., Xiaohong; Yin, Cheng; Zhou, Shuai; Dan, Wei; Sun, Xiaochuan, Different quantitative EEG alterations induced by TBI among patients with different APOE genotypes. Neuroscience letters, 2011.
   505(2): p. 160-164.
- 289. Thompson, J.S., Wayne; Slobounov, Semyon, *EEG and postural correlates of mild traumatic brain injury in athletes*. Neuroscience Letters, 2005. **377**(3): p. 158-163.
- 290. Ronne-Engstrom, E.W., T, *Continuous EEG monitoring in patients with traumatic brain injury reveals a high incidence of epileptiform activity.* Acta Neurologica Scandinavica, 2006. **114**(1): p. 47-53.
- 291. Alvarez, X.A.S., Carolina; Figueroa, Jesús; Tellado, Iván; González, Andrés; García-Fantini, Manuel; Cacabelos, Ramón; Muresanu, Dafin; Moessler, Herbert, *Reductions in qEEG slowing over 1 year and after treatment with Cerebrolysin in patients with moderate–severe traumatic brain injury.* Journal of Neural Transmission, 2008. **115**(5): p. 683-692.
- 292. Naunheim, R.S.T., Matthew; English, Joy; Casner, Teya; Chabot, Robert, *Use of brain electrical activity to quantify traumatic brain injury in the emergency department*. Brain injury, 2010. **24**(11): p. 1324-1329.
- 293. Leon-Carrion, J.M.-R., Juan Francisco; Damas-Lopez, Jesus; Y Martin, Juan Manuel Barroso; Dominguez-Morales, Maria Del Rosario, A QEEG index of level of functional dependence for people sustaining acquired brain injury: The Seville Independence Index (SINDI). Brain injury, 2008. **22**(1): p. 61-74.
- 294. Slobounov, S.G., M.; Johnson, B.; Zhang, K., *Concussion in athletics: ongoing clinical and brain imaging research controversies.* Brain Imaging Behav, 2012. **6**(2): p. 224-43.
- 295. Ayaz, S.I.T., Craig; Kulek, Andrew; Tolomello, Rosa; Mika, Valerie; Robinson, Duane; Medado, Patrick; Pearson, Claire; Prichep, Leslie S; O'Neil, Brian J, *Comparison of quantitative EEG to current clinical decision rules for head CT use in acute mild traumatic brain injury in the ED.* The American journal of emergency medicine, 2015. **33**(4): p. 493-496.
- 296. Houlden, D.A.T., Amanda B; Feinstein, Anthony; Midha, Rajiv; Bethune, Allison J; Stewart, Craig P; Schwartz, Michael L, *Early somatosensory evoked potential grades in comatose traumatic brain injury patients predict cognitive and functional outcome.* Critical care medicine, 2010. **38**(1): p. 167-174.
- 297. Carter, B.G.B., W., *Review of the use of somatosensory evoked potentials in the prediction of outcome after severe brain injury.* Crit Care Med, 2001. **29**(1): p. 178-86.
- 298. Rothstein, T.L., *The role of evoked potentials in anoxic-ischemic coma and severe brain trauma.* J Clin Neurophysiol, 2000. **17**(5): p. 486-97.
- 299. Hutchinson, D.O.F., R. W.; Shaw, N. A.; Judson, J. A.; Cant, B. R., *A comparison between* electroencephalography and somatosensory evoked potentials for outcome prediction following severe head injury. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol, 1991. **78**(3): p. 228-33.
- 300. Goodridge, A.E., *Electromyography and Nerve Conduction Studies*. Canadian Family Physician, 1988. **34**: p. 339.
- 301. Beck, D.L.B., JE, *Electroneurography: electrical evaluation of the facial nerve.* J. Am. Acad. Audiol, 1993. **4**: p. 109-115.
- 302. Schatz, P.P., J. E.; Lovell, M. R.; Collins, M. W.; Podell, K., *Sensitivity and specificity of the ImPACT Test Battery for concussion in athletes.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2006. **21**(1): p. 91-9.
- Lau, B.C.C., M. W.; Lovell, M. R., Sensitivity and specificity of subacute computerized neurocognitive testing and symptom evaluation in predicting outcomes after sports-related concussion. Am J Sports Med, 2011.
   39(6): p. 1209-16.

- 304. Register-Mihalik, J.K.K., D. L.; Guskiewicz, K. M.; Mihalik, J. P.; Conder, R.; Shields, E. W., Age-related differences and reliability on computerized and paper-and-pencil neurocognitive assessment batteries. J Athl Train, 2012. **47**(3): p. 297-305.
- 305. Blake, M.L.O., Summer; Villanyi, Elizabeth; Kazhuro, Katia; Schatz, Philip, *Influence of Language of Administration on ImPACT Performance by Bilingual Spanish–English College Students*. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 2015. **30**(4): p. 302-309.
- 306. Nelson, L.D.P., A. Y.; Rein, L. E.; McCrea, M. A., *Rates and Predictors of Invalid Baseline Test Performance in High School and Collegiate Athletes for 3 Computerized Neurocognitive Tests: ANAM, Axon Sports, and ImPACT.* Am J Sports Med, 2015. **43**(8): p. 2018-26.
- 307. Echemendia, R.J.B., J. M.; Meeuwisse, W.; Comper, P.; Aubry, M.; Hutchison, M., *Long-term reliability of ImPACT in professional ice hockey*. Clin Neuropsychol, 2016. **30**(2): p. 328-37.
- 308. Echemendia, R.J., et al., *Role of neuropsychologists in the evaluation and management of sport-related concussion: an inter-organization position statement.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2012. **27**(1): p. 119-22.
- 309. Echemendia, R.J., et al., *Advances in neuropsychological assessment of sport-related concussion.* Br J Sports Med, 2013. **47**(5): p. 294-8.
- 310. McCrea, M.G., K.; Doncevic, S.; Helmick, K.; Kennedy, J.; Boyd, C.; Asmussen, S.; Ahn, K. W.; Wang, Y.; Hoelzle, J.; Jaffee, M., *Day of injury cognitive performance on the Military Acute Concussion Evaluation* (*MACE*) by U.S. military service members in *OEF/OIF*. Mil Med, 2014. **179**(9): p. 990-7.
- 311. Galetta, K.M., et al., Adding Vision to Concussion Testing: A Prospective Study of Sideline Testing in Youth and Collegiate Athletes. J Neuroophthalmol, 2015. **35**(3): p. 235-41.
- Luoto, T.M.S., N. D.; Kataja, A.; Brander, A.; Tenovuo, O.; Ohman, J.; Iverson, G. L., Sport concussion assessment tool 2 in a civilian trauma sample with mild traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma, 2014.
   31(8): p. 728-38.
- 313. Randolph, C., *Baseline neuropsychological testing in managing sport-related concussion: does it modify risk?* Current sports medicine reports, 2011. **10**(1): p. 21-26.
- 314. Han, J., et al., *External validation of the CRASH and IMPACT prognostic models in severe traumatic brain injury.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2014. **31**(13): p. 1146-1152.
- 315. Liedes, H., et al., *Prediction of Outcome after Traumatic Brain Injury: Comparison of Disease State Index and IMPACT Calculator.* Studies in health technology and informatics, 2015. **224**: p. 175-180.
- 316. Honeybul, S. and K.M. Ho, *Predicting long-term neurological outcomes after severe traumatic brain injury requiring decompressive craniectomy: A comparison of the CRASH and IMPACT prognostic models.* Injury, 2016.
- 317. Castaño-Leon, A.M., et al., *Predicting outcomes after severe and moderate traumatic brain injury: an external validation of impact and crash prognostic models in a large Spanish cohort.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2016.
- Ling, G.S.H., Jason; Grimes, Jamie; Macedonia, Christian; Hancock, James; Jaffee, Michael; Dombroski,
   Todd; Ecklund, James M. *Traumatic brain injury in modern war*. in *SPIE Defense, Security, and Sensing*.
   2013. International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- 319. Leong, D.F., et al., *The King-Devick test as a concussion screening tool administered by sports parents.* J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 2014. **54**(1): p. 70-7.
- 320. Walsh, D.V., et al., Assessment of the King-Devick(R) (KD) test for screening acute mTBI/concussion in warfighters. J Neurol Sci, 2016. **370**: p. 305-309.
- 321. Vernau, B.T., et al., Oculomotor and neurocognitive assessment of youth ice hockey players: baseline associations and observations after concussion. Dev Neuropsychol, 2015. **40**(1): p. 7-11.
- 322. van Wyk, A., C.A. Eksteen, and P. Rheeder, *The effect of visual scanning exercises integrated into physiotherapy in patients with unilateral spatial neglect poststroke: a matched-pair randomized control trial.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2014. **28**(9): p. 856-73.
- 323. King, D., et al., *The King-Devick test was useful in management of concussion in amateur rugby union and rugby league in New Zealand*. J Neurol Sci, 2015. **351**(1-2): p. 58-64.
- 324. Rizzo, J.R., et al., *Rapid number naming in chronic concussion: eye movements in the King-Devick test.* Ann Clin Transl Neurol, 2016. **3**(10): p. 801-811.
- 325. Vartiainen, M.V., et al., *King-Devick test normative reference values for professional male ice hockey players.* Scand J Med Sci Sports, 2015. **25**(3): p. e327-30.

- 326. Galetta, K.M., et al., *The King-Devick test as a determinant of head trauma and concussion in boxers and MMA fighters.* Neurology, 2011. **76**(17): p. 1456-62.
- 327. Galetta, M.S., et al., *Saccades and memory: baseline associations of the King-Devick and SCAT2 SAC tests in professional ice hockey players.* J Neurol Sci, 2013. **328**(1-2): p. 28-31.
- 328. Leong, D.F., et al., *The King-Devick test for sideline concussion screening in collegiate football.* J Optom, 2015. **8**(2): p. 131-9.
- 329. Alsalaheen, B., et al., *King-Devick Test reference values and associations with balance measures in high school American football players.* Scand J Med Sci Sports, 2016. **26**(2): p. 235-9.
- 330. Fischer, T.D., et al., *Detection of Subtle Cognitive Changes after mTBI Using a Novel Tablet-Based Task*. J Neurotrauma, 2016. **33**(13): p. 1237-46.
- 331. King, D., et al., Assessment, management and knowledge of sport-related concussion: systematic review. Sports Med, 2014. **44**(4): p. 449-71.
- 332. King, D.G., C.; Hume, P. A.; Flaws, M., *The King-Devick test was useful in management of concussion in amateur rugby union and rugby league in New Zealand*. J Neurol Sci, 2015. **351**(1-2): p. 58-64.
- 333. Seidman, D.H., et al., *Evaluation of the King-Devick test as a concussion screening tool in high school football players.* J Neurol Sci, 2015. **356**(1-2): p. 97-101.
- 334. Benedict, P.A., et al., *Gender and age predict outcomes of cognitive, balance and vision testing in a multidisciplinary concussion center.* Journal of the neurological sciences, 2015. **353**(1): p. 111-115.
- 335. Munce, T.A., et al., *Effects of youth football on selected clinical measures of neurologic function: a pilot study.* J Child Neurol, 2014. **29**(12): p. 1601-7.
- 336. Ventura, R.E., et al., *Diagnostic tests for concussion: is vision part of the puzzle*? J Neuroophthalmol, 2015. **35**(1): p. 73-81.
- 337. Silverberg, N.D., et al., Assessment of mild traumatic brain injury with the King-Devick Test in an emergency department sample. Brain Inj, 2014. **28**(12): p. 1590-3.
- 338. Tjarks, B.J., et al., *Comparison and utility of King-Devick and ImPACT(R) composite scores in adolescent concussion patients*. J Neurol Sci, 2013. **334**(1-2): p. 148-53.
- 339. Ventura, R.E., L.J. Balcer, and S.L. Galetta, *The neuro-ophthalmology of head trauma*. Lancet Neurol, 2014. **13**(10): p. 1006-16.
- 340. Ventura, R.E., L.J. Balcer, and S.L. Galetta, *The Concussion Toolbox: The Role of Vision in the Assessment of Concussion*. Semin Neurol, 2015. **35**(5): p. 599-606.
- Wright, D.W.K., A. L.; Hertzberg, V. S.; Clark, P. L.; Frankel, M.; Goldstein, F. C.; Salomone, J. P.; Dent, L. L.; Harris, O. A.; Ander, D. S.; Lowery, D. W.; Patel, M. M.; Denson, D. D.; Gordon, A. B.; Wald, M. M.; Gupta, S.; Hoffman, S. W.; Stein, D. G., *ProTECT: a randomized clinical trial of progesterone for acute traumatic brain injury.* Ann Emerg Med, 2007. 49(4): p. 391-402, 402 e1-2.
- 342. Townend, W.I., T., *Head injury outcome prediction: a role for protein S-100B?* Injury, 2006. **37**(12): p. 1098-108.
- 343. King, D.B., M.; Hume, P.; Gissane, C., *Assessment, management and knowledge of sport-related concussion: systematic review.* Sports Med, 2014. **44**(4): p. 449-71.
- 344. Sahler, C.S.G., B. D., *Traumatic brain injury in sports: a review*. Rehabil Res Pract, 2012. **2012**: p. 659652.
- 345. Benedict, P.A.B., Natali V; Harrold, G Kyle; Moehringer, Nicholas; Hasanaj, Lisena; Serrano, Liliana P; Sproul, Mara; Pagnotta, Geraldine; Cardone, Dennis A; Flanagan, Steven R, *Gender and age predict outcomes of cognitive, balance and vision testing in a multidisciplinary concussion center*. Journal of the neurological sciences, 2015. **353**(1): p. 111-115.
- 346. Snyder, A.R.B., Russell M, *A normative study of the Sport Concussion Assessment Tool (SCAT2) in children and adolescents.* The Clinical neuropsychologist, 2014. **28**(7): p. 1091-1103.
- 347. Barr, W.B.M., M., Sensitivity and specificity of standardized neurocognitive testing immediately following sports concussion. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2001. **7**(6): p. 693-702.
- 348. Cole, W.R.A., J. P.; Schwab, K.; Ivins, B. J.; Qashu, F. M.; Lewis, S. C., *Test-retest reliability of four computerized neurocognitive assessment tools in an active duty military population.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2013. **28**(7): p. 732-42.
- 349. Frencham, K.A., A.M. Fox, and M.T. Maybery, *Neuropsychological studies of mild traumatic brain injury: a meta-analytic review of research since 1995.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2005. **27**(3): p. 334-51.

- 350. Ruff, R.M. and H. Niemann, *Cognitive rehabilitation versus day treatment in head-injured adults: is there an impact on emotional and psychosocial adjustment?* Brain Inj, 1990. **4**(4): p. 339-47.
- 351. Lew, H.L., et al., *Review of sports-related concussion: Potential for application in military settings.* J Rehabil Res Dev, 2007. **44**(7): p. 963-74.
- 352. French, L., M. McCrea, and M. Baggett, *The military acute concussion evaluation (MACE)*. Journal of Special Operations Medicine, 2008. **8**(1): p. 68-77.
- 353. Paul A. Arbisi, Y.S.B.-P., *The use of the minnesota multiphasic personality inventory-2 in the psychological assessment of persons with TBI: Correction factors and other clinical caveats and conundrums.* NeuroRehabilitation (1999), 1999. **13**: p. 117–125.
- 354. Greve, K.W.B., K. J.; Love, J. M.; Brennan, A.; Heinly, M. T., *Sensitivity and specificity of MMPI-2 validity scales and indicators to malingered neurocognitive dysfunction in traumatic brain injury.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2006. **20**(3): p. 491-512.
- 355. McCusker, P.J.M., Marianne J; Serfass, Lisa; Peterson, Kevin H, *Comparability of the MMPI-2 F (p) and F scales and the SIRS in clinical use with suspected malingerers*. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 2003. **47**(5): p. 585-596.
- 356. Arbisi, P.A.P., Melissa A; Erbes, Christopher R; Thuras, Paul; Reddy, Madhavi K, *The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory–2 Restructured Form in National Guard soldiers screening positive for posttraumatic stress disorder and mild traumatic brain injury.* Psychological assessment, 2011. **23**(1): p. 203.
- 357. Alkemade, N.B., S. C.; Salzman, L., *Scoring correction for MMPI-2 Hs scale with patients experiencing a traumatic brain injury: a test of measurement invariance.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2015. **30**(1): p. 39-48.
- 358. Edmundson, M., et al., A Meta-Analytic Review of Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory—2nd Edition (MMPI-2) Profile Elevations Following Traumatic Brain Injury. Psychological Injury and Law, 2016.
   9(2): p. 121-142.
- 359. Jones, A., Cutoff Scores for MMPI-2 and MMPI-2-RF Cognitive-Somatic Validity Scales for Psychometrically Defined Malingering Groups in a Military Sample. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2016.
- 360. Pape, T.L.H., A. A.; Smith, B.; Babcock-Parziale, J.; Harp, J.; Shandera-Ochsner, A.; Jenkins, S.; Evans, C. T.; Schleenbaker, R.; High, W. M., *Algorithm for Symptom Attribution and Classification Following Possible Mild Traumatic Brain Injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2016.
- 361. Lange, R.T.B., T. A.; Lippa, S. M.; French, L. M., *Clinical utility of the Neurobehavioral Symptom Inventory validity scales to screen for symptom exaggeration following traumatic brain injury.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2015. **37**(8): p. 853-62.
- 362. Bolinger, E.R., Caitlin; Suhr, Julie; Larrabee, Glenn J, *Susceptibility of the MMPI-2-RF Neurological Complaints and Cognitive Complaints scales to over-reporting in simulated head injury.* Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 2013: p. act082.
- 363. Goodwin, B.E.S., M.; Arbisi, P. A., *Posttraumatic stress disorder in veterans: the utility of the MMPI-2-RF validity scales in detecting overreported symptoms.* Psychol Assess, 2013. **25**(3): p. 671-8.
- 364. Peck, C.P.S., R. W.; Heinrichs, R. J.; Vondran, E. J.; Brockman, C. J.; Webster, B. K.; Baade, L. E., *Differences in MMPI-2 FBS and RBS scores in brain injury, probable malingering, and conversion disorder groups: a preliminary study.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2013. **27**(4): p. 693-707.
- 365. Whitney, K.A., *Predicting test of memory malingering and medical symptom validity test failure within a Veterans Affairs Medical Center: use of the Response Bias Scale and the Henry-Heilbronner Index.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2013. **28**(3): p. 222-35.
- 366. Coggon, D.N., Georgia; Harris, E Clare; Linaker, Cathy; Van der Star, Richard; Cooper, Cyrus; Palmer, Keith T, *Differences in risk factors for neurophysiologically confirmed carpal tunnel syndrome and illness with similar symptoms but normal median nerve function: a case–control study.* BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 2013. **14**(1): p. 1.
- 367. Lezak, M., *Neuropsychological assessment*
- 4ed. 2004, New York: Oxford University Press.
- 368. Wechsler, D., *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale*. 3 ed. 1997, San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation.
- 369. Donders, J., D.S. Tulsky, and J. Zhu, *Criterion validity of new WAIS-II subtest scores after traumatic brain injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2001. **7**(7): p. 892-8.
- 370. Donders, J. and C.A. Strong, *Clinical utility of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Fourth Edition after traumatic brain injury.* Assessment, 2015. **22**(1): p. 17-22.

- Rabin, L.A., W.B. Barr, and L.A. Burton, Assessment practices of clinical neuropsychologists in the United States and Canada: a survey of INS, NAN, and APA Division 40 members. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2005.
   20(1): p. 33-65.
- 372. Reid-Arndt, S.A., B.J. Allen, and L. Schopp, *Validation of WAIS-III four-subtest short forms in patients with traumatic brain injury.* Appl Neuropsychol, 2011. **18**(4): p. 291-7.
- 373. Miller, L.J., et al., *Brief screening indexes for malingering: A confirmation of Vocabulary minus Digit Span from the WAIS-III and the Rarely Missed Index from the WMS-III.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2004. **18**(2): p. 327-33.
- 374. Greve, K.W., et al., *Detecting malingered performance on the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale. Validation of Mittenberg's approach in traumatic brain injury.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2003. **18**(3): p. 245-60.
- 375. Greve, K.W., K.L. Lotz, and K.J. Bianchini, *Observed versus estimated IQ as an index of malingering in traumatic brain injury: classification accuracy in known groups*. Appl Neuropsychol, 2008. **15**(3): p. 161-9.
- 376. Mathias, C.W., et al., *Detecting malingered neurocognitive dysfunction using the reliable digit span in traumatic brain injury*. Assessment, 2002. **9**(3): p. 301-8.
- 377. Wilbur, R., et al., *Validity and reliability of self-monitoring indices*. Brain Inj, 2008. **22**(9): p. 685-90.
- 378. Walker, A.J., et al., *Diagnostic efficiency of demographically corrected Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III and Wechsler Memory Scale-III indices in moderate to severe traumatic brain injury and lower education levels.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2009. **15**(6): p. 938-50.
- 379. Strong, C.A., J. Donders, and S. van Dyke, *Validity of demographically corrected norms for the WAIS-III*. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2005. **27**(6): p. 746-58.
- 380. Curtis, K.L., K.W. Greve, and K.J. Bianchini, *The Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-III and malingering in traumatic brain injury: classification accuracy in known groups.* Assessment, 2009. **16**(4): p. 401-14.
- 381. Langeluddecke, P.M. and S.K. Lucas, *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Third Edition findings in relation to severity of brain injury in litigants.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2003. **17**(2): p. 273-84.
- 382. Fisher, D.C., et al., *WAIS-III and WMS-III profiles of mildly to severely brain-injured patients*. Appl Neuropsychol, 2000. **7**(3): p. 126-32.
- 383. Ryan, J.J., et al., *The WASI matrix reasoning subtest: performance in traumatic brain injury, stroke, and dementia.* Int J Neurosci, 2005. **115**(1): p. 129-36.
- 384. Kennedy, J.E., P.F. Clement, and G. Curtiss, WAIS-III processing speed index scores after TBI: the influence of working memory, psychomotor speed and perceptual processing. Clin Neuropsychol, 2003. 17(3): p. 303-7.
- 385. The Alternative Therapy Evaluation Committee for the Insurance Corporation of British Columbia, *A review of the scientific evidence on the treatment of traumatic brain injuries and strokes with hyperbaric oxygen.* Brain Inj, 2003. **17**(3): p. 225-36.
- 386. Kabat, M.H.K., R. L.; Jefferson, A. L.; DiPino, R. K., Construct validity of selected Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (ANAM) battery measures. Clin Neuropsychol, 2001. 15(4): p. 498-507.
- 387. Bleiberg, J.K., R. L.; Reeves, D. L.; Garmoe, W. S.; Halpern, E., *Factor analysis of computerized and traditional tests used in mild brain injury research.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2000. **14**(3): p. 287-94.
- 388. Segalowitz, S.J.M., P.; Santesso, D. L.; MacGregor, L.; Dywan, J.; Willer, B., *Retest reliability in adolescents of a computerized neuropsychological battery used to assess recovery from concussion.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2007. **22**(3): p. 243-51.
- 389. Levinson, D.M.R., D. L., *Monitoring recovery from traumatic brain injury using automated neuropsychological assessment metrics (ANAM V1.0).* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 1997. **12**(2): p. 155-66.
- 390. Armstrong, C.M.R., G. M.; Edwards, J.; Rizzo, A. A.; Courtney, C. G.; Parsons, T. D., *Validity of the Virtual Reality Stroop Task (VRST) in active duty military*. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2013. **35**(2): p. 113-23.
- 391. Coldren, R.L.R., M. L.; Parish, R. V.; Dretsch, M.; Kelly, M. P., *The ANAM lacks utility as a diagnostic or screening tool for concussion more than 10 days following injury*. Mil Med, 2012. **177**(2): p. 179-83.
- Warden, D.L.B., J.; Cameron, K. L.; Ecklund, J.; Walter, J.; Sparling, M. B.; Reeves, D.; Reynolds, K. Y.;
   Arciero, R., *Persistent prolongation of simple reaction time in sports concussion*. Neurology, 2001. 57(3): p. 524-6.

- 393. Bryan, C.H., A. M., Magnitudes of decline on Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics subtest scores relative to predeployment baseline performance among service members evaluated for traumatic brain injury in Iraq. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2012. **27**(1): p. 45-54.
- 394. Resch, J.E., M.A. McCrea, and C.M. Cullum, *Computerized neurocognitive testing in the management of sport-related concussion: an update.* Neuropsychology review, 2013. **23**(4): p. 335-349.
- 395. Nelson, L.D., et al., *Prospective, head-to-head study of three computerized neurocognitive assessment tools (CNTs): reliability and validity for the assessment of sport-related concussion.* Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society: JINS, 2016. **22**(1): p. 24.
- Bratton, S.L.C., R. M.; Ghajar, J.; McConnell Hammond, F. F.; Harris, O. A.; Hartl, R.; Manley, G. T.;
  Nemecek, A.; Newell, D. W.; Rosenthal, G.; Schouten, J.; Shutter, L.; Timmons, S. D.; Ullman, J. S.; Videtta,
  W.; Wilberger, J. E.; Wright, D. W., *Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. III. Prophylactic hypothermia.* J Neurotrauma, 2007. 24 Suppl 1: p. S21-5.
- 397. Norris, J.N.C., W.; Herzig, T.; Labrie, D. W.; Sams, R., ANAM4 TBI reaction time-based tests have prognostic utility for acute concussion. Mil Med, 2013. **178**(7): p. 767-74.
- 398. Luethcke, C.A.B., C. J.; Morrow, C. E.; Isler, W. C., *Comparison of concussive symptoms, cognitive performance, and psychological symptoms between acute blast-versus nonblast-induced mild traumatic brain injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2011. **17**(1): p. 36-45.
- 399. Cernich, A.R., D.; Sun, W.; Bleiberg, J., *Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics sports medicine battery*. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2007. **22 Suppl 1**: p. S101-14.
- 400. Kelly, M.P.C., R. L.; Parish, R. V.; Dretsch, M. N.; Russell, M. L., *Assessment of acute concussion in the combat environment.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2012. **27**(4): p. 375-88.
- 401. Vincent, A.S.R.-S., T.; Gilliland, K.; Schlegel, R., Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (v4) Traumatic Brain Injury Battery: military normative data. Mil Med, 2012. **177**(3): p. 256-69.
- 402. Norris, J.N.S., R.; Lundblad, P.; Frantz, E.; Harris, E., *Blast-related mild traumatic brain injury in the acute phase: acute stress reactions partially mediate the relationship between loss of consciousness and symptoms.* Brain Inj, 2014. **28**(8): p. 1052-62.
- 403. Vincent, A.S.B., J.; Yan, S.; Ivins, B.; Reeves, D. L.; Schwab, K.; Gilliland, K.; Schlegel, R.; Warden, D., Reference data from the automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics for use in traumatic brain injury in an active duty military sample. Mil Med, 2008. **173**(9): p. 836-52.
- 404. Armistead-Jehle, P.B., B., *Comparison of select Advanced Clinical Solutions embedded Effort measures to the Word Memory Test in the detection of suboptimal effort.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2013. **28**(3): p. 297-301.
- 405. Hall, V.L.W., A.; Venables, K., A UK pilot study: the specificity of the Word Memory Test effort sub-tests in acute minimal to mild head injury. J Neuropsychol, 2014. **8**(2): p. 216-30.
- 406. King, N.S.C., S.; Wenden, F. J.; Caldwell, F. E.; Wade, D. T., *Early prediction of persisting post-concussion symptoms following mild and moderate head injuries.* Br J Clin Psychol, 1999. **38 (Pt 1)**: p. 15-25.
- 407. Iverson, G.L.L., R. T.; Green, P.; Franzen, M. D., *Detecting exaggeration and malingering with the trail making test*. Clin Neuropsychol, 2002. **16**(3): p. 398-406.
- 408. Schretlen, D., et al., *Some caveats in using the Rey 15-Item Memory Test to detect malingered amnesia.* Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 1991. **3**(4): p. 667.
- 409. Livengood, M.A., Jonathan W; Schmitter-Edgecombe, Maureen, *Assessment of memory self-awareness following traumatic brain injury*. Brain injury, 2010. **24**(4): p. 598-608.
- 410. Baird, A.P., K.; Greenwood, R.; Cipolotti, L., *Memory function after resolution of post-traumatic amnesia*. Brain Inj, 2005. **19**(10): p. 811-7.
- 411. Heyanka, D.J.T., N. S.; Linck, J. F.; Pastorek, N. J.; Miller, B.; Romesser, J.; Sim, A. H., A Factor Analytic Approach to the Validation of the Word Memory Test and Test of Memory Malingering as Measures of Effort and Not Memory. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2015. **30**(5): p. 369-76.
- 412. Hampson, N.E.K., S.; Coughlan, A. K.; Moulin, C. J.; Bhakta, B. B., *Effort test performance in clinical acute brain injury, community brain injury, and epilepsy populations*. Appl Neuropsychol Adult, 2014. **21**(3): p. 183-94.
- 413. Krishnan, M.D., J., *Embedded assessment of validity using the continuous visual memory test in patients with traumatic brain injury.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2011. **26**(3): p. 176-83.

- 414. Bashem, J.R.R., L. J.; Miller, J. B.; Hanks, R. A.; Axelrod, B. N.; Millis, S. R., *Comparisons of five performance* validity indices in bona fide and simulated traumatic brain injury. Clin Neuropsychol, 2014. **28**(5): p. 851-75.
- 415. Greve, K.W.B., K. J.; Mathias, C. W.; Houston, R. J.; Crouch, J. A., *Detecting malingered performance with the Wisconsin card sorting test: a preliminary investigation in traumatic brain injury.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2002. **16**(2): p. 179-91.
- 416. Boone, K.B.S., X.; Lu, P.; Warner-Chacon, K.; Razani, J., *The Rey 15-item recognition trial: a technique to enhance sensitivity of the Rey 15-item memorization test.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2002. **24**(5): p. 561-73.
- 417. Hegedish, O.K., N.; Hoofien, D., *Preliminary Validation of a New Measure of Negative Response Bias: The Temporal Memory Sequence Test.* Appl Neuropsychol Adult, 2015. **22**(5): p. 348-54.
- 418. Sherer, M.D., L. C.; Sander, A. M.; Nick, T. G.; Luo, C.; Pastorek, N.; Hanks, R., *Factors Associated with Word Memory Test Performance in Persons with Medically Documented Traumatic Brain Injury*. Clin Neuropsychol, 2015. **29**(4): p. 522-41.
- 419. Brooks, N.C., Linda; Symington, Catherine; Beattie, Alison; McKinlay, William, *The effects of severe head injury on patient and relative within seven years of injury.* The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1987. **2**(3): p. 1-13.
- 420. Curtis, K.L., et al., *California Verbal Learning Test indicators of malingered neurocognitive dysfunction: Sensitivity and specificity in traumatic brain injury.* Assessment, 2006. **13**(1): p. 46-61.
- 421. Greve, K.W., et al., Are the original and second edition of the California Verbal Learning Test equally accurate in detecting malingering? Assessment, 2009. **16**(3): p. 237-248.
- 422. Davis, J.J., *Reconsidering the Word Memory Test as a memory measure in traumatic brain injury*. Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 2016. **31**(7): p. 802-810.
- 423. Lippa, S.M., et al., *Clinical utility of embedded performance validity tests on the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) following mild traumatic brain injury.* Applied Neuropsychology: Adult, 2017. **24**(1): p. 73-80.
- 424. Novitski, J., et al., *The repeatable battery for the assessment of neuropsychological status effort scale.* Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 2012. **27**(2): p. 190-195.
- 425. McKay, C., et al., *The Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS): Clinical utility in a traumatic brain injury sample.* The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 2008. **22**(2): p. 228-241.
- 426. Lippa, S.M., et al., *Sensitivity of the RBANS to acute traumatic brain injury and length of post-traumatic amnesia*. Brain injury, 2013. **27**(6): p. 689-695.
- 427. Belanger, H.G., et al., *Factors moderating neuropsychological outcomes following mild traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2005. **11**(3): p. 215-27.
- 428. Carroll, L.J., et al., *Prognosis for mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.* J Rehabil Med, 2004(43 Suppl): p. 84-105.
- 429. Schretlen, D.J. and A.M. Shapiro, *A quantitative review of the effects of traumatic brain injury on cognitive functioning.* Int Rev Psychiatry, 2003. **15**(4): p. 341-9.
- 430. Ord, J.S., K.W. Greve, and K.J. Bianchini, *Using the Wechsler Memory Scale-III to detect malingering in mild traumatic brain injury.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2008. **22**(4): p. 689-704.
- 431. Glassmire, D.M., et al., Using the WMS-III faces subtest to detect malingered memory impairment. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2003. **25**(4): p. 465-81.
- 432. Hacker, V.L. and C. Jones, *Detecting feigned impairment with the word list recognition of the Wechsler Memory Scale-3rd edition.* Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(3): p. 243-9.
- 433. Langeluddecke, P.M. and S.K. Lucas, *WMS-III findings in litigants following moderate to extremely severe brain trauma.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2005. **27**(5): p. 576-90.
- 434. Hawkins, K., Indicators of Brain Dysfunction Derived from Graphic Representations of the WAIS-III/WMS-III Technical Manual Clinical Samples Data: A Preliminary Approach to Clinical Utility. The Clinical Neuropsychologist, 1998. **12**(4): p. 535-551.
- 435. Gervais, R.O., et al., *A comparison of WMT, CARB, and TOMM failure rates in non-head injury disability claimants.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 2004. **19**(4): p. 475-87.
- 436. Binder, L.M., M.L. Rohling, and G.J. Larrabee, *A review of mild head trauma. Part I: Meta-analytic review of neuropsychological studies.* J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 1997. **19**(3): p. 421-31.

- 437. Cook, J.B., *The post-concussional syndrome and factors influencing recovery after minor head injury admitted to hospital.* Scand J Rehabil Med, 1972. **4**(1): p. 27-30.
- 438. Miller, H., Accident neurosis. Br Med J, 1961. 1(5231): p. 992-8.
- 439. Teichner, G. and M.T. Wagner, *The Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM): Normative data from cognitively intact, cognitively impaired, and elderly patients with dementia.* Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 2004. **19**(3): p. 455-464.
- 440. Schroeder, R., et al., *Efficacy of Test of Memory Malingering Trial 1, Trial 2, the Retention Trial, and the Albany Consistency Index in a criterion group forensic neuropsychological sample.* Archives of clinical neuropsychology, 2013. **28**(1): p. 21-29.
- 441. Ashendorf, L., M. Constantinou, and R.J. McCaffrey, *The effect of depression and anxiety on the TOMM in community-dwelling older adults*. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 2004. **19**(1): p. 125-130.
- 442. Constantinou, M., et al., *Is poor performance on recognition memory effort measures indicative of generalized poor performance on neuropsychological tests?* Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 2005.
   20(2): p. 191-198.
- 443. Kirkwood, M.W., *Pediatric validity assessment*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2015. **36**(4): p. 439-50.
- 444. Lange, R.T.I., G. L.; Brickell, T. A.; Staver, T.; Pancholi, S.; Bhagwat, A.; French, L. M., *Clinical utility of the Conners' Continuous Performance Test-II to detect poor effort in U.S. military personnel following traumatic brain injury.* Psychol Assess, 2013. **25**(2): p. 339-52.
- 445. Haber, A.H.F., N. L., *Replication of the Test of Memory Malingering (TOMM) in a traumatic brain injury and head trauma sample.* Clin Neuropsychol, 2006. **20**(3): p. 524-32.
- 446. Gosselin, N.B., C.; Chen, J. K.; Huntgeburth, S. C.; De Beaumont, L.; Petrides, M.; Cheung, B.; Ptito, A., Evaluating the cognitive consequences of mild traumatic brain injury and concussion by using electrophysiology. Neurosurg Focus, 2012. **33**(6): p. E7: 1-7.
- 447. Soldatovic-Stajic, B.M.-P., G.; Bozic, K.; Novovic, Z.; Gajic, Z., *Neuropsychological and neurophysiological evaluation of cognitive deficits related to the severity of traumatic brain injury.* Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 2014. **18**(11): p. 1632-7.
- 448. DeJong, J.D., Jacobus, *Cluster subtypes on the California Verbal Learning Test–Second Edition (CVLT–II) in a traumatic brain injury sample.* Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology, 2010. **32**(9): p. 953-960.
- 449. Mathias, J.L. and P. Wheaton, *Changes in attention and information-processing speed following severe traumatic brain injury: a meta-analytic review.* Neuropsychology, 2007. **21**(2): p. 212-23.
- 450. Thaler, N.S.A., Daniel N; Park, Brandon S; McMurray, Janice C; Mayfield, Joan, Attention processing abnormalities in children with traumatic brain injury and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Differential impairment of component processes. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology, 2010. **32**(9): p. 929-936.
- 451. Catroppa, C.A., Vicki, *A prospective study of the recovery of attention from acute to 2 years following pediatric traumatic brain injury.* Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 2005. **11**(01): p. 84-98.
- 452. Smilek, D.C., Jonathan SA; Cheyne, J Allan, *Failures of sustained attention in life, lab, and brain: ecological validity of the SART.* Neuropsychologia, 2010. **48**(9): p. 2564-2570.
- 453. Senathi-Raja, D., J. Ponsford, and M. Schonberger, *The association of age and time postinjury with longterm emotional outcome following traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(5): p. 330-8.
- 454. Ginstfeldt, T.E., Ingrid, *An overview of attention deficits after paediatric traumatic brain injury*. Brain Injury, 2010. **24**(10): p. 1123-1134.
- 455. Tramontana, M.G.C., R. L.; Zald, D.; Prokop, J. W.; Guillamondegui, O., *Traumatic brain injury-related attention deficits: treatment outcomes with lisdexamfetamine dimesylate (Vyvanse).* Brain Inj, 2014. **28**(11): p. 1461-72.
- 456. Niemann, H.R., Ronald M; Baser, Christine A, *Computer-assisted attention retraining in head-injured individuals: A controlled efficacy study of an outpatient program.* Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 1990. **58**(6): p. 811.
- 457. Twamley, E.W.J., A. J.; Delis, D. C.; Bondi, M. W.; Lohr, J. B., *Cognitive Symptom Management and Rehabilitation Therapy (CogSMART) for veterans with traumatic brain injury: pilot randomized controlled trial.* J Rehabil Res Dev, 2014. **51**(1): p. 59-70.

- 458. Twamley, E.W., et al., *CogSMART compensatory cognitive training for traumatic brain injury: effects over 1 year.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2015. **30**(6): p. 391-401.
- 459. Rogers, J.M.F., A. M.; Donnelly, J., *Impaired practice effects following mild traumatic brain injury: an event-related potential investigation*. Brain Inj, 2015. **29**(3): p. 343-51.
- 460. Waljas, M.I., G. L.; Lange, R. T.; Liimatainen, S.; Hartikainen, K. M.; Dastidar, P.; Soimakallio, S.; Ohman, J., *Return to work following mild traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2014. **29**(5): p. 443-50.
- 461. Kurča, E.S., Š; Kučera, P, *Impaired cognitive functions in mild traumatic brain injury patients with normal and pathologic magnetic resonance imaging.* Neuroradiology, 2006. **48**(9): p. 661-669.
- 462. Oldenburg, C.L., A.; Edman, G.; Nygren-de Boussard, C.; Bartfai, A., *Cognitive reserve and persistent post-concussion symptoms--A prospective mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) cohort study.* Brain Inj, 2016. **30**(2): p. 146-55.
- 463. Nash, S.L., J.; Bar, J. Y.; Sancho, P. O.; Hours, M.; Chossegros, L.; Tournier, C.; Charnay, P.; Mazaux, J. M.; Boisson, D., *Cognitive and behavioural post-traumatic impairments: what is the specificity of a brain injury* ? A study within the ESPARR cohort. Ann Phys Rehabil Med, 2014. **57**(9-10): p. 600-17.
- 464. Dockree, P.M.T., Y. M.; Carton, S.; FitzGerald, M. C., *Connecting Self-Awareness and Error-Awareness in Patients with Traumatic Brain Injury.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2015. **21**(7): p. 473-82.
- 465. Nolin, P.H., Louise, *Relations Among Sociodemographic, Neurologic, Clinical, and Neuropsychologic Variables, and Vocational Status Following Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Follow-up Study.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2006. **21**(6): p. 514-526.
- 466. Withaar, F.K.B., Wiebo H, *Divided attention after closed head injury*. Zeitschrift für Neuropsychologie, 2003. **14**(3): p. 203-211.
- 467. Johansson, B.R., L., *Novel computer tests for identification of mental fatigue after traumatic brain injury.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2015. **36**(2): p. 195-202.
- 468. Zimmermann, N.P., N.; Hermes-Pereira, A.; Holz, M.; Joanette, Y.; Fonseca, R. P., *Executive functions* profiles in traumatic brain injury adults: Implications for rehabilitation studies. Brain Inj, 2015. **29**(9): p. 1071-81.
- 469. Cicerone, K.D., *Remediation of working attention in mild traumatic brain injury*. Brain injury, 2002. **16**(3): p. 185-195.
- 470. Pastorek, N.J.H., H JULIA; Contant, Charles S, Prediction of global outcome with acute neuropsychological testing following closed-head injury. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 2004.
   10(06): p. 807-817.
- 471. King, N.S., *Emotional, neuropsychological, and organic factors: their use in the prediction of persisting postconcussion symptoms after moderate and mild head injuries.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 1996. **61**(1): p. 75-81.
- 472. Chan, R.C., Sustained attention in patients with mild traumatic brain injury. Clinical Rehabilitation, 2005.
   19(2): p. 188-193.
- 473. Willmott, C.P., J., *Efficacy of methylphenidate in the rehabilitation of attention following traumatic brain injury: a randomised, crossover, double blind, placebo controlled inpatient trial.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2009. **80**(5): p. 552-7.
- 474. French, L.M.L., R. T.; Brickell, T., *Subjective cognitive complaints and neuropsychological test performance following military-related traumatic brain injury.* J Rehabil Res Dev, 2014. **51**(6): p. 933-50.
- 475. Miyake, A.F., N. P.; Emerson, M. J.; Witzki, A. H.; Howerter, A.; Wager, T. D., *The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis.* Cogn Psychol, 2000. **41**(1): p. 49-100.
- 476. Stuss, D.T.A., M. P., *Is there a dysexecutive syndrome?* Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2007. **362**(1481): p. 901-15.
- 477. Adjorlolo, S., *Diagnostic Accuracy, Sensitivity, and Specificity of Executive Function Tests in Moderate Traumatic Brain Injury in Ghana.* Assessment, 2016.
- 478. Cossette, I.O., M. C.; McFadyen, B. J., A preliminary study to identify locomotor-cognitive dual tasks that reveal persistent executive dysfunction after mild traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014.
  95(8): p. 1594-7.
- 479. Muller, F.S., A.; Reviriego, E.; Galera, C.; Mazaux, J. M.; Barat, M.; Joseph, P. A., *Exploring theory of mind after severe traumatic brain injury.* Cortex, 2010. **46**(9): p. 1088-99.

- 480. Simmons, C.D.A., S.; Macri, V. J., *Pilot study: Computer-based virtual anatomical interactivity for rehabilitation of individuals with chronic acquired brain injury.* J Rehabil Res Dev, 2014. **51**(3): p. 377-90.
- 481. Clarke, L.A., R.C. Genat, and J.F. Anderson, *Long-term cognitive complaint and post-concussive symptoms following mild traumatic brain injury: the role of cognitive and affective factors.* Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(3): p. 298-307.
- 482. Morton, N.B., L., *The contribution of injury severity, executive and implicit functions to awareness of deficits after traumatic brain injury (TBI).* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2010. **16**(6): p. 1089-98.
- 483. Paxton, J.C., N., *Rule monitoring ability predicts event-based prospective memory performance in individuals with TBI.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2014. **20**(7): p. 673-83.
- 484. Ponsford, J., K. Draper, and M. Schonberger, *Functional outcome 10 years after traumatic brain injury: its relationship with demographic, injury severity, and cognitive and emotional status.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2008. **14**(2): p. 233-42.
- 485. Jelcic, N.D.P., A.; Mottaran, R.; Cecchin, D.; Manara, R.; Dam, M.; Cagnin, A., *Case series evidence for improvement of executive functions after late cranioplasty.* Brain Inj, 2013. **27**(13-14): p. 1723-6.
- 486. Howell, D.O., L.; Van Donkelaar, P.; Mayr, U.; Chou, L. S., *Effects of concussion on attention and executive function in adolescents.* Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2013. **45**(6): p. 1030-7.
- 487. Haas, M., et al., *Dose response and efficacy of spinal manipulation for chronic cervicogenic headache: a pilot randomized controlled trial.* Spine J, 2010. **10**(2): p. 117-28.
- 488. Ciuffreda, K.J.R., Daniella; Kapoor, Neera; Suchoff, Irwin B; Craig, Shoshana; Han, ME, *Vision therapy for oculomotor dysfunctions in acquired brain injury: a retrospective analysis*. Optometry-Journal of the American Optometric Association, 2008. **79**(1): p. 18-22.
- 489. Keller, I.L.-R., G., *Improvement of visual search after audiovisual exploration training in hemianopic patients*. Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2010. **24**(7): p. 666-73.
- 490. Roth, T.S., A. N.; Messias, A.; Roth, P.; Weller, M.; Trauzettel-Klosinski, S., *Comparing explorative saccade and flicker training in hemianopia: a randomized controlled study.* Neurology, 2009. **72**(4): p. 324-31.
- 491. Adams, R.D.V., Maurice; Ropper, Allan H; Daroff, Robert B, *Principles of neurology*. Cognitive and Behavioral Neurology, 1997. **10**(3): p. 220.
- 492. Kater, K.M., *Response of head-injured patients to sensory stimulation.* West J Nurs Res, 1989. **11**(1): p. 20-33.
- 493. Di Stefano, C.C., A.; Masotti, S.; Simoncini, L.; Piperno, R., *Increased behavioural responsiveness with complex stimulation in VS and MCS: preliminary results.* Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(10): p. 1250-6.
- 494. Lombardi, F.T., M.; De Tanti, A.; Telaro, E.; Liberati, A., *Sensory stimulation of brain-injured individuals in coma or vegetative state: results of a Cochrane systematic review.* Clin Rehabil, 2002. **16**(5): p. 464-72.
- 495. Thiagarajan, P.C., K. J., *Effect of oculomotor rehabilitation on accommodative responsivity in mild traumatic brain injury.* J Rehabil Res Dev, 2014. **51**(2): p. 175-91.
- 496. Romano, J.G., *Progress in rehabilitation of hemianopic visual field defects.* Cerebrovasc Dis, 2009. 27 Suppl 1: p. 187-90.
- 497. Fujimoto, J.G.P., Costas; Boppart, Stephen A; Brezinski, Mark E, *Optical coherence tomography: an emerging technology for biomedical imaging and optical biopsy.* Neoplasia, 2000. **2**(1): p. 9-25.
- 498. Munjal, S.K.P., N. K.; Pathak, A., *Audiological deficits after closed head injury*. J Trauma, 2010. **68**(1): p. 13-8; discussion 18.
- 499. Greenberg, R.P.N., P. G.; Hyatt, M. S.; Narayan, R. K.; Becker, D. P., *Prognostic implications of early multimodality evoked potentials in severely head-injured patients. A prospective study.* J Neurosurg, 1981.
   55(2): p. 227-36.
- 500. Fausti, S.A.W., D. J.; Gallun, F. J.; Myers, P. J.; Henry, J. A., *Auditory and vestibular dysfunction associated with blast-related traumatic brain injury*. J Rehabil Res Dev, 2009. **46**(6): p. 797-810.
- 501. Rowe, M.J., 3rd, *The brainstem auditory evoked response in neurological disease: a review.* Ear Hear, 1981. **2**(1): p. 41-51.
- 502. Liden, G.P., John L; Björkman, Göte, *Tympanometry*. Archives of Otolaryngology, 1970. **92**(3): p. 248-257.
- 503. Wuyts, F.L.F., J.; Vanspauwen, R.; Van de Heyning, P., *Vestibular function testing*. Curr Opin Neurol, 2007. **20**(1): p. 19-24.

- 504. Colorado Department of Labor and Employment, D.o.W.C. *Traumatic Brain Injury Medical Treatment Guidelines*. 2012; Available from:
  - https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/MTG\_Ex10\_TBI.pdf.
- 505. Buster, T.W.C., P.; Harms, N. R.; Kaste, E. G.; Burnfield, J. M., *Computerized dynamic posturography detects balance deficits in individuals with a history of chronic severe traumatic brain injury.* Brain Inj, 2016: p. 1-7.
- 506. Kaufman, K.R.B., R. H.; Chou, L. S.; Rabatin, A.; Brown, A. W.; Basford, J. R., *Comparison of subjective and objective measurements of balance disorders following traumatic brain injury*. Med Eng Phys, 2006. **28**(3): p. 234-9.
- 507. Lei-Rivera, L.S., J.; Galatioto, J. A.; Hujsak, B. D.; Gurley, J. M., *Special tools for the assessment of balance and dizziness in individuals with mild traumatic brain injury.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2013. **32**(3): p. 463-72.
- 508. Scherer, M.R.S., Michael C, *Traumatic brain injury and vestibular pathology as a comorbidity after blast exposure.* Physical therapy, 2009.
- 509. Chandrasekhar, S.S., *The assessment of balance and dizziness in the TBI patient*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2013. **32**(3): p. 445-54.
- 510. Zetterberg, H.S., Douglas H; Blennow, Kaj, *Biomarkers of mild traumatic brain injury in cerebrospinal fluid and blood.* Nature Reviews Neurology, 2013. **9**(4): p. 201-210.
- 511. Dick, M.C., Sarah R; Kumareswaran, Kavita; Hamblin, Peter Shane; Topliss, Duncan J, *Persistent syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion following traumatic brain injury*. Endocrinology, diabetes & metabolism case reports, 2015. **2015**.
- 512. Kleindienst, A.H., Mark J; Buchfelder, Michael; Verbalis, Joseph G, *Hyponatremia in Neurotrauma: The Role of Vasopressin.* J Neurotrauma, 2016. **33**(7): p. 615-624.
- 513. Capatina, C.P., Alessandro; Mitchell, Rosalid; Karavitaki, Niki, *Diabetes insipidus after traumatic brain injury*. Journal of clinical medicine, 2015. **4**(7): p. 1448-1462.
- 514. Hannon, M.J.T., Christopher J, *Neurosurgical hyponatremia*. Journal of clinical medicine, 2014. **3**(4): p. 1084-1104.
- 515. Lohani, S.D., Upendra Prasad, *Hyponatremia in patients with traumatic brain injury: etiology, incidence, and severity correlation.* World Neurosurg, 2011. **76**(3): p. 355-360.
- 516. Cuesta, M.H., Mark J; Thompson, Christopher J, *Diagnosis and treatment of hyponatraemia in neurosurgical patients*. Endocrinología y Nutrición (English Edition), 2016. **63**(5): p. 230-238.
- 517. Edlow, J.A., *Diagnosis of subarachnoid hemorrhage*. Neurocrit Care, 2005. **2**(2): p. 99-109.
- 518. Carpenter, C.R.H., Adnan M; Ward, Michael J; Zipfel, Gregory J; Fowler, Susan; Pines, Jesse M; Sivilotti, Marco LA, Spontaneous Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Describing the Diagnostic Accuracy of History, Physical Exam, Imaging, and Lumbar Puncture with an Exploration of Test Thresholds. Academic Emergency Medicine, 2016.
- 519. Creutzfeldt, C.J.V., Marcelo D; Longstreth Jr, William T, *Paradoxical herniation after decompressive craniectomy provoked by lumbar puncture or ventriculoperitoneal shunting.* J Neurosurg, 2015. **123**(5): p. 1170-1175.
- 520. Berhouma, M.A.D., Nouman; Messerer, Rostom; Al Rammah, Mohamed; Vallee, Bernard, *A rare, high cervical traumatic spinal subdural hematoma*. Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 2011. **18**(4): p. 569-574.
- 521. Shah, K.H.E., Jonathan A, *Distinguishing traumatic lumbar puncture from true subarachnoid hemorrhage.* The Journal of emergency medicine, 2002. **23**(1): p. 67-74.
- 522. Smith, M., Monitoring intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury. Anesth Analg, 2008. **106**(1): p. 240-8.
- 523. Kirkness, C.B., RL; Cain, KC; Newell, DW; Mitchell, PH, *Relationship of cerebral perfusion pressure levels to outcome in traumatic brain injury*, in *Intracranial Pressure and Brain Monitoring XII*. 2005, Springer. p. 13-16.
- Kuo, J.R.Y., T. C.; Sung, K. C.; Wang, C. C.; Chen, C. W.; Chio, C. C., *Intraoperative applications of intracranial pressure monitoring in patients with severe head injury*. J Clin Neurosci, 2006. 13(2): p. 218-23.
- 525. Narayan, R.K.G., R. P.; Miller, J. D.; Enas, G. G.; Choi, S. C.; Kishore, P. R.; Selhorst, J. B.; Lutz, H. A., 3rd; Becker, D. P., *Improved confidence of outcome prediction in severe head injury. A comparative analysis of the clinical examination, multimodality evoked potentials, CT scanning, and intracranial pressure.* J Neurosurg, 1981. **54**(6): p. 751-62.

- 526. Kahraman, S.H., P.; Stein, D. M.; Stansbury, L. G.; Dutton, R. P.; Xiao, Y.; Hess, J. R.; Scalea, T. M., *Dynamic three-dimensional scoring of cerebral perfusion pressure and intracranial pressure provides a brain trauma index that predicts outcome in patients with severe traumatic brain injury.* J Trauma, 2011. **70**(3): p. 547-53.
- 527. Kirkness, C.J.B., R. L.; Cain, K. C.; Newell, D. W.; Mitchell, P. H., *Relationship of cerebral perfusion pressure levels to outcome in traumatic brain injury.* Acta Neurochir Suppl, 2005. **95**: p. 13-6.
- 528. Bader, M.K., *Recognizing and treating ischemic insults to the brain: the role of brain tissue oxygen monitoring*. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am, 2006. **18**(2): p. 243-56, xi.
- van den Brink, W.A.v.S., H.; Steyerberg, E. W.; Avezaat, C. J.; Suazo, J. A.; Hogesteeger, C.; Jansen, W. J.;
   Kloos, L. M.; Vermeulen, J.; Maas, A. I., *Brain oxygen tension in severe head injury*. Neurosurgery, 2000.
   46(4): p. 868-76; discussion 876-8.
- 530. Stocchetti, N.C., K.; Magnoni, S.; Valeriani, V.; Conte, V.; Rossi, S.; Longhi, L.; Zanier, E. R.; Colombo, A., *Arterio-jugular difference of oxygen content and outcome after head injury*. Anesth Analg, 2004. **99**(1): p. 230-4.
- 531. Eriksson, E.A.B., J. F.; Figueroa, B. E.; Bonnell, B. W.; Sloffer, C. A.; Vanderkolk, W. E.; McAllen, K. J.; Ott, M., *The first 72 hours of brain tissue oxygenation predicts patient survival with traumatic brain injury.* J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 2012. **72**(5): p. 1345-9.
- 532. Leal-Noval, S.R.C., A.; Arellano-Orden, V.; Marin-Caballos, A.; Padilla, V.; Ferrandiz-Millon, C.; Corcia, Y.; Garcia-Alfaro, C.; Amaya-Villar, R.; Murillo-Cabezas, F., *Invasive and noninvasive assessment of cerebral oxygenation in patients with severe traumatic brain injury*. Intensive Care Med, 2010. **36**(8): p. 1309-17.
- 533. van Santbrink, H.v.B., W. A.; Steyerberg, E. W.; Carmona Suazo, J. A.; Avezaat, C. J.; Maas, A. I., *Brain tissue oxygen response in severe traumatic brain injury*. Acta Neurochir (Wien), 2003. **145**(6): p. 429-38; discussion 438.
- 534. Adamides, A.A.C., D. J.; Rosenfeldt, F. L.; Bailey, M. J.; Pratt, N.; Tippett, N.; Vallance, S.; Rosenfeld, J. V., Focal cerebral oxygenation and neurological outcome with or without brain tissue oxygen-guided therapy in patients with traumatic brain injury. Acta Neurochir (Wien), 2009. **151**(11): p. 1399-409.
- 535. Stiefel, M.F.S., A.; Gracias, V. H.; Garuffe, A. M.; Guillamondegui, O.; Maloney-Wilensky, E.; Bloom, S.; Grady, M. S.; LeRoux, P. D., *Reduced mortality rate in patients with severe traumatic brain injury treated with brain tissue oxygen monitoring*. J Neurosurg, 2005. **103**(5): p. 805-11.
- 536. Valadka, A.B.G., S. P.; Contant, C. F.; Uzura, M.; Robertson, C. S., *Relationship of brain tissue PO2 to outcome after severe head injury.* Crit Care Med, 1998. **26**(9): p. 1576-81.
- 537. Bardt, T.F.U., A. W.; Hartl, R.; Kiening, K. L.; Schneider, G. H.; Lanksch, W. R., *Monitoring of brain tissue PO2 in traumatic brain injury: effect of cerebral hypoxia on outcome.* Acta Neurochir Suppl, 1998. **71**: p. 153-6.
- 538. Cormio, M.V., A. B.; Robertson, C. S., *Elevated jugular venous oxygen saturation after severe head injury*. J Neurosurg, 1999. **90**(1): p. 9-15.
- 539. Cruz, J., *The first decade of continuous monitoring of jugular bulb oxyhemoglobinsaturation: management strategies and clinical outcome.* Crit Care Med, 1998. **26**(2): p. 344-51.
- 540. Robertson, C.S.G., S. P.; Goodman, J. C.; Contant, C. F.; Valadka, A. B.; Narayan, R. K., *SjvO2 monitoring in head-injured patients.* J Neurotrauma, 1995. **12**(5): p. 891-6.
- 541. Wakai, A.R., I; Schierhout, Gillian, *Mannitol for acute traumatic brain injury*. The Cochrane Library, 2009.
- 542. Schwartz, M.L.T., C. H.; Rowed, D. W.; Reid, S. R.; Meguro, K.; Andrews, D. F., *The University of Toronto head injury treatment study: a prospective, randomized comparison of pentobarbital and mannitol.* Can J Neurol Sci, 1984. **11**(4): p. 434-40.
- 543. Battison, C., et al., Randomized, controlled trial on the effect of a 20% mannitol solution and a 7.5% saline/6% dextran solution on increased intracranial pressure after brain injury. Crit Care Med, 2005.
  33(1): p. 196-202; discussion 257-8.
- 544. Hendoui, N.B., M. T.; Mahmoodpoor, A.; Ahmadi, A.; Abdollahi, M.; Hasanpour, M.; Hadi, F.; Khazaeipour, Z.; Mousavi, S.; Mojtahedzadeh, M., *Reliability of calcium-binding protein S100B measurement toward optimization of hyperosmolal therapy in traumatic brain injury*. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 2013. **17**(4): p. 477-85.
- 545. Sakellaridis, N.P., Elias; Karatzas, Stylianos; Chroni, Despina; Vlachos, Konstantinos; Chatzopoulos, Konstantinos; Dimopoulou, Eleni; Kelesis, Christos; Karaouli, Vasiliki, *Comparison of mannitol and*
hypertonic saline in the treatment of severe brain injuries: Clinical article. Journal of neurosurgery, 2011. **114**(2): p. 545-548.

- 546. Scalfani, M.T.D., R.; Zazulia, A. R.; Videen, T. O.; Diringer, M. N., *Effect of osmotic agents on regional cerebral blood flow in traumatic brain injury*. J Crit Care, 2012. **27**(5): p. 526 e7-12.
- 547. Mojtahedzadeh, M.A., A.; Mahmoodpoor, A.; Beigmohammadi, M. T.; Abdollahi, M.; Khazaeipour, Z.; Shaki, F.; Kuochaki, B.; Hendouei, N., *Hypertonic saline solution reduces the oxidative stress responses in traumatic brain injury patients.* J Res Med Sci, 2014. **19**(9): p. 867-74.
- 548. Vialet, R.A., J.; Thomachot, L.; Antonini, F.; Bourgouin, A.; Alliez, B.; Martin, C., *Isovolume hypertonic solutes (sodium chloride or mannitol) in the treatment of refractory posttraumatic intracranial hypertension: 2 mL/kg 7.5% saline is more effective than 2 mL/kg 20% mannitol.* Crit Care Med, 2003. 31(6): p. 1683-7.
- 549. Mir, M.H.Y., Fardin; Abdollahi, Mohammad; Ahmadi, Arezoo; Nadjafi, Atabak; Mojtahedzadeh, Mojtaba, *The predictive value of resting heart rate following osmotherapy in brain injury: back to basics.* DARU Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2012. **20**(1): p. 1.
- 550. Gantner, D.M., Elizabeth M; Cooper, D James, *Intravenous fluids in traumatic brain injury: what's the solution?* Current opinion in critical care, 2014. **20**(4): p. 385-389.
- 551. Ichai, C.A., G.; Orban, J. C.; Berthier, F.; Rami, L.; Samat-Long, C.; Grimaud, D.; Leverve, X., Sodium lactate versus mannitol in the treatment of intracranial hypertensive episodes in severe traumatic brain-injured patients. Intensive Care Med, 2009. **35**(3): p. 471-9.
- 552. Shackford, S.R.B., Paul R; Wald, Steven L; Rogers, Frederick B; Osler, Turner M; Clark, David E, *Hypertonic* saline resuscitation of patients with head injury: a prospective, randomized clinical trial. Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 1998. **44**(1): p. 50-58.
- 553. Vassar, M.J.P., C. A.; Gannaway, W. L.; Holcroft, J. W., 7.5% sodium chloride/dextran for resuscitation of trauma patients undergoing helicopter transport. Arch Surg, 1991. **126**(9): p. 1065-72.
- 554. Schatzmann, C.H., HE; König, K; Klinge-Xhemajli, P; Rickels, E; Mühling, M; Börschel, M; Samii, M, Treatment of elevated intracranial pressure by infusions of 10% saline in severely head injured patients, in Intracranial Pressure and Neuromonitoring in Brain Injury. 1998, Springer. p. 31-33.
- 555. Vassar, M.J.P., C. A.; Holcroft, J. W., *Prehospital resuscitation of hypotensive trauma patients with 7.5% NaCl versus 7.5% NaCl with added dextran: a controlled trial.* J Trauma, 1993. **34**(5): p. 622-32; discussion 632-3.
- 556. Rhind, S.G.C., N. T.; Baker, A. J.; Morrison, L. J.; Shek, P. N.; Scarpelini, S.; Rizoli, S. B., *Prehospital resuscitation with hypertonic saline-dextran modulates inflammatory, coagulation and endothelial activation marker profiles in severe traumatic brain injured patients.* J Neuroinflammation, 2010. **7**: p. 5.
- 557. Bulger, E.M.M., S.; Brasel, K. J.; Schreiber, M.; Kerby, J. D.; Tisherman, S. A.; Newgard, C.; Slutsky, A.; Coimbra, R.; Emerson, S.; Minei, J. P.; Bardarson, B.; Kudenchuk, P.; Baker, A.; Christenson, J.; Idris, A.; Davis, D.; Fabian, T. C.; Aufderheide, T. P.; Callaway, C.; Williams, C.; Banek, J.; Vaillancourt, C.; van Heest, R.; Sopko, G.; Hata, J. S.; Hoyt, D. B., *Out-of-hospital hypertonic resuscitation following severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial.* JAMA, 2010. **304**(13): p. 1455-64.
- 558. Cooper, D.J.M., P. S.; McDermott, F. T.; Murray, L. J.; Laidlaw, J.; Cooper, G.; Tremayne, A. B.; Bernard, S. S.; Ponsford, J., *Prehospital hypertonic saline resuscitation of patients with hypotension and severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial.* JAMA, 2004. **291**(11): p. 1350-7.
- 559. Baker, A.J.R., S. G.; Morrison, L. J.; Black, S.; Crnko, N. T.; Shek, P. N.; Rizoli, S. B., *Resuscitation with hypertonic saline-dextran reduces serum biomarker levels and correlates with outcome in severe traumatic brain injury patients*. J Neurotrauma, 2009. **26**(8): p. 1227-40.
- 560. Morrison, L.J.B., A. J.; Rhind, S. G.; Kiss, A.; MacDonald, R. D.; Schwartz, B.; Perreira, T.; Simitciu, M.; Trompeo, A.; Black, S. E.; Stuss, D. T.; Rizoli, S. B., *The Toronto prehospital hypertonic resuscitation--head injury and multiorgan dysfunction trial: feasibility study of a randomized controlled trial*. J Crit Care, 2011.
   26(4): p. 363-72.
- 561. Cooper, D.J.M., J.; Heritier, S.; Finfer, S.; Bellomo, R.; Billot, L.; Murray, L.; Vallance, S., *Albumin* resuscitation for traumatic brain injury: is intracranial hypertension the cause of increased mortality? J Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(7): p. 512-8.

- 562. Roquilly, A.L., O.; Cinotti, R.; Rosenczweig, E.; Flet, L.; Mahe, P. J.; Dumont, R.; Marie Chupin, A.; Peneau, C.; Lejus, C.; Blanloeil, Y.; Volteau, C.; Asehnoune, K., *Balanced versus chloride-rich solutions for fluid resuscitation in brain-injured patients: a randomised double-blind pilot study*. Crit Care, 2013. **17**(2).
- 563. Myburgh, J.C., D. J.; Finfer, S.; Bellomo, R.; Norton, R.; Bishop, N.; Kai Lo, S.; Vallance, S., *Saline or albumin for fluid resuscitation in patients with traumatic brain injury*. N Engl J Med, 2007. **357**(9): p. 874-84.
- 564. Sayre, M.R.D., Stephen W; Stern, Susan A; Storer, Daniel L; Loveren, Harry R; Hurst, James M, *Out-of-hospital Administration of Mannitol to Head-injured Patients Does Not Change Systolic Blood Pressure.* Academic Emergency Medicine, 1996. **3**(9): p. 840-848.
- 565. Cottenceau, V.M., Francoise; Mahamid, Eugenia; Petit, Laurent; Shik, Venyamin; Sztark, Francois; Zaaroor, Menashe; Soustiel, Jean Francois, *Comparison of effects of equiosmolar doses of mannitol and hypertonic saline on cerebral blood flow and metabolism in traumatic brain injury*. Journal of neurotrauma, 2011.
   28(10): p. 2003-2012.
- Francony, G.F., B.; Falcon, D.; Canet, C.; Dilou, H.; Lavagne, P.; Jacquot, C.; Payen, J. F., *Equimolar doses of mannitol and hypertonic saline in the treatment of increased intracranial pressure.* Crit Care Med, 2008.
   36(3): p. 795-800.
- 567. Gronwall, D.W., P, *Delayed recovery of intellectual function after minor head injury.* The Lancet, 1974. **304**(7881): p. 605-609.
- 568. Battison, C.A., P. J.; Graham, C.; Petty, T., *Randomized, controlled trial on the effect of a 20% mannitol solution and a 7.5% saline/6% dextran solution on increased intracranial pressure after brain injury.* Crit Care Med, 2005. **33**(1): p. 196-202; discussion 257-8.
- 569. Bourdeaux, C.P. and J.M. Brown, *Randomized controlled trial comparing the effect of 8.4% sodium bicarbonate and 5% sodium chloride on raised intracranial pressure after traumatic brain injury.* Neurocrit Care, 2011. **15**(1): p. 42-5.
- 570. Silverberg, N.D. and G.L. Iverson, *Is rest after concussion "the best medicine?": recommendations for activity resumption following concussion in athletes, civilians, and military service members.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2013. **28**(4): p. 250-9.
- 571. Bennett, M.H.T., B.; Jonker, B., *Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for the adjunctive treatment of traumatic brain injury.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012. **12**: p. CD004609.
- 572. Beynon, C.K., K. L.; Orakcioglu, B.; Unterberg, A. W.; Sakowitz, O. W., *Brain tissue oxygen monitoring and hyperoxic treatment in patients with traumatic brain injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2012. **29**(12): p. 2109-23.
- 573. McDonagh, M.H., M.; Carson, S.; Russman, B. S., *Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for traumatic brain injury: a systematic review of the evidence.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2004. **85**(7): p. 1198-204.
- 574. Kumaria, A.T., C. M., *Normobaric hyperoxia therapy for traumatic brain injury and stroke: a review.* Br J Neurosurg, 2009. **23**(6): p. 576-84.
- 575. Rockswold, S.B.R., G. L.; Defillo, A., *Hyperbaric oxygen in traumatic brain injury*. Neurol Res, 2007. **29**(2): p. 162-72.
- 576. Rockswold, S.B.R., G. L.; Vargo, J. M.; Erickson, C. A.; Sutton, R. L.; Bergman, T. A.; Biros, M. H., *Effects of hyperbaric oxygenation therapy on cerebral metabolism and intracranial pressure in severely brain injured patients*. J Neurosurg, 2001. **94**(3): p. 403-11.
- 577. Shi, X.Y.T., Z. Q.; Xiong, B.; Bao, J. X.; Sun, D.; Zhang, Y. Q.; Yao, Y., *Cerebral perfusion SPECT imaging for assessment of the effect of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on patients with postbrain injury neural status.* Chin J Traumatol, 2003. **6**(6): p. 346-9.
- 578. Boussi-Gross, R.G., H.; Fishlev, G.; Bechor, Y.; Volkov, O.; Bergan, J.; Friedman, M.; Hoofien, D.; Shlamkovitch, N.; Ben-Jacob, E.; Efrati, S., *Hyperbaric oxygen therapy can improve post concussion syndrome years after mild traumatic brain injury - randomized prospective trial.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(11): p. e79995.
- 579. Artru, F.C., R.; Deleuze, R., *Hyperbaric oxygenation for severe head injuries. Preliminary results of a controlled study.* Eur Neurol, 1976. **14**(4): p. 310-8.
- 580. Huang, L.O., A., *Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for traumatic brain injury*. Med Gas Res, 2011. **1**(1): p. 21.
- 581. Rockswold, G.L.F., S. E.; Anderson, D. C.; Bergman, T. A.; Sherman, R. E., *Results of a prospective randomized trial for treatment of severely brain-injured patients with hyperbaric oxygen.* J Neurosurg, 1992. **76**(6): p. 929-34.

- 582. Rockswold, S.B., et al., *A prospective, randomized phase II clinical trial to evaluate the effect of combined hyperbaric and normobaric hyperoxia on cerebral metabolism, intracranial pressure, oxygen toxicity, and clinical outcome in severe traumatic brain injury: clinical article.* Journal of neurosurgery, 2013. **118**(6): p. 1317-1328.
- 583. Miller, R.S.W., L. K.; Bahraini, N.; Churchill, S.; Price, R. C.; Skiba, V.; Caviness, J.; Mooney, S.; Hetzell, B.; Liu, J.; Deru, K.; Ricciardi, R.; Fracisco, S.; Close, N. C.; Surrett, G. W.; Bartos, C.; Ryan, M.; Brenner, L. A., *Effects of hyperbaric oxygen on symptoms and quality of life among service members with persistent postconcussion symptoms: a randomized clinical trial.* JAMA Intern Med, 2015. **175**(1): p. 43-52.
- 584. Wolf, E.G.P., J.; Michaelson, R.; Brower, G.; Profenna, L.; Boneta, O., *Hyperbaric side effects in a traumatic brain injury randomized clinical trial.* Undersea Hyperb Med, 2012. **39**(6): p. 1075-82.
- 585. Cifu, D.X.H., B. B.; West, S. L.; Walker, W.; Carne, W., *The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on persistent postconcussion symptoms.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2014. **29**(1): p. 11-20.
- 586. Ren, H.W., W.; Ge, Z., *Glasgow Coma Scale, brain electric activity mapping and Glasgow Outcome Scale after hyperbaric oxygen treatment of severe brain injury.* Chin J Traumatol, 2001. **4**(4): p. 239-41.
- 587. Peri, C.V.S., M. E.; Farace, E.; Cooper, E.; Alves, W. M.; Cooper, J. B.; Young, J. S.; Jane, J. A., *Pilot study of electrical stimulation on median nerve in comatose severe brain injured patients: 3-month outcome*. Brain Inj, 2001. **15**(10): p. 903-10.
- Schmidt, R.R., S.; Ferro, J.; Madureira, S.; Verdelho, A.; Petrovic, K.; Gouw, A.; van der Flier, W. M.;
  Enzinger, C.; Pantoni, L.; Inzitari, D.; Erkinjuntti, T.; Scheltens, P.; Wahlund, L. O.; Waldemar, G.; Rostrup,
  E.; Wallin, A.; Barkhof, F.; Fazekas, F., *Diffusion-weighted imaging and cognition in the leukoariosis and disability in the elderly study.* Stroke, 2010. 41(5): p. e402-8.
- 589. Xu, H.N., C.; Fu, X.; Ding, W.; Ling, S.; Jiang, X.; Ji, Y., *Early cranioplasty vs. late cranioplasty for the treatment of cranial defect: A systematic review.* Clin Neurol Neurosurg, 2015. **136**: p. 33-40.
- 590. Scheyerer, M.J.D., R.; Fuchs, N.; Metzler, P.; Sprengel, K.; Werner, C. M.; Simmen, H. P.; Gratz, K.; Wanner, G. A., *Maxillofacial injuries in severely injured patients*. J Trauma Manag Outcomes, 2015. **9**: p. 4.
- 591. van Bakelen, N.B., et al., *Comparison of biodegradable and titanium fixation systems in maxillofacial surgery: a two-year multi-center randomized controlled trial.* J Dent Res, 2013. **92**(12): p. 1100-5.
- 592. Timofeev, I.H., P. J., *Outcome after surgical decompression of severe traumatic brain injury*. Injury, 2006. **37**(12): p. 1125-32.
- 593. Bauer, D.F., et al., *Risk factors for conversion to permanent ventricular shunt in patients receiving therapeutic ventriculostomy for traumatic brain injury.* Neurosurgery, 2011. **68**(1): p. 85-88.
- 594. Krötz, M., et al., *Evaluation of minimally invasive percutaneous CT-controlled ventriculostomy in patients with severe head trauma*. European radiology, 2004. **14**(2): p. 227-233.
- 595. Ruchholtz, S., et al., *Percutaneous computed tomographic-controlled ventriculostomy in severe traumatic brain injury.* Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 1998. **45**(3): p. 505-511.
- 596. Griesdale, D.E.M., J.; Kurth, T.; Chittock, D. R., *External ventricular drains and mortality in patients with severe traumatic brain injury*. Can J Neurol Sci, 2010. **37**(1): p. 43-8.
- 597. Kakar, V.N., J.; John Kirkpatrick, P., *The current status of decompressive craniectomy*. Br J Neurosurg, 2009. **23**(2): p. 147-57.
- 598. Guerra, W.K.P., J.; Gaab, M. R., *Decompressive craniectomy to treat intracranial hypertension in head injury patients.* Intensive Care Med, 1999. **25**(11): p. 1327-9.
- 599. Adamides, A.A.W., C. D.; Lewis, P. M.; Cooper, D. J.; Kossmann, T.; Rosenfeld, J. V., *Current controversies in the management of patients with severe traumatic brain injury*. ANZ J Surg, 2006. **76**(3): p. 163-74.
- 600. Plesnila, N., *Decompression craniectomy after traumatic brain injury: recent experimental results.* Prog Brain Res, 2007. **161**: p. 393-400.
- 601. Bayir, H.C., R. S.; Kochanek, P. M., *Promising strategies to minimize secondary brain injury after head trauma*. Crit Care Med, 2003. **31**(1 Suppl): p. S112-7.
- 602. Bor-Seng-Shu, E.F., E. G.; Amorim, R. L.; Teixeira, M. J.; Valbuza, J. S.; de Oliveira, M. M.; Panerai, R. B., Decompressive craniectomy: a meta-analysis of influences on intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in the treatment of traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg, 2012. **117**(3): p. 589-96.
- 603. Hutchinson, P.J.K., P. J., *Decompressive craniectomy in head injury*. Curr Opin Crit Care, 2004. **10**(2): p. 101-4.

- 604. Winter, C.D.A., A.; Rosenfeld, J. V., *The role of decompressive craniectomy in the management of traumatic brain injury: a critical review.* J Clin Neurosci, 2005. **12**(6): p. 619-23.
- 605. Piek, J., *Decompressive surgery in the treatment of traumatic brain injury*. Curr Opin Crit Care, 2002. **8**(2): p. 134-8.
- 606. Sahuquillo, J.A., F., *Decompressive craniectomy for the treatment of refractory high intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2006(1): p. CD003983.
- 607. Schirmer, C.M.A., A. A., Jr.; Malek, A. M., *Decompressive Craniectomy*. Neurocrit Care, 2008. **8**(3): p. 456-70.
- 608. Sahuquillo, J.M.-R., F.; Poca, M. A., *Decompressive craniectomy in traumatic brain injury after the DECRA trial. Where do we stand?* Curr Opin Crit Care, 2013. **19**(2): p. 101-6.
- 609. Bhat, A.R.K., Altaf Rehman; Wani, Mohammed Afzal, *Decompressive craniectomy with multi-dural stabs–a combined (SKIMS) technique to evacuate acute subdural hematoma with underlying severe traumatic brain edema*. Asian J Neurosurg, 2013. **8**(1): p. 15.
- 610. Xu, G.-Z.L., Wen; Liu, Kai-Ge; Wu, Wei; Lu, Wen-Chao; Zhang, Jun-Feng; Wang, Mao-De, *Early pressure dressing for the prevention of subdural effusion secondary to decompressive craniectomy in patients with severe traumatic brain injury*. Journal of Craniofacial Surgery, 2014. **25**(5): p. 1836-1839.
- 611. Cooper, D.J.R., J. V.; Murray, L.; Wolfe, R.; Ponsford, J.; Davies, A.; D'Urso, P.; Pellegrino, V.; Malham, G.; Kossmann, T., *Early decompressive craniectomy for patients with severe traumatic brain injury and refractory intracranial hypertension--a pilot randomized trial.* J Crit Care, 2008. **23**(3): p. 387-93.
- 612. Cooper, D.J.R., J. V.; Murray, L.; Arabi, Y. M.; Davies, A. R.; D'Urso, P.; Kossmann, T.; Ponsford, J.; Seppelt, I.; Reilly, P.; Wolfe, R., *Decompressive craniectomy in diffuse traumatic brain injury.* N Engl J Med, 2011.
  364(16): p. 1493-502.
- 613. Kolias, A.G.A., Hadie; Timofeev, Ivan; Czosnyka, Marek; Corteen, Elizabeth A; Pickard, John D; Turner, Carole; Gregson, Barbara A; Kirkpatrick, Peter J; Murray, Gordon D, *Decompressive craniectomy following traumatic brain injury: developing the evidence base.* Br J Neurosurg, 2016. **30**(2): p. 246-250.
- 614. Hato, N.N., J.; Hakuba, N.; Gyo, K.; Yanagihara, N., *Facial nerve decompression surgery in patients with temporal bone trauma: analysis of 66 cases.* J Trauma, 2011. **71**(6): p. 1789-92; discussion 1792-3.
- 615. Barco, A.A.-C., Jordi; Kaouk Ng, Miguel; Garriga, Carles; Callejón, Laura; Turón, Marc; Gómez, Claudia; López-Sala, Anna. *A robotic therapy for children with TBI*. in *Proceedings of the 8th ACM/IEEE international* conference on Human-robot interaction. 2013. IEEE Press.
- 616. Herman, B.D., Bruno; Duy, Khanh Tran; Raucent, Benoit; Dombre, Etienne; Krut, Sébastien, *Design and preliminary in vivo validation of a robotic laparoscope holder for minimally invasive surgery*. The International Journal of Medical Robotics and Computer Assisted Surgery, 2009. **5**(3): p. 319-326.
- 617. Maja Matarić, A.T., Carolee Winstein, Jon Eriksson, *Socially Assistive Robotics for Stroke and Mild TBI Rehabilitation.* Stud Health Technol Inform., 2009. **145**: p. 249 262.
- 618. Candace Tefertiller, P., DPT, ATP, NCS; Beth Pharo, PT; Nicholas Evans, MHSc; Patricia Winchester, PT, PhD, *Efficacy of rehabilitation robotics for walking training in neurological disorders: A review.* Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development (JRRD), 2011. **Volume 48** (4): p. 387 416.
- 619. Schwartz, I.M., Z., *Robotic-assisted gait training in neurological patients: who may benefit?* Ann Biomed Eng, 2015. **43**(5): p. 1260-9.
- 620. Esquenazi, A.L., S.; Packel, A. T.; Braitman, L., *A randomized comparative study of manually assisted versus robotic-assisted body weight supported treadmill training in persons with a traumatic brain injury.* PM R, 2013. **5**(4): p. 280-90.
- 621. Freivogel, S.S., Dieter; Mehrholz, Jan, *Improved walking ability and reduced therapeutic stress with an electromechanical gait device.* Journal of rehabilitation medicine, 2009. **41**(9): p. 734-739.
- 622. Giulia Stampacchiaa, A.R., Samuele Bigazzia, Adriana Gerinia, Tullia Tombinia; and Stefano Mazzolenib, Walking with a powered robotic exoskeleton: Subjective experience, spasticity and pain in spinal cord injured persons. NeuroRehabilitation 2016. **39**: p. 277–283.
- 623. Andrej Olenšek, M.Z.a.Z.M.c., A novel robot for imposing perturbations; during overground walking: mechanism,; control and normative stepping responses. Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, 2016.

- 624. Sale P, R.E., Russo M, Masiero S, Piccione F, Calabrò RS, Filoni S., *Effects on mobility training and deadaptations in subjects with Spinal Cord Injury due to a Wearable Robot: a preliminary report.* BMC NeurologyBMC series – open, inclusive and trusted 2016 16:12, 2016.
- 625. Jeffrey R. Koller, D.A.J., Daniel P. Ferris, C. David Remy, *Learning to walk with an adaptive gain proportional myoelectric controller for a robotic ankle exoskeleton*. Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, 2015. **12**(97).
- 626. Kristel Knaepen, A.M., Eva Swinnen, Helio Fernandez Tellez,; Marc Michielsen, Eric Kerckhofs, Dirk Lefeber, Romain Meeusen, *Human-Robot Interaction: Does Robotic; Guidance Force Affect Gait-Related Brain; Dynamics during Robot-Assisted Treadmill; Walking?* PLOS ONE, 2015.
- 627. Dennis R. Louie, J.J.E., Tania Lam and Spinal Cord Injury Research Evidence (SCIRE) Research Team, *Gait speed using powered robotic; exoskeletons after spinal cord injury: a; systematic review and correlational study.* Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation ; , 2015. **12**(82).
- 628. Li, S.Z., A. L.; Neville, I. S.; Paiva, W. S.; Nunn, D.; Fregni, F., *Clinical utility of brain stimulation modalities following traumatic brain injury: current evidence*. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat, 2015. **11**: p. 1573-86.
- 629. L. Wallarda, G.D., Y. Kerlirzina, J. Bredinb, *Effects of robotic gait rehabilitation on; biomechanical parameters in the chronic; hemiplegic patients*. Clinical Neurophysiology, 2015. **45**(3): p. 215-219.
- 630. Yang, X.W., P.; Liu, C.; He, C.; Reinhardt, J. D., *The effect of whole body vibration on balance, gait performance and mobility in people with stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Clin Rehabil, 2015. **29**(7): p. 627-38.
- 631. Hartigan C, K.C., Dalley S, Clausen M, Wilson E, Morrison S, Etheridge S, Farris R., *Mobility Outcomes* Following Five Training Sessions with a Powered Exoskeleton. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil, 2015. **21**(2).
- 632. Carolyn Buesing, G.F., Megan O'Donnell, ; Ida Shahidi, Lauren Thomas, Chaithanya K. Mummidisetty, Kenton J. Williams, Hideaki Takahashi, William Zev Rymer and Arun Jayaraman, *Effects of a wearable exoskeleton stride; management assist system (SMA) on; spatiotemporal gait characteristics in; individuals after stroke: a randomized; controlled trial.* Journal of NeuroEngineering and Rehabilitation, 2015. **12:69**.
- 633. Wang, X.D., Y.; Han, X.; Qi, X. Q.; Huang, C. G.; Hou, L. J., *Nutritional support for patients sustaining traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(3): p. e58838.
- 634. Ott, L.Y., Byron; Phillips, Reneé; McClain, Craig; Adams, Linas; Dempsey, Robert; Tibbs, Phillip; Ryo, U Yun, *Altered gastric emptying in the head-injured patient: relationship to feeding intolerance*. Journal of neurosurgery, 1991. **74**(5): p. 738-742.
- 635. Ghajar, J.H., Robert J; Narayan, Raj K; Iacono, Laura A; Firlik, Katrina; Patterson, Russel H, *Survey of critical care management of comatose, head-injured patients in the United States*. Critical care medicine, 1995. **23**(3): p. 560-567.
- 636. Miller, J.D.D., N. M.; Piper, I. R.; Chan, K. H., *Control of intracranial pressure in patients with severe head injury.* J Neurotrauma, 1992. **9 Suppl 1**: p. S317-26.
- 637. Marmarou, A.A., Randy L; Ward, John D; Choi, Sung C; Young, Harold F; Eisenberg, Howard M; Foulkes, Mary A; Marshall, Lawrence F; Jane, John A, *Impact of ICP instability and hypotension on outcome in patients with severe head trauma*. Special Supplements, 1991. **75**(1S): p. S59-S66.
- 638. Muizelaar, J.P.M., A.; Ward, J. D.; Kontos, H. A.; Choi, S. C.; Becker, D. P.; Gruemer, H.; Young, H. F., Adverse effects of prolonged hyperventilation in patients with severe head injury: a randomized clinical trial. J Neurosurg, 1991. **75**(5): p. 731-9.
- Wolf, A.L.L., L.; Marmarou, A.; Ward, J. D.; Muizelaar, P. J.; Choi, S.; Young, H.; Rigamonti, D.; Robinson, W.
   L., *Effect of THAM upon outcome in severe head injury: a randomized prospective clinical trial.* J
   Neurosurg, 1993. **78**(1): p. 54-9.
- 640. Sydenham, E.R., I.; Alderson, P., *Hypothermia for traumatic head injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2009. **15**(2).
- 641. Alderson, P.G., C.; Signorini, D. F., *Therapeutic hypothermia for head injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2004(4): p. CD001048.
- 642. Saxena, M.A., Peter JD; Cheng, Andrew, *Modest cooling therapies (35<sup>o</sup>C to 37.5<sup>o</sup>C) for traumatic brain injury*. The Cochrane Library, 2008.
- 643. Georgiou, A.P.M., A. R., *Role of therapeutic hypothermia in improving outcome after traumatic brain injury: a systematic review.* Br J Anaesth, 2013. **110**(3): p. 357-67.

- 644. Lu, J.G., K. W.; Neimeier, J. P.; Ward, J.; Lapane, K. L., *Randomized controlled trials in adult traumatic brain injury*. Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(13-14): p. 1523-48.
- 645. Liao, K.H.C., C. K.; Chang, H. C.; Chang, K. C.; Chen, C. F.; Chen, T. Y.; Chou, C. W.; Chung, W. Y.; Chiang, Y. H.; Hong, K. S.; Hsiao, S. H.; Hsu, Y. H.; Huang, H. L.; Huang, S. C.; Hung, C. C.; Kung, S. S.; Kuo, K. N.; Li, K. H.; Lin, J. W.; Lin, T. G.; Lin, C. M.; Su, C. F.; Tsai, M. T.; Tsai, S. H.; Wang, Y. C.; Yang, T. Y.; Yu, K. F.; Chiu, W. T., *Clinical practice guidelines in severe traumatic brain injury in Taiwan.* Surg Neurol, 2009. **72 Suppl 2**: p. S66-73; discussion S73-4.
- 646. Henderson, W.R.D., V. K.; Chittock, D. R.; Fenwick, J. C.; Ronco, J. J., *Hypothermia in the management of traumatic brain injury. A systematic review and meta-analysis.* Intensive Care Med, 2003. **29**(10): p. 1637-44.
- 647. Fox, J.L.V., E. N.; Doyle-Waters, M.; Brubacher, J. R.; Abu-Laban, R.; Hu, Z., *Prophylactic hypothermia for traumatic brain injury: a quantitative systematic review.* CJEM, 2010. **12**(4): p. 355-64.
- 648. Peterson, K.C., S.; Carney, N., *Hypothermia treatment for traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* J Neurotrauma, 2008. **25**(1): p. 62-71.
- 649. McIntyre, L.A.F., D. A.; Hebert, P. C.; Moher, D.; Hutchison, J. S., *Prolonged therapeutic hypothermia after traumatic brain injury in adults: a systematic review.* JAMA, 2003. **289**(22): p. 2992-9.
- 650. Sadaka, F.V., C., *Therapeutic hypothermia for the management of intracranial hypertension in severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review*. Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(7-8): p. 899-908.
- 651. Harris, O.A.M., C. R.; Surles, M. C.; Pan, Y.; Rozycki, G.; Macleod, J.; Easley, K., *Discrete cerebral hypothermia in the management of traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial.* J Neurosurg, 2009. **110**(6): p. 1256-64.
- 652. Andrews, P.J.S., H. L.; Rodriguez, A.; Harris, B. A.; Battison, C. G.; Rhodes, J. K.; Murray, G. D., *Hypothermia for Intracranial Hypertension after Traumatic Brain Injury*. N Engl J Med, 2015. **373**(25): p. 2403-12.
- 653. Clifton, G.L.A., S.; Barrodale, P.; Plenger, P.; Berry, J.; Koch, S.; Fletcher, J.; Hayes, R. L.; Choi, S. C., *A phase II study of moderate hypothermia in severe brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 1993. **10**(3): p. 263-71; discussion 273.
- 654. Clifton, G.L.C., S. C.; Miller, E. R.; Levin, H. S.; Smith, K. R., Jr.; Muizelaar, J. P.; Wagner, F. C., Jr.; Marion, D. W.; Luerssen, T. G., Intercenter variance in clinical trials of head trauma--experience of the National Acute Brain Injury Study: Hypothermia. J Neurosurg, 2001. **95**(5): p. 751-5.
- 655. Clifton, G.L.V., A.; Zygun, D.; Coffey, C. S.; Drever, P.; Fourwinds, S.; Janis, L. S.; Wilde, E.; Taylor, P.; Harshman, K.; Conley, A.; Puccio, A.; Levin, H. S.; McCauley, S. R.; Bucholz, R. D.; Smith, K. R.; Schmidt, J. H.; Scott, J. N.; Yonas, H.; Okonkwo, D. O., *Very early hypothermia induction in patients with severe brain injury (the National Acute Brain Injury Study: Hypothermia II): a randomised trial*. Lancet Neurol, 2011. 10(2): p. 131-9.
- 656. Clifton, G.L.C., C. S.; Fourwinds, S.; Zygun, D.; Valadka, A.; Smith, K. R., Jr.; Frisby, M. L.; Bucholz, R. D.; Wilde, E. A.; Levin, H. S.; Okonkwo, D. O., *Early induction of hypothermia for evacuated intracranial hematomas: a post hoc analysis of two clinical trials.* J Neurosurg, 2012. **117**(4): p. 714-20.
- 657. Maekawa, T.Y., S.; Nagao, S.; Hayashi, N.; Ohashi, Y., *Prolonged mild therapeutic hypothermia versus fever* control with tight hemodynamic monitoring and slow rewarming in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. J Neurotrauma, 2015. **32**(7): p. 422-9.
- 658. Mayer, S.A.K., R. G.; Presciutti, M.; Ostapkovich, N. D.; McGann, E.; Fitzsimmons, B. F.; Yavagal, D. R.; Du, Y. E.; Naidech, A. M.; Janjua, N. A.; Claassen, J.; Kreiter, K. T.; Parra, A.; Commichau, C., *Clinical trial of a novel surface cooling system for fever control in neurocritical care patients*. Crit Care Med, 2004. **32**(12): p. 2508-15.
- 659. Liu, W.G.Q., W. S.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, W. M.; Lu, F.; Yang, X. F., *Effects of selective brain cooling in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a preliminary study.* J Int Med Res, 2006. **34**(1): p. 58-64.
- 660. Marion, D.W.O., W. D.; Carlier, P. M.; Penrod, L. E.; Darby, J. M., *The use of moderate therapeutic hypothermia for patients with severe head injuries: a preliminary report.* J Neurosurg, 1993. **79**(3): p. 354-62.
- Marion, D.W.P., L. E.; Kelsey, S. F.; Obrist, W. D.; Kochanek, P. M.; Palmer, A. M.; Wisniewski, S. R.;
   DeKosky, S. T., *Treatment of traumatic brain injury with moderate hypothermia*. N Engl J Med, 1997.
   **336**(8): p. 540-6.

- 662. Qiu, W.S.L., W. G.; Shen, H.; Wang, W. M.; Hang, Z. L.; Zhang, Y.; Jiang, S. J.; Yang, X. F., *Therapeutic effect* of mild hypothermia on severe traumatic head injury. Chin J Traumatol, 2005. **8**(1): p. 27-32.
- 663. Qiu, W.S.W., W. M.; Du, H. Y.; Liu, W. G.; Shen, H.; Shen, L. F.; Zhu, M. L., *Thrombocytopenia after therapeutic hypothermia in severe traumatic brain injury.* Chin J Traumatol, 2006. **9**(4): p. 238-41.
- 664. Qiu, W.Z., Y.; Sheng, H.; Zhang, J.; Wang, W.; Liu, W.; Chen, K.; Zhou, J.; Xu, Z., *Effects of therapeutic mild hypothermia on patients with severe traumatic brain injury after craniotomy*. J Crit Care, 2007. **22**(3): p. 229-35.
- 665. Zhao, Q.J.Z., X. G.; Wang, L. X., *Mild hypothermia therapy reduces blood glucose and lactate and improves neurologic outcomes in patients with severe traumatic brain injury.* J Crit Care, 2011. **26**(3): p. 311-5.
- 666. Shiozaki, T.S., H.; Taneda, M.; Yoshida, H.; Iwai, A.; Yoshioka, T.; Sugimoto, T., *Effect of mild hypothermia* on uncontrollable intracranial hypertension after severe head injury. J Neurosurg, 1993. **79**(3): p. 363-8.
- 667. Shiozaki, T.H., T.; Taneda, M.; Nakajima, Y.; Hashiguchi, N.; Fujimi, S.; Nakamori, Y.; Tanaka, H.; Shimazu, T.; Sugimoto, H., *A multicenter prospective randomized controlled trial of the efficacy of mild hypothermia for severely head injured patients with low intracranial pressure. Mild Hypothermia Study Group in Japan.* J Neurosurg, 2001. **94**(1): p. 50-4.
- 668. Zhi, D.Z., S.; Lin, X., *Study on therapeutic mechanism and clinical effect of mild hypothermia in patients with severe head injury.* Surg Neurol, 2003. **59**(5): p. 381-5.
- 669. Yan, Y.T., W., *Changes of evoked potentials and evaluation of mild hypothermia for treatment of severe brain injury.* Chin J Traumatol, 2001. **4**(1): p. 8-13.
- 670. Smrcka, M.V., M.; Maca, K.; Smrcka, V.; Gal, R., *The influence of mild hypothermia on ICP, CPP and outcome in patients with primary and secondary brain injury.* Acta Neurochir Suppl, 2005. **95**: p. 273-5.
- 671. Polderman, K.H.P., S. M.; Girbes, A. R., *Hypophosphatemia and hypomagnesemia induced by cooling in patients with severe head injury.* J Neurosurg, 2001. **94**(5): p. 697-705.
- 672. Polderman, K.H.T.T.J., R.; Peerdeman, S. M.; Vandertop, W. P.; Girbes, A. R., *Effects of therapeutic hypothermia on intracranial pressure and outcome in patients with severe head injury.* Intensive Care Med, 2002. **28**(11): p. 1563-73.
- 673. Sinz, E.H.K., P. M.; Heyes, M. P.; Wisniewski, S. R.; Bell, M. J.; Clark, R. S.; DeKosky, S. T.; Blight, A. R.; Marion, D. W., *Quinolinic acid is increased in CSF and associated with mortality after traumatic brain injury in humans.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 1998. **18**(6): p. 610-5.
- Aibiki, M.M., S.; Yokono, S., Moderate hypothermia improves imbalances of thromboxane A2 and prostaglandin I2 production after traumatic brain injury in humans. Crit Care Med, 2000. 28(12): p. 3902-6.
- 675. Jiang, J.Y., M.; Zhu, C., *Effect of long-term mild hypothermia therapy in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: 1-year follow-up review of 87 cases.* J Neurosurg, 2000. **93**(4): p. 546-9.
- 676. Jiang, J.Y.X., W.; Li, W. P.; Gao, G. Y.; Bao, Y. H.; Liang, Y. M.; Luo, Q. Z., *Effect of long-term mild* hypothermia or short-term mild hypothermia on outcome of patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2006. **26**(6): p. 771-6.
- 677. Lee, H.C.C., H. C.; Cho, D. Y.; Cheng, K. F.; Lin, P. H.; Chen, C. C., *Applying cerebral hypothermia and brain oxygen monitoring in treating severe traumatic brain injury*. World Neurosurg, 2010. **74**(6): p. 654-60.
- 678. Idris, Z.Z., M. S.; Muzaimi, M.; Hamid, W. Z., *Better Glasgow outcome score, cerebral perfusion pressure and focal brain oxygenation in severely traumatized brain following direct regional brain hypothermia therapy: A prospective randomized study.* Asian J Neurosurg, 2014. **9**(3): p. 115-23.
- 679. Clifton, G.L.M., E. R.; Choi, S. C.; Levin, H. S.; McCauley, S.; Smith, K. R., Jr.; Muizelaar, J. P.; Wagner, F. C., Jr.; Marion, D. W.; Luerssen, T. G.; Chesnut, R. M.; Schwartz, M., *Lack of effect of induction of hypothermia after acute brain injury.* N Engl J Med, 2001. **344**(8): p. 556-63.
- 680. Mandaville, A.R., Anjea; Robertson, Henry; Foster, Careen; Jesser, Christine, *A retrospective review of swallow dysfunction in patients with severe traumatic brain injury*. Dysphagia, 2014. **29**(3): p. 310-318.
- 681. Brown, C.V.H., Kelli; Mandaville, Amy D; Chaney, Paul E; Stevenson, Guy; Smith, Charlotte, *Swallowing dysfunction after mechanical ventilation in trauma patients.* J Crit Care, 2011. **26**(1): p. 108. e9-108. e13.
- 682. O'Neil-Pirozzi, T.M., et al., *Simultaneous modified barium swallow and blue dye tests: a determination of the accuracy of blue dye test aspiration findings.* Dysphagia, 2003. **18**(1): p. 32-8.
- 683. Kalani, Z.P., Pourandokht; Alimohammadi, Nasrollah, *The Effect of Family Guided Visits on the Level of Consciousness in Traumatic Brain Injury.* Journal of Biology and Today's World, 2016. **5**(5): p. 86-90.

- 684. Abbasi, M.M., Eesa; SHEAYKH REZAYI, Abdoreza, *Effect of a regular family visiting program as an affective, auditory, and tactile stimulation on the consciousness level of comatose patients with a head injury.* Japan Journal of Nursing Science, 2009. **6**(1): p. 21-26.
- 685. Megha, M.H., S.; Nayeem, Z., *Effect of frequency of multimodal coma stimulation on the consciousness levels of traumatic brain injury comatose patients*. Brain Inj, 2013. **27**(5): p. 570-7.
- 686. Grüner, M.L.T., D, *Multimodal early onset stimulation (MEOS) in rehabilitation after brain injury.* Brain injury, 2000. **14**(6): p. 585-594.
- 687. Urbenjaphol, P., C. Jitpanya, and S. Khaoropthum, *Effects of the Sensory Stimulation Program on Recovery in Unconscious Patients With Traumatic Brain Injury* Journal of Neuroscience Nursing, 2009. **41**(3): p. E10-E16.
- 688. Johnson, D.A.R.-J., K.; Richards, D., *Biochemical and physiological parameters of recovery in acute severe head injury: responses to multisensory stimulation*. Brain Inj, 1993. **7**(6): p. 491-9.
- 689. Parveen, Y.D., Manju; Dhandapani, Sivashanmugam; Gupta, Sunil K, *A Randomized Controlled Trial to Assess the Efficacy of Auditory Stimulation on Selected Parameters of Comatose Patients with Traumatic Brain Injury*. Indian Journal of Neurotrauma, 2015. **12**(02): p. 128-134.
- 690. Pape, T.L.R., J. M.; Steiner, M.; Parrish, T.; Guernon, A.; Harton, B.; Patil, V.; Bhaumik, D. K.; McNamee, S.; Walker, M.; Froehlich, K.; Burress, C.; Odle, C.; Wang, X.; Herrold, A. A.; Zhao, W.; Reda, D.; Mallinson, T.; Conneely, M.; Nemeth, A. J., *Placebo-Controlled Trial of Familiar Auditory Sensory Training for Acute Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A Preliminary Report.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2015. **29**(6): p. 537-47.
- 691. Ben-Yishay, Y.D., L., *Cognitive remediation in traumatic brain injury: update and issues.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1993. **74**(2): p. 204-13.
- 692. Cicerone, K.D.M., T.; Azulay, J.; Sharlow-Galella, M. A.; Ellmo, W. J.; Paradise, S.; Friel, J. C., *A randomized controlled trial of holistic neuropsychologic rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(12): p. 2239-49.
- 693. Andersson, E.E.E., Ingrid; Björklund, Ragnhild; Stålhammar, Daniel A, *Mild traumatic brain injuries: the impact of early intervention on late sequelae. A randomized controlled trial.* Acta neurochirurgica, 2007. 149(2): p. 151-160.
- 694. Slade, A.T., A.; Chamberlain, M. A., *A randomised controlled trial to determine the effect of intensity of therapy upon length of stay in a neurological rehabilitation setting.* J Rehabil Med, 2002. **34**(6): p. 260-6.
- 695. Ghaffar, O.M., S.; Ouchterlony, D.; Feinstein, A., *Randomized treatment trial in mild traumatic brain injury.* J Psychosom Res, 2006. **61**(2): p. 153-60.
- 696. Schneider, K.J.M., W. H.; Nettel-Aguirre, A.; Barlow, K.; Boyd, L.; Kang, J.; Emery, C. A., *Cervicovestibular* rehabilitation in sport-related concussion: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med, 2014. **48**(17): p. 1294-8.
- 697. Krewer, C.H., S.; Muller, F.; Koenig, E., *Effects of repetitive peripheral magnetic stimulation on upper-limb spasticity and impairment in patients with spastic hemiparesis: a randomized, double-blind, shamcontrolled study.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014. **95**(6): p. 1039-47.
- 698. Zhu, X.L.P., W. S.; Chan, C. C.; Chan, S. S., *Does intensive rehabilitation improve the functional outcome of patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI)? A randomized controlled trial.* Brain Inj, 2007. **21**(7): p. 681-90.
- 699. Shiel, A.B., J. P.; Henry, D.; Clark, J.; Wilson, B. A.; Burnett, M. E.; McLellan, D. L., *The effects of increased rehabilitation therapy after brain injury: results of a prospective controlled trial.* Clin Rehabil, 2001. **15**(5): p. 501-14.
- 700. Wilson, D.J.P., M.; Gorham, J. L.; Childers, M. K., *Ambulation training with and without partial weightbearing after traumatic brain injury: results of a randomized, controlled trial.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2006. **85**(1): p. 68-74.
- 701. Wilson, J.T.S., F. J.; Legrand, V.; Murray, G.; Stocchetti, N.; Maas, A. I., *Observer variation in the assessment of outcome in traumatic brain injury: experience from a multicenter, international randomized clinical trial.* Neurosurgery, 2007. **61**(1): p. 123-8; discussion 128-9.
- 702. De Luca, R., et al., *Is computer-assisted training effective in improving rehabilitative outcomes after brain injury? A case-control hospital-based study.* Disability and health journal, 2014. **7**(3): p. 356-360.
- 703. Blake, H.B., M., *Exercise intervention in brain injury: a pilot randomized study of Tai Chi Qigong.* Clin Rehabil, 2009. **23**(7): p. 589-98.

- 704. Bateman, A.C., F. J.; Pickering, A. D.; Powell, J. H.; Scott, O. M.; Greenwood, R. J., *The effect of aerobic training on rehabilitation outcomes after recent severe brain injury: a randomized controlled evaluation*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2001. **82**(2): p. 174-82.
- 705. Griesbach, G.S., *Exercise after traumatic brain injury: is it a double-edged sword?* PM R, 2011. **3**(6 Suppl 1): p. S64-72.
- 706. McDonnell, M.N.S., A. E.; Mackintosh, S. F., *Aerobic exercise to improve cognitive function in adults with neurological disorders: a systematic review*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2011. **92**(7): p. 1044-52.
- 707. Canning, C.G.S., R. B.; Carr, J. H.; Alison, J. A.; Wade, L.; White, A., *A randomized controlled trial of the effects of intensive sit-to-stand training after recent traumatic brain injury on sit-to-stand performance.* Clin Rehabil, 2003. **17**(4): p. 355-62.
- 708. Driver, S.O.C., J.; Lox, C.; Rees, K., *Evaluation of an aquatics programme on fitness parameters of individuals with a brain injury*. Brain Inj, 2004. **18**(9): p. 847-59.
- 709. Bowen, A.P., Second impact syndrome: a rare, catastrophic, preventable complication of concussion in young athletes. J Emerg Nurs, 2003. **29**(3): p. 287-9.
- 710. Schnadower, D.V., H.; Lee, J.; Dayan, P.; Roskind, C. G., *Controversies in the evaluation and management of minor blunt head trauma in children*. Curr Opin Pediatr, 2007. **19**(3): p. 258-64.
- 711. Moser, R.S.G., C.; Schatz, P., *Efficacy of immediate and delayed cognitive and physical rest for treatment of sports-related concussion*. J Pediatr, 2012. **161**(5): p. 922-6.
- 712. Mehrholz, J.P., M.; Elsner, B., *Treadmill training and body weight support for walking after stroke*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2014(1): p. CD002840.
- 713. Brown, T.H.M., J.; Rouland, B. L.; Kautz, K. A.; Barnes, R. M.; Kim, J., *Body weight-supported treadmill training versus conventional gait training for people with chronic traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2005. **20**(5): p. 402-15.
- 714. Pedlow, K., Lennon, S., Wilson, C., *Application of Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy in Clinical Practice: An online survey.* Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 2014. **95**(2): p. 276-282.
- 715. Sterr, A.E., T.; Berthold, I.; Kolbel, S.; Rockstroh, B.; Taub, E., *Longer versus shorter daily constraint-induced movement therapy of chronic hemiparesis: an exploratory study.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2002. **83**(10): p. 1374-7.
- 716. Games, K.E.S., J. M.; Wilson, A. E., *Whole-body vibration and blood flow and muscle oxygenation: a metaanalysis.* J Athl Train, 2015. **50**(5): p. 542-9.
- 717. Wang, R.L., M.; Gao, W. W.; Guo, Y.; Chen, J.; Tian, H. L., *Outcomes of Early Decompressive Craniectomy Versus Conventional Medical Management After Severe Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Medicine (Baltimore), 2015. **94**(43): p. e1733.
- 718. Alizadeh-Meghrazi, M.M., K.; Zariffa, J.; Sayenko, D. G.; Popovic, M. R.; Craven, B. C., *Effect of whole-body vibration on lower-limb EMG activity in subjects with and without spinal cord injury*. J Spinal Cord Med, 2014. **37**(5): p. 525-36.
- 719. Ross, L.F.H., Lisa A; Lannin, Natasha A, *Do people with acquired brain impairment benefit from additional therapy specifically directed at the hand? A randomized controlled trial*. Clinical rehabilitation, 2009. **23**(6): p. 492-503.
- 720. Powell, L.E., et al., *Systematic instruction for individuals with acquired brain injury: results of a randomised controlled trial.* Neuropsychol Rehabil, 2012. **22**(1): p. 85-112.
- 721. Ehlhardt, L.A., et al., *Evidence-based practice guidelines for instructing individuals with neurogenic memory impairments: what have we learned in the past 20 years?* Neuropsychol Rehabil, 2008. **18**(3): p. 300-42.
- Lemoncello, R.S., M. M.; Fickas, S.; Prideaux, J., A randomised controlled crossover trial evaluating Television Assisted Prompting (TAP) for adults with acquired brain injury. Neuropsychol Rehabil, 2011.
   21(6): p. 825-46.
- 723. de Joode, E.v.H., Caroline; Verhey, Frans; van Boxtel, Martin, *Efficacy and usability of assistive technology for patients with cognitive deficits: A systematic review.* Clinical rehabilitation, 2010.
- 724. Zlotowitz, S.F., K.; Illingworth, V.; Liu, C.; Greenwood, R.; Papps, B., *Teaching action sequences after brain injury: a comparison of modelling and moulding techniques.* Clin Rehabil, 2010. **24**(7): p. 632-8.

- 725. Bublak, P.S., Torsten; Matthes-von Cramon, Gabi; von Cramon, Yves, *Differential demands on working memory for guiding a simple action sequence: evidence from closed-head-injured subjects.* Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 2000. **22**(2): p. 176-189.
- 726. Mateer, C.A.S., C. S., *Cognitive and emotional consequences of TBI: intervention strategies for vocational rehabilitation.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2006. **21**(4): p. 315-26.
- 727. Hertzog, C.D., Roger A; Hultsch, David F, *Relationships between metamemory, memory predictions, and memory task performance in adults.* Psychology and aging, 1990. **5**(2): p. 215.
- 728. Sohlberg, M.M.M., C. A., *Improving attention and managing attentional problems. Adapting rehabilitation techniques to adults with ADD.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2001. **931**: p. 359-75.
- 729. Wilson, M.G.P., Linda F; Malone, Kathleen M; Polak, Joseph F; Creager, Mark A; Goldhaber, Samuel Z, *Fixed low-dose versus adjusted higher-dose warfarin following orthopedic surgery: A randomized prospective trial.* The Journal of arthroplasty, 1994. **9**(2): p. 127-130.
- 730. Brush, J. and C. Camp, *Using spaced retrieval as an intervention during speech-language therapy*. . Clinical Gerontologist, 1998b. **19**(1): p. 51-64.
- 731. Sawchyn, J.M.M., C. A.; Suffield, J. B., *Awareness, emotional adjustment, and injury severity in postacute brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2005. **20**(4): p. 301-14.
- 732. Prigatano, G.P.B., O.; Mataro, M.; Munoz, J. M.; Fernandez, S.; Junque, C., *Initial disturbances of consciousness and resultant impaired awareness in Spanish patients with traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1998. **13**(5): p. 29-38.
- 733. Mittenberg, W.M., S., *Effects of chronic cocaine abuse on memory and learning*. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 1993. **8**(6): p. 477-83.
- 734. Hogarty, G.E.K., M. M., *Norms of adjustment and social behavior*. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 1971. **25**(5): p. 470-80.
- 735. Machulda, M.M.B., T. F.; Ito, V.; Chew, S., *Relationship between stress, coping, and postconcussion symptoms in a healthy adult population.* Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 1998. **13**(5): p. 415-24.
- 736. Bell, K.R., et al., *The effect of telephone counselling on reducing post-traumatic symptoms after mild traumatic brain injury: a randomised trial.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2008. **79**(11): p. 1275-1281.
- 737. Mittenberg, W., et al., *Cognitive-behavioral prevention of postconcussion syndrome*. Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 1996. **11**(2): p. 139-145.
- Tiersky, L.A.A., V.; Johnston, M. V.; Kurtyka, J.; Roosen, E.; Schwartz, T.; Deluca, J., A trial of neuropsychologic rehabilitation in mild-spectrum traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2005.
   86(8): p. 1565-74.
- 739. Ponsford, J.L., N. K.; Wong, D.; McKay, A.; Haines, K.; Alway, Y.; Downing, M.; Furtado, C.; O'Donnell, M. L., *Efficacy of motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression symptoms following traumatic brain injury.* Psychol Med, 2016. **46**(5): p. 1079-90.
- 740. Evans, J.J.G., Eve; Wilson, Barbara A; Bateman, Andrew, *Walking and talking therapy: Improving cognitive–motor dual-tasking in neurological illness.* Journal of the international Neuropsychological society, 2009. **15**(01): p. 112-120.
- 741. Couillet, J.S., S.; Lebornec, G.; Asloun, S.; Joseph, P. A.; Mazaux, J. M.; Azouvi, P., *Rehabilitation of divided attention after severe traumatic brain injury: a randomised trial.* Neuropsychol Rehabil, 2010. **20**(3): p. 321-39.
- 742. Shum, D.F., Jennifer; Gill, Hannah; Gullo, Matthew J; Strong, Jenny, *A randomized controlled trial of prospective memory rehabilitation in adults with traumatic brain injury*. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 2011. **43**(3): p. 216-223.
- 743. Novakovic-Agopian, T.C., Anthony J-W; Rome, Scott; Abrams, Gary; Castelli, Holli; Rossi, Annemarie; McKim, Ryan; Hills, Nancy; D'Esposito, Mark, *Rehabilitation of executive functioning with training in attention regulation applied to individually defined goals: a pilot study bridging theory, assessment, and treatment.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2011. **26**(5): p. 325-338.
- 744. Chen, A.J.-W.N.-A., Tatjana; Nycum, Terrence J; Song, Shawn; Turner, Gary R; Hills, Nancy K; Rome, Scott; Abrams, Gary M; D'Esposito, Mark, *Training of goal-directed attention regulation enhances control over neural processing for individuals with brain injury*. Brain, 2011. **134**(5): p. 1541-1554.

- 745. Simpson, G.K.T., R. L.; Whiting, D. L.; Cotter, R. E., *Suicide prevention after traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial of a program for the psychological treatment of hopelessness*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2011. **26**(4): p. 290-300.
- 746. Ponsford, J.L.Z., Carlo; Parcell, Diane L; Shekleton, Julia A; Roper, Monique; Redman, Jennifer R; Phipps-Nelson, Jo; Rajaratnam, Shantha MW, *Fatigue and sleep disturbance following traumatic brain injury their nature, causes, and potential treatments*. The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2012. **27**(3): p. 224-233.
- 747. Radice-Neumann, D.Z., B.; Tomita, M.; Willer, B., *Training emotional processing in persons with brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2009. **24**(5): p. 313-23.
- 748. McPherson, K.M.K., N.; Weatherall, M., *A pilot study of self-regulation informed goal setting in people with traumatic brain injury*. Clin Rehabil, 2009. **23**(4): p. 296-309.
- 749. Ownsworth, T.F., Jennifer; Shum, David; Kuipers, Pim; Strong, Jenny, Comparison of individual, group and combined intervention formats in a randomized controlled trial for facilitating goal attainment and improving psychosocial function following acquired brain injury. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 2008.
   40(2): p. 81-88.
- 750. Krasny-Pacini, A.C., M.; Evans, J., *Goal Management Training for rehabilitation of executive functions: a systematic review of effectiveness in patients with acquired brain injury.* Disabil Rehabil, 2014. **36**(2): p. 105-16.
- 751. Evans, J.J., *Goal setting during rehabilitation early and late after acquired brain injury*. Curr Opin Neurol, 2012. **25**(6): p. 651-5.
- 752. Dalton, C.F., R.; De Souza, A.; Wujanto, E.; McKenna-Slade, A.; Thompson, S.; Liu, C.; Greenwood, R., Patient inclusion in goal setting during early inpatient rehabilitation after acquired brain injury. Clin Rehabil, 2012. **26**(2): p. 165-73.
- 753. Hassett, L., et al., *A prospective interrupted time series study of interventions to improve the quality, rating, framing and structure of goal-setting in community-based brain injury rehabilitation.* Clin Rehabil, 2015. **29**(4): p. 327-38.
- 754. Doig, E., et al., *Qualitative exploration of a client-centered, goal-directed approach to community-based occupational therapy for adults with traumatic brain injury.* Am J Occup Ther, 2009. **63**(5): p. 559-68.
- 755. Fischer, C.L., J.; Adeleine, P.; Morlet, D., *Predictive value of sensory and cognitive evoked potentials for awakening from coma*. Neurology, 2004. **63**(4): p. 669-73.
- Struchen, M.A.D., L. C.; Bogaards, J. A.; Hudler-Hull, T.; Clark, A. N.; Mazzei, D. M.; Sander, A. M.; Caroselli, J. S., *Making connections after brain injury: development and evaluation of a social peer-mentoring program for persons with traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2011. 26(1): p. 4-19.
- 757. Thomsen, I.V., *The patient with severe head injury and his family. A follow-up study of 50 patients.* Scand J Rehabil Med, 1974. **6**(4): p. 180-3.
- 758. Klonoff, P.S.S., W. G.; Costa, L. D., *Quality of life in patients 2 to 4 years after closed head injury.* Neurosurgery, 1986. **19**(5): p. 735-43.
- 759. Rappaport, M.H.-B., C.; Rappaport, M. L.; Winterfield, K. M., *Head injury outcome up to ten years later*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1989. **70**(13): p. 885-92.
- 760. Morton, M.V. and P. Wehman, *Psychosocial and emotional sequelae of individuals with traumatic brain injury: a literature review and recommendations.* Brain Inj, 1995. **9**(1): p. 81-92.
- 761. Pilotto, A.D.M., F.; Franceschi, M.; Leandro, G.; Battaglia, G.; Germana, B.; Marin, R.; Valerio, G., Pantoprazole versus one-week Helicobacter pylori eradication therapy for the prevention of acute NSAIDrelated gastroduodenal damage in elderly subjects. Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2000. **14**(8): p. 1077-82.
- 762. Schmidt, J.F., J.; Ownsworth, T.; Lannin, N.; Khan, A., *Feedback interventions for improving self-awareness after brain injury: a protocol for a pragmatic randomised controlled trial.* Aust Occup Ther J, 2012. **59**(2): p. 138-46.
- Schmidt, J.F., Jennifer; Ownsworth, Tamara; Lannin, Natasha A, Maintenance of treatment effects of an occupation-based intervention with video feedback for adults with TBI. NeuroRehabilitation, 2015. 36(2): p. 175-186.
- 764. Stuss, D.T.A., V., *The frontal lobes and theory of mind: developmental concepts from adult focal lesion research.* Brain Cogn, 2004. **55**(1): p. 69-83.

- 765. Fleming, J.O., Tamara, *A review of awareness interventions in brain injury rehabilitation*. Neuropsychological rehabilitation, 2006. **16**(4): p. 474-500.
- 766. Yates, K.P., Andres, *Comprehension of discharge information for minor head injury: a randomised controlled trial in New Zealand.* The New Zealand Medical Journal (Online), 2006. **119**(1239).
- 767. Sohlberg, M.M.G., Gina G; Fickas, Stephen, *An evaluation of reading comprehension of expository text in adults with traumatic brain injury*. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 2014. **23**(2): p. 160-175.
- 768. Vas, A.K.C., S. B.; Cook, L. G.; Elliott, A. C.; Keebler, M., *Higher-order reasoning training years after traumatic brain injury in adults*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2011. **26**(3): p. 224-39.
- 769. Krawczyk, D.C.M.d.I.P., C.; Schauer, G. F.; Vas, A. K.; Keebler, M.; Tuthill, S.; Gardner, C.; Jantz, T.; Yu, W.; Chapman, S. B., *Evaluating the effectiveness of reasoning training in military and civilian chronic traumatic brain injury patients: study protocol.* Trials, 2013. **14**: p. 29.
- 770. Parente, D.B.G., E. L.; da Cruz, L. C., Jr.; Domingues, R. C.; Baptista, A. C.; Carvalho, A. C., *Potential role of diffusion tensor MRI in the differential diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease.* AJR Am J Roentgenol, 2008. **190**(5): p. 1369-74.
- 771. Sears, C., *Evaluation of Attention Process Training III in persons with traumatic brain injury*. 2013, University of Washington.
- 772. Pero, S.I., C.; Caracciolo, B.; Zoccolotti, P.; Formisano, R., *Rehabilitation of attention in two patients with traumatic brain injury by means of 'attention process training'*. Brain Inj, 2006. **20**(11): p. 1207-19.
- 773. Sohlberg, M.M.M., K. A.; Pavese, A.; Heidrich, A.; Posner, M. I., *Evaluation of attention process training and brain injury education in persons with acquired brain injury*. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 2000. **22**(5): p. 656-76.
- 774. Gray, B.G.I., M.; Chung, D. G.; Kirsh, J. C.; Franks, W., *Technetium-99m-HMPAO SPECT in the evaluation of patients with a remote history of traumatic brain injury: a comparison with x-ray computed tomography.* J Nucl Med, 1992. **33**(1): p. 52-8.
- 775. Powell, J., J. Heslin, and R. Greenwood, *Community based rehabilitation after severe traumatic brain injury: a randomised controlled trial.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2002. **72**(2): p. 193-202.
- 776. Hoofien, D.G., Assaf; Vakil, Eli; Donovick, Peter J, *Traumatic brain injury (TBI) 10? 20 years later: a comprehensive outcome study of psychiatric symptomatology, cognitive abilities and psychosocial functioning.* Brain injury, 2001. **15**(3): p. 189-209.
- 777. Bellucci, D.M.G., K.; Haslam, N., *Computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation reduces negative symptoms in the severely mentally ill.* Schizophr Res, 2003. **59**(2-3): p. 225-32.
- 778. Stathopoulou, S., Lubar, J.F., *EEG Changes in Traumatic Brain Injured Patients After Cognitive Rehabilitation.* Journal of Neurotherapy: Investigations in Neuromodulation, Neurofeedback and Applied Neuroscience, 2004. **8**(2): p. 21-51.
- 779. Dams-O'Connor, K.G., Wayne A, *Role and impact of cognitive rehabilitation*. Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 2010. **33**(4): p. 893-904.
- 780. Park, N.W.I., Janet L, *Effectiveness of attention rehabilitation after an acquired brain injury: A metaanalysis.* Neuropsychology, 2001. **15**(2): p. 199.
- 781. Virk, S.W., T.; Brunsdon, R.; Suh, F.; Morrow, A., *Cognitive remediation of attention deficits following acquired brain injury: A systematic review and meta-analysis.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2015. **36**(3): p. 367-77.
- 782. Stuss, D.T.P., Janice; Buckle, Leslie; Bondar, Jay, Characterization of stability of performance in patients with traumatic brain injury: variability and consistency on reaction time tests. Neuropsychology, 1994.
   8(3): p. 316.
- Heitger, M.H.J., Richard D; Dalrymple-Alford, John C; Frampton, Chris M; Ardagh, Michael W; Anderson, Tim J, *Motor deficits and recovery during the first year following mild closed head injury*. Brain Injury, 2006. 20(8): p. 807-824.
- 784. Stuss, D.S., LL; Hugenholtz, H; Picton, T; Pivik, J; Richard, MT, *Reaction time after head injury: fatigue, divided and focused attention, and consistency of performance.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 1989. **52**(6): p. 742-748.
- 785. Van Zomeren, A.B., WH, *Head injury and concepts of attention*. Neurobehavioral recovery from head injury, 1987: p. 398-415.

- 786. Alghadir, A.H.I., Z. A.; Whitney, S. L., *An update on vestibular physical therapy.* J Chin Med Assoc, 2013. **76**(1): p. 1-8.
- 787. Gurley, J.M.H., B. D.; Kelly, J. L., *Vestibular rehabilitation following mild traumatic brain injury*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2013. **32**(3): p. 519-28.
- 788. Whitney, S.L.S., P. J., *Principles of vestibular physical therapy rehabilitation*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2011. **29**(2): p. 157-66.
- 789. Burdea, G., *Virtual rehabilitation-benefits and challenges.* Methods of Information in Medicine-Methodik der Information in der Medizin, 2003. **42**(5): p. 519-523.
- 790. Shapi'i, A.M.Z., N. A.; Elaklouk, A. M., *A game system for cognitive rehabilitation*. Biomed Res Int, 2015. **2015**: p. 493562.
- 791. Pietrzak, E.P., S.; McGuire, A., Using Virtual Reality and Videogames for Traumatic Brain Injury Rehabilitation: A Structured Literature Review. Games Health J, 2014. **3**(4): p. 202-14.
- 792. Gil-Gomez, J.A.L., R.; Alcaniz, M.; Colomer, C., *Effectiveness of a Wii balance board-based system (eBaViR)* for balance rehabilitation: a pilot randomized clinical trial in patients with acquired brain injury. J Neuroeng Rehabil, 2011. **8**: p. 30.
- 793. Cuthbert, J.P.S., K.; Hays, K.; Gerber, D.; Natale, A.; O'Dell, D., *Virtual reality-based therapy for the treatment of balance deficits in patients receiving inpatient rehabilitation for traumatic brain injury.* Brain Inj, 2014. **28**(2): p. 181-8.
- 794. Gil-Gómez, J.-A.L., Roberto; Alcañiz, Mariano; Colomer, Carolina, *Effectiveness of a Wii balance board-based system (eBaViR) for balance rehabilitation: a pilot randomized clinical trial in patients with acquired brain injury.* Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation, 2011. **8**(1): p. 1.
- 795. Larson, E.B.F., Maia; Gagliardo, Pablo; Dvorkin, Assaf Y, *Virtual reality and cognitive rehabilitation: A review of current outcome research*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2014. **34**(4): p. 759-772.
- 796. Pietrzak, E., S. Pullman, and A. McGuire, *Using Virtual Reality and Videogames for Traumatic Brain Injury Rehabilitation: A Structured Literature Review.* Games Health J, 2014. **3**(4): p. 202-14.
- 797. Grealy, M.A.J., D. A.; Rushton, S. K., *Improving cognitive function after brain injury: the use of exercise and virtual reality.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1999. **80**(6): p. 661-7.
- 798. Jacoby, M.A., Sara; Sacher, Yaron; Katz, Noomi; Weiss, Patrice L; Kizony, Rachel, *Effectiveness of executive functions training within a virtual supermarket for adults with traumatic brain injury: a pilot study.* IEEE transactions on neural systems and rehabilitation engineering, 2013. **21**(2): p. 182-190.
- 799. Yip, B.C. and D.W. Man, *Virtual reality-based prospective memory training program for people with acquired brain injury.* Neurorehabilitation, 2013. **32**(1): p. 103-115.
- 800. Man, D.W.K.P., Wai Sang; Lam, Chow, *The effectiveness of artificial intelligent 3-D virtual reality vocational problem-solving training in enhancing employment opportunities for people with traumatic brain injury*. Brain injury, 2013. **27**(9): p. 1016-1025.
- 801. Thornton, M.M., S; McComas, J; Finestone, H; McCormick, A; Sveistrup, H, *Benefits of activity and virtual reality based balance exercise programmes for adults with traumatic brain injury: perceptions of participants and their caregivers.* Brain injury, 2005. **19**(12): p. 989-1000.
- 802. Fong, K.N.C., K. Y.; Chan, B. C.; Lam, K. C.; Lee, J. C.; Li, T. H.; Yan, E. W.; Wong, A. T., Usability of a virtual reality environment simulating an automated teller machine for assessing and training persons with acquired brain injury. J Neuroeng Rehabil, 2010. **7**(19): p. 1743-0003.
- 803. Neistadt, M.E., *Perceptual retraining for adults with diffuse brain injury*. Am J Occup Ther, 1994. **48**(3): p. 225-33.
- 804. Marie Ethier, C.M.J.B., and Jacinthe M.C. Baribeau, *Computer-Dispensed Cognitive Perceptual Training of Closed Head Injury*. Canadian Journal of Rehabilitation, 1989. **2**(4): p. 223-233.
- Gordon, W.A.H., M. R.; Egelko, S.; Diller, L.; Shaver, M. S.; Lieberman, A.; Ragnarsson, K., *Perceptual remediation in patients with right brain damage: a comprehensive program.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1985.
   66(6): p. 353-9.
- 806. Schmidt, J.F., J.; Ownsworth, T.; Lannin, N. A., *Video feedback on functional task performance improves self-awareness after traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2013. **27**(4): p. 316-24.
- 807. Kagan, N.S., P.; Resnikoff, A.; Danish, S. J.; Krathwohl, D. R., *Interpersonal process recall.* J Nerv Ment Dis, 1969. **148**(4): p. 365-74.

- 808. Larsen, D., Flesaker, K., Stege, R., *Qualitative Interviewing Using Interpersonal Process Recall: Investigating Internal Experiences during Professional-Client Conversations.* International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 2008. **7**(1): p. 18-37.
- 809. Powell, J.H., J.; Greenwood, R., *Community based rehabilitation after severe traumatic brain injury: a randomised controlled trial.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2002. **72**(2): p. 193-202.
- 810. Dou, Z.M., DWK; Ou, HN; Zheng, JL; Tam, SF, *Computerized errorless learning-based memory rehabilitation* for Chinese patients with brain injury: a preliminary quasi-experimental clinical design study. Brain injury, 2006. **20**(3): p. 219-225.
- 811. Novack, T.A.C., Sandra G; Duke, Linda W; Bergquist, Thomas F; Gage, Randal J, *Focused versus unstructured intervention for attention deficits after traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1996. **11**(3): p. 52-60.
- 812. Ruff, R.M., Robert; Engel, Jeremy; Farrow, Charles; Cox, David; Karzmark, Peter, *Efficacy study of THINKable in the attention and memory retraining of traumatically head-injured patients.* Brain Injury, 1994. **8**(1): p. 3-14.
- 813. Tam, S.-F.M., Wai-Kwong, *Evaluating computer-assisted memory retraining programmes for people with post-head injury amnesia*. Brain Injury, 2004. **18**(5): p. 461-470.
- 814. Lannin, N.C., Belinda; Allaous, Jeanine; Mackenzie, Bronwyn; Falcon, Alex; Tate, Robyn, *A randomized* controlled trial of the effectiveness of handheld computers for improving everyday memory functioning in patients with memory impairments after acquired brain injury. Clinical rehabilitation, 2014: p. 0269215513512216.
- 815. Raskin, S.A., *Prospective Memory Intervention: A Review and Evaluation of a Pilot Restorative Intervention* BRAIN IMPAIRMENT, 2009. **10**(1): p. 77-86.
- 816. Oostra, K.M.V., A.; Jones, K.; Vanderstraeten, G.; Vingerhoets, G., *Motor imagery ability in patients with traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2012. **93**(5): p. 828-33.
- 817. Chiaravalloti, N.D.S., J.; Moore, N. B.; DeLuca, J., *An RCT to Treat Learning Impairment in Traumatic Brain Injury: The TBI-MEM Trial.* Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2015.
- 818. Chung, C.P., A.; Campbell, T.; Durward, B.; Hagen, S., *Cognitive rehabilitation for executive dysfunction in adults with stroke or other adult nonprogressive acquired brain damage.* Stroke, 2013. **44**(7): p. e77-8.
- 819. Carney, N.C., R. M.; Maynard, H.; Mann, N. C.; Patterson, P.; Helfand, M., *Effect of cognitive rehabilitation on outcomes for persons with traumatic brain injury: A systematic review*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1999.
   14(3): p. 277-307.
- 820. Saywell, N.T., Nick; Rodgers, Emma; Skinner, Luke; Boocock, Mark, *Play-based interventions improve physical function for people with adult-acquired brain injury: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials.* Clinical rehabilitation, 2016: p. 0269215516631384.
- 821. Ryan, G.A.B., Margo, *Comparison of data process operators with and without upper limb symptoms*. Community health studies, 1988. **12**(1): p. 63-68.
- 822. Lundqvist, A.G., Kerstin; Samuelsson, Kersti; Rönnberg, Jerker, *Computerized training of working memory in a group of patients suffering from acquired brain injury*. Brain Injury, 2010. **24**(10): p. 1173-1183.
- 823. Rath, J.F., Simon, Dvorah, Langenbahn, Donna M., Sherr, Rose Lynn, Diller, Leonard, *Group treatment of problem-solving deficits in outpatients with traumatic brain injury: A randomised outcome study.* Neuropsychological Rehabilitation, 2003. **13**(4): p. 461-488.
- 824. Dahlberg, C.A.C., C. P.; Hawley, L. A.; Newman, J. K.; Morey, C. E.; Harrison-Felix, C. L.; Whiteneck, G. G., *Treatment efficacy of social communication skills training after traumatic brain injury: a randomized treatment and deferred treatment controlled trial.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2007. **88**(12): p. 1561-73.
- 825. Fleming, J.M.S., D.; Strong, J.; Lightbody, S., *Prospective memory rehabilitation for adults with traumatic brain injury: a compensatory training programme.* Brain Inj, 2005. **19**(1): p. 1-10.
- 826. Cernich, A.N.K., S. M.; Mordecai, K. L.; Ryan, P. B., *Cognitive rehabilitation in traumatic brain injury.* Curr Treat Options Neurol, 2010. **12**(5): p. 412-23.
- 827. Freeman, M.R.M., W.; Dicowden, M.; Bat-Ami, M., *Executive and compensatory memory retraining in traumatic brain injury*. Brain Inj, 1992. **6**(1): p. 65-70.
- 828. Cantor, J.A., T.; Dams-O'Connor, K.; Dijkers, M. P.; Gordon, W.; Spielman, L.; Tsaousides, T.; Allen, H.; Nguyen, M.; Oswald, J., *Evaluation of the short-term executive plus intervention for executive dysfunction*

*after traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial with minimization*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014. **95**(1): p. 1-9.

- 829. Bergquist, T.G., C.; Mandrekar, J.; Lepore, S.; Hanna, S.; Osten, A.; Beaulieu, W., *The effect of internetbased cognitive rehabilitation in persons with memory impairments after severe traumatic brain injury.* Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(10): p. 790-9.
- 830. Helffenstein, D.A.W., Fredrick S, *The use of interpersonal process recall (IPR) in the remediation of interpersonal and communication skill deficits in the newly brain-injured.* Clinical Neuropsychology, 1982.
- 831. Cicerone, K.D., et al., *Evidence-based cognitive rehabilitation: updated review of the literature from 2003 through 2008.* Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 2011. **92**(4): p. 519-530.
- 832. Lundqvist, A.G., K.; Samuelsson, K.; Ronnberg, J., *Computerized training of working memory in a group of patients suffering from acquired brain injury*. Brain Inj, 2010. **24**(10): p. 1173-83.
- 833. Bergen, J.S.R., Natalie; Bennet, Amy; LaFrenz, Abigail, *Bridge/Adapt: A Systematic Cognitive Rehabilitation Curriculum.* 2015.
- 834. Chen, S.H.T., J. D.; Glueckauf, R. L.; Bracy, O. L., *The effectiveness of computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation for persons with traumatic brain injury.* Brain Inj, 1997. **11**(3): p. 197-209.
- 835. Cormio, M.C., Giuseppe, *Continuous low dose diclofenac sodium infusion to control fever in neurosurgical critical care.* Neurocritical care, 2007. **6**(2): p. 82-89.
- 836. Greer, D.M., *Continuous intravenous NSAID administration for fever control*. Neurocritical care, 2007. **6**(2): p. 79-81.
- 837. Roberts, R.R., JW, *Indomethacin-a review of its role in the management of traumatic brain injury.* Critical Care and Resuscitation, 2002. **4**(4): p. 271.
- 838. Slavik, R.S.R., D. H., Indomethacin: a review of its cerebral blood flow effects and potential use for controlling intracranial pressure in traumatic brain injury patients. Neurol Res, 1999. **21**(5): p. 491-9.
- 839. Ajmone-Cat, M.A.C., Emanuele; Minghetti, Luisa, *Non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and neurogenesis in the adult mammalian brain.* Current pharmaceutical design, 2008. **14**(14): p. 1435-1442.
- 840. Wallenquist, U.H., Karin; Hånell, Anders; Marklund, Niklas; Hillered, Lars; Forsberg-Nilsson, Karin, Ibuprofen attenuates the inflammatory response and allows formation of migratory neuroblasts from grafted stem cells after traumatic brain injury. Restorative neurology and neuroscience, 2012. **30**(1): p. 9-19.
- 841. Yang, L.P. and E.D. Deeks, *Dextromethorphan/quinidine: a review of its use in adults with pseudobulbar affect.* Drugs, 2015. **75**(1): p. 83-90.
- Pope, L.E., et al., A study of potential pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions between dextromethorphan/quinidine and memantine in healthy volunteers. Clinical drug investigation, 2012.
   32(8): p. e1-e15.
- 843. Pioro, E., et al. *Safety and tolerability of dextromethorphan/quinidine for pseudobulbar affect in a 12week, open-label extension study.* in *NEUROLOGY.* 2010. LIPPINCOTT WILLIAMS & WILKINS 530 WALNUT ST, PHILADELPHIA, PA 19106-3621 USA.
- 844. Graham, D.Y., et al., Ulcer prevention in long-term users of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: results of a double-blind, randomized, multicenter, active- and placebo-controlled study of misoprostol vs lansoprazole. Arch Intern Med, 2002. **162**(2): p. 169-75.
- 845. Graham, D.Y.A., N. M.; Campbell, D. R.; Haber, M. M.; Collis, C.; Lukasik, N. L.; Huang, B., Ulcer prevention in long-term users of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: results of a double-blind, randomized, multicenter, active- and placebo-controlled study of misoprostol vs lansoprazole. Arch Intern Med, 2002.
   162(2): p. 169-75.
- 846. Fohl, A.L.R., Randolph E, *Proton pump inhibitor-associated pneumonia: Not a breath of fresh air after all.* World J Gastrointest Pharmacol Ther, 2011. **2**(3): p. 17-26.
- 847. Herzig, S.J.H., Michael D; Ngo, Long H; Marcantonio, Edward R, *Acid-suppressive medication use and the risk for hospital-acquired pneumonia.* JAMA, 2009. **301**(20): p. 2120-2128.
- 848. Fenton, C.K., Gillian M; Wagstaff, Antona J, *Valdecoxib*. Drugs, 2004. **64**(11): p. 1231-1261.
- 849. Garner, S.E.F., D. D.; Frankish, R.; Maxwell, L., *Rofecoxib for osteoarthritis*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2005(1): p. CD005115.
- 850. Berenbaum, F., et al., *Efficacy of lumiracoxib in osteoarthritis: a review of nine studies.* J Int Med Res, 2005. **33**(1): p. 21-41.

- 851. Agrawal, N.M.C., Jacques; Kivitz, Alan J; Weaver, Arthur L; Bocanegra, Tomas S; Ball, Julie; Dhadda, Shobha; Hurley, Steven; Hancock, Larry; Arthrotec® Study Group, *Comparison of the upper gastrointestinal safety of Arthrotec® 75 and nabumetone in osteoarthritis patients at high risk for developing nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastrointestinal ulcers.* Clinical therapeutics, 1999. **21**(4): p. 659-674.
- 852. Bocanegra, T.S.W., A. L.; Tindall, E. A.; Sikes, D. H.; Ball, J. A.; Wallemark, C. B.; Geis, G. S.; Fort, J. G., Diclofenac/misoprostol compared with diclofenac in the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee or hip: a randomized, placebo controlled trial. Arthrotec Osteoarthritis Study Group. J Rheumatol, 1998. **25**(8): p. 1602-11.
- 853. Melo Gomes, J.A.R., S. H.; Zeeh, J.; Bruyn, G. A.; Woods, E. M.; Geis, G. S., *Double-blind comparison of efficacy and gastroduodenal safety of diclofenac/misoprostol, piroxicam, and naproxen in the treatment of osteoarthritis.* Ann Rheum Dis, 1993. **52**(12): p. 881-5.
- 854. Scheiman, J.M.B., E. M.; Loeffler, K. M.; Elta, G. H., *Omeprazole ameliorates aspirin-induced gastroduodenal injury*. Dig Dis Sci, 1994. **39**(1): p. 97-103.
- 855. Scheiman, J.M.Y., N. D.; Talley, N. J.; Vakil, N.; Chan, F. K.; Tulassay, Z.; Rainoldi, J. L.; Szczepanski, L.; Ung, K. A.; Kleczkowski, D.; Ahlbom, H.; Naesdal, J.; Hawkey, C., *Prevention of ulcers by esomeprazole in at-risk patients using non-selective NSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2006. **101**(4): p. 701-10.
- 856. Chan, F.K.T., K. F.; Wu, J. C.; Yung, M. Y.; Leung, W. K.; Kwok, T.; Hui, Y.; Chan, H. L.; Chan, C. S.; Hui, E.;
  Woo, J.; Sung, J. J., *Eradication of Helicobacter pylori and risk of peptic ulcers in patients starting long-term treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a randomised trial.* Lancet, 2002. **359**(9300): p. 9-13.
- 857. Regula, J.B., E.; Dekkers, C. P.; de Boer, S. Y.; Raps, D.; Simon, L.; Terjung, A.; Thomas, K. B.; Luhmann, R.; Fischer, R., *Prevention of NSAID-associated gastrointestinal lesions: a comparison study pantoprazole versus omeprazole.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2006. **101**(8): p. 1747-55.
- 858. Yeomans, N.L., A.; Labenz, J.; van Zanten, S. V.; van Rensburg, C.; Racz, I.; Tchernev, K.; Karamanolis, D.; Roda, E.; Hawkey, C.; Naucler, E.; Svedberg, L. E., *Efficacy of esomeprazole (20 mg once daily) for reducing the risk of gastroduodenal ulcers associated with continuous use of low-dose aspirin.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2008. **103**(10): p. 2465-73.
- 859. Bianchi, P.G., Lazzaroni M, Petrillo M, Manzionna G, Montrone F, Caruso I, *Prevention of gastroduodenal damage with omeprazole in patients receiving continuous NSAIDs treatment. A double blind placebo controlled study.* Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol., 1998. **30**(1): p. 43-7.
- 860. Bianchi, P.G., Lazzaroni M, Imbesi V, Montrone F, Santagada T., *Efficacy of pantoprazole in the prevention of peptic ulcers, induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a prospective, placebo-controlled, double-blind, parallel-group study.* Dig Liver Dis., 2000 **32**(3): p. 201-8.
- 861. Hawkey, C.T., N. J.; Yeomans, N. D.; Jones, R.; Sung, J. J.; Langstrom, G.; Naesdal, J.; Scheiman, J. M., Improvements with esomeprazole in patients with upper gastrointestinal symptoms taking non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, including selective COX-2 inhibitors. Am J Gastroenterol, 2005. 100(5): p. 1028-36.
- 862. Desai, J.C.S., S. M.; Goo, T.; Benson, A. A.; Bodian, C. A.; Miller, K. M.; Cohen, L. B.; Aisenberg, J., *Primary* prevention of adverse gastroduodenal effects from short-term use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs by omeprazole 20 mg in healthy subjects: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Dig Dis Sci, 2008. **53**(8): p. 2059-65.
- 863. Bergmann, J.F.C., O.; Simoneau, G.; Lemaire, M.; Segrestaa, J. M.; Caulin, C., *Protection against aspirininduced gastric lesions by lansoprazole: simultaneous evaluation of functional and morphologic responses.* Clin Pharmacol Ther, 1992. **52**(4): p. 413-6.
- 864. Raskin, J.B., et al., *Misoprostol dosage in the prevention of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastric and duodenal ulcers: a comparison of three regimens.* Ann Intern Med, 1995. **123**(5): p. 344-50.
- 865. Elliott, S.L., et al., *Efficacy of 12 months' misoprostol as prophylaxis against NSAID-induced gastric ulcers. A placebo-controlled trial.* Scand J Rheumatol, 1994. **23**(4): p. 171-6.
- 866. Chandrasekaran, A.N., et al., *Double blind, placebo controlled trial on the cytoprotective effect of misoprostol in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis and seronegative spondarthropathy on NSAIDs.* J Assoc Physicians India, 1991. **39**(12): p. 919-21.

- 867. Lanza, F.P., K.; Gustitus, L.; Rack, M. F.; Dickson, B., *A blinded endoscopic comparative study of misoprostol versus sucralfate and placebo in the prevention of aspirin-induced gastric and duodenal ulceration*. Am J Gastroenterol, 1988. **83**(2): p. 143-6.
- 868. Jiranek, G.C., et al., *Misoprostol reduces gastroduodenal injury from one week of aspirin: an endoscopic study.* Gastroenterology, 1989. **96**(2 Pt 2 Suppl): p. 656-61.
- 869. Donnelly, M.T., et al., *Low-dose misoprostol for the prevention of low-dose aspirin-induced gastroduodenal injury*. Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2000. **14**(5): p. 529-34.
- 870. Medina Santillan, R., G. Reyes Garcia, and E. Mateos Garcia, *Prevention of gastroduodenal injury induced by NSAIDs with low-dose misoprostol.* Proc West Pharmacol Soc, 1999. **42**: p. 33-4.
- 871. Koch, M., et al., *Prevention of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastrointestinal mucosal injury: risk factors for serious complications.* Dig Liver Dis, 2000. **32**(2): p. 138-51.
- 872. Miglioli, M.B.P., G.; Vaira, D.; Menegatti, M.; Brunetti, G.; Petrillo, M.; Ardizzone, S.; Frizziero, L.; Montrone, F.; Grandinetti, G., *Prevention with sucralfate gel of NSAID-induced gastroduodenal damage in arthritic patients.* Am J Gastroenterol, 1996. **91**(11): p. 2367-71.
- 873. Robinson, M.G.G.J., Joseph W; Bowers, John; Kogan, Frederick J; Kogut, David G; Lanza, Frank L; Warner, Christopher W, *Effect of ranitidine gastroduodenal mucosal damage induced by nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs*. Digestive diseases and sciences, 1989. **34**(3): p. 424-428.
- 874. Robinson, M.M., R. J.; Euler, A. R., *Ranitidine prevents duodenal ulcers associated with non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug therapy*. Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 1991. **5**(2): p. 143-50.
- 875. Ehsanullah, R.P., MC; Tildesley, G; Wood, JR, *Prevention of gastroduodenal damage induced by non*steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: controlled trial of ranitidine. BMJ, 1988. **297**(6655): p. 1017-1021.
- 876. Stupnicki, T.D., K.; Gonzalez-Carro, P.; Straszak, A.; Terjung, A.; Thomas, K. B.; Luhmann, R.; Fischer, R., Efficacy and tolerability of pantoprazole compared with misoprostol for the prevention of NSAID-related gastrointestinal lesions and symptoms in rheumatic patients. Digestion, 2003. **68**(4): p. 198-208.
- 877. Miyake, K.U., N.; Suzuki, K.; Shinji, Y.; Kusunoki, M.; Hiratsuka, T.; Nishigaki, H.; Tatsuguchi, A.; Futagami, S.; Wada, K.; Tsukui, T.; Nakajima, A.; Yoshino, S.; Sakamoto, C., *Preventive therapy for non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced ulcers in Japanese patients with rheumatoid arthritis: the current situation and a prospective controlled-study of the preventive effects of lansoprazole or famotidine.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2005. **21 Suppl 2**: p. 67-72.
- 878. Agrawal, N.M.R., S.; Graham, D. Y.; White, R. H.; Germain, B.; Brown, J. A.; Stromatt, S. C., *Misoprostol compared with sucralfate in the prevention of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastric ulcer. A randomized, controlled trial.* Ann Intern Med, 1991. **115**(3): p. 195-200.
- 879. Goldstein, J.L., et al., *The impact of low-dose aspirin on endoscopic gastric and duodenal ulcer rates in users of a non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug or a cyclo-oxygenase-2-selective inhibitor.* Aliment Pharmacol Ther, 2006. **23**(10): p. 1489-98.
- 880. Graham, D.Y., et al., *Duodenal and gastric ulcer prevention with misoprostol in arthritis patients taking NSAIDs. Misoprostol Study Group.* Ann Intern Med, 1993. **119**(4): p. 257-62.
- 881. Porro, G.B.L., M; Imbesi, V; Montrone, F; Santagada, T, *Efficacy of pantoprazole in the prevention of peptic ulcers, induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: a prospective, placebo-controlled, double-blind, parallel-group study.* Digestive and liver disease, 2000. **32**(3): p. 201-208.
- 882. Miglioli, M., et al., *Prevention with sucralfate gel of NSAID-induced gastroduodenal damage in arthritic patients*. Am J Gastroenterol, 1996. **91**(11): p. 2367-71.
- 883. Arango, M.F.B., D., *Magnesium for acute traumatic brain injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2008(4): p. CD005400.
- 884. Temkin, N.R.A., G. D.; Winn, H. R.; Ellenbogen, R. G.; Britz, G. W.; Schuster, J.; Lucas, T.; Newell, D. W.; Mansfield, P. N.; Machamer, J. E.; Barber, J.; Dikmen, S. S., *Magnesium sulfate for neuroprotection after traumatic brain injury: a randomised controlled trial.* Lancet Neurol, 2007. **6**(1): p. 29-38.
- 885. Van Norden, A.V.D.B., WM; Rinkel, GJE, *Dose evaluation for long-term magnesium treatment in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage.* Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics, 2005. **30**(5): p. 439-442.
- 886. Wright, D.W.R., J. C.; Mullins, R. E.; Kellermann, A. L.; Denson, D. D., *Steady-state serum concentrations of progesterone following continuous intravenous infusion in patients with acute moderate to severe traumatic brain injury.* J Clin Pharmacol, 2005. **45**(6): p. 640-8.

- Wright, D.W.K., Arthur L; Hertzberg, Vicki S; Clark, Pamela L; Frankel, Michael; Goldstein, Felicia C;
   Salomone, Jeffrey P; Dent, L Leon; Harris, Odette A; Ander, Douglas S, *ProTECT: a randomized clinical trial of progesterone for acute traumatic brain injury*. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 2007. 49(4): p. 391-402.
   e2.
- Skolnick, B.E.M., A. I.; Narayan, R. K.; van der Hoop, R. G.; MacAllister, T.; Ward, J. D.; Nelson, N. R.;
   Stocchetti, N., *A clinical trial of progesterone for severe traumatic brain injury*. N Engl J Med, 2014.
   **371**(26): p. 2467-76.
- Xiao, G.W., J.; Yan, W.; Wang, W.; Lu, Z., Improved outcomes from the administration of progesterone for patients with acute severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. Crit Care, 2008. 12(2): p. R61.
- 890. Aminmansour, B.N., Hossein; Ghorbani, Abbas; Rezvani, Majid; Rahmani, Paiman; Torkashvand, Mostaffa; Nourian, Mohammadamin; Moradi, Mehran, *Comparison of the administration of progesterone versus progesterone and vitamin D in improvement of outcomes in patients with traumatic brain injury: A randomized clinical trial with placebo group.* Advanced biomedical research, 2012. **1**(1): p. 58.
- 891. Shakeri, M.B., M. R.; Pak, N.; Panahi, F.; Salehpour, F.; Lotfinia, I.; Meshkini, A.; Daghighi, S.; vahedi, P.; Khani, M.; Taghiloo, D., *Effect of progesterone administration on prognosis of patients with diffuse axonal injury due to severe head trauma*. Clin Neurol Neurosurg, 2013. **115**(10): p. 2019-22.
- Wright, D.W.Y., S. D.; Silbergleit, R.; Palesch, Y. Y.; Hertzberg, V. S.; Frankel, M.; Goldstein, F. C.; Caveney,
   A. F.; Howlett-Smith, H.; Bengelink, E. M.; Manley, G. T.; Merck, L. H.; Janis, L. S.; Barsan, W. G., Very early administration of progesterone for acute traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med, 2014. 371(26): p. 2457-66.
- 893. Whyte, J.V., M.; Grieb-Neff, P.; Hart, T.; Polansky, M.; Coslett, H. B., *The effects of bromocriptine on attention deficits after traumatic brain injury: a placebo-controlled pilot study.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **87**(2): p. 85-99.
- 894. McDowell, S.W., J.; D'Esposito, M., *Differential effect of a dopaminergic agonist on prefrontal function in traumatic brain injury patients.* Brain, 1998. **121 ( Pt 6)**: p. 1155-64.
- 895. McAllister, T.W.F., Laura A; McDonald, Brenna C; Ferrell, Richard B; Tosteson, Tor D; Yanofsky, Norman N; Grove, Margaret R; Saykin, Andrew J, *Dopaminergic challenge with bromocriptine one month after mild traumatic brain injury: altered working memory and BOLD response.* The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences, 2011. **23**(3): p. 277-286.
- 896. DeMarchi, R.B., V.; Hung, A.; Wroblewski, K.; Dua, H.; Sockalingam, S.; Bhalerao, S., *Review of awakening agents*. Can J Neurol Sci, 2005. **32**(1): p. 4-17.
- 897. Hatton, J.R., Bonnie; Empey, Philip; Kryscio, Richard; Young, Byron, *Dosing and safety of cyclosporine in patients with severe brain injury.* Journal of neurosurgery, 2008. **109**(4): p. 699.
- 898. Empey, P.E.M., P. J.; Young, B.; Rosbolt, M. B.; Hatton, J., *Cyclosporin A disposition following acute traumatic brain injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2006. **23**(1): p. 109-16.
- 899. Mazzeo, A.T.B., Gretchen M; Gilman, Charlotte B; Alves, Óscar Luís; Robles, Jaime R; Hayes, Ronald L; Povlishock, John T; Bullock, M Ross, *Safety and tolerability of cyclosporin a in severe traumatic brain injury patients: results from a prospective randomized trial.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2009. **26**(12): p. 2195-2206.
- 900. Brophy, G.M.M., A. T.; Brar, S.; Alves, O. L.; Bunnell, K.; Gilman, C.; Karnes, T.; Hayes, R. L.; Bullock, R., *Exposure of cyclosporin A in whole blood, cerebral spinal fluid, and brain extracellular fluid dialysate in adults with traumatic brain injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2013. **30**(17): p. 1484-9.
- 901. Aminmansour, B.F., S. A.; Habibabadi, M. R.; Moein, P.; Norouzi, R.; Naderan, M., *The efficacy of Cyclosporine-A on Diffuse Axonal Injury after Traumatic Brain Injury.* Adv Biomed Res, 2014. **3**: p. 35.
- 902. Ballesteros, J.G., I.; Ibarra, N.; Quemada, J. I., *The effectiveness of donepezil for cognitive rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury: a systematic review.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2008. **23**(3): p. 171-80.
- 903. Sivan, M.N., Vera; Kent, Ruth; Stroud, Amanda; Bhakta, Bipinchandra B, *Pharmacotherapy for treatment of attention deficits after non-progressive acquired brain injury. A systematic review.* Clinical rehabilitation, 2010. **24**(2): p. 110-121.
- 904. Tenovuo, O., *Central acetylcholinesterase inhibitors in the treatment of chronic traumatic brain injuryclinical experience in 111 patients.* Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry, 2005. **29**(1): p. 61-7.
- 905. Zhang, L.P., R. C.; Wang, G.; Sandel, M. E.; Lee, S., *Cholinergic augmentation with donepezil enhances* recovery in short-term memory and sustained attention after traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2004. **85**(7): p. 1050-5.

- 906. Walker, W.S., R.; Gibellato, M.; Lew, H.; Cornis-Pop, M.; Jena, T.; Silver, T., *The effects of Donepezil on traumatic brain injury acute rehabilitation outcomes*. Brain Inj, 2004. **18**(8): p. 739-50.
- 907. Glenn, M.B., *Methylphenidate for cognitive and behavioral dysfunction after traumatic brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1998. **13**(5): p. 87-90.
- 908. Leonard, B.E.M., D.; White, J.; King, D. J., *Methylphenidate: a review of its neuropharmacological, neuropsychological and adverse clinical effects.* Hum Psychopharmacol, 2004. **19**(3): p. 151-80.
- 909. Siddall, O.M., *Use of methylphenidate in traumatic brain injury*. Ann Pharmacother, 2005. **39**(7-8): p. 1309-13.
- 910. Whyte, J.V., M.; Grieb-Neff, P.; Hart, T., *Psychostimulant use in the rehabilitation of individuals with traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2002. **17**(4): p. 284-99.
- 911. Whyte, J.H., T.; Vaccaro, M.; Grieb-Neff, P.; Risser, A.; Polansky, M.; Coslett, H. B., *Effects of methylphenidate on attention deficits after traumatic brain injury: a multidimensional, randomized, controlled trial.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2004. **83**(6): p. 401-20.
- 912. Alban, J.P.H., M. M.; Ly, V.; Whyte, J., *Effect of methylphenidate on vital signs and adverse effects in adults with traumatic brain injury.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2004. **83**(2): p. 131-7; quiz 138-41, 167.
- 913. Willmott, C. and J. Ponsford, *Efficacy of methylphenidate in the rehabilitation of attention following traumatic brain injury: a randomised, crossover, double blind, placebo controlled inpatient trial.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2009. **80**(5): p. 552-557.
- 914. Willmott, C.P., J.; Olver, J.; Ponsford, M., *Safety of methylphenidate following traumatic brain injury: impact on vital signs and side-effects during inpatient rehabilitation.* J Rehabil Med, 2009. **41**(7): p. 585-7.
- 915. Posten, W.W., D. A.; Dover, J. S.; Arndt, K. A.; Silapunt, S.; Alam, M., *Low-level laser therapy for wound healing: mechanism and efficacy.* Dermatol Surg, 2005. **31**(3): p. 334-40.
- 916. Talsky, K.B., Generation of small RNA complexity requires specialization of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase 1 and RNA silencing protein 1 by shared protein partners. 2011.
- 917. Kaiser, P.R.V., PO; Werth, E; Thomann, J; Meier, J; Stocker, R; Bassetti, CL; Baumann, CR, *Modafinil ameliorates excessive daytime sleepiness after traumatic brain injury.* Neurology, 2010. **75**(20): p. 1780-1785.
- 918. Jha, A.W., Alan; Allshouse, Amanda; Morey, Clare; Cusick, Chris; Kittelson, John; Harrison-Felix, Cynthia; Whiteneck, Gale; Gerber, Don, *A randomized trial of modafinil for the treatment of fatigue and excessive daytime sleepiness in individuals with chronic traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2008. **23**(1): p. 52-63.
- 919. Clemenzi, A.F., R.; Matteis, M.; Gallinacci, L.; Cochi, G.; Savina, P.; Cicinelli, P., *Care management of spasticity with botulinum toxin-A in patients with severe acquired brain injury: a 1-year follow-up prospective study.* Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(7-8): p. 979-83.
- 920. Barnes, M.S., A.; Medeiros, L.; Aguilar, M.; Lehnert-Batar, A.; Minnasch, P., *Efficacy and safety of NT 201 for upper limb spasticity of various etiologies--a randomized parallel-group study.* Acta Neurol Scand, 2010. **122**(4): p. 295-302.
- 921. Wissel, J.W., A. B.; Erztgaard, P.; Bensmail, D.; Hecht, M. J.; Lejeune, T. M.; Schnider, P.; Altavista, M. C.; Cavazza, S.; Deltombe, T.; Duarte, E.; Geurts, A. C.; Gracies, J. M.; Haboubi, N. H.; Juan, F. J.; Kasch, H.; Katterer, C.; Kirazli, Y.; Manganotti, P.; Parman, Y.; Paternostro-Sluga, T.; Petropoulou, K.; Prempeh, R.; Rousseaux, M.; Slawek, J.; Tieranta, N., *European consensus table on the use of botulinum toxin type A in adult spasticity.* J Rehabil Med, 2009. **41**(1): p. 13-25.
- 922. Mayer, N.H.W., J.; Wannstedt, G.; Ellis, C. A., *Comparative impact of 2 botulinum toxin injection techniques for elbow flexor hypertonia*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(5): p. 982-7.
- 923. Simpson, D.M., et al., *Botulinum neurotoxin versus tizanidine in upper limb spasticity: a placebo-controlled study.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2009. **80**(4): p. 380-5.
- 924. Bourgoin, A., et al., *Effects of sufentanil or ketamine administered in target-controlled infusion on the cerebral hemodynamics of severely brain-injured patients.* Critical care medicine, 2005. **33**(5): p. 1109-1113.
- 925. Francisco, G.E.H., M. M.; Boake, C.; Ivanhoe, C. B., *Efficacy of early use of intrathecal baclofen therapy for treating spastic hypertonia due to acquired brain injury.* Brain Inj, 2005. **19**(5): p. 359-64.
- 926. Meythaler, J.M.C., W.; Davis, L. K.; Guin-Renfroe, S.; Brunner, R. C., *Orally delivered baclofen to control spastic hypertonia in acquired brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2004. **19**(2): p. 101-8.

- 927. Verplancke, D.S., S; Salisbury, CF; Jones, PW; Ward, AB, *A randomized controlled trial of botulinum toxin* on lower limb spasticity following acute acquired severe brain injury. Clinical Rehabilitation, 2005. **19**(2): p. 117-125.
- 928. Francisco, G.E.B., C.; Vaughn, A., *Botulinum toxin in upper limb spasticity after acquired brain injury: a randomized trial comparing dilution techniques.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2002. **81**(5): p. 355-63.
- 929. Meythaler, J.M.G.-R., S.; Grabb, P.; Hadley, M. N., *Long-term continuously infused intrathecal baclofen for spastic-dystonic hypertonia in traumatic brain injury: 1-year experience.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1999. **80**(1): p. 13-9.
- 930. Brown, M.M.P., M. J.; Manara, A. R., *The effect of suxamethonium on intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with severe head injuries following blunt trauma*. Eur J Anaesthesiol, 1996. **13**(5): p. 474-7.
- 931. Meythaler, J.M.G.-R., S.; Johnson, A.; Brunner, R. M., *Prospective assessment of tizanidine for spasticity due to acquired brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2001. **82**(9): p. 1155-63.
- 932. Temkin, N.R.D., S. S.; Anderson, G. D.; Wilensky, A. J.; Holmes, M. D.; Cohen, W.; Newell, D. W.; Nelson, P.; Awan, A.; Winn, H. R., *Valproate therapy for prevention of posttraumatic seizures: a randomized trial.* J Neurosurg, 1999. **91**(4): p. 593-600.
- 933. Temkin, N.R.D., Sureyya S; Wilensky, Alan J; Keihm, Jane; Chabal, Sharon; Winn, H Richard, *A randomized, double-blind study of phenytoin for the prevention of post-traumatic seizures.* New England Journal of Medicine, 1990. **323**(8): p. 497-502.
- 934. Young, B.R., R. P.; Norton, J. A.; Haack, D.; Tibbs, P. A.; Bean, J. R., *Failure of prophylactically administered phenytoin to prevent late posttraumatic seizures.* J Neurosurg, 1983. **58**(2): p. 236-41.
- 935. Hanks, R.A.T., N.; Machamer, J.; Dikmen, S. S., *Emotional and behavioral adjustment after traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1999. **80**(9): p. 991-7.
- 936. Dikmen, S.M., JE; Winn, HR; Anderson, GD; Temkin, NR, *Neuropsychological effects of valproate in traumatic brain injury A randomized trial*. Neurology, 2000. **54**(4): p. 895-902.
- 937. Banos, J.H.N., T. A.; Brunner, R.; Renfroe, S.; Lin, H. Y.; Meythaler, J., *Impact of early administration of sertraline on cognitive and behavioral recovery in the first year after moderate to severe traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(5): p. 357-61.
- 938. Ashman, T.A., et al., *A randomized controlled trial of sertraline for the treatment of depression in persons with traumatic brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2009. **90**(5): p. 733-40.
- 939. Novack, T.A.B., J. H.; Brunner, R.; Renfroe, S.; Meythaler, J. M., *Impact of early administration of sertraline on depressive symptoms in the first year after traumatic brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 2009. **26**(11): p. 1921-8.
- 940. Rapoport, M.J.M., R. A.; McCullagh, S.; Herrmann, N.; Chan, F.; Kiss, A.; Feinstein, A.; Lanctot, K. L., *A randomized controlled trial of antidepressant continuation for major depression following traumatic brain injury.* J Clin Psychiatry, 2010. **71**(9): p. 1125-30.
- 941. Lee, H.K., S. W.; Kim, J. M.; Shin, I. S.; Yang, S. J.; Yoon, J. S., *Comparing effects of methylphenidate, sertraline and placebo on neuropsychiatric sequelae in patients with traumatic brain injury.* Hum Psychopharmacol, 2005. **20**(2): p. 97-104.
- 942. Fann, J.R., J.M. Uomoto, and W.J. Katon, *Sertraline in the treatment of major depression following mild traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences, 2000. **12**(2): p. 226-232.
- 943. Wroblewski, B.A. and R.R. Cornblatt, *Antidepressant pharmacotherapy and the treatment of depression in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a controlled, prospective study.* The Journal of clinical psychiatry, 1996. **57**(12): p. 582-587.
- 944. Saran, A.S., *Depression after minor closed head injury: role of dexamethasone suppression test and antidepressants.* J Clin Psychiatry, 1985. **46**(8): p. 335-8.
- 945. Novack, T.A., et al., *Impact of early administration of sertraline on depressive symptoms in the first year after traumatic brain injury.* J Neurotrauma, 2009. **26**(11): p. 1921-8.
- 946. Banos, J.H., et al., *Impact of early administration of sertraline on cognitive and behavioral recovery in the first year after moderate to severe traumatic brain injury.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(5): p. 357-61.
- 947. Leo, R.J. and P. Del Regno, *Atypical antipsychotic use in the treatment of psychosis in primary care.* Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry, 2000. **2**(6): p. 194.

- 948. Seeman, P., *Atypical antipsychotics: mechanism of action*. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 2002. **47**(1): p. 29-40.
- 949. Farah, A., *Atypicality of atypical antipsychotics*. Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry, 2005. **7**(6): p. 268.
- 950. Elovic, E.P., et al., *The use of atypical antipsychotics in traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2003. **18**(2): p. 177-195.
- 951. Lombard, L.A. and R.D. Zafonte, *Agitation after traumatic brain injury: considerations and treatment options.* American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation, 2005. **84**(10): p. 797-812.
- 952. Kim, E. and T.J. Humaran, *Divalproex in the management of neuropsychiatric complications of remote acquired brain injury.* The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences, 2002. **14**(2): p. 202-205.
- 953. Levy, M., et al., *Treatment of agitation following traumatic brain injury: a review of the literature.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2005. **20**(4): p. 279-306.
- 954. Chew, E. and R.D. Zafonte, *Pharmacological management of neurobehavioral disorders following traumatic brain injury-a state-of-the-art review.* Journal of rehabilitation research and development, 2009. **46**(6): p. 851.
- 955. Dodd, S.M., Michael; Anderson, George; Dean, Olivia M; Moylan, Steven; Berk, Michael, *Putative neuroprotective agents in neuropsychiatric disorders.* Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 2013. **42**: p. 135-145.
- 956. Gu, J.W.Y., T.; Kuang, Y. Q.; Huang, H. D.; Kong, B.; Shu, H. F.; Yu, S. X.; Zhang, J. H., *Comparison of the* safety and efficacy of propofol with midazolam for sedation of patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a meta-analysis. J Crit Care, 2014. **29**(2): p. 287-90.
- 957. Tanguy, M.S., P.; Laviolle, B.; Bleichner, J. P.; Morandi, X.; Malledant, Y., *Cerebral microdialysis effects of propofol versus midazolam in severe traumatic brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 2012. **29**(6): p. 1105-10.
- 958. Ghori, K.A.H., D. C.; Elashaal, A.; Butler, M.; Walsh, F.; O'Sullivan, M. G.; Shorten, G. D., *Effect of midazolam versus propofol sedation on markers of neurological injury and outcome after isolated severe head injury: a pilot study.* Crit Care Resusc, 2007. **9**(2): p. 166-71.
- 959. Sanchez-Izquierdo-Riera, J.A.C.-C., R. E.; Perez-Vela, J. L.; Ambros-Checa, A.; Cantalapiedra-Santiago, J. A.; Alted-Lopez, E., *Propofol versus midazolam: safety and efficacy for sedating the severe trauma patient.* Anesth Analg, 1998. **86**(6): p. 1219-24.
- 960. Roberts, D.J.H., Richard I; Kramer, Andreas H; Robertson, Helen Lee; Gallagher, Clare N; Zygun, David A, *Sedation for critically ill adults with severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials.* Critical care medicine, 2011. **39**(12): p. 2743-2751.
- 961. Alderson, P.R., Ian, *Corticosteroids in acute traumatic brain injury: systematic review of randomised controlled trials.* Bmj, 1997. **314**(7098): p. 1855.
- 962. Roberts, I.Y., D; Sandercock, P; Farrell, B; Wasserberg, J; Lomas, G; Cottingham, R; Svoboda, P; Brayley, N; Mazairac, G, *Effect of intravenous corticosteroids on death within 14 days in 10008 adults with clinically significant head injury (MRC CRASH trial): randomised placebo-controlled trial.* Lancet, 2004. **364**(9442): p. 1321-1328.
- 963. Braakman, R., et al., *Megadose steroids in severe head injury: results of a prospective double-blind clinical trial.* Journal of neurosurgery, 1983. **58**(3): p. 326-330.
- 964. Cooper, P.R.M., Sarah; Clark, W Kemp; Kirkpatrick, Joel; Maravilla, Kenneth; Gould, A Lawrence; Drane, Wanzer, *Dexamethasone and severe head injury: A prospective double-blind study.* Journal of neurosurgery, 1979. **51**(3): p. 307-316.
- 965. Dearden, N.M.G., John S; McDowall, D Gordon; Gibson, R Myles; Cameron, Malcolm M, *Effect of high-dose dexamethasone on outcome from severe head injury.* Journal of neurosurgery, 1986. **64**(1): p. 81-88.
- 966. Saul, T.G.D., Thomas B; Salcman, Michael; Carro, Eric, *Steroids in severe head injury: A prospective randomized clinical trial.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 1981. **54**(5): p. 596-600.
- 967. Willis, C.L., Sean; Bellamy, Nicholas, *Excitatory amino acid inhibitors for traumatic brain injury.* The Cochrane Library, 2003.
- 968. Maas, A.I.M., G.; Henney, H., 3rd; Kassem, N.; Legrand, V.; Mangelus, M.; Muizelaar, J. P.; Stocchetti, N.; Knoller, N., *Efficacy and safety of dexanabinol in severe traumatic brain injury: results of a phase III randomised, placebo-controlled, clinical trial.* Lancet Neurol, 2006. **5**(1): p. 38-45.

- 969. Bourgoin, A.A., J.; Leone, M.; Sampol-Manos, E.; Viviand, X.; Martin, C., *Effects of sufentanil or ketamine administered in target-controlled infusion on the cerebral hemodynamics of severely brain-injured patients*. Crit Care Med, 2005. **33**(5): p. 1109-13.
- 970. Yurkewicz, L.W., J.; Bullock, M. R.; Marshall, L. F., *The effect of the selective NMDA receptor antagonist traxoprodil in the treatment of traumatic brain injury*. J Neurotrauma, 2005. **22**(12): p. 1428-43.
- 971. Knoller, N.L., L.; Shoshan, I.; Reichenthal, E.; Razon, N.; Rappaport, Z. H.; Biegon, A., *Dexanabinol (HU-211) in the treatment of severe closed head injury: a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II clinical trial.* Crit Care Med, 2002. **30**(3): p. 548-54.
- 972. Merchant, R.E.B., M. R.; Carmack, C. A.; Shah, A. K.; Wilner, K. D.; Ko, G.; Williams, S. A., *A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CP-101,606 in patients with a mild or moderate traumatic brain injury.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1999. **890**: p. 42-50.
- 973. Lepeintre, J.F.D.A., P.; Mathe, J. F.; Vigue, B.; Loubert, G.; Delcour, J.; Kempf, C.; Tadie, M., Neuroprotective effect of gacyclidine. A multicenter double-blind pilot trial in patients with acute traumatic brain injury. Neurochirurgie, 2004. **50**(2-3 Pt 1): p. 83-95.
- 974. Morris, G.F.B., Ross; Marshall, Sharon Bowers; Marmarou, Anthony; Maas, Andrew; Marshall, Lawrence F, Failure of the competitive N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist selfotel (CGS 19755) in the treatment of severe head injury: results of two phase III clinical trials. Journal of neurosurgery, 1999. **91**(5): p. 737-743.
- 975. Gualtieri, T.C., Mark; Coons, Tena B; Brown, Lloyd T, *Amantadine: a new clinical profile for traumatic brain injury*. Clinical Neuropharmacology, 1989. **12**(4): p. 258-270.
- 976. Kraus, M.F.M., Pauline M, *Effect of amantadine hydrochloride on symptoms of frontal lobe dysfunction in brain injury: Case studies and review.* The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences, 1997.
- 977. Fleminger, S.G., R. J.; Oliver, D. L., *Pharmacological management for agitation and aggression in people with acquired brain injury.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2006(4): p. Cd003299.
- 978. Sawyer, E.M., Laurie S; Ohlinger, Martin J, *Amantadine enhancement of arousal and cognition after traumatic brain injury*. Annals of Pharmacotherapy, 2008. **42**(2): p. 247-252.
- 979. Leone, H.P., BW, *Amantadine for traumatic brain injury: does it improve cognition and reduce agitation?* Journal of clinical pharmacy and therapeutics, 2005. **30**(2): p. 101-104.
- 980. Giacino, J.F., J. J.; Machado, A.; Schiff, N. D., *Central thalamic deep brain stimulation to promote recovery from chronic posttraumatic minimally conscious state: challenges and opportunities.* Neuromodulation, 2012. **15**(4): p. 339-49.
- 981. Hammond, F.M.B., Allison K; Norton, James H; Pershad, Rashmi, *Effectiveness of amantadine hydrochloride in the reduction of chronic traumatic brain injury irritability and aggression.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2014. **29**(5): p. 391-399.
- 982. Vargus-Adams, J.N.M., Mary A; Michaud, Linda J; Bean, Judy; Vinks, Alexander A, *Pharmacokinetics of amantadine in children with impaired consciousness due to acquired brain injury: preliminary findings using a sparse-sampling technique*. PM&R, 2010. **2**(1): p. 37-42.
- 983. McMahon, M.A.V.-A., Jilda N; Michaud, Linda J; Bean, Judy, *Effects of amantadine in children with impaired consciousness caused by acquired brain injury: a pilot study.* American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 2009. **88**(7): p. 525-532.
- 984. Meythaler, J.M.B., Robert C; Johnson, Alice; Novack, Thomas A, *Amantadine to improve neurorecovery in traumatic brain injury–associated diffuse axonal injury: a pilot double-blind randomized trial.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2002. **17**(4): p. 300-313.
- 985. Schneider, J.D.-C., Tony M. Wong, Mary L. Dombovy, William N, *Cognitive and behavioural efficacy of amantadine in acute traumatic brain injury: an initial double-blind placebo-controlled study.* Brain Injury, 1999. **13**(11): p. 863-872.
- 986. Firsching, R.P., J.; Skalej, M.; Rohde, V.; Schmidt, U.; Striggow, F., Early survival of comatose patients after severe traumatic brain injury with the dual cannabinoid CB1/CB2 receptor agonist KN38-7271: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II trial. J Neurol Surg A Cent Eur Neurosurg, 2012.
  73(4): p. 204-16.
- 987. Amiri-Nikpour, M.R., et al., *Cerebrolysin effects on neurological outcomes and cerebral blood flow in acute ischemic stroke.* Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment, 2014. **10**: p. 2299.

- 988. Chen, C.C.W., S. T.; Tsaia, S. C.; Chen, X. X.; Cho, D. Y., *Cerebrolysin enhances cognitive recovery of mild traumatic brain injury patients: double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study.* Br J Neurosurg, 2013. 27(6): p. 803-7.
- 989. Muresanu, D.F.H., W. D.; Hoemberg, V.; Bajenaru, O.; Popescu, C. D.; Vester, J. C.; Rahlfs, V. W.; Doppler, E.; Meier, D.; Moessler, H.; Guekht, A., *Cerebrolysin and Recovery After Stroke (CARS): A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind, Multicenter Trial.* Stroke, 2016. **47**(1): p. 151-9.
- 990. Gharaibeh, A.S., Howard I; Scherer, Roberta W; Goldberg, Morton F; Lindsley, Kristina, *Medical interventions for traumatic hyphema*. The Cochrane Library, 2013.
- 991. Roberts, I.S., H.; Coats, T.; Hunt, B.; Balogun, E.; Barnetson, L.; Cook, L.; Kawahara, T.; Perel, P.; Prieto-Merino, D.; Ramos, M.; Cairns, J.; Guerriero, C., *The CRASH-2 trial: a randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of the effects of tranexamic acid on death, vascular occlusive events and transfusion requirement in bleeding trauma patients.* Health Technol Assess, 2013. **17**(10): p. 1-79.
- 992. Yutthakasemsunt, S.K., W.; Piyavechvirat, P.; Thinkamrop, B.; Phuenpathom, N.; Lumbiganon, P., *Tranexamic acid for patients with traumatic brain injury: a randomized, double-blinded, placebocontrolled trial.* BMC Emerg Med, 2013. **13**(20): p. 13-20.
- 993. Perel, P.A.-S.S., R.; Kawahara, T.; Morris, Z.; Prieto-Merino, D.; Roberts, I.; Sandercock, P.; Shakur, H.; Wardlaw, J., *CRASH-2 (Clinical Randomisation of an Antifibrinolytic in Significant Haemorrhage) intracranial bleeding study: the effect of tranexamic acid in traumatic brain injury--a nested randomised, placebo-controlled trial.* Health Technol Assess, 2012. **16**(13): p. 1-54.
- 994. Yutthakasemsunt, S., et al., *Tranexamic acid for patients with traumatic brain injury: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial.* BMC Emerg Med, 2013. **13**(20): p. 13-20.
- 995. James, M.L.O., D. M.; Graffagnino, C., *A pilot study of cerebral and haemodynamic physiological changes during sedation with dexmedetomidine or propofol in patients with acute brain injury.* Anaesth Intensive Care, 2012. **40**(6): p. 949-57.
- 996. Kolenda, H.G., A.; Rading, S.; Braun, U.; Markakis, E., *Ketamine for analgosedative therapy in intensive care treatment of head-injured patients.* Acta Neurochir (Wien), 1996. **138**(10): p. 1193-9.
- 997. de Nadal, M.M., F.; Poca, M. A.; Sahuquillo, J.; Garnacho, A.; Rossello, J., *Cerebral hemodynamic effects of morphine and fentanyl in patients with severe head injury: absence of correlation to cerebral autoregulation*. Anesthesiology, 2000. **92**(1): p. 11-9.
- 998. Karabinis, A.M., K.; Stergiopoulos, S.; Komnos, A.; Soukup, J.; Speelberg, B.; Kirkham, A. J., Safety and efficacy of analgesia-based sedation with remifentanil versus standard hypnotic-based regimens in intensive care unit patients with brain injuries: a randomised, controlled trial [ISRCTN50308308]. Crit Care, 2004. **8**(4): p. R268-80.
- 999. Albanese, J.V., X.; Potie, F.; Rey, M.; Alliez, B.; Martin, C., *Sufentanil, fentanyl, and alfentanil in head trauma patients: a study on cerebral hemodynamics.* Crit Care Med, 1999. **27**(2): p. 407-11.
- 1000. Roberts, D.J.H., B.; Hall, R. I., Sedation for critically ill or injured adults in the intensive care unit: a shifting paradigm. Drugs, 2012. **72**(14): p. 1881-916.
- 1001. Meyer, M.J.M., J.; Meythaler, J.; Murie-Fernandez, M.; Aubut, J. A.; Foley, N.; Salter, K.; Bayley, M.; Marshall, S.; Teasell, R., *Acute management of acquired brain injury Part III: an evidence-based review of interventions used to promote arousal from coma*. Brain Inj, 2010. **24**(5): p. 722-9.
- 1002. Perez-Barcena, J.L.-P., J. A.; Homar, J.; Abadal, J. M.; Raurich, J. M.; Frontera, G.; Brell, M.; Ibanez, J., Pentobarbital versus thiopental in the treatment of refractory intracranial hypertension in patients with traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. Crit Care, 2008. **12**(4): p. R112.
- 1003. Eisenberg, H.M.F., R. F.; Contant, C. F.; Marshall, L. F.; Walker, M. D., *High-dose barbiturate control of elevated intracranial pressure in patients with severe head injury.* J Neurosurg, 1988. **69**(1): p. 15-23.
- 1004. Ward, J.D.B., D. P.; Miller, J. D.; Choi, S. C.; Marmarou, A.; Wood, C.; Newlon, P. G.; Keenan, R., *Failure of prophylactic barbiturate coma in the treatment of severe head injury.* J Neurosurg, 1985. **62**(3): p. 383-8.
- 1005. Wakai, A.R., I.; Schierhout, G., *Mannitol for acute traumatic brain injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2007(1): p. CD001049.
- 1006. Alali, A.S.M., Victoria A; Golan, Eyal; Shah, Prakesh S; Nathens, Avery B, *Beta blockers for acute traumatic brain injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Neurocritical care, 2014. **20**(3): p. 514-523.
- 1007. Radosevich, J.J.P., Asad E; Erstad, Brian L, *Emerging pharmacological agents to improve survival from traumatic brain injury*. Brain injury, 2013. **27**(13-14): p. 1492-1499.

- 1008. van der Jagt, M.R.M., Dinis, *Beta-blockers in intensive care medicine: potential benefit in acute brain injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome*. Recent patents on cardiovascular drug discovery, 2012. **7**(2): p. 141-151.
- 1009. Ker, K.B., Karen, *Bradykinin beta-2 receptor antagonists for acute traumatic brain injury*. The Cochrane Library, 2008.
- 1010. Kawaguchi, M.U., K.; Yoshitani, K.; Uchino, H.; Takeda, Y.; Masui, K.; Sakabe, T., *Effects of a short-acting* [beta]1 receptor antagonist landiolol on hemodynamics and tissue injury markers in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage undergoing intracranial aneurysm surgery. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol, 2010.
   22(3): p. 230-9.
- 1011. Deb, S.C., Tina, *Review of subject The role of pharmacotherapy in the management of behaviour disorders in traumatic brain injury patients.* Brain Injury, 2004. **18**(1): p. 1-31.
- 1012. Levitt, M.A.D., Graham M, The efficacy of esmolol versus lidocaine to attenuate the hemodynamic response to intubation in isolated head trauma patients. Academic emergency medicine, 2001. 8(1): p. 19-24.
- 1013. Brooke, M.M.P., David R; Questad, Kent A; Cardenas, Diana; Farrel-Roberts, Lisa, *The treatment of agitation during initial hospitalization after traumatic brain injury*. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 1992. **73**(10): p. 917-921.
- 1014. Cruickshank, J.D., JeanP; Kuurne, Timo; Vincent, JeanL; Neil-Dwyer, Glenn; Hayes, Yvonne; Kytta, Juha; Carruthers, MalcolmE; Patel, Shanta, *Reduction of stress/catecholamine-induced cardiac necrosis by beta 1-selective blockade*. The Lancet, 1987. **330**(8559): p. 585-589.
- 1015. Schroeppel, T.J., et al., *Beta-adrenergic blockade and traumatic brain injury: protective?* Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 2010. **69**(4): p. 776-782.
- 1016. Inaba, K.T., Pedro GR; David, Jean-Stephane; Chan, Linda S; Salim, Ali; Brown, Carlos; Browder, Timothy; Beale, Elizabeth; Rhee, Peter; Demetriades, Demetrios, *Beta-blockers in isolated blunt head injury*. Journal of the American College of Surgeons, 2008. **206**(3): p. 432-438.
- 1017. Cotton, B.A.S., Kimberly B; Fleming, Sloan B; Carpenter, Robert O; Kemp, Clinton D; Arbogast, Patrick G; Morris Jr, John A, *Beta-blocker exposure is associated with improved survival after severe traumatic brain injury*. Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 2007. **62**(1): p. 26-35.
- 1018. CRUICKSHANK, J.N.-D., G; DEGAUTE, J; HAYES, Y; KUURNE, T; KYTTA, J; VINCENT, J; CARRUTHERS, M; PATEL, S, *Reduction of Stress/Catecholamine-induced Cardiac Necrosis by Beta1-Selective Blockade.* Survey of Anesthesiology, 1988. **32**(2): p. 87.
- 1019. Roberts, I., *Aminosteroids for acute traumatic brain injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2000(4): p. CD001527.
- Marshall, L.F.M., A. I.; Marshall, S. B.; Bricolo, A.; Fearnside, M.; Iannotti, F.; Klauber, M. R.; Lagarrigue, J.; Lobato, R.; Persson, L.; Pickard, J. D.; Piek, J.; Servadei, F.; Wellis, G. N.; Morris, G. F.; Means, E. D.; Musch, B., A multicenter trial on the efficacy of using tirilazad mesylate in cases of head injury. J Neurosurg, 1998.
   89(4): p. 519-25.
- 1021. Arenth, P.M.R., K. C.; Ricker, J. H.; Zafonte, R. D., *CDP-choline as a biological supplement during neurorecovery: a focused review*. PM R, 2011. **3**(6 Suppl 1): p. S123-31.
- 1022. Griffin, S.L.v.R., R.; Masanic, C., *A review of cholinergic agents in the treatment of neurobehavioral deficits following traumatic brain injury.* J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 2003. **15**(1): p. 17-26.
- 1023. Poole, N.A.A., N., *Cholinomimetic agents and neurocognitive impairment following head injury: a systematic review.* Brain Inj, 2008. **22**(7-8): p. 519-34.
- 1024. Secades, J.J., *Citicoline: pharmacological and clinical review, 2010 update.* Rev Neurol, 2011. **52 Suppl 2**: p. S1-S62.
- 1025. Calatayud Maldonado, V.C.P., J. B.; Aso Escario, J., *Effects of CDP-choline on the recovery of patients with head injury.* J Neurol Sci, 1991. **103 Suppl**: p. S15-8.
- 1026. Leon-Carrion, J.D.-R., J. M.; Murillo-Cabezas, F.; del Rosario Dominguez-Morales, M.; Munoz-Sanchez, M. A., *The role of citicholine in neuropsychological training after traumatic brain injury*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2000. **14**(1): p. 33-40.
- 1027. Shokouhi, G.H., A. G.; Sattarnezhad, N.; Asghari, M.; Sattarnezhad, A.; Asghari, A.; Pezeshki, A., *Effects of citicoline on level of consciousness, serum level of fetuin-A and matrix Gla-protein (MGP) in trauma*

patients with diffuse axonal injury (DAI) and GCS</=8. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg, 2014. **20**(6): p. 410-6.

- 1028. Zafonte, R.D.B., E.; Ansel, B. M.; Novack, T. A.; Friedewald, W. T.; Hesdorffer, D. C.; Timmons, S. D.; Jallo, J.; Eisenberg, H.; Hart, T.; Ricker, J. H.; Diaz-Arrastia, R.; Merchant, R. E.; Temkin, N. R.; Melton, S.; Dikmen, S. S., *Effect of citicoline on functional and cognitive status among patients with traumatic brain injury: Citicoline Brain Injury Treatment Trial (COBRIT).* JAMA, 2012. **308**(19): p. 1993-2000.
- 1029. Levin, H.S., *Treatment of postconcussional symptoms with CDP-choline*. J Neurol Sci, 1991. **103 Suppl**: p. S39-42.
- 1030. Cardenas, D.D.M., A., Jr.; Farrell-Roberts, L.; Baker, L.; Brooke, M.; Haselkorn, J., *Oral physostigmine and impaired memory in adults with brain injury.* Brain Inj, 1994. **8**(7): p. 579-87.
- Levin, H.S.P., B. H.; Kalisky, Z.; High, W. M., Jr.; von Laufen, A.; Eisenberg, H. M.; Morrison, D. P.; Gary, H.
   E., Jr., *Effects of oral physostigmine and lecithin on memory and attention in closed head-injured patients.* Cent Nerv Syst Trauma, 1986. **3**(4): p. 333-42.
- 1032. Broks, P.P., G. C.; Traub, M.; Poppleton, P.; Ward, C.; Stahl, S. M., *Modelling dementia: effects of scopolamine on memory and attention.* Neuropsychologia, 1988. **26**(5): p. 685-700.
- 1033. Potter, D.D.P., C. D.; Roberts, R. C.; Rugg, M. D., *Scopolamine impairs memory performance and reduces frontal but not parietal visual P3 amplitude*. Biol Psychol, 2000. **52**(1): p. 37-52.
- 1034. Flood, J.F.C., A., *Scopolamine effects on memory retention in mice: a model of dementia?* Behav Neural Biol, 1986. **45**(2): p. 169-84.
- 1035. Silver, J.M.K., B.; Meng, X.; Potkin, S. G.; Reyes, P. F.; Harvey, P. D.; Katz, D. I.; Gunay, I.; Arciniegas, D. B., Long-term effects of rivastigmine capsules in patients with traumatic brain injury. Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(2): p. 123-32.
- 1036. Silver, J.M.K., B.; Chen, M.; Mirski, D.; Potkin, S. G.; Reyes, P.; Warden, D.; Harvey, P. D.; Arciniegas, D.; Katz, D. I.; Gunay, I., *Effects of rivastigmine on cognitive function in patients with traumatic brain injury*. Neurology, 2006. **67**(5): p. 748-55.
- 1037. Tenovuo, O.A., J.; Helenius, H., *A randomized controlled trial of rivastigmine for chronic sequels of traumatic brain injury-what it showed and taught?* Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(6): p. 548-58.
- 1038. Kim, J.K.K., Dong Jin, Antegrade intramedullary pinning versus retrograde intramedullary pinning for displaced fifth metacarpal neck fractures. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research<sup>®</sup>, 2015. **473**(5): p. 1747-1754.
- 1039. Kolmodin, L.S., M. S.; Henderson, W. R.; Turgeon, A. F.; Griesdale, D. E., *Hypernatremia in patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review.* Ann Intensive Care, 2013. **3**(1): p. 35.
- 1040. Rao, V.L.D., A.; Todd, K. G.; Bowen, K. K.; Dempsey, R. J., *Neuroprotection by memantine, a non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist after traumatic brain injury in rats.* Brain Res, 2001. **911**(1): p. 96-100.
- 1041. Kochanek, P.M.J., Travis C; Ferguson, Nikki Miller; Carlson, Shaun W; Simon, Dennis W; Brockman, Erik C; Ji, Jing; Bayır, Hülya; Poloyac, Samuel M; Wagner, Amy K. *Emerging therapies in traumatic brain injury*. in *Seminars in neurology*. 2015. Thieme Medical Publishers.
- 1042. Donkin, J.J.V., Robert, *Mechanisms of cerebral edema in traumatic brain injury: therapeutic developments.* Current opinion in neurology, 2010. **23**(3): p. 293-299.
- 1043. Vink, R.v.d.H., C., Substance P antagonists as a therapeutic approach to improving outcome following traumatic brain injury. Neurotherapeutics, 2010. **7**(1): p. 74-80.
- 1044. Bichet, D.G.B., D., *Genetic forms of nephrogenic diabetes insipidus (NDI): Vasopressin receptor defect (X-linked) and aquaporin defect (autosomal recessive and dominant).* Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2016. **30**(2): p. 263-76.
- 1045. Schneider, L.S.I., P. S.; Weiner, M. W., *Treatment with cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine of patients in the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative*. Arch Neurol, 2011. **68**(1): p. 58-66.
- 1046. Aarsland, D.B., C.; Walker, Z.; Bostrom, F.; Alves, G.; Kossakowski, K.; Leroi, I.; Pozo-Rodriguez, F.; Minthon, L.; Londos, E., *Memantine in patients with Parkinson's disease dementia or dementia with Lewy bodies: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre trial.* Lancet Neurol, 2009. **8**(7): p. 613-8.
- 1047. Rupniak, N.M. and M.S. Kramer, *Discovery of the antidepressant and anti-emetic efficacy of substance P receptor (NK 1) antagonists.* Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 1999. **20**(12): p. 485-490.

- 1048. Vink, R.N., Alan J; Cernak, Ibolja, *An overview of new and novel pharmacotherapies for use in traumatic brain injury*. Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology, 2001. **28**(11): p. 919-921.
- 1049. Winblad, B., *Piracetam: a review of pharmacological properties and clinical uses.* CNS drug reviews, 2005.
   11(2): p. 169-182.
- 1050. Sun, M.Z., J. J.; Shan, J. Z.; Zhang, H.; Jin, C. Y.; Xu, S.; Wang, Y. L., *Clinical observation of Danhong Injection* (herbal TCM product from Radix Salviae miltiorrhizae and Flos Carthami tinctorii) in the treatment of traumatic intracranial hematoma. Phytomedicine, 2009. **16**(8): p. 683-9.
- Chapman, E.H.W., R. J.; Milburn, M. A.; Pirozzi, T. O.; Woo, E., Homeopathic treatment of mild traumatic brain injury: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1999.
   14(6): p. 521-42.
- 1052. Moein, P.A.F., S.; Asnaashari, A.; Baratian, H.; Barekatain, M.; Tavakoli, N.; Moein, H., *The effect of Boswellia Serrata on neurorecovery following diffuse axonal injury.* Brain Inj, 2013. **27**(12): p. 1454-60.
- 1053. Meythaler, J.M.D., M. J.; Hadley, M., *Prospective study on the use of bolus intrathecal baclofen for spastic hypertonia due to acquired brain injury.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1996. **77**(5): p. 461-6.
- 1054. Cohen, S.P., et al., *Randomized study assessing the accuracy of cervical facet joint nerve (medial branch)* blocks using different injectate volumes. Anesthesiology, 2010. **112**(1): p. 144-52.
- 1055. Lord, S.M., et al., *Percutaneous radio-frequency neurotomy for chronic cervical zygapophyseal-joint pain.* N Engl J Med, 1996. **335**(23): p. 1721-6.
- 1056. Naja, Z.M.E.-R., M.; Al-Tannir, M. A.; Ziade, F. M.; Tawfik, O. M., Occipital nerve blockade for cervicogenic headache: a double-blind randomized controlled clinical trial. Pain Pract, 2006. **6**(2): p. 89-95.
- 1057. Dilli, E.H., R.; Vargas, B.; Hentz, J.; Radam, T.; Rogers, R.; Dodick, D., *Occipital nerve block for the shortterm preventive treatment of migraine: A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study.* Cephalalgia, 2015. **35**(11): p. 959-68.
- 1058. Cuadrado, M.L.A.-S., A.; Navarro, P.; Lopez-Ruiz, P.; Fernandez-de-Las-Penas, C.; Gonzalez-Suarez, I.; Orviz, A.; Fernandez-Perez, C., Short-term effects of greater occipital nerve blocks in chronic migraine: A doubleblind, randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Cephalalgia, 2016.
- 1059. Inan, L.E.I., N.; Karadas, O.; Gul, H. L.; Erdemoglu, A. K.; Turkel, Y.; Akyol, A., *Greater occipital nerve* blockade for the treatment of chronic migraine: a randomized, multicenter, double-blind, and placebocontrolled study. Acta Neurol Scand, 2015. **132**(4): p. 270-7.
- 1060. Lambru, G.A.B., N.; Stahlhut, L.; McCulloch, S.; Miller, S.; Shanahan, P.; Matharu, M. S., Greater occipital nerve blocks in chronic cluster headache: a prospective open-label study. Eur J Neurol, 2014. 21(2): p. 338-43.
- 1061. Leinisch-Dahlke, E.J., T.; Bogdahn, U.; Jakob, W.; May, A., *Greater occipital nerve block is ineffective in chronic tension type headache*. Cephalalgia, 2005. **25**(9): p. 704-8.
- 1062. Gabrhelik, T.M., P.; Adamus, M., *Pulsed radiofrequency therapy versus greater occipital nerve block in the management of refractory cervicogenic headache a pilot study*. Prague Med Rep, 2011. **112**(4): p. 279-87.
- 1063. Bono, F.S., D.; Mazza, M. R.; Curcio, M.; Trimboli, M.; Vescio, B.; Quattrone, A., *The influence of ictal cutaneous allodynia on the response to occipital transcutaneous electrical stimulation in chronic migraine and chronic tension-type headache: a randomized, sham-controlled study.* Cephalalgia, 2015. **35**(5): p. 389-98.
- 1064. Serra, G.M., F., *Occipital nerve stimulation for chronic migraine: a randomized trial.* Pain Physician, 2012. **15**(3): p. 245-53.
- 1065. Brewer, A.C.T., T. L.; Ivancic, M. G.; Vargas, B. B.; Rebecca, A. M.; Zimmerman, R. S.; Rosenfeld, D. M.; Dodick, D. W., *Long-term outcome in occipital nerve stimulation patients with medically intractable primary headache disorders*. Neuromodulation, 2013. **16**(6): p. 557-62; discussion 563-4.
- 1066. Chen, Y.F.B., G.; Unwin, G.; Hanu-Cernat, D.; Dretzke, J.; Moore, D.; Bayliss, S.; Cummins, C.; Lilford, R., Occipital nerve stimulation for chronic migraine--a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One, 2015. 10(3): p. e0116786.
- 1067. Jasper, J.F.H., S. M., Implanted occipital nerve stimulators. Pain Physician, 2008. 11(2): p. 187-200.
- 1068. Lipton, R.B.D., David W; Silberstein, Stephen D; Saper, Joel R; Aurora, Sheena K; Pearlman, Starr H; Fischell, Robert E; Ruppel, Patricia L; Goadsby, Peter J, *Single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation for*

acute treatment of migraine with aura: a randomised, double-blind, parallel-group, sham-controlled trial. The Lancet Neurology, 2010. **9**(4): p. 373-380.

- 1069. Bono, F., et al., *The influence of ictal cutaneous allodynia on the response to occipital transcutaneous electrical stimulation in chronic migraine and chronic tension-type headache: a randomized, sham-controlled study.* Cephalalgia, 2015. **35**(5): p. 389-98.
- 1070. Silberstein, S.D.D., D. W.; Saper, J.; Huh, B.; Slavin, K. V.; Sharan, A.; Reed, K.; Narouze, S.; Mogilner, A.; Goldstein, J.; Trentman, T.; Vaisman, J.; Ordia, J.; Weber, P.; Deer, T.; Levy, R.; Diaz, R. L.; Washburn, S. N.; Mekhail, N., Safety and efficacy of peripheral nerve stimulation of the occipital nerves for the management of chronic migraine: results from a randomized, multicenter, double-blinded, controlled study. Cephalalgia, 2012. **32**(16): p. 1165-79.
- 1071. Dodick, D.W.S., S. D.; Reed, K. L.; Deer, T. R.; Slavin, K. V.; Huh, B.; Sharan, A. D.; Narouze, S.; Mogilner, A. Y.; Trentman, T. L.; Ordia, J.; Vaisman, J.; Goldstein, J.; Mekhail, N., *Safety and efficacy of peripheral nerve stimulation of the occipital nerves for the management of chronic migraine: long-term results from a randomized, multicenter, double-blinded, controlled study.* Cephalalgia, 2015. **35**(4): p. 344-58.
- 1072. Fock, J.G., Mary P; Stillman, Barry C; Rawicki, Barry; Clark, Malcolm, *Functional outcome following Botulinum toxin A injection to reduce spastic equinus in adults with traumatic brain injury*. Brain Injury, 2004. **18**(1): p. 57-63.
- 1073. Smith, S.E., E; White, S; Moore, AP, *A double-blind placebo-controlled study of botulinum toxin in upper limb spasticity after stroke or head injury.* Clinical Rehabilitation, 2000. **14**(1): p. 5-13.
- 1074. Simpson, D.M.G., J. M.; Yablon, S. A.; Barbano, R.; Brashear, A., *Botulinum neurotoxin versus tizanidine in upper limb spasticity: a placebo-controlled study.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2009. **80**(4): p. 380-5.
- 1075. Verplancke, D., et al., *A randomized controlled trial of botulinum toxin on lower limb spasticity following acute acquired severe brain injury.* Clinical Rehabilitation, 2005. **19**(2): p. 117-125.
- 1076. Sass, K.D., B, Control of Symptoms in Patients with Me<sup>'</sup> niere's Disease Using Middle Ear Pressure Applications: Two Years Follow-up. Acta oto-laryngologica, 2001. **121**(5): p. 616-621.
- 1077. Densert, B.S., Kornel; Arlinger, Stig, *Short term effects of induced middle ear pressure changes on the electrocochleogram in Meniere's disease.* Acta oto-laryngologica, 1995. **115**(6): p. 732-737.
- 1078. Densert, B., K. Sass, and S. Arlinger, *Short term effects of induced middle ear pressure changes on the electrocochleogram in Meniere's disease.* Acta oto-laryngologica, 1995. **115**(6): p. 732-737.
- 1079. Ödkvist, L., *Effects of middle ear pressure changes on clinical symptoms in patients with Meniere's diseasea clinical multicentre placebo-controlled study.* Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 2000. **120**(543): p. 99-101.
- 1080. Mattox, D.E.R., Mary, *Meniett device for Ménière's disease: use and compliance at 3 to 5 years.* Otology & neurotology, 2008. **29**(1): p. 29-32.
- 1081. Paparella, M.M. and F. Mancini, *Trauma and Meniere's syndrome*. The Laryngoscope, 1983. **93**(8): p. 1004-1012.
- 1082. Gates, G.A.G.J., J Douglas; Tucci, Debara L; Telian, Steven A, *The effects of transtympanic micropressure treatment in people with unilateral Meniere's disease*. Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery, 2004. **130**(6): p. 718-725.
- 1083. Gates, G.A.V., Aimee; Green, J Douglas; Tucci, Debara L; Telian, Steven A, *Meniett clinical trial: long-term follow-up.* Archives of Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery, 2006. **132**(12): p. 1311-1316.
- 1084. Guller, Y.G., J., Potential applications of concurrent transcranial magnetic stimulation and functional magnetic resonance imaging in acquired brain injury and disorders of consciousness. Brain Inj, 2014. 28(9): p. 1190-6.
- 1085. Major B, R.M., Pearce A, Using transcranial magnetic stimulation to quantify electrophysiological changes following concussive brain injury. Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology, 2015. 42: p. 394-405.
- 1086. Rossini, P.M.R., S., *Transcranial magnetic stimulation: diagnostic, therapeutic, and research potential.* Neurology, 2007. **68**(7): p. 484-8.
- 1087. Leung, A.S., S.; Fallah, A.; Song, D.; Lin, L.; Golshan, S.; Tsai, A.; Jak, A.; Polston, G.; Lee, R., *Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation in Managing Mild Traumatic Brain Injury-Related Headaches.* Neuromodulation, 2016. **19**(2): p. 133-41.

- 1088. Lioumis, P.Z., A.; Makela, N.; Lehtinen, H.; Wilenius, J.; Neuvonen, T.; Hannula, H.; Deletis, V.; Picht, T.; Makela, J. P., *A novel approach for documenting naming errors induced by navigated transcranial magnetic stimulation*. J Neurosci Methods, 2012. **204**(2): p. 349-54.
- 1089. Takeuchi, N.I., K.; Chuma, T.; Matsuo, Y., *Measurement of transcallosal inhibition in traumatic brain injury by transcranial magnetic stimulation.* Brain Inj, 2006. **20**(9): p. 991-6.
- 1090. Demirtas-Tatlidede, A.V.-H., A. M.; Bernabeu, M.; Tormos, J. M.; Pascual-Leone, A., *Noninvasive brain stimulation in traumatic brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2012. **27**(4): p. 274-92.
- 1091. Kang, E.K.K., D. Y.; Paik, N. J., *Transcranial direct current stimulation of the left prefrontal cortex improves attention in patients with traumatic brain injury: a pilot study.* J Rehabil Med, 2012. **44**(4): p. 346-50.
- 1092. Clarke, L.A.G., R. C.; Anderson, J. F., *Long-term cognitive complaint and post-concussive symptoms following mild traumatic brain injury: the role of cognitive and affective factors.* Brain Inj, 2012. **26**(3): p. 298-307.
- 1093. Coffman, B.A.T., M. C.; Flores, R. A.; Garcia, C. M.; van der Merwe, A. J.; Wassermann, E. M.; Weisend, M. P.; Clark, V. P., Impact of tDCS on performance and learning of target detection: interaction with stimulus characteristics and experimental design. Neuropsychologia, 2012. 50(7): p. 1594-602.
- Yoon, E.J.K., Y. K.; Kim, H. R.; Kim, S. E.; Lee, Y.; Shin, H. I., *Transcranial direct current stimulation to lessen neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury: a mechanistic PET study*. Neurorehabil Neural Repair, 2014.
   28(3): p. 250-9.
- 1095. Ulam, F.S., C.; Richards, L.; Davis, L.; Hunter, B.; Fregni, F.; Higgins, K., *Cumulative effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on EEG oscillations and attention/working memory during subacute neurorehabilitation of traumatic brain injury*. Clin Neurophysiol, 2015. **126**(3): p. 486-96.
- 1096. Giles, L.G. and R. Muller, Chronic spinal pain syndromes: a clinical pilot trial comparing acupuncture, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, and spinal manipulation. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1999. 22(6): p. 376-81.
- 1097. Giles, L.G. and R. Muller, *Chronic spinal pain: a randomized clinical trial comparing medication, acupuncture, and spinal manipulation.* Spine, 2003. **28**(14): p. 1490-502; discussion 1502-3.
- 1098. Hurwitz, E.L., et al., *Manipulation and mobilization of the cervical spine. A systematic review of the literature.* Spine 1996. **21**(15): p. 1746-59; discussion 1759-60.
- 1099. Young, I.A., et al., *Manual therapy, exercise, and traction for patients with cervical radiculopathy: a randomized clinical trial.* Phys Ther, 2009. **89**(7): p. 632-42.
- 1100. Cleland, J.A., et al., *Immediate effects of thoracic manipulation in patients with neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* Man Ther, 2005. **10**(2): p. 127-35.
- 1101. Buchmann, J., et al., *Manual treatment effects to the upper cervical apophysial joints before, during, and after endotracheal anesthesia: a placebo-controlled comparison.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 2005. **84**(4): p. 251-7.
- 1102. Bialosky, J.E., et al., *The mechanisms of manual therapy in the treatment of musculoskeletal pain: a comprehensive model.* Man Ther, 2009. **14**(5): p. 531-8.
- 1103. Carlesso, L.C., et al., Adverse events associated with the use of cervical manipulation and mobilization for the treatment of neck pain in adults: a systematic review. Man Ther, 2010. **15**(5): p. 434-44.
- 1104. Garg, A.H., Kurt T; Wertsch, Jacqueline J; Kapellusch, Jay; Thiese, Matthew S; Bloswick, Donald; Merryweather, Andrew; Sesek, Richard; Deckow-Schaefer, Gwen; Foster, James, *The WISTAH hand study: a prospective cohort study of distal upper extremity musculoskeletal disorders.* BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 2012. **13**(1): p. 1.
- 1105. Cleland, J.A., et al., Short-term effects of thrust versus nonthrust mobilization/manipulation directed at the thoracic spine in patients with neck pain: a randomized clinical trial. Phys Ther, 2007. **87**(4): p. 431-40.
- 1106. Hurwitz, E.L., et al., *A randomized trial of chiropractic manipulation and mobilization for patients with neck pain: clinical outcomes from the UCLA neck-pain study.* Am J Public Health, 2002. **92**(10): p. 1634-41.
- 1107. Haldeman, S., F.J. Kohlbeck, and M. McGregor, *Risk factors and precipitating neck movements causing vertebrobasilar artery dissection after cervical trauma and spinal manipulation*. Spine 1999. **24**(8): p. 785-94.
- 1108. Cassidy, J.D., et al., *Risk of vertebrobasilar stroke and chiropractic care: results of a population-based case-control and case-crossover study.* Spine, 2008. **33**(4 Suppl): p. S176-83.

- 1109. Kosloff, T.M., et al., *Chiropractic care and the risk of vertebrobasilar stroke: results of a case-control study in U.S. commercial and Medicare Advantage populations.* Chiropr Man Therap, 2015. **23**: p. 19.
- 1110. Wood, T.G., C.J. Colloca, and R. Matthews, *A pilot randomized clinical trial on the relative effect of instrumental (MFMA) versus manual (HVLA) manipulation in the treatment of cervical spine dysfunction*. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2001. **24**(4): p. 260-71.
- 1111. Fernandez-de-Las-Penas, C., et al., *Repeated applications of thoracic spine thrust manipulation do not lead to tolerance in patients presenting with acute mechanical neck pain: a secondary analysis.* J Man Manip Ther, 2009. **17**(3): p. 154-62.
- 1112. Gross, A., et al., *Manipulation or mobilisation for neck pain: a Cochrane Review.* Man Ther, 2010. **15**(4): p. 315-33.
- 1113. Bronfort, G., et al., *A randomized clinical trial of exercise and spinal manipulation for patients with chronic neck pain.* Spine, 2001. **26**(7): p. 788-97; discussion 798-9.
- 1114. Martinez-Segura, R., et al., *Immediate effects on neck pain and active range of motion after a single cervical high-velocity low-amplitude manipulation in subjects presenting with mechanical neck pain: a randomized controlled trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2006. **29**(7): p. 511-7.
- 1115. Gonzalez-Iglesias, J., et al., *Inclusion of thoracic spine thrust manipulation into an electro-therapy/thermal program for the management of patients with acute mechanical neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* Man Ther, 2009. **14**(3): p. 306-13.
- 1116. Gonzalez-Iglesias, J., et al., *Thoracic spine manipulation for the management of patients with neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2009. **39**(1): p. 20-7.
- 1117. Vernon, H.T., et al., *Pressure pain threshold evaluation of the effect of spinal manipulation in the treatment of chronic neck pain: a pilot study.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1990. **13**(1): p. 13-6.
- 1118. Muller, R. and L.G. Giles, *Long-term follow-up of a randomized clinical trial assessing the efficacy of medication, acupuncture, and spinal manipulation for chronic mechanical spinal pain syndromes.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2005. **28**(1): p. 3-11.
- 1119. Koes, B.W., et al., A randomized clinical trial of manual therapy and physiotherapy for persistent back and neck complaints: subgroup analysis and relationship between outcome measures. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1993. **16**(4): p. 211-9.
- 1120. Koes, B.W., et al., *Randomised clinical trial of manipulative therapy and physiotherapy for persistent back and neck complaints: results of one year follow up.* Bmj, 1992. **304**(6827): p. 601-5.
- 1121. Koes, B.W., et al., *The effectiveness of manual therapy, physiotherapy, and treatment by the general practitioner for nonspecific back and neck complaints. A randomized clinical trial.* Spine 1992. **17**(1): p. 28-35.
- 1122. Sloop, P.R., et al., *Manipulation for chronic neck pain. A double-blind controlled study.* Spine, 1982. **7**(6): p. 532-5.
- 1123. Pool, J.J., et al., *Is a behavioral graded activity program more effective than manual therapy in patients with subacute neck pain? Results of a randomized clinical trial.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2010. **35**(10): p. 1017-24.
- 1124. Pikula, J., *The effect of spinal manipulative therapy (SMT) on pain reduction and range of motion in patients with acute unilateral neck pain: a pilot study.* J Can Chiropr Assoc, 1999. **43**(2): p. 111-9.
- 1125. Nansel, D.D., A. Peneff, and J. Quitoriano, *Effectiveness of upper versus lower cervical adjustments with respect to the amelioration of passive rotational versus lateral-flexion end-range asymmetries in otherwise asymptomatic subjects.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1992. **15**(2): p. 99-105.
- 1126. Hoving, J.L., et al., *Manual therapy, physical therapy, or continued care by a general practitioner for patients with neck pain. A randomized, controlled trial.* Ann Intern Med, 2002. **136**(10): p. 713-22.
- 1127. Cassidy, J.D., A.A. Lopes, and K. Yong-Hing, *The immediate effect of manipulation versus mobilization on pain and range of motion in the cervical spine: a randomized controlled trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1992. **15**(9): p. 570-5.
- 1128. Kanlayanaphotporn, R., A. Chiradejnant, and R. Vachalathiti, *The immediate effects of mobilization technique on pain and range of motion in patients presenting with unilateral neck pain: a randomized controlled trial.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2009. **90**(2): p. 187-92.
- 1129. Krauss, J., et al., *The immediate effects of upper thoracic translatoric spinal manipulation on cervical pain and range of motion: a randomized clinical trial.* J Man Manip Ther, 2008. **16**(2): p. 93-9.

- 1130. Jordan, A., et al., *Intensive training, physiotherapy, or manipulation for patients with chronic neck pain. A prospective, single-blinded, randomized clinical trial.* Spine 1998. **23**(3): p. 311-8; discussion 319.
- 1131. Schwerla, F., et al., *Osteopathic treatment of patients with chronic non-specific neck pain: a randomised controlled trial of efficacy.* Forsch Komplementmed, 2008. **15**(3): p. 138-45.
- 1132. Gross, A.R., et al., *A Cochrane review of manipulation and mobilization for mechanical neck disorders.* Spine, 2004. **29**(14): p. 1541-8.
- 1133. Cleland, J., et al., Development of a clinical prediction rule for guiding treatment of a subgroup of patients with neck pain: use of thoracic spine manipulation, exercise, and patient education. Phys Ther, 2007.
   87(1): p. 9-23.
- 1134. Raney, N.H., et al., *Development of a clinical prediction rule to identify patients with neck pain likely to benefit from cervical traction and exercise.* Eur Spine J, 2009. **18**(3): p. 382-91.
- 1135. Cleland, J.A., et al., *Examination of a clinical prediction rule to identify patients with neck pain likely to benefit from thoracic spine thrust manipulation and a general cervical range of motion exercise: multi-center randomized clinical trial.* Phys Ther, 2010. **90**(9): p. 1239-50.
- 1136. Tseng, Y.L., et al., *Predictors for the immediate responders to cervical manipulation in patients with neck pain.* Man Ther, 2006. **11**(4): p. 306-15.
- 1137. Haas, M., et al., *Efficacy of cervical endplay assessment as an indicator for spinal manipulation*. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2003. **28**(11): p. 1091-6; discussion 1096.
- 1138. Suvarnnato, T., et al., *The effects of thoracic manipulation versus mobilization for chronic neck pain: a randomized controlled trial pilot study.* J Phys Ther Sci, 2013. **25**(7): p. 865-71.
- 1139. Bosmans, J.E., et al., *Is behavioral graded activity cost-effective in comparison with manual therapy for patients with subacute neck pain? An economic evaluation alongside a randomized clinical trial.* Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2011. **36**(18): p. E1179-86.
- 1140. Bove, G. and N. Nilsson, *Spinal manipulation in the treatment of episodic tension-type headache: a randomized controlled trial.* Jama, 1998. **280**(18): p. 1576-9.
- 1141. Coppieters, M.W., et al., *The immediate effects of a cervical lateral glide treatment technique in patients with neurogenic cervicobrachial pain.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2003. **33**(7): p. 369-78.
- 1142. McReynolds, T.M. and B.J. Sheridan, *Intramuscular ketorolac versus osteopathic manipulative treatment in the management of acute neck pain in the emergency department: a randomized clinical trial.* J Am Osteopath Assoc, 2005. **105**(2): p. 57-68.
- 1143. Nilsson, N., H.W. Christensen, and J. Hartvigsen, *Lasting changes in passive range motion after spinal manipulation: a randomized, blind, controlled trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1996. **19**(3): p. 165-8.
- 1144. Puentedura, E.J., et al., *Thoracic spine thrust manipulation versus cervical spine thrust manipulation in patients with acute neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2011. **41**(4): p. 208-20.
- 1145. Boline, P.D., et al., *Spinal manipulation vs. amitriptyline for the treatment of chronic tension-type headaches: a randomized clinical trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1995. **18**(3): p. 148-54.
- 1146. Bronfort, G., et al., *Spinal manipulation, medication, or home exercise with advice for acute and subacute neck pain: a randomized trial.* Ann Intern Med, 2012. **156**(1 Pt 1): p. 1-10.
- 1147. Fernandez-de-las Penas, C., et al., *Immediate effects on pressure pain threshold following a single cervical spine manipulation in healthy subjects.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2007. **37**(6): p. 325-9.
- 1148. Hakkinen, A., et al., *Effect of manual therapy and stretching on neck muscle strength and mobility in chronic neck pain.* J Rehabil Med, 2007. **39**(7): p. 575-9.
- 1149. Hoyt, W.H., et al., *Osteopathic manipulation in the treatment of muscle-contraction headache*. J Am Osteopath Assoc, 1979. **78**(5): p. 322-5.
- 1150. Leaver, A.M., et al., *Conservative interventions provide short-term relief for non-specific neck pain: a systematic review.* J Physiother, 2010. **56**(2): p. 73-85.
- 1151. Nilsson, N., H.W. Christensen, and J. Hartvigsen, *The effect of spinal manipulation in the treatment of cervicogenic headache.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1997. **20**(5): p. 326-30.
- 1152. Whittingham, W. and N. Nilsson, *Active range of motion in the cervical spine increases after spinal manipulation (toggle recoil).* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2001. **24**(9): p. 552-5.
- 1153. Ylinen, J., et al., *Stretching exercises vs manual therapy in treatment of chronic neck pain: a randomized, controlled cross-over trial.* J Rehabil Med, 2007. **39**(2): p. 126-32.

- 1154. Saavedra-Hernandez, M., et al., *Short-term effects of spinal thrust joint manipulation in patients with chronic neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* Clin Rehabil, 2013. **27**(6): p. 504-12.
- 1155. Saavedra-Hernandez, M., et al., *Short-term effects of kinesio taping versus cervical thrust manipulation in patients with mechanical neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2012. **42**(8): p. 724-30.
- 1156. Dunning, J.R., et al., *Upper cervical and upper thoracic thrust manipulation versus nonthrust mobilization in patients with mechanical neck pain: a multicenter randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2012. **42**(1): p. 5-18.
- 1157. Martel, J., et al., *A randomised controlled trial of preventive spinal manipulation with and without a home exercise program for patients with chronic neck pain.* BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 2011. **12**: p. 41.
- 1158. Skillgate, E., et al., *The long-term effects of naprapathic manual therapy on back and neck pain results from a pragmatic randomized controlled trial.* BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 2010. **11**: p. 26.
- 1159. Sterling, M., G. Jull, and A. Wright, *Cervical mobilisation: concurrent effects on pain, sympathetic nervous system activity and motor activity.* Man Ther, 2001. **6**(2): p. 72-81.
- 1160. Sterling, M., et al., *Cervical lateral glide increases nociceptive flexion reflex threshold but not pressure or thermal pain thresholds in chronic whiplash associated disorders: A pilot randomised controlled trial.* Man Ther, 2010. **15**(2): p. 149-53.
- 1161. Escortell-Mayor, E., et al., *Primary care randomized clinical trial: manual therapy effectiveness in comparison with TENS in patients with neck pain.* Man Ther, 2011. **16**(1): p. 66-73.
- 1162. Lluch, E., et al., Immediate effects of active cranio-cervical flexion exercise versus passive mobilisation of the upper cervical spine on pain and performance on the cranio-cervical flexion test. Man Ther, 2014. 19(1): p. 25-31.
- 1163. Paanalahti, K., et al., *The sex-specific interrelationship between spinal pain and psychological distress across time in the general population. Results from the Stockholm Public Health Study.* Spine J, 2014. **14**(9): p. 1928-35.
- 1164. Oliveira-Campelo, N.M., et al., *Short- and medium-term effects of manual therapy on cervical active range of motion and pressure pain sensitivity in latent myofascial pain of the upper trapezius muscle: a randomized controlled trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2013. **36**(5): p. 300-9.
- 1165. Casanova-Mendez, A., et al., Comparative short-term effects of two thoracic spinal manipulation techniques in subjects with chronic mechanical neck pain: a randomized controlled trial. Man Ther, 2014.
   19(4): p. 331-7.
- 1166. Gemmell, H. and P. Miller, *Relative effectiveness and adverse effects of cervical manipulation, mobilisation and the activator instrument in patients with sub-acute non-specific neck pain: results from a stopped randomised trial.* Chiropr Osteopat, 2010. **18**: p. 20.
- 1167. Kanlayanaphotporn, R., A. Chiradejnant, and R. Vachalathiti, *Immediate effects of the central posteroanterior mobilization technique on pain and range of motion in patients with mechanical neck pain.* Disabil Rehabil, 2010. **32**(8): p. 622-8.
- 1168. Klein, R., et al., *Strain-counterstrain to treat restrictions of the mobility of the cervical spine in patients with neck pain: a sham-controlled randomized trial.* Complement Ther Med, 2013. **21**(1): p. 1-7.
- 1169. La Touche, R., et al., *Does mobilization of the upper cervical spine affect pain sensitivity and autonomic nervous system function in patients with cervico-craniofacial pain?: a randomized-controlled trial.* Clin J Pain, 2013. **29**: p. 205-15.
- 1170. Lau, H., T. Wing Chiu, and T. Lam, *The effectiveness of thoracic manipulation on patients with chronic mechanical neck pain: A randomized controlled trial.* Man Ther, 2011. **16**(2): p. 141-7.
- 1171. Lin, J.H., et al., *The effectiveness of Long's manipulation on patients with chronic mechanical neck pain: a randomized controlled trial.* Man Ther, 2013. **18**(4): p. 308-15.
- 1172. Martinez-Segura, R., et al., *Immediate changes in widespread pressure pain sensitivity, neck pain, and cervical range of motion after cervical or thoracic thrust manipulation in patients with bilateral chronic mechanical neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2012. **42**(9): p. 806-14.
- 1173. Masaracchio, M., et al., *Short-term combined effects of thoracic spine thrust manipulation and cervical spine nonthrust manipulation in individuals with mechanical neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2013. **43**(3): p. 118-27.

- 1174. Picelli, A., et al., *Effects of myofascial technique in patients with subacute whiplash associated disorders: a pilot study.* Eur J Phys Rehabil Med, 2011. **47**(4): p. 561-8.
- 1175. Quesnele, J.J., et al., *Changes in vertebral artery blood flow following various head positions and cervical spine manipulation.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2014. **37**(1): p. 22-31.
- 1176. Schomacher, J., *The effect of an analgesic mobilization technique when applied at symptomatic or asymptomatic levels of the cervical spine in subjects with neck pain: a randomized controlled trial.* J Man Manip Ther, 2009. **17**(2): p. 101-8.
- 1177. Vernon, H.T., et al., *Validation of a novel sham cervical manipulation procedure*. Spine J, 2012. **12**(11): p. 1021-8.
- 1178. von Piekartz, H. and T. Hall, *Orofacial manual therapy improves cervical movement impairment associated with headache and features of temporomandibular dysfunction: a randomized controlled trial.* Man Ther, 2013. **18**(4): p. 345-50.
- 1179. Antolinos-Campillo, P.J., et al., *Short-term changes in median nerve neural tension after a suboccipital muscle inhibition technique in subjects with cervical whiplash: a randomised controlled trial.* Physiotherapy, 2014. **100**(3): p. 249-55.
- 1180. Aquino, R.L., et al., *Applying Joint Mobilization at Different Cervical Vertebral Levels does not Influence Immediate Pain Reduction in Patients with Chronic Neck Pain: A Randomized Clinical Trial.* J Man Manip Ther, 2009. **17**(2): p. 95-100.
- 1181. Evans, R., et al., A pilot study for a randomized clinical trial assessing chiropractic care, medical care, and self-care education for acute and subacute neck pain patients. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2003. **26**(7): p. 403-11.
- 1182. Haas, M., et al., *Dose response for chiropractic care of chronic cervicogenic headache and associated neck pain: a randomized pilot study.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2004. **27**(9): p. 547-53.
- 1183. Hall, T., et al., *Efficacy of a C1-C2 self-sustained natural apophyseal glide (SNAG) in the management of cervicogenic headache.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2007. **37**(3): p. 100-7.
- 1184. Reid, S.A., et al., *Effects of cervical spine manual therapy on range of motion, head repositioning, and balance in participants with cervicogenic dizziness: a randomized controlled trial.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014. **95**(9): p. 1603-12.
- 1185. Reid, S.A., et al., Sustained natural apophyseal glides (SNAGs) are an effective treatment for cervicogenic dizziness. Man Ther, 2008. **13**(4): p. 357-66.
- 1186. Sillevis, R. and J. Cleland, *Immediate effects of the audible pop from a thoracic spine thrust manipulation on the autonomic nervous system and pain: a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2011. **34**(1): p. 37-45.
- 1187. Snodgrass, S.J., et al., *Dose optimization for spinal treatment effectiveness: a randomized controlled trial investigating the effects of high and low mobilization forces in patients with neck pain.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2014. **44**(3): p. 141-52.
- 1188. Izquierdo Pérez, H., et al., *Is one better than another?: A randomized clinical trial of manual therapy for patients with chronic neck pain.* Man Ther, 2014. **19**(3): p. 215-21.
- 1189. Cleland, J., *Thoracic manipulation and exercise versus exercise alone in the management of mechanical neck pain: preliminary analysis of a randomized clinical trial.* Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy, 2010. **40**(1): p. A23.
- 1190. Allison, G.T., B.M. Nagy, and T. Hall, *A randomized clinical trial of manual therapy for cervico-brachial pain syndrome -- a pilot study*. Man Ther, 2002. **7**(2): p. 95-102.
- 1191. Fernandez-de-las-Peñas, C., et al., *Dorsal manipulation in whiplash injury treatment: A randomized controlled trial.* J Whiplash Related Disorders, 2004. **3**: p. 55-72.
- 1192. Savolainen, A., et al., *Active or passive treatment for neck-shoulder pain in occupational health care? A randomized controlled trial.* Occup Med (Lond), 2004. **54**(6): p. 422-4.
- 1193. Ventegodt, S., et al., *The Combination of Gestalt Therapy, Rosen Body Work, and Cranio Sacral Therapy did not help in Chronic Whiplash-Associated Disorders (WAD) Results of a Randomized Clinical Trial.* The Scientific World Journal 2004. **4**: p. 1055-1068.
- 1194. Lee, J., et al., *The effects of cervical mobilization combined with thoracic mobilization on forward head posture of neck pain patients.* J Phys Ther Sci, 2013. **25**(1): p. 7-9.

- 1195. Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., et al., *Changes in pressure pain thresholds over C5-C6 zygapophyseal joint after a cervicothoracic junction manipulation in healthy subjects.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2008. **31**(5): p. 332-7.
- 1196. Metcalfe, S., H. Reese, and R. Sydenham, *Effect of high-velocity low-amplitude manipulation on cervical spine muscle strength: a randomized clinical trial.* J Man Manip Ther, 2006. **14**(3): p. 152-8.
- 1197. Espi-Lopez, G.V. and A. Gomez-Conesa, *Efficacy of manual and manipulative therapy in the perception of pain and cervical motion in patients with tension-type headache: a randomized, controlled clinical trial.* J Chiropr Med, 2014. **13**(1): p. 4-13.
- 1198. Hemmila, H.M., *Bone setting for prolonged neck pain: a randomized clinical trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2005. **28**(7): p. 508-15.
- 1199. Karlberg, M., et al., *Postural and symptomatic improvement after physiotherapy in patients with dizziness of suspected cervical origin.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1996. **77**(9): p. 874-82.
- 1200. Moretti, B., et al., *Manipulative therapy in the treatment of benign cervicobrachialgia of mechanical origin*. Chir Organi Mov, 2004. **89**(1): p. 81-6.
- Murphy, B., H.H. Taylor, and P. Marshall, *The effect of spinal manipulation on the efficacy of a rehabilitation protocol for patients with chronic neck pain: a pilot study.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2010.
   33(3): p. 168-77.
- 1202. Sillevis, R., et al., *Immediate effects of a thoracic spine thrust manipulation on the autonomic nervous system: a randomized clinical trial.* J Man Manip Ther, 2010. **18**(4): p. 181-90.
- 1203. Soderlund, A., C. Olerud, and P. Lindberg, *Acute whiplash-associated disorders (WAD): the effects of early mobilization and prognostic factors in long-term symptomatology.* Clin Rehabil, 2000. **14**(5): p. 457-67.
- 1204. Williams, N.H., et al., *Randomized osteopathic manipulation study (ROMANS): pragmatic trial for spinal pain in primary care.* Fam Pract, 2003. **20**(6): p. 662-9.
- 1205. Howe, D.H., R.G. Newcombe, and M.T. Wade, *Manipulation of the cervical spine--a pilot study*. J R Coll Gen Pract, 1983. **33**(254): p. 574-9.
- 1206. Mansilla-Ferragut, P., et al., *Immediate effects of atlanto-occipital joint manipulation on active mouth opening and pressure pain sensitivity in women with mechanical neck pain*. J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2009. **32**(2): p. 101-6.
- 1207. Oliveira-Campelo, N.M., et al., *The immediate effects of atlanto-occipital joint manipulation and suboccipital muscle inhibition technique on active mouth opening and pressure pain sensitivity over latent myofascial trigger points in the masticatory muscles.* J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2010. **40**(5): p. 310-7.
- 1208. Palmgren, P.J., et al., *Improvement after chiropractic care in cervicocephalic kinesthetic sensibility and subjective pain intensity in patients with nontraumatic chronic neck pain.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2006. **29**(2): p. 100-6.
- 1209. Ragonese, J., *A randomized trial comparing manual physical therapy to therapeutic exercises, to a combination of therapies, for the treatment of cervical radiculopathy.* Orthop Prac, 2009. **21**(3): p. 71-6.
- 1210. Parkin-Smith, G. and C. Penter, *A clinical trial investigating the effect of two manipulative approaches in the treatment of mechanical neck pain: a pilot study.* J Neuromusculoskelet Syst, 1998. **6**(1): p. 6-16.
- 1211. van Schalkwyk, R. and G. Parkin-Smith, *A clinical trial investigating the possible effect of the supine cervical rotatory manipulation and the supine lateral break manipulation in the treatment of mechanical neck pain: a pilot study.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2000. **23**(5): p. 324-31.
- 1212. Vasseljen, O., Jr., B. Johansen, and R. Westgaard, *The effect of pain reduction on perceived tension and EMG-recorded trapezius muscle activity in workers with shoulder and neck pain.* Scand J Rehabil Med, 1995. **27**(4): p. 243-52.
- 1213. Youssef, E.F. and A.S. Shanb, *Mobilization versus massage therapy in the treatment of cervicogenic headache: a clinical study*. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil, 2013. **26**(1): p. 17-24.
- 1214. Yurkiw, D. and S. Mior, *Comparison of two chiropractic techniques on pain and lateral flexion in neck pain patients: a pilot study.* Chiropractic Technique, 1996. **8**(4): p. 155-62.
- 1215. Allan, M., J. Brantingham, and A. Menezes, *Stretching as an adjunct to chiropractic manipulation of chronic neck pain before, after or not at all? A prospective randomized controlled clinical trial.* Eur J Chiropractic, 2003. **50**: p. 41-52.
- 1216. Ko, T., U. Jeong, and K. Lee, *Effects of the inclusion thoracic mobilizatio into cranio-cervical flexor exercise in patients with chronic neck pain.* J Phys Ther Sci, 2010. **22**: p. 87-91.

- 1217. Shin, B.C., S.D. Kim, and M.S. Lee, *Comparison between the effects of Chuna manipulation therapy and cervical traction treatment on pain in patients with herniated cervical disc: a randomized clinical pilot trial.* Am J Chin Med, 2006. **34**(5): p. 923-5.
- 1218. Vernon, H., et al., *A randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of chiropractic and medical prophylactic treatment of adults with tension-type headache: results from a stopped trial.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2009. **32**(5): p. 344-51.
- 1219. Jull, G., et al., *A randomized controlled trial of exercise and manipulative therapy for cervicogenic headache*. Spine, 2002. **27**(17): p. 1835-43; discussion 1843.
- 1220. Nilsson, N., A randomized controlled trial of the effect of spinal manipulation in the treatment of *cervicogenic headache.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 1995. **18**(7): p. 435-40.
- 1221. Schiff, N.D., *Central thalamic deep-brain stimulation in the severely injured brain: rationale and proposed mechanisms of action.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2009. **1157**: p. 101-16.
- 1222. Sankar, T.T., T. S.; Hamani, C., *Novel applications of deep brain stimulation*. Surg Neurol Int, 2012. **3**(Suppl 1): p. S26-33.
- 1223. Schiff, N.D., Moving toward a generalizable application of central thalamic deep brain stimulation for support of forebrain arousal regulation in the severely injured brain. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2012. **1265**: p. 56-68.
- 1224. Zhao, W.W., C.; Li, Z.; Chen, L.; Li, J.; Cui, W.; Ding, S.; Xi, Q.; Wang, F.; Jia, F.; Xiao, S.; Guo, Y.; Zhao, Y., *Efficacy and safety of transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation to treat muscle spasticity following brain injury: a double-blinded, multicenter, randomized controlled trial.* PLoS One, 2015. **10**(2): p. e0116976.
- 1225. Jonas, W., A Randomized Exploratory Study to Evaluate Two Acupuncture Methods for the Treatment of Headaches Associated with Traumatic Brain Injury. Medical Acupuncture, 2016. **28**(3): p. 113-130.
- 1226. Zollman, F.S.L., E. B.; Wasek-Throm, L. K.; Cyborski, C. M.; Bode, R. K., Acupuncture for treatment of insomnia in patients with traumatic brain injury: a pilot intervention study. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2012.
   27(2): p. 135-42.
- 1227. MacPherson, H., et al., *Empathy, enablement, and outcome: an exploratory study on acupuncture patients' perceptions.* J Altern Complement Med, 2003. **9**(6): p. 869-76.
- Madsen, M.V., P.C. Gotzsche, and A. Hrobjartsson, Acupuncture treatment for pain: systematic review of randomised clinical trials with acupuncture, placebo acupuncture, and no acupuncture groups. BMJ, 2009.
   338: p. a3115.
- 1229. Ambrosio, E.M., K. Bloor, and H. MacPherson, *Costs and consequences of acupuncture as a treatment for chronic pain: a systematic review of economic evaluations conducted alongside randomised controlled trials.* Complement Ther Med, 2012. **20**(5): p. 364-74.
- 1230. Driessen, M.T., C.W. Lin, and M.W. van Tulder, *Cost-effectiveness of conservative treatments for neck pain: a systematic review on economic evaluations.* Eur Spine J, 2012. **21**(8): p. 1441-50.
- 1231. Fu, L.M., J.T. Li, and W.S. Wu, *Randomized controlled trials of acupuncture for neck pain: systematic review and meta-analysis.* J Altern Complement Med, 2009. **15**(2): p. 133-45.
- 1232. He, D., et al., *Effect of acupuncture treatment on chronic neck and shoulder pain in sedentary female* workers: a 6-month and 3-year follow-up study. Pain, 2004. **109**(3): p. 299-307.
- 1233. Irnich, D., et al., *Immediate effects of dry needling and acupuncture at distant points in chronic neck pain: results of a randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled crossover trial.* Pain, 2002. **99**(1-2): p. 83-9.
- 1234. Shen, Y.F. and G. Goddard, *The short-term effects of acupuncture on myofascial pain patients after clenching*. Pain Pract, 2007. **7**(3): p. 256-64.
- 1235. Zhu, X.M. and B. Polus, *A controlled trial on acupuncture for chronic neck pain.* Am J Chin Med, 2002. **30**(1): p. 13-28.
- 1236. Sator-Katzenschlager, S.M., et al., *Electrical stimulation of auricular acupuncture points is more effective than conventional manual auricular acupuncture in chronic cervical pain: a pilot study.* Anesth Analg, 2003. **97**(5): p. 1469-73.
- 1237. White, P., et al., *Acupuncture versus placebo for the treatment of chronic mechanical neck pain: a randomized, controlled trial.* Ann Intern Med, 2004. **141**(12): p. 911-9.
- 1238. Coan, R., Wong, G., Coan, PL., *The Acupuncture treatment of neck pain: A Randomized controlled study*. American Journal of Chinese Medicine, 1982. **4**(4): p. 326-332.

- 1239. Hansson, Y., C. Carlsson, and E. Olsson, *Intramuscular and periosteal acupuncture for anxiety and sleep quality in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain--an evaluator blind, controlled study.* Acupunct Med, 2007. **25**(4): p. 148-57.
- 1240. He, D., et al., *Effect of intensive acupuncture on pain-related social and psychological variables for women with chronic neck and shoulder pain--an RCT with six month and three year follow up.* Acupunct Med, 2005. **23**(2): p. 52-61.
- 1241. Yip, Y.B., H.M. Tse, and K.K. Wu, *An experimental study comparing the effects of combined transcutaneous acupoint electrical stimulation and electromagnetic millimeter waves for spinal pain in Hong Kong.* Complement Ther Clin Pract, 2007. **13**(1): p. 4-14.
- 1242. Ga, H., et al., Acupuncture needling versus lidocaine injection of trigger points in myofascial pain syndrome in elderly patients--a randomised trial. Acupunct Med, 2007. **25**(4): p. 130-6.
- 1243. Flanagan, S.R.C., Joshua B; Ashman, Teresa A, *Traumatic brain injury: future assessment tools and treatment prospects.* Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment, 2008. **4**(5): p. 877-892.
- 1244. Chung, H.D., T.; Sharma, S. K.; Huang, Y. Y.; Carroll, J. D.; Hamblin, M. R., *The nuts and bolts of low-level laser (light) therapy*. Ann Biomed Eng, 2012. **40**(2): p. 516-33.
- 1245. Bjordal, J.M.C., Christian; Chow, Roberta T; Tunér, Jan; Ljunggren, Elisabeth Anne, *A systematic review of low level laser therapy with location-specific doses for pain from chronic joint disorders*. Australian Journal of Physiotherapy, 2003. **49**(2): p. 107-116.
- 1246. Christie, A.J., G.; Dahm, K. T.; Moe, R. H.; Haavardsholm, E. A.; Hagen, K. B., *Effectiveness of* nonpharmacological and nonsurgical interventions for patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an overview of systematic reviews. Phys Ther, 2007. **87**(12): p. 1697-715.
- 1247. Jamtvedt, G.D., K. T.; Christie, A.; Moe, R. H.; Haavardsholm, E.; Holm, I.; Hagen, K. B., *Physical therapy interventions for patients with osteoarthritis of the knee: an overview of systematic reviews.* Phys Ther, 2008. **88**(1): p. 123-36.
- 1248. Chow, R.T.J., Mark I; Lopes-Martins, Rodrigo AB; Bjordal, Jan M, *Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in the management of neck pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo or active-treatment controlled trials.* The Lancet, 2009. **374**(9705): p. 1897-1908.
- 1249. Gigo-Benato, D.G., S.; Rochkind, S., *Phototherapy for enhancing peripheral nerve repair: a review of the literature.* Muscle Nerve, 2005. **31**(6): p. 694-701.
- 1250. Breceda, E.Y.D., A. W., *Motor rehabilitation in stroke and traumatic brain injury: stimulating and intense.* Curr Opin Neurol, 2013. **26**(6): p. 595-601.
- 1251. Thompson, D.M.K., A. N.; Hardy, J. G.; Schmidt, C. E., *Electrical stimuli in the central nervous system microenvironment.* Annu Rev Biomed Eng, 2014. **16**: p. 397-430.
- 1252. Leung, J.H., L. A.; Moseley, A. M.; Whiteside, B.; Simpson, M.; Stroud, K., *Standing with electrical stimulation and splinting is no better than standing alone for management of ankle plantarflexion contractures in people with traumatic brain injury: a randomised trial.* J Physiother, 2014. **60**(4): p. 201-8.
- Lairamore, C.I.G., M. K.; Bourgeon, L.; Mennemeier, M., *Effects of functional electrical stimulation on gait recovery post-neurological injury during inpatient rehabilitation*. Percept Mot Skills, 2014. **119**(2): p. 591-608.
- 1254. Doeltgen, S.H.H., M. L., *Swallowing neurorehabilitation: from the research laboratory to routine clinical application.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2012. **93**(2): p. 207-13.
- 1255. Power, M.F., C.; Hobson, A.; Rothwell, J. C.; Mistry, S.; Nicholson, D. A.; Thompson, D. G.; Hamdy, S., *Changes in pharyngeal corticobulbar excitability and swallowing behavior after oral stimulation.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2004. **286**(1): p. G45-50.
- Clark, H.L., C.; Arvedson, J.; Schooling, T.; Frymark, T., Evidence-based systematic review: effects of neuromuscular electrical stimulation on swallowing and neural activation. Am J Speech Lang Pathol, 2009.
   18(4): p. 361-75.
- 1257. Crary, M.A.C.-M., G. D.; Faunce, A., *Electrical stimulation therapy for dysphagia: descriptive results of two surveys.* Dysphagia, 2007. **22**(3): p. 165-73.
- 1258. Sheffler, L.R.C., J., *Neuromuscular electrical stimulation in neurorehabilitation*. Muscle Nerve, 2007. **35**(5): p. 562-90.
- 1259. Terre, R.M., F., A randomized controlled study of neuromuscular electrical stimulation in oropharyngeal dysphagia secondary to acquired brain injury. Eur J Neurol, 2015. **22**(4): p. 687-e44.

- 1260. Beom, J.O., B. M.; Choi, K. H.; Kim, W.; Song, Y. J.; You, D. S.; Kim, S. J.; Han, T. R., *Effect of Electrical Stimulation of the Suprahyoid Muscles in Brain-Injured Patients with Dysphagia*. Dysphagia, 2015. **30**(4): p. 423-9.
- 1261. Alon, G.D., Amit; Katz-Behiri, Deganit; Weingarden, Harold; Nathan, Roger, *Efficacy of a Hybrid Upper Limb Neuromusclar Electrical Stimulation System in Lessening Selected Impairments and Dysfunction Consequent to Cerebral Damage* J Neuro Rehab 1998. **12**(2): p. 73-80.
- 1262. Carnevale, G.J.A., V.; Johnston, M. V.; Busichio, K.; Walsh, V., *A natural setting behavior management program for persons with acquired brain injury: a randomized controlled trial.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2006. **87**(10): p. 1289-97.
- 1263. Hall, K.M.K., P.; Stevens, M.; Englander, J.; O'Hare, P.; Wright, J., *Family stressors in traumatic brain injury: a two-year follow-up*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1994. **75**(8): p. 876-84.
- 1264. Hanks, R.A.R., L. J.; Wertheimer, J.; Koviak, C., *Randomized controlled trial of peer mentoring for individuals with traumatic brain injury and their significant others*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2012. **93**(8): p. 1297-304.
- 1265. Brown, A.W.M., A. M.; Bergquist, T. F.; Kendall, K. S.; Diehl, N. N.; Mandrekar, J., *A randomized practical behavioural trial of curriculum-based advocacy training for individuals with traumatic brain injury and their families.* Brain Inj, 2015. **29**(13-14): p. 1530-8.
- 1266. McLaughlin, K.A.G., A.; Beaver, S. V.; Gau, J. M.; Keen, S., *Web-based training in family advocacy.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2013. **28**(5): p. 341-8.
- 1267. McDonald, S.T., R.; Togher, L.; Bornhofen, C.; Long, E.; Gertler, P.; Bowen, R., Social skills treatment for people with severe, chronic acquired brain injuries: a multicenter trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. 89(9): p. 1648-59.
- 1268. Altman, I.M.S., S.; Parrot, D.; Malec, J. F., *Effectiveness of community-based rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury for 489 program completers compared with those precipitously discharged*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2010. **91**(11): p. 1697-704.
- 1269. Altman, I.M.S., S.; Malec, J. F., *Effectiveness of home- and community-based rehabilitation in a large cohort of patients disabled by cerebrovascular accident: evidence of a dose-response relationship.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2013. **94**(9): p. 1837-41.
- 1270. Ruff, R.M.N., H., Cognitive rehabilitation versus day treatment in head-injured adults: is there an impact on emotional and psychosocial adjustment? Brain Inj, 1990. **4**(4): p. 339-47.
- 1271. Zoccolotti, P.C., A.; De Luca, M.; Guariglia, C.; Serino, A.; Trojano, L., *Selective and integrated rehabilitation programs for disturbances of visual/spatial attention and executive function after brain damage: a neuropsychological evidence-based review.* Eur J Phys Rehabil Med, 2011. **47**(1): p. 123-47.
- 1272. Brasure, M.L., Greg J; Sayer, Nina A; Nelson, Nathaniel W; MacDonald, Roderick; Ouellette, Jeannine; Wilt, Timothy J, *Participation after multidisciplinary rehabilitation for moderate to severe traumatic brain injury in adults: a systematic review*. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 2013. **94**(7): p. 1398-1420.
- 1273. Greenwood, R.J.M., T. M.; Brooks, D. N.; Dunn, G.; Brock, D.; Dinsdale, S.; Murphy, L. D.; Price, J. R., *Effects* of case management after severe head injury. BMJ, 1994. **308**(6938): p. 1199-205.
- 1274. O'Neil, M.E., et al., *Factors associated with mild traumatic brain injury in veterans and military personnel: a systematic review.* Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society, 2014. **20**(3): p. 249-261.
- 1275. Malec, J.F.K., J., *Post-Inpatient Brain Injury Rehabilitation Outcomes: Report from the National OutcomeInfo Database.* J Neurotrauma, 2016. **33**(14): p. 1371-9.
- 1276. Malec, J.F.K., Jacob, *Post-Inpatient Brain Injury Rehabilitation Outcomes: Report from the National Outcomelnfo Database.* Journal of neurotrauma, 2015.
- 1277. Chen, A.C., V.; Zagorski, B.; Parsons, D.; Colantonio, A., *Factors associated with living setting at discharge from inpatient rehabilitation after acquired brain injury in Ontario, Canada.* J Rehabil Med, 2014. **46**(2): p. 144-52.
- 1278. Martin, R.S.H., B.; Gregorevic, K.; Lim, W. K., *The Effects of Advance Care Planning Interventions on Nursing Home Residents: A Systematic Review.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2016. **17**(4): p. 284-93.
- 1279. Zatzick, D.D., Dennis M; Jurkovich, Gregory; Gentilello, Larry; Dunn, Chris; Russo, Joan; Wang, Jin; Zatzick, Christopher D; Love, Jeff; McFadden, Collin, *Disseminating alcohol screening and brief intervention at trauma centers: a policy-relevant cluster randomized effectiveness trial*. Addiction, 2014. **109**(5): p. 754-765.
- 1280. Corrigan, J.D.B., Jennifer; Lamb-Hart, Gary; Heinemann, Allen W; Moore, Dennis, *Increasing substance abuse treatment compliance for persons with traumatic brain injury*. Psychology of addictive behaviors, 2005. **19**(2): p. 131.
- 1281. Tweedly, L.P., Jennie; Lee, Nicole, *Investigation of the effectiveness of brief interventions to reduce alcohol consumption following traumatic brain injury.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2012. **27**(5): p. 331-341.
- 1282. Vungkhanching, M.H., Allen W; Langley, Mervin J; Ridgely, Mary; Kramer, Karen M, *Feasibility of a Skills*based Substance Abuse Prevention Program Following Traumatic Brain Injury. The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2007. **22**(3): p. 167-176.
- 1283. Bradt, J.M., W. L.; Dileo, C.; Wheeler, B. L.; McGilloway, E., *Music therapy for acquired brain injury*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2010(7): p. CD006787.
- 1284. Lynch, C., LaGasse, A., *Training Endogenous Task Shifting Using; Music Therapy: A Feasibility Study.* Journal of Music Therapy, 2016. **00**(00): p. 1-29.
- 1285. Hausdorff, J.M. and H. Ring, *Effects of a new radio frequency–controlled neuroprosthesis on gait symmetry and rhythmicity in patients with chronic hemiparesis.* American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation, 2008. **87**(1): p. 4-13.
- 1286. Mayer, N.E., A; Keenan, MAE, *Analysis and management of spasticity, contracture, and impaired motor control.* Medical rehabilitation of traumatic brain injury. Philadelphia: Hanley & Belfus, 1996: p. 411-58.
- 1287. Katz, D.I.W., D. K.; Alexander, M. P.; Klein, R. B., *Recovery of ambulation after traumatic brain injury*. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2004. **85**(6): p. 865-9.
- 1288. Pohl, M.R., S.; Mehrholz, J.; Ritschel, C.; Strik, H.; Pause, M. R., *Effectiveness of serial casting in patients with severe cerebral spasticity: a comparison study.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2002. **83**(6): p. 784-90.
- 1289. Cavanaugh, J.T.G., K. M.; Giuliani, C.; Marshall, S.; Mercer, V.; Stergiou, N., *Detecting altered postural control after cerebral concussion in athletes with normal postural stability.* Br J Sports Med, 2005. **39**(11): p. 805-11.
- Pohl, M.M., J.; Ruckriem, S., The influence of illness duration and level of consciousness on the treatment effect and complication rate of serial casting in patients with severe cerebral spasticity. Clin Rehabil, 2003.
  17(4): p. 373-9.
- 1291. Moseley, A.M., *The effect of casting combined with stretching on passive ankle dorsiflexion in adults with traumatic head injuries.* Physical Therapy, 1997. **77**(3): p. 240-247.
- 1292. Hill, J., *The effects of casting on upper extremity motor disorders after brain injury*. Am J Occup Ther, 1994. **48**(3): p. 219-24.
- 1293. Ring, H.T., Iuly; Gruendlinger, Leor; Hausdorff, Jeffrey M, *Neuroprosthesis for footdrop compared with an ankle-foot orthosis: effects on postural control during walking.* Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 2009. **18**(1): p. 41-47.
- 1294. Medd, J., *Evaluation of an Anger Management Therapy Programme Following Acquired Brain Injury: A Preliminary Study.* NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL REHABILITATION, 2000. **10**(2): p. 185-201.
- 1295. Perlick, D.A.S.-T., Kristy; Strauss, Jennifer L; Norell, Diane; Tupler, Larry A; Levine, Bruce; Luo, Xiaodong; Holman, Caroline; Marcus, Tara; Dixon, Lisa B, *Implementation of multifamily group treatment for veterans with traumatic brain injury.* Psychiatric Services, 2013. **64**(6): p. 534-540.
- 1296. Delmonico, R.L.H.-P., P.; Englander, J., *Group psychotherapy for persons with traumatic brain injury: management of frustration and substance abuse.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1998. **13**(6): p. 10-22.
- 1297. Bombardier, C.H.B., K. R.; Temkin, N. R.; Fann, J. R.; Hoffman, J.; Dikmen, S., *The efficacy of a scheduled telephone intervention for ameliorating depressive symptoms during the first year after traumatic brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2009. **24**(4): p. 230-8.
- 1298. Wade, D.T.K., N. S.; Wenden, F. J.; Crawford, S.; Caldwell, F. E., *Routine follow up after head injury: a second randomised controlled trial.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1998. **65**(2): p. 177-83.
- 1299. Mateer, C.A.S., C. S.; O'Connell, M. E., *Putting Humpty Dumpty together again: the importance of integrating cognitive and emotional interventions.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2005. **20**(1): p. 62-75.
- 1300. Bombardier, C.H., et al., *The efficacy of a scheduled telephone intervention for ameliorating depressive symptoms during the first year after traumatic brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2009. **24**(4): p. 230-8.
- 1301. Fedoroff, J.P.S., S. E.; Forrester, A. W.; Geisler, F. H.; Jorge, R. E.; Arndt, S. V.; Robinson, R. G., *Depression in patients with acute traumatic brain injury*. Am J Psychiatry, 1992. **149**(7): p. 918-23.

- Hensold, T.C.G., J. M.; Grubbs, E. E.; Upton, J. C.; Faw, G., A personal intervention substance abuse treatment approach: Substance abuse treatment in a least restrictive residential model. Brain Inj, 2006.
  20(4): p. 369-81.
- 1303. Gert J. Geurtsen, M., Caroline M. van Heugten, MSc, PhD, Juan D. Martina, MD,; Antonius C. Rietveld, MSc, PhD, Ron Meijer, MD, PhD, Alexander C. Geurts, MD, PhD, A Prospective Study to Evaluate a Residential Community; Reintegration Program for Patients With Chronic Acquired; Brain Injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2011. 92: p. 696-704.
- 1304. Kate Hopman, R.L.T., and Annie McCluskey, Community-Based Rehabilitation; Following Brain Injury: Comparison; of a Transitional Living Program; and a Home-Based Program BRAIN IMPAIRMENT, 2012.
   13(1): p. 44–61.
- 1305. Trexler, L.E.T., L. C.; Malec, J. F.; Klyce, D.; Parrott, D., *Prospective randomized controlled trial of resource facilitation on community participation and vocational outcome following brain injury*. J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2010. **25**(6): p. 440-6.
- 1306. Wehman, P.T., P.; Yasuda, S.; McManus, S.; Briel, L., *Helping persons with traumatic brain injury of minority origin: improve career and employment outcomes.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2007. **22**(2): p. 95-104.
- 1307. Hayden, M.E., *Mild traumatic brain injury. A primer for understanding its impact on employee return to work.* AAOHN J, 1997. **45**(12): p. 635-43; quiz 644-5.
- 1308. Holzberg, E., *The best practice for gaining and maintaining employment for individuals with traumatic brain injury.* Work, 2001. **16**(3): p. 245-258.
- 1309. Shames, J.T., I.; Ring, H.; Giaquinto, S., *Return to work following traumatic brain injury: trends and challenges.* Disabil Rehabil, 2007. **29**(17): p. 1387-95.
- 1310. McMordie, W.R.B., Susan L; Paolo, Tony M, *Return to work (RTW) after head injury*. Brain Injury, 1990.
  4(1): p. 57-69.
- 1311. van Velzen, J.M.v.B., C. A.; Edelaar, M. J.; Sluiter, J. K.; Frings-Dresen, M. H., *How many people return to work after acquired brain injury?: a systematic review.* Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(6): p. 473-88.
- 1312. Kirkwood, M.W., K.O. Yeates, and P.E. Wilson, *Pediatric sport-related concussion: a review of the clinical management of an oft-neglected population.* Pediatrics, 2006. **117**(4): p. 1359-71.
- 1313. Kirkwood, M.W., C. Randolph, and K.O. Yeates, *Sport-related concussion: a call for evidence and perspective amidst the alarms.* Clin J Sport Med, 2012. **22**(5): p. 383-4.
- 1314. Harmon, K.G., et al., American Medical Society for Sports Medicine position statement: concussion in sport. Clin J Sport Med, 2013. **23**(1): p. 1-18.
- 1315. Giza, C.C., et al., Summary of evidence-based guideline update: evaluation and management of concussion in sports: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology, 2013. **80**(24): p. 2250-7.
- 1316. Makdissi, M., et al., *The difficult concussion patient: what is the best approach to investigation and management of persistent (>10 days) postconcussive symptoms?* Br J Sports Med, 2013. **47**(5): p. 308-13.
- 1317. McCrea, M., et al., *Effects of a symptom-free waiting period on clinical outcome and risk of reinjury after sport-related concussion*. Neurosurgery, 2009. **65**(5): p. 876-82; discussion 882-3.
- 1318. Herring, S.A., et al., *Concussion (mild traumatic brain injury) and the team physician: a consensus statement--2011 update.* Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2011. **43**(12): p. 2412-22.
- 1319. van Velzen, J.M.v.B., C. A.; Edelaar, M. J.; Sluiter, J. K.; Frings-Dresen, M. H., *Prognostic factors of return to work after acquired brain injury: a systematic review.* Brain Inj, 2009. **23**(5): p. 385-95.
- 1320. Ben-Yishay, Y.S., Saralyn M; Piasetsky, Eugene; Rattok, Jack, *Relationship between employability and vocational outcome after intensive holistic cognitive rehabilitation.* The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 1987. **2**(1): p. 35-48.
- 1321. Cifu, D.X.K.-M., Lori; Lopez, Eduardo; Wehman, Paul; Kreutzer, Jeffrey S; Englander, Jeffrey; High, Walter, *Acute predictors of successful return to work 1 year after traumatic brain injury: a multicenter analysis.* Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 1997. **78**(2): p. 125-131.
- 1322. Avesani, R.S., L; Rigoli, G; Gambini, MG, *Reintegration after severe brain injury: A retrospective study.* Brain Injury, 2005. **19**(11): p. 933-939.
- 1323. Walker, W.C.M., J. H.; Kreutzer, J. S.; Hart, T.; Novack, T. A., *Occupational categories and return to work after traumatic brain injury: a multicenter study.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2006. **87**(12): p. 1576-82.

- 1324. Drake, A.I.G., Nicola; Yoder, Susan; Pramuka, Michael; Llewellyn, Mark, *Factors predicting return to work following mild traumatic brain injury: a discriminant analysis.* The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation, 2000. **15**(5): p. 1103-1112.
- 1325. Fraser, R.M., J; Temkin, N; Dikmen, S; Doctor, J, *Return to work in traumatic brain injury (TBI): A perspective on capacity for job complexity.* Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation, 2006. **25**(3): p. 141-148.
- 1326. Guerin, F.K., Stephan; Leveille, Genevieve; Dominique, Aysha; McKerral, Michelle, *Vocational outcome indicators in atypically recovering mild TBI: a post-intervention study.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2006. **21**(4): p. 295-303.
- 1327. Hanlon, J.A.D., Zoran Martinovich, James P. Kelly, Robert E, *Effects of acute injury characteristics on neuropsychological status and vocational outcome following mild traumatic brain injury.* Brain Injury, 1999. **13**(11): p. 873-887.
- 1328. Franulic, A.C., Carmen Gloria; Pinto, Patricia; Sepulveda, Isabel, *Psychosocial adjustment and employment outcome 2, 5 and 10 years after TBI*. Brain Injury, 2004. **18**(2): p. 119-129.
- 1329. Fadyl, J.K.M., K. M., *Approaches to vocational rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury: a review of the evidence.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 2009. **24**(3): p. 195-212.
- 1330. Tyerman, A., *Vocational rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury: models and services.* NeuroRehabilitation, 2012. **31**(1): p. 51-62.
- 1331. Malec, J.F.B., Jeffrey S, *Postacute brain injury rehabilitation*. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 1996. **77**(2): p. 198-207.
- 1332. Wehman, P.T., P.; Yasuda, S.; Brown, T., *Return to work for individuals with TBI and a history of substance abuse*. NeuroRehabilitation, 2000. **15**(1): p. 71-77.
- 1333. Wehman, P.S., P.; Kregel, J.; Kreutzer, J.; Tran, S.; Cifu, D., *Return to work for persons following severe traumatic brain injury. Supported employment outcomes after five years.* Am J Phys Med Rehabil, 1993.
  72(6): p. 355-63.
- 1334. Wehman, P.H.R., W. G.; Kregel, J.; Kreutzer, J. S.; Callahan, M.; Banks, P. D., Supported employment: an alternative model for vocational rehabilitation of persons with severe neurologic, psychiatric, or physical disability. Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1991. **72**(2): p. 101-5.
- 1335. Wehman, P.H.K., J. S.; West, M. D.; Sherron, P. D.; Zasler, N. D.; Groah, C. H.; Stonnington, H. H.; Burns, C. T.; Sale, P. R., *Return to work for persons with traumatic brain injury: a supported employment approach.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 1990. **71**(13): p. 1047-52.
- 1336. Buffington, A.L.M., James F, *The Vocational Rehabilitation Continuum: Maximizing Outcomes through Bridging the Gap from Hospital to Community-Based Services.* J Head Trauma Rehabil, 1997. **12**(5): p. 1-13.
- 1337. Reesink, D.D., W. Jorritsma, and M.F. Reneman, *Basis for a functional capacity evaluation methodology for patients with work-related neck disorders.* J Occup Rehabil, 2007. **17**(3): p. 436-49.
- 1338. Chen, J.J., *Functional capacity evaluation & disability*. Iowa Orthop J, 2007. **27**: p. 121-7.
- 1339. Harcourt, B.T., M. Wijesinha, and G.E. Harcourt, *Subjective and Objective Numerical Outcome Measure Assessment (SONOMA). A combined outcome measure tool: findings on a study of reliability.* J Manipulative Physiol Ther, 2003. **26**(8): p. 481-92.
- 1340. Roy, E., Functional capacity evaluations and the use of validity testing: what does the evidence tell us? Case Manager, 2003. **14**(2): p. 64-9.
- 1341. Brouwer, S., et al., *Comparing self-report, clinical examination and functional testing in the assessment of work-related limitations in patients with chronic low back pain.* Disabil Rehabil, 2005. **27**(17): p. 999-1005.
- 1342. Eriksen, J., et al., *Critical issues on opioids in chronic non-cancer pain: an epidemiological study*. Pain, 2006. **125**(1-2): p. 172-9.
- 1343. Gross, D.P. and M.C. Battie, *Construct validity of a kinesiophysical functional capacity evaluation administered within a worker's compensation environment.* J Occup Rehabil, 2003. **13**(4): p. 287-95.
- 1344. Reneman, M.F., et al., *Concurrent validity of questionnaire and performance-based disability measurements in patients with chronic nonspecific low back pain.* J Occup Rehabil, 2002. **12**(3): p. 119-29.
- 1345. Reneman, M.F., et al., *Are pain intensity and pain related fear related to functional capacity evaluation performances of patients with chronic low back pain?* J Occup Rehabil, 2007. **17**(2): p. 247-58.
- 1346. Schiphorst Preuper, H.R., et al., *Relationship between psychological factors and performance-based and self-reported disability in chronic low back pain.* Eur Spine J, 2008. **17**(11): p. 1448-56.

- 1347. Smeets, R.J., et al., *Physical capacity tasks in chronic low back pain: what is the contributing role of cardiovascular capacity, pain and psychological factors?* Disabil Rehabil, 2007. **29**(7): p. 577-86.
- 1348. Gouttebarge, V., et al., *Reliability and validity of Functional Capacity Evaluation methods: a systematic review with reference to Blankenship system, Ergos work simulator, Ergo-Kit and Isernhagen work system.* Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 2004. **77**(8): p. 527-37.
- 1349. Pransky, G.S. and P.G. Dempsey, *Practical aspects of functional capacity evaluations*. J Occup Rehabil, 2004. **14**(3): p. 217-29.
- 1350. Gross, D.P. and M.C. Battie, *The prognostic value of functional capacity evaluation in patients with chronic low back pain: part 2: sustained recovery.* Spine 2004. **29**(8): p. 920-4.
- 1351. Gross, D.P. and M.C. Battie, *Functional capacity evaluation performance does not predict sustained return to work in claimants with chronic back pain.* J Occup Rehabil, 2005. **15**(3): p. 285-94.
- 1352. Gross, D.P., M.C. Battie, and J.D. Cassidy, *The prognostic value of functional capacity evaluation in patients with chronic low back pain: part 1: timely return to work.* Spine, 2004. **29**(8): p. 914-9.
- 1353. Hall, H., et al., *Effect of discharge recommendations on outcome*. Spine, 1994. **19**(18): p. 2033-7.
- 1354. Wind, H., et al., *Effect of Functional Capacity Evaluation information on the judgment of physicians about physical work ability in the context of disability claims*. Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 2009. **82**(9): p. 1087-96.
- 1355. Cappa, K.A., J.C. Conger, and A.J. Conger, *Injury severity and outcome: a meta-analysis of prospective studies on TBI outcome.* Health Psychol, 2011. **30**(5): p. 542-60.
- 1356. Dikmen, S., et al., *Neuropsychological Outcome at 1-Year Post Head Injury*. Neuropsychology, 1995. **9**(1): p. 80-90.
- 1357. McCrea, M., et al., *Immediate neurocognitive effects of concussion*. Neurosurgery, 2002. **50**(5): p. 1032-40; discussion 1040-2.
- 1358. Bryant, R.A., et al., *Post-traumatic amnesia and the nature of post-traumatic stress disorder after mild traumatic brain injury*. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2009. **15**(6): p. 862-7.
- 1359. Cassidy, J.D., et al., *Systematic review of self-reported prognosis in adults after mild traumatic brain injury: results of the International Collaboration on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Prognosis.* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2014. **95**(3 Suppl): p. S132-51.
- 1360. Levin, H.S., et al., *Neurobehavioral outcome following minor head injury: a three-center study.* J Neurosurg, 1987. **66**(2): p. 234-43.
- 1361. Meares, S., et al., *The prospective course of postconcussion syndrome: the role of mild traumatic brain injury*. Neuropsychology, 2011. **25**(4): p. 454-65.
- 1362. Rohling, M.L., et al., *A meta-analysis of neuropsychological outcome after mild traumatic brain injury: reanalyses and reconsiderations of Binder et al. (1997), Frencham et al. (2005), and Pertab et al. (2009).* Clin Neuropsychol, 2011. **25**(4): p. 608-23.
- 1363. Belanger, H.G., et al., *Symptom complaints following combat-related traumatic brain injury: relationship to traumatic brain injury severity and posttraumatic stress disorder.* J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2010. **16**(1): p. 194-9.
- 1364. Savica, R., et al., *High school football and risk of neurodegeneration: a community-based study*. Mayo Clin Proc, 2012. **87**(4): p. 335-40.
- 1365. Bruce, J.M. and R.J. Echemendia, *History of multiple self-reported concussions is not associated with reduced cognitive abilities*. Neurosurgery, 2009. **64**(1): p. 100-6; discussion 106.
- 1366. Acosta-Escribano, J.F.-V., M.; Grau Carmona, T.; Caturla-Such, J.; Garcia-Martinez, M.; Menendez-Mainer, A.; Solera-Suarez, M.; Sanchez-Paya, J., *Gastric versus transpyloric feeding in severe traumatic brain injury: a prospective, randomized trial.* Intensive Care Med, 2010. **36**(9): p. 1532-9.
- 1367. Buzby, G., et al., A randomized clinical trial of total parenteral nutrition in malnourished surgical patients: the rationale and impact of previous clinical trials and pilot study on protocol design. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 1988. **47**(2): p. 357-365.